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From: [r /
To: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: FW: Houston....we have a problem
Date: Thursday, April 24, 2014 8:59:04 PM
Attachments: Draft Talking Points for NIH Director 4-24-2014fd.docx

Is the revised last bullet better? I'll come in.

Kathy,

Here are draft TPs for FC’s call with Corr. They recap the April 16" email and incorporate your

points below {(b)(5) |

Amy

----- Original Message-----

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Wednesday, April 23, 2014 11:08 PM

To: Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]

Cc: Tabak, Lawrence (NIH/OD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Wood, Gretchen
(NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: Houston....we have a problem

FC,

Standard of care (soc) is on your corr list for this week. [(b)(5)
((b)(5) [T was nearly

ready to propose to you that if we continue to get no response from ohrp, that we should just tell
hhs that we will be proceeding with our workshop (that osp had originally planned to coincide with
the public comment period for the draft guidance.) Then, I get the email (immediately below)
from OHRP. Ivor, who has been acting while jerry was out, is unaware of any concerns you raised

with bill about standard of care guidance!!! Repeat -|(b)(5) |

(b)(3) |

(b)(3) I am very disappointed and sad. [(P)(5)
b)(5)

(b)(3)

Common rule is also on your list|(b)(5) Jso I would suggest you

01



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance. 2

not address that directly in this week's corr call.

Kathy

----- Original Message-----

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Wednesday, April 23, 2014 10:14 PM

To: Pritchard, Ivor A (HHS/OASH)

Subject: Re: Guidance following the SUPPORT Trial

Wow! This (that ohrp is unaware that fc has raised major concerns with Corr) is surprising and
concerning. Something seems off kilter in communications channels.

While this works itself out, I appreciate very much our candid open channel of communication.

Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.

Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy NIH
301 496 1455

kathy.hudson @nih.gov

> On Apr 23, 2014, at 9:43 PM, "Pritchard, Ivor A (HHS/OASH)" <Ivor.Pritchard @hhs.gov>
wrote:

>

> Kathy:

>

> I was unaware of Dr. Collins' raising the issue with Bill Corr. I do remember your earlier

proposal. [(b)(5)

l(b)(5) ] We are meeting to discuss a draft guidance document on Monday,
and hope to send it out soon after that.

>

> Hope this is helpful.

>

> Ivor

>

> From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

> Sent: Tuesday, April 22, 2014 3:38 PM

> To: Pritchard, Ivor A (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

> Cc: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E];

> Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

> Subject: RE: Guidance following the SUPPORT Trial

>

> Hi Ivor/Jerry,

>

> [ am checking in on where things stand with the standard of care draft guidance. I imagine you

know that [(B)(5)

(b)(3)

>
> As a reminder, we sent in comments on the first SOC draft guidance on Feb 12. Since that time
we have proposed that the leadership in the department join together to provide an outline of what
the policy should look like so that OHRP would have a clear framework to guide your efforts. On
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April 1 you declined and offered that a new draft would be forthcoming in "weeks."
>

> Francis has this topic on his agenda to raise - again - with Bill this week and I was hoping 1
might be able to provide a meaningful update for FC in advance of that meeting.

>

> Thanks,

> Kathy

>

> - Original Message-----

> From: Pritchard, Ivor A (HHS/OASH)

> Sent: Tuesday, April 01, 2014 12:56 PM

> To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

> Subject: RE: Guidance following the SUPPORT Trial

>

> Kathy:

>
>[5

(b)(3)
> Let us know when you want to talk about the workshop.

>

> FYI, Jerry is back from leave.

>

> Ivor

>

> - Original Message-----

> From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
> Sent: Sunday, March 30, 2014 10:53 AM

> To: Pritchard, Ivor A (HHS/OASH)

> Subject: RE: Guidance following the SUPPORT Trial

>

> Ivor,

>

> One more good faith effort is probably worthwhile. Do you have a sense of timing on when a

next draft might be circulated to the agencies?
>

> As for the workshop, we will get back in touch with you on the specific role(s) for OHRP. We

will certainly welcome input and participation from everyone in HHS but will reserve the primary

organizing role.

>

> Kathy

> - Original Message-----

> From: Pritchard, Ivor A (HHS/OASH)
> Sent: Friday, March 28, 2014 10:28 AM
> To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

> Cc: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH)

> Subject: RE: Guidance following the SUPPORT Trial
>

> Kathy:

>

> {B®)

(6)(5)
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>
> Regarding the workshop, we are aware that there is something in the works, but not really what.
Do you have anything in mind for OHRP's role in planning the workshop, as well as participating
in it? [(b)(5)

l(b)(5) JAnyway, 1t and when we should be talking
to anybody over there about the event, let us know.

>

> And thanks for the compliment about the OSTP meeting; I'll pass it along to Julie. This is going
to be an adventure.

> From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih
> Sent: Thursday, March 27, 2014 5:14 PM

> To: Pritchard, Ivor A (HHS/OASH)

> Cc: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH)

> Subject: Re: Guidance following the SUPPORT Trial

>

> Thanks so much for the note Ivor. [(b)(5) |

(b)(3) l

>

> What do you think about that idea?

>

> Also, as you know, nih will be hosting a workshop to talk about the issues in the guidance when
it is out for comment. I hope you and your team will be able to participate - esp in the opening
bits to lay out the draft.

>

> Finally, I thought you and Julie did a great job co-chairing and presenting at the OSTP meeting
on the common rule! It could not have gone better.

>

> Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.

> Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy NIH

> 301 496 1455

> kathy.hudson @nih.gov<mailto:kathy.hudson @nih.gov>

>

> On Mar 27, 2014, at 4:51 PM, "Pritchard, Ivor A (HHS/OASH)"

<lIvor.Pritchard @hhs.gov<mailto:Ivor.Pritchard @hhs.gov>> wrote:

>

> Kathy,

>

> [(b)(5)

[(BEY(5) _ ] We got Jerry's input on the
last draft |(b)(5) Jand we're working on revising it. We'll let you know
when we're ready to share another draft.

>

> Cheers.

>

> Ivor Pritchard

>

>

04



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance.

Draft
Talking Points for NIH Director for Call with the Deputy Secretary
Friday, April 25, 2014

(b)(3)
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Carr, Sarah (NIH/0OD) [E]

From: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/QD) [E]

Sent: Friday, March 28, 2014 12:23 PM

To: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD]) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: FW: Guidance following the SUPPORT Trial

Hi Amy and Sarah - Another OHRP Guidance FYI that Kathy Abel has passed on. Not for distribution, but wanted you
both to see il.

-----Original Message-----

From: Abel, Kathy (NIH/OD}) [E]

Sent: Friday, March 28, 2014 12:21 PM

To: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: FW: Guidance following the SUPPORT Trial

From: Pritchard, Ivor A (IIIS/OASH)

Sent: Friday, March 28, 2014 10:28 AM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Ce: Koh, Howard {HHS/OASH}

Subject: RE: Guidance following the SUPPORT Trial

Kathy:
(b)(3)

Regarding the workshop, we are aware that there is something in the works, but not really what. Do you have anything in
mind for OHRP's role in planning the workshop, as well as participating in it? [(b)(5) |
(b)(5) Rnyway, if and
when we should be talking to anybody over there about the event, fet us know.

And thanks for the compliment about the OSTP meeting; P'll pass it along to Julie. This is going to be an adventure.

[vor

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto;Kathy.Hudson/@nih.gov
Sent: Thursday, March 27, 2414 5:14 PM

To: Pritchard, lvor A (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH)

Subject: Re: Guidance following the SUPPORT Trial

Thanks so much for the note Ivor. [(£)(5) |
(b)(5)

What do you think about that idea?
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Also, as you know, nth will be hosting a workshop to talk about the issues in the guidance when it is cut for comment. |

hope you and your team will be able to participate - esp in the opening bits to lay out the draft.

Finally, I thought you and Julie did a great job co-chairing and presenting at the OSTP meeting on the common rule! It
could not have gone better.

Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.

Deputy Director for Science, Qutreach, and Policy NIH
301496 1455
kathy.hudson{@nih.gov<maiito:kathy.hudsonfnih.gov>

On Mar 27, 2014, at 4:51 PM, "Pritchard, Ivor A (HHS/OASH)"
<[vor.Pritchardi@hhs.gov<mailto:Ivor.Pritchard{@hhs.gov>> wrote:

Kathy,

[——1

6]

b)(3) | We got Jerry’s input on the last draft just beford(b)(6)

and we're working on revising 1t. we Il let you know when we’re ready to share another draft.
Cheers.

Ivor Pritchard
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From: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

To: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: FW: Guidance following the SUPPORT Trial

Date: Thursday, March 27, 2014 4:57:25 PM

FYI Amy and Sarah

From: Abel, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Thursday, March 27, 2014 4:57 PM

To: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/0OD) [E]

Subject: FW: Guidance following the SUPPORT Trial

fyi

From: Pritchard, Ivor A (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Thursday, March 27, 2014 4:51 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E]

Cc: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH)

Subject: Guidance following the SUPPORT Trial

Kathy,

(b)(3)

|(b)(5) | We got Jerry’s input on the last
draft[(b)(6) |and we’re working on revising it. We'll let you know when

we're ready to share another draft.

Cheers.

Ivor Pritchard
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Butler, Brenda (NIH/OD) [E]

From: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD} [E]

Sent: Thursday, February 20, 2014 3:46 PM

To: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Lee, Noelle C. (HHS/IOS)

Cc: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: OHRP Guidance and NIH comments

Attachments: Confidential OHRP Draft Guidance_AcceptedTherapiesFAQs_Jan22.docx; NIH Comments

on OHRP Accepted Therapies FAQs 2-12-2014.docx

Hi Caya and Noelle -
Attached are the OHRP Guidance (FAQs) and NIH’s comments

Steph

Stephanie Devaney, Ph.D.

Science Policy Analyst

Special Assistant to the Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy
Office of the Director

National Institutes of Health

1 Center Drive, Building /103

Bethesda, MD 20892

Phone: 301-402-1994

stephanie.devaney(@nih.gov

Celebration of Science at NIH: watch how medical research saves lives and improves health
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NIH Comments on OHRP’s Draft Accepted Therapies FAQs

(b)(3)
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Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

From: Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD] [E]

Sent: Tuesday, December 24, 2013 8:57 AM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD} [E]; Rockey, Saily (NIH/QD) [E]

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [El; Maddox, Yvonne (NIH/NICHD) [E}; Spong, Catherine

(NIH/NICHD) [E]; Hirschfeld, Steven (NIH/NICHD} [E]; Raju, Tonse (NIH/NICHD) [E}; Carr,
Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Hardy, Ann (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: FwW: NICHD Necnatal Research Network study
Attachments: 12.23.2013 OHRP memo.pdf
FYI

Resemary D. Higgins, MD

Program Scientist for the Eunice Kennedy Shriver NICHD Neonatal Research Network
Pregnancy and Perinatology Branch

NIH

6100 Executive Blvd., Room 4B03

MSC 7510

Bethesda, MD 20892

For overnight delivery use Rockville, MD 20852
301-435-7909

301-496-5575

301-496-3790 (FAX)

higginsr@mail.nih.gov

From: Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]

Sent: Tuesday, December 24, 2013 8:56 AM

To: Borror, Kristina C (HHS/QASH)

Subject: NICHD Neonatal Research Network study

Hi Dr. Borror:

In May 2013, OHRP requested copies of protocols and sample consent documents for all the interventional
clinical trials being carried out through the NiICHD Neonatal Research Network (NRN). 1am enclosing the
attached confidential memorandum as the Optimizing Cooling Strategies at < 6 Hours of Age for Neonatal HIE
study has been closed to enrollment. If you have any questions, feel free to contact me.

Rose

Rosemary D. Higgins, MD

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

301-496-3790 {(FAX)

higginsr@mail.nih.qov
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DEPARTMENT OF HEATTH AND SIUMAN SERM ICES Pubhic Menlth Servece
Nitgonat Inshitules ol Heallh

Pusice Kenpedy Shirner Nalionat
tustitane of Chitd Health and

Flomudy Developmem
Betliesdn, Maryland 20842

CONFIDENTIAL MEMORANDUM

December 23, 2013

To:  Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) HHS

From: Rosemary Higgins, MD 2 b
Program Scientist for the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child
Health and Human Development (NICHD) Neonatal Research Network

Re: Optimizing Cooling Strategies at <6 hours of Age for Neonatal Hypoxic-
[schemic Encephalopathy Study from the Neonatal Research Network
funded by the NICHD

In May 2013, OHRP requested copies of protocols and sample cansent documents
for all the interventional clinical trials being carried out through the NICHD Neonatal
Research Network (NRN)., The purpose of this memorandum is to inform OHRP
that one of those studies, the Optimizing Cooling Strategies at < 6 Hours of Age for
Neonatal Hypoxic-Ischemic Encephalopathy trial, has been closed to enrollment
(b)(5)

If you have any questions or wish additional information, please let me know.

Attachment
cc:  Kathy Hudson, Ph.D., Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy,
NIH

Sally Rockey, Ph.D., Deputy Director for Extramural Research, NIH
NICHD NRN Coordinating Center (RTI)
NICHD NRN Site Principal Investigators
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- R l E Memarandum

PN T LANATIONAL

December 5, 2013

OC TECHNICAL MEMO #27
TO: Network Coordinators
Network Pls
FROM: The Data Coordinating Center
supiect: [P Optimizing Cooling Trial)

The NICHD NRN Optimizing Cooling Trial {Optimizing Cooling Strategies at < & Hours of Age for Neonatal
Hypoxic-ischemic EncephalopathyA(b)(5) |

Safety: the overall in-hospital mortality rate thus far is 13% (43/324), Safety outcomes by group are as
follows. (These data are as received at RT by Dec 2, 2013.)

(b)(3)
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(b)(3)

Cc: Rosemary Higgins, MD
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Bartok, Lauren (NIH/OD) [C]

From: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Tuesday, December 17, 2013 7:58 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Further info on OHRP SoC guidance

I spoke to Julie Kaneshiro to get a bit more information about the status of the draft SoC guidance. [(0)(5)

(b)(3)

Is a joint meeting a viable option?

From: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Wednesday, December 11, 2013 10:20 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: RE: follow up on OHRP guidance

Here’s the update from OHRP on where the SoC draft guidance stands — they “will be able to pick it back up” after they
hand the NPRM package in to ES next week. This contrasts with what we were told before which was that the timeline
would be pushed back by the length of the furlough.

[ can understand that the NPRM may be all consuming for them, |(b)(5)

[E)5) |

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Thursday, December 05, 2013 8:41 PM

To: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Re: follow up on OHRP guidance
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Nope. [(b)(5) |

Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.

Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy
NIH

301 496 1455

kathy.hudson@nih.gov

On Dec 5, 2013, at 8:09 PM, "Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]" <PattersA@OD.NIH.GOV> wrote:

Kathy,

(b)(3)

Amy

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Monday, November 25, 2013 11:51 AM

To: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: follow up on OHRP guidance

Caya,

| wanted to touch base with you again|(b)(5)

(b)(3)

We know the furlough delayed OHRP’s progress by a couple of weeks,[(2)(5)

(b)(3)

We look forward to moving the process forward expeditiously as uncertainty continues to
plague our researchers. We will comment quickly

Thanks,

2 016
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Kathy

From: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Sent: Thursday, October 17, 2013 4:09 PM
To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: RE: OHRP

Kathy,

[t’s good to be back.

(b)(3)

Talk to you soon,

Caya

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
Sent: Thursday, October 17, 2013 3:56 PM

To: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: OHRP

Hi Caya ~
Was nice to hear your voice this morning at OS staff meeting.

As we get back to our usual work, | wanted to share with you a summary of our concerns about the
OHRP proposal for development of new guidance for standard of care research. You will recall a round

of emails about this before the shutdown.[(b)(5)

(b)(3)

i 017
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

Attachments: Proposal for Guidance on SOC 8-26-2013.docx

Caya,

| wanted to touch base with you again about our concerns (summed up below) [(0)(5)

(b)(3)

uirene’?

We know the furlough delayed OHRP’s progress by a couple of weeks, |(b)(5)

(b)(3)

We look forward to moving the process forward expeditiou slyl(b)(5)

(b)(5) We will comment quickly

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

Hi Caya —
Was nice to hear your voice this morning at OS staff meeting.

As we get back to our usual work, | wanted to share with you a summary of our concerns about the OHRP proposal for
development of new guidance for standard of care research. You will recall a round of emails about this before the

shutdown. [(b)(5)

(b)(3)
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Proposal for Draft Guidance on Matters Related to the Protection of Human Subjects in

Research Studying Standard of Care' Interventions

DRAFT 9/26/2013

(b)(3)
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Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

From: James, Carla (HHS5/OASH) «CarlaJames@hhs.gov>

Sent: Friday, September 20, 2013 3:51 PM

To: Carr, Sarah (NIH/QD) [E]

Subject; RE: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps
will do.

Carla D. James

From: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:CarrS@OD.NIH.GOV]
Sent: Friday, September 20, 2013 3:51 PM

To: James, Carla {(HHS/OASH)

Subject: RE: SUPPCRT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Sure and can you include schedulers as well as the NIH principals (the others | cc’d).

From: James, Carla (HHS/QASH) [mailto:Carla.James@hhs.gov]
Sent: Friday, September 20, 2013 3:48 PM

To: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) {E]

Subject: RE: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Thank you Sarah!! © | will send out a canfirmation soon.
Thanks again.

Carla D. James

From: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:CarrS@OD.NIH.GOV]

Sent: Friday, September 20, 2013 3:43 PM

To: James, Carla (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Schulke, Hilda (NIH/OD) [E]; Abel, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Fennington, Kelly
{NIH/OD) [E]; Hardesty, Rebecca (NIH/OD} [C]; Plude, Denise (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: RE; SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Carla,

Friday the 27" from 12:30 to 2:00 will work. Here is the full NIH contingent:
Kathy Hudson

Amy Patterson

Stephanie Devaney

Sarah Carr

Sarah
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From: James, Carla (HHS/OASH) [mailto:Cara.James@hhs.gov]
Sent: friday, September 20, 2013 2:35 PM

To: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: RE: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Thank you!

Counselors Office

* Cava Lewis

. Jeremy Sharp
OASH

. Howard Koh

. Wanda Jones

) Diana Gianelli
OHRP

. lerry Menikoff
. lvor Pritchard

. Julie Kaneshiro
* Irene Stith-Coleman
FDA

. Sara Goldkind

. Patrick McNeilly
. Robert Nelson

. Abram Barth
0GC

. Peggy Dotzel

. Davis Horowitz

Carla D. James

From: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E] [mailtc:CarrS@OD.NIH.GOV]
Sent;: Friday, September 20, 2013 2:32 PM

To: James, Carla (HHS/OASH)

Subject: RE: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Carla,

I’ll know something soon.
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Meanwhile, can you tell me who else will be attending?

Sarah

From: James, Carla (HHS/OASH) [mailto:Carla.James@hhs.qov]
Sent: Friday, September 20, 2013 12:59 PM

To: Carr, Sarah (NIH/CD) [E]

Subject: RE: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Sarah -
I am sorry, please disregard the last e-mail. By any chance can NIH be available on 9/27 from 12:30 - 2:007

Thanks.

Caria D. James

From: James, Carla (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Friday, September 20, 2013 12:15 PM

To: Carr, Sarah (NIH/CD) [E]

Subject: RE: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Hi Sarah —

By any chance can NIH please be available on 9/27 from 11:00 — 2:00? Thank you.

Carla D. James

From: Carr, Sarah {NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:CarrS@OD.NIH.GOV]
Sent: Friday, September 20, 2013 12:17 AM

To: James, Carla (HHS/OASH)

Subject: Re: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Carla,
The only option that will work for NIH is Wed from 2:30-3:30.
Not sure yet who else besides Kathy Hudson will participate but I'll get back to you as soon as we know.

Sarah

From: James, Carla (HHS/OASH) [mailto:Carla.James@hhs.gov]

Sent: Thursday, September 19, 2013 05:18 PM Eastern Standard Time
To: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E}

Subject: RE: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Thank you

Carla D. James

15
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From: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:CarrS@OD.NIH.GOV]
Sent: Thursday, September 19, 2013 4;52 PM

To: James, Carla (HHS/OASH)

Subject: RE: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Il get back to you, Carla.

From: James, Carla (HHS/OASH) [mailto;Carla.James@hhs.gov]
Sent: Thursday, September 19, 2013 4:51 PM

To: Cart, Sarah (NIH/CD) [E]

Subject: RE: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Hi Sarah —

Below are some possible times for September 25 and 27 that we are looking at for this meeting. Can you or someone
else please provide me NIH participant’s and their availabilities?

Thank you for your help.

Wed. 9/25
2:30-3:30pm
3:30-4;30pm

Fri.9/27
9:30-10:30am
12:30-2:00pm

Carla D. James

Program Analyst

Office for Human Research Protections, DHHS
1101 Wootten Parkway, Suite 200

Rockville, MD 20852

Tel: 240-453-8234

Fax: 240-453-6909

Main Line: 240-453-6900
CarlaJames@hhs.gov

From: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:CarrS@QOD,NIH.GOV]
Sent: Wednesday, September 18, 2013 3:29 PM
To: Kaneshiro, Julie A (HHS/OASH)
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Cc: James, Carla (HHS/OASH)

Subject: RE: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

I'll get back to you shortly with either a list of names or a coordinator.

From: Kaneshtro, Julie A (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Wednesday, September 18, 2013 3:24 PM

To: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

Cc: James, Carla (HHS/OASH)

Subject: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Hi Sarah,

The Secretary’s Office would like OHRP to schedule a meeting sometime next week to discuss the development of
guidance post the SUPPORT meeting. Participants in this meeting will include FDA, NiH, OGC, OS and CHRP.

Carla James will be contacting you about scheduling this meeting. Can you tet us know who from NiH we should
include? Would it be easier to coordinate schedules through you or someone else?

We will be trying to schedule this for some time next week, probably Wednesday or Friday.
Thanks so much!

Julie
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Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

From: Kaneshiro, Julie A {HHS5/OASH)

Sent: Wednesday, September 18, 2013 3:30 PM

To: Carr, Sarah (NIH/0D) [E]

Cc: James, Carla (HHS/QASH)

Subject: RE: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Thanks, Sarah.

From: Carr, Sarah (NIH/QD) {E] [mailto:CarrS@QD.NIH.GOV)]
Sent: Wednesday, September 18, 2013 3:29 PM

To: Kaneshiro, Julie A (HHS/OASH)

Cc: James, Carla (HHS/QASH)

Subject: RE: SUPPORT Pubtic Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

1l get back to you shortly with either a list of names or a coordinator.

From: Kaneshirg, Julie A (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Wednesday, September 18, 2013 3:24 PM

To: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

Cc: James, Carla {HHS/OASH)

Subject: SUPPORT Public Meeting: HHS Meeting on Next Steps

Hi Sarah,

The Secretary’s Office would like OHRP to schedule a meeting sometime next week to discuss the development of
guidance post the SUPPORT meeting. Participants in this meeting will include FDA, NiH, OGC, OS and OHRP,

Carla James wiil be contacting you about scheduling this meeting. Can you let us know who from NiH we should
include? Would it be easier to coordinate schedules through you or someone else?

We will be trying to schedule this for some time next week, prabably Wednesday or Friday.
Thanks se much!

Julie
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From: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]
To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
Cc: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Gordon, Valery (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: FW: Copy of letter to the Secretary regarding Transfusion of Prematures TOP Trial: Does a Liberal Red Blood

Cell Transfusion Strategy Improve Neurologically Intact Survival of Extremely Low Birth Weight Infants as
Compared to Restrictive Strategy
Date: Tuesday, September 17, 2013 5:06:32 PM

Attachments: Sec"y Sign Itr Public Cit TOP 091013.docx

InfoSheet.pdf
FW Letter regarding the TOP trial.htm.htm

130822 Letter to Secretary Sebelius re TOP Trial FINAL.pdf.pdf

Here it is.

----- Original Message-----

From: Borror, Kristina C (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2013 1:41 PM

To: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: FW: Copy of letter to the Secretary regarding Transfusion of Prematures TOP Trial: Does a
Liberal Red Blood Cell Transfusion Strategy Improve Neurologically Intact Survival of Extremely Low
Birth Weight Infants as Compared to Restrictive Strategy

Sarah:

I'm forwarding the attached letter to the Secretary complaining about an NIH-funded study in case you
weren't aware of this. Attached also is a draft response to the letter which is in clearance downtown.
0GC expects to suggest adding the following sentence:

(b)(3)

Let me know if you have any questions.
Kristina

————— Original Message-----

From: SWIFT, Administrator (HHS/0S)

Sent: Monday, Augpst 26, 2013 2:25 PM

To: Borror, Kristina C (HHS/OASH)

Subject: Copy of letter to the Secretary regarding Transfusion of Prematures TOP Trial: Does a Liberal
Red Blood Cell Transfusion Strategy Improve Neurologically Intact Survival of Extremely Low Birth
Weight Infants as Compared to Restrictive Strategy

SWIFT Info Copy of a Info Task

(Deadline: )

Instructions given to task recipients:

Response Directions:
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E. l 1600 20th Street, NW « Washington, D.C. 20009 « 202/588-1000 * www.citizen.org

CITIZEN

August 22, 2013

The Honorable Kathleen Sebelius
Secretary

Department of Health and Human Services
200 Independence Ave. SW

Washington, DC 20201

RE: Transfusion of Prematures (TOP) Trial: Does a Liberal Red Blood Cell Transfusion
Strategy Improve Neurologically-Intact Survival of Extremely-Low-Birth-Weight Infants
as Compared to Restrictive Strategy?

Dear Secretary Sebelius:

Public Citizen, a consumer advocacy organization with more than 300,000 members and
supporters nationwide, is writing to express deep concern regarding the recurrence of serious
ethical lapses in another clinical trial involving extremely premature infants — the Transfusion
of Prematures (TOP) Trial — that is being funded by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and
conducted by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human
Development’s (NICHD’s) Neonatal Research Network (NRN). These ethical lapses,
particularly with respect to the consent process, closely parallel those described in our April 10,
2013, letter' and subsequent May 8, 2013, letter and in-depth report2 regarding another NRN
study — the Surfactant, Positive Pressure, and Oxygenation Randomized Trial (SUPPORT).
Unlike the SUPPORT study, in which concerns about serious ethical lapses were disclosed four
years after subject enrollment was completed, the TOP trial investigators appear to be actively
recruiting subjects at 15 different institutions (see Appendix). We therefore urge an immediate
halt to the study due to the serious deficiencies in the consent forms and unresolved questions
about the ethics of the study design.

! Carome MA, Wolfe SM. Letter to Secretary of Health and Human Services Kathleen Sebelius regarding the
SUPPORT Study. April 10, 2013. http://www.citizen.org/documents/2111.pdf. Accessed August 21, 2013.

? Carome MA, Wolfe SM, Macklin R. Letter and report to Secretary of Health and Human Services Kathleen Sebelius
regarding the SUPPORT study. May 8, 2013. http://www.citizen.org/documents/2124.pdf. Accessed August 21,
2013.
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The TOP trial, interestingly subtitled “Does a Liberal Red Blood Cell Transfusion Strategy
Improve Neurologically-Intact Survival of Extremely-Low-Birth-Weight Infants as Compared to
Restrictive Strategy,” is designed to primarily determine which of two strategies for treating
anemia with blood transfusions is more likely to result in death or neurologic injury in extremely
premature infants who develop anemia (low red blood cell or hemoglobin levels, hemoglobin
being a component of red blood cells that carries oxygen from the lungs to the other organs in the
body). The projected enrollment for the TOP trial is 1,824 infants. These highly vulnerable
infants are to be randomly assigned to one of two groups, irrespective of their individual medical
needs. In one group, the infants are to be transfused whenever their blood hemoglobin levels fall
below a relatively high threshold level (liberal transfusion group). In the second group, infants
are to be transfused when their hemoglobin levels fall below a very low hemoglobin level
(restrictive transfusion group). Under the protocol, transfusions may be given to either group in
exceptional urgent or emergent circumstances, even if the protocol-specified hemoglobin
thresholds have not been reached. Of note, the best available evidence, previously published by
some of the TOP trial investigators themselves and extensively cited in the TOP trial protocol,
suggests, overall — as does the study’s subtitle — that the restrictive transfusion strategy is more
likely to result in neurologic injury and other harms in extremely premature infants.

As in the SUPPORT study, the consent forms approved by the institutional review boards (IRBs)
for the TOP trial — which, along with the complete TOP trial protocol, we obtained under a
Freedom of Information Act request submitted to NIH — omit very important and material
information regarding the purpose, nature, and risks of the experiment. Among the information
not disclosed is the evidence from the aforementioned prior randomized trials suggesting that a
restrictive transfusion threshold is more harmful than a liberal one. Furthermore, all of the
consent forms include very misleading statements equating participation in the research with
standard of care, and the majority of individual institutional consent forms indicate that the
experimental interventions in the trial have no risk. As a result, the parents of potential TOP trial
subjects are being denied the opportunity to make an informed decision about whether to enroll
their infants in the research. It seems unlikely that any parent who fully understands the results of
the prior clinical trials, as well as the true risks, purpose, and nature of the experiment, would be
willing to enroll their premature infant in this study.

Additionally, and also as in the SUPPORT study, there are several unresolved serious ethical
concerns regarding the design of the TOP trial and the adequacy of the IRB review of the
research. In particular, we are very concerned about the lack of an appropriate control group that
receives usual care (i.e., transfusions when needed based on individualized, patient-specific
clinical factors) and the lack of a clear description of the pretrial standard transfusion practices at
the NRN centers participating in the TOP trial. Given the former, adequate safety monitoring of
the trial is not possible and as a result, risks to subjects are not minimized and reasonable in
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relationship to any benefits of the research.” Given the latter, the IRBs that reviewed and
approved the protocol: (a) would not have had sufficient information to understand the degree to
which the experimental interventions deviate from the usual care at the NRN centers and the
risks thereby posed by these deviations; and (b) could not determine whether risks to subjects are
minimized and reasonable in relationship to any benefits of the research.

We therefore urge you to:

(1) Order an immediate halt to the TOP trial, if you have not already done so per our prior
request for such action.

(2) Direct the Office of Human Research Protections (OHRP) to immediately open a
compliance oversight investigation into the trial.

(3) Direct OHRP to develop a plan for contacting the parents of subjects already enrolled in
the trial and providing them with a complete and accurate description of the risks,
purpose, and nature of the research.

(4) Initiate an independent investigation of the Department of Health and Human Services
(HHS) system for review and oversight of HHS-funded human subjects research to
understand how the system failed so miserably in both the SUPPORT study and the TOP
trial. This investigation should include an assessment of all entities within NIH and other
HHS agencies that played a role in the review, approval, and funding and oversight of the
SUPPORT study and TOP trial. In addition, given the widespread failures across multiple
IRBs that reviewed and approved the SUPPORT study and TOP trial, HHS should
determine what systemwide actions are needed to prevent such failures from recurring.

(5) Identify and suspend any similarly unethical research involving premature infants funded
by NIH or any other HHS agency.

We provide below a more detailed review of our concerns.

® Minneci PC, Eichacker PQ, Danner RL, et al. The importance of usual care control groups for safety monitoring
and validity during critical care research. Intensive Care Med. 2008;34:942-947.

L
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I. Background

A. Prior randomized clinical trials testing liberal versus restrictive transfusion
strategies in extremely premature infants

Anemia is very common in extremely premature infants due to many factors, including the need
to draw multiple blood samples for various clinical tests and the relative impairment of the
neonatal ability in producing new red blood cells.* Significant anemia can lead to inadequate
delivery of oxygen to body organs, causing cardiac stress, apnea, brain injury, and other
complications, including death in the most severe cases. To prevent such complications, the
majority of extremely premature infants receive one or more blood transfusions.” Although
transfusion of red blood cells is generally considered to be very safe, such treatment does carry
possible risks, including:ﬁ‘?

e Delays in the maturation of the immature infant’s bone marrow and the ability of the
baby to produce its own red blood cells;

e Volume overload and congestive heart failure;

e Transmission of certain infections, such Human Immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and
Cytomegalovirus (CMV);

e Adverse effects on blood potassium, calcium, and glucose levels;

¢ [ron overload, which may increase the risk of chronic lung disease (bronchopulmonary
dysplasia), retinopathy of prematurity (an eye disease in premature infants that can lead
to blindness), or necrotizing enterocolitis; and

e Transfusion reactions.

Deciding when — at what level of anemia — to transfuse a premature infant involves: (a)
balancing the risks of anemia and those of blood transfusions; and (b) considering numerous
individual patient factors, including the following:8'9']0

* Widness, JA. Pathophysiology of anemia during the neonatal period, including anemia of prematurity.
NeoReviews. 2008;9(11):e520 -e525.

® Maier RF, Sonntag J, Walka MM et al. Changing practices of red blood cell transfusions in infants with birth
weights less than 1000 g. J Pediatr. 2000;136(2):220-4.

® Ohls, R. Red blood cells transfusions in the newborn. In: UpToDate, Basow, DS (Ed), UpToDate, Waltham, MA,
2013. Last update: April 2013.

” Martin RJ, Fanaroff AA, Walsh MC. “The blood and hematopoietic system.” Fanaroff and Martin’s Neonatal-
Perinatal Medicine: Diseases of the Fetus and Infant 9" edition. Mosby 2011. P1303-1374. print

8 Ohls, Robin. Red blood cells transfusions in the newborn. In: UpToDate, Basow, DS (Ed), UpToDate, Waltham, MA,
2013. Last update: April 2013.

? Guillen U, Cu mmings JJ, Bell EF, et al. International survey of transfusion practices for extremely premature
infants. Semin Perinatol. 2012;36:244-247.
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e Current level of anemia;

e Active bleeding or coagulopathy;

e The degree of supplementary oxygen required;

e Level of respiratory support (e.g., intubation, positive pressure ventilation, nasal
cannula);

e Age of the baby;

e Reticulocyte count (count of new red blood cells);

e The need for medication to help the heart pump blood (inotropic support); and

e Major comorbidities, such as heart disease or sepsis.

Other factors sometimes taken into account that support transfusion include: H.1z

e Lactic acidosis;

e Increasing episodes of apnea (stopping breathing);
e Persistent tachycardia (abnormally fast heart rate);
e Persistent tachypnea (fast breathing); and

e Poor weight gain.

Thus, decisions about when to transfuse premature infants are routinely based on a variety of
individual patient-specific factors.

Results of two earlier, relatively large randomized clinical trials comparing liberal and restrictive
experimental blood transfusion strategies in extremely premature infants were published between
2005 and 2009 in articles co-authored by some of the TOP trial investigators and are extensively
cited by the TOP trial investigators in their protocol to justify their new study.13 One was a
single-center trial conducted at the University of Iowa involving 100 infants (the IOWA
studym"15 ), and the other was a multicenter study conducted at 10 institutions in Canada, the U.S.,

® Fanaro S. Blood transfusion in infants: techniques and adverse events. ] Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2011
Oct;24 Suppl 1:47-9.

1 Ohls, R. Red blood cells transfusions in the newborn. In: UpToDate, Basow, DS (Ed), UpToDate, Waltham, MA,
2013. Last update: April 2013.

2 Fanaro S. Blood transfusion in infants: techniques and adverse events. ] Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2011
Oct;24 Suppl 1:47-9.

B Kirplani H, Bell E, D’Angio C, et al. Transfusion of prematures (TOP) trial: does a liberal red blood cell transfusion
strategy improve neurologically-intact survival of extremely-low-birth-weight infants as compared to a restrictive
strategy? Protocol Version 1.0; Final: October 8, 2012. http://www.citizen.org/documents/2150a.pdf. Accessed
August 20, 2013.

" Bell EF, Strauss RG, Widness JA, et al. Randomized trial of liberal versus restrictive guidelines for red blood cell
transfusion in preterm infants. Pediatrics. 2005;115(6):1685-91.

' Bell EF. Transfusion thresholds for preterm infants: how low should we go? J Pediatr. 2006 Sep;149(3):287-9.
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and Australia known as the Premature Infants in Need of Transfusion Study (the PINT studym‘ 7

involving 451 infants. The results of both studies combined suggest worse outcomes for the
infants who were in the restrictive transfusion groups.

The IOWA study, which included 51 infants in the liberal transfusion group and 49 in the

restrictive transfusion group, had the following findings:'®"

e Sixteen percent of infants in the restrictive transfusion group versus 2% in the liberal
transfusion group died or had significant brain injury (defined as grade 4 intraventricular
brain hemorrhage or periventricular leukomalacia, a condition seen in premature babies
that involves death of brain tissue) (p<0.05).

e Infants in the restrictive transfusion group had statistically significantly greater and more
severe episodes of apnea (periods when the infant stopped breathing) than the liberal
transfusion group.

e Children in the restrictive transfusion group received approximately nine-fold more
urgent or emergent rescue transfusions (on average per child) for “congestive heart
failure ... ascribed to anemia; acute hemorrhage and presumed hypovolemia; frequent
severe apnea refractory to drug treatment ... or request by a surgeon or anesthesiologist
for preoperative transfusion” than those in the liberal transfusion group (17 in the
restrictive transfusion group versus 2 in the liberal transfusion group, with an average
number of transfusions per subject of 0.35 versus 0.04, respectively).”’

In more recent unplanned follow-up neuroimaginggl and developmental evaluations” of a subset
of the IOWA study subjects, there was some indication that contrary to initial findings, the

1 Kirpalani H, Whyte RK, Andersen C, et al. The Premature Infants in Need of Transfusion (PINT) study: a
randomized, controlled trial of a restrictive (low) versus liberal (high) transfusion threshold for extremely low birth
weight infants. J Pediatr. 2006 Sep;149(3):301-307.

v Whyte RK, Kirpalani H, Asztalos EV, et al. Neurodevelopmental outcome of extremely low birth weight infants
randomly assigned to restrictive or liberal hemoglobin thresholds for blood transfusion. Pediatrics. 2009
Jan;123(1):207-13.

¥ Bell EF, Strauss RG, Widness JA, et al. Randomized trial of liberal versus restrictive guidelines for red blood cell
transfusion in preterm infants. Pediatrics. 2005;115(6):1685-91.

' Bell EF. Transfusion thresholds for preterm infants: how low should we go? J Pediatr. 2006 Sep;149(3):287-9.

2% Bell EF, Strauss RG, Widness JA, et al. Randomized trial of liberal versus restrictive guidelines for red blood cell
transfusion in preterm infants. Pediatrics. 2005;115(6):1685-91

2 Nopoulos PC, Conrad AL, Bell EF, Strauss RG, Widness JA, Magnotta VA, Zimmerman MB, Georgieff MK, Lindgren
SD, Richman LC. Long-term outcome of brain structure in premature infants: effects of liberal vs restricted red
blood cell transfusions. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. 2011 May;165(5):443-50.

2 McCoy TE, Conrad AL, Richman LC, Lindgren SD, Nopoulos PC, Bell EF. Neurocognitive profiles of preterm infants
randomly assigned to lower or higher hematocrit thresholds for transfusion. Child Neuropsychol. 2011;17(4):347-
67.
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restrictive transfusion group may have fared better with regard to long-term neurodevelopmental
outcomes. However, as recognized in the TOP trial protocol and by others,” these follow-up
studies are marred by substantial attrition (~44%), resulting in a high likelihood of bias, seriously
compromising the validity and any generalizability of the follow-up studies. Of note, children
who were enrolled in the follow-up studies had significantly greater mean hematocrits in infancy
than those who were lost to follow-up (hematocrit 44 versus 37, p=<0.001), demonstrating that
there could have been a selection bias in the follow-up studies. Thus, these two follow-up studies
are at best uninformative and at worse misleading, and these results should be discounted when
assessing the totality of available data from the randomized clinical trials.

The PINT study, which enrolled 223 infants in the restrictive transfusion group and 228 in the
liberal transfusion group, demonstrated the following:

e More infants in the restrictive transfusion group experienced one or more of the
following components of the composite primary endpoint before first discharge to home:
death, severe eye disease (retinopathy of prematurity), lung disease (bronchopulmonary
dysplasia), or brain injury, although results were not significant (74% in the restrictive
group versus 70% in the liberal group, 1:::0.25)24

e In subjects followed for 18 to 21 months, death or neurodevelopmental impairment
occurred in 45% of restrictive transfusion group subjects and 38% of liberal transfusion
group subjects (p=0.09). The differences between the two study groups in mortality and
the rates of neurological impairment outcomes (any neurological impairment, cerebral
palsy, cognitive delay, severe visual impairment, and severe hearing impairment) were
each less favorable for the restrictive transfusion group, but none were statistically
significant.25

e Infants in the restrictive transfusion group received twice as many urgent or emergent
rescue transfusions (on average per child) “in the event of shock, severe sepsis,
coagulation defects, surgery, or for unanticipated emergencies” than those in the liberal
transfusion group (173 in the restrictive transfusion group versus 87 in the liberal

# Venkatesh V, Khan R, Curley A, New H, Stanworth S. How we decide when a neonate needs a transfusion. BrJ
Hagematol. 2013 Feb;160(4):421-33.

* Kirpalani H, Whyte RK, Andersen C, Asztalos EV, Heddle N, Blajchman MA, Peliowski A, Rios A, LaCorte M,
Connelly R, Barrington K, Roberts RS. The Premature Infants in Need of Transfusion (PINT) study: a randomized,
controlled trial of a restrictive (low) versus liberal (high) transfusion threshold for extremely low birth weight
infants. J Pediatr. 2006 Sep;149(3):301-307.

» Whyte RK, Kirpalani H, Asztalos EV, Andersen C, Blajchman M, Heddle N, LaCorte M, Robertson CM, Clarke MC,
Vincer MJ, Doyle LW, Roberts RS; PINTOS Study Group. Neurodevelopmental outcome of extremely low birth
weight infants randomly assigned to restrictive or liberal hemoglobin thresholds for blood transfusion. Pediatrics.
2009 Jan;123(1):207-13.
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transfusion group, with an average number of transfusions per subject of (.78 versus
0.38, respectively).26

e In a post hoc analysis presented by TOP trial investigators, there was a significantly
higher incidence of cognitive delay (defined as Mental Development Index <85) in the
restrictive group (44.9% in the restrictive transfusion group versus 33 percent in the
liberal transfusion group).m

Of these two prior randomized clinical trials, the PINT study should be given the most weight
because it is multicenter and has a much larger subject enrollment. Nevertheless, data from both
trials overall suggests that extremely premature infants fared worse under restrictive transfusion
guidelines than under liberal transfusion guidelines.

Indeed, in a 2006 editorial following publication of the results of the IOWA and PINT studies,
Dr. Edward Bell, the TOP trial vice chair, wrote the fc:)llowing:28

The question remains of how far we can push the anemic preterm infant before
transfusing him. Efforts to eliminate transfusions should be revisited in light of the
minimal benefits of restrictive transfusion practice shown in these two trials and the
potentially major benefits of liberal transfusion practice shown in the Towa Trial.
Perhaps the drive to eliminate transfusions by tolerating moderate to severe iatrogenic
anemia should be halted until more information is available. The advantage of fewer
transfusions is small compared with the potential benefit of more liberal
transfusions in protecting the brain. [emphasis added]

B. Overview of the TOP trial*’

The TOP trial is to be conducted by at least 19 NRN centers across the country. The infants to be
enrolled are between 22 and 29 weeks gestational age, weigh less than 1 kilogram (2.2 pounds),

% Kirpalani H, Whyte RK, Andersen C, et al. The Premature Infants in Need of Transfusion (PINT) study: a
randomized, controlled trial of a restrictive (low) versus liberal (high) transfusion threshold for extremely low birth
weight infants. J Pediatr. 2006 Sep;149(3):301-307.

7 Kirplani H, Bell E, D’Angio C, et al. Transfusion of prematures (TOP) trial: does a liberal red blood cell transfusion
strategy improve neurologically-intact survival of extremely-low-birth-weight infants as compared to a restrictive
strategy? Protocol Version 1.0; Final: October 8, 2012. http://www.citizen.org/documents/2150a.pdf. Accessed
August 20, 2013.

%8 Bell EF. Transfusion thresholds for preterm infants: how low should we go? J Pediatr. 2006 Sep;149(3):287-9.
PubMed PMID: 16939732.

» Kirplani H, Bell E, D’Angio C, et al. Transfusion of prematures (TOP) trial: does a liberal red blood cell transfusion
strategy improve neurologically-intact survival of extremely-low-birth-weight infants as compared to a restrictive
strategy? Protocol Version 1.0; Final: October 8, 2012. http://www.citizen.org/documents/2150a.pdf. Accessed
August 20, 2013.
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and are in their first 48 hours of life. As of July 19, 2013, 15 of 19 institutions within the NRN
consortium are currently recruiting premature infants into the TOP trial, according to the entry
for this trial at clinicaltrials.gov.30

Like the PINT and IOWA studies, infants enrolled in the TOP trial are to be randomly assigned
to one of two transfusion groups, largely irrespective of their individual medical needs. The table
below indicates the target hemoglobin levels at which infants are to be transfused and shows that
babies in the restrictive transfusion group have to become much more anemic before they are
transfused according to the protocol-specified criteria.

Hemoglobin Thresholds for Transfusion in the TOP Trial (All units in gm/dl)

TOP
Postnatal Age Restrictive Liberal
Resp. No
Days Resp. Support | No Support | Support Support
1-7 11 10 13 12
8-14 10 8.5 12,5 11
>15 8.5 7 11 10

The specifically stated primary aim of the TOP trial is to examine whether the composite
primary outcome of death or significant neurodevelopmental impairment (evidence of brain
injury) at 22 to 26 months corrected age is less common among preterm infants who, by
transfusion practice, are maintained at higher hemoglobin levels (i.e., managed according to a
liberal transfusion threshold) than in infants with restrictive transfusion thresholds.
Neurodevelopmental impairment is defined by cognitive delay (Mental Developmental Index
<85), cerebral palsy, severe vision impairment, or severe hearing impairment.

Key stated short-term secondary outcome measures in the TOP trial include, among others:

e Survival to discharge without severe morbidity, defined as any of the following:
bronchopulmonary dysplasia retinopathy of prematurity, or serious brain abnormality
(grade 3 or 4 intraventricular hemorrhage, periventricular leukomalacia, or
ventriculomegaly);

e Serious brain abnormality on cranial ultrasound examination;

e Number of transfusions and number of donor exposures by red blood cell donors or other
blood products; and

e Episodes of necrotizing enterocolitis of Bell stage 2 or higher, and time to full-time feeds.

** Transfusion of prematures trial (TOP). http://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01702805. Accessed August 21,
2013.
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In discussing the basis for selecting the two sets of thresholds for the restrictive and liberal
transfusion groups, the TOP trial investigators stated the following in their protocol:31

We base our proposed transfusion thresholds on:

1. The range of hemoglobin thresholds used clinically to guide transfusion
decisions in the participating NICUs of the NICHD Neonatal Research
Network;

ii. A poll of the range of hemoglobin thresholds that would be acceptable to each
neonatologist in an NRN site within the context of an RCT.

The low threshold values reflect more common practice, so this is considered the “usual
treatment” group. In this group, the transfusion thresholds are similar to those used for
the restrictive group in both the PINT and Iowa studies. The highest threshold for the
liberal transfusion group was the highest acceptable to neonatologists at the majority of
NRN centers.

The TOP trial protocol provides no specific data regarding the survey of transfusion thresholds in
the participating NRN NICUs, nor does it describe all of the specific clinical parameters that
would alter the threshold for transfusion in individual patients under usual care at these
institutions. In addition, the TOP trial investigators’ statement that the low threshold values
reflect more common practice at the NRN NICUs is somewhat surprising in light of the results of
an international survey study that was co-authored by the chair and vice chair of the TOP trial
(Dr. Haresh Kirpalani and Dr. Bell, respectively) and cited in the TOP trial protocol.32 This
international survey involved 1,018 neonatologists from 11 countries, 67 percent of whom were
in the U.S. Most notably, the thresholds selected for the restrictive transfusion group in the TOP
trial are at, or in some cases substantially lower than, the 25™ percentile of the threshold used by
the neonatologists who participated in the international survey.

The two experimental groups have the following two features that in combination cause the
study interventions to deviate from the usual care for infants not enrolled in the research:

(1) The choice of transfusion thresholds at the extremes of current practice; and

i Kirplani H, Bell E, D’Angio C, et al. Transfusion of prematures (TOP) trial: does a liberal red blood cell transfusion
strategy improve neurologically-intact survival of extremely-low-birth-weight infants as compared to a restrictive
strategy? Protocol Version 1.0; Final: October 8, 2012. http://www.citizen.org/documents/2150a.pdf. Accessed
August 20, 2013.

*? Guillen U, Cummings JJ, Bell EF, et al. International survey of transfusion practices for extremely premature
infants. Semin Perinatol. 2012;36:244-247.
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(2) Transfusion algorithms based on only two (age and respiratory support) of the many
clinical factors that would otherwise be taken into account to varying degrees in the usual
care setting. (Other factors routinely used to decide whether to transfuse an individual
infant that are not considered under the experimental interventions include, among other
things, oxygen requirement, reticulocyte count, degree of respiratory support, and the
presence of tachycardia or tachypnea.33)

As a result, some infants randomly assigned to the liberal transfusion group will be transfused at
higher hemoglobin levels than they otherwise would if not enrolled in the research. On the other
hand, some infants randomly assigned to the restrictive transfusion group either: (a) will be
transfused at lower hemoglobin levels than they otherwise would if not enrolled in the research;
or (b) will not receive transfusions at hemoglobin levels above the restrictive hemoglobin
threshold when they otherwise would if not enrolled in the research.

The TOP trial investigators acknowledge that harm can come as the result of randomization to
restrictive or liberal transfusion practices when the decision to transfuse is typically based on
guidelines informed by multiple individual patient factors. The authors attempt to mitigate this
potential harm by allowing clinicians to bypass the assigned clinical transfusion algorithm when
an infant’s condition warrants acute urgent or emergent rescue transfusion. However, similar
rescue transfusion strategies did not eliminate the less favorable outcomes seen in the IOWA and
PINT studies for subjects in the restrictive transfusion groups.

II. Serious Deficiencies of the IRB-Approved TOP Trial Consent Forms

Through a Freedom of Information Act request submitted to NIH, we obtained the consent forms
that were approved by IRBs at 17 institutions participating in the TOP trial (see Appendix).
Based on a review of the protocol and these IRB-approved consent forms, we have determined
that the TOP trial has the same types of serious flaws in informed consent as in the SUPPORT
study with respect to the disclosure of the risks, purpose, and nature of the research.

A. Reasonably foreseeable risks

HHS human subjects protection regulations at 45 CFR 46.116(a)(2) require that when seeking
informed consent for research, investigators provide subjects or their legally authorized
representatives (in the case of the TOP trial, the parents of the premature infants) with a
description of any reasonably foreseeable risks.

3 Ohls, Robin. Red blood cells transfusions in the newborn. In: UpToDate, Basow, DS (Ed), UpToDate, Waltham,
MA, 2013. Last update: April 2013.
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The TOP trial poses a number of reasonably foreseeable risks to subjects. The random
assignment of the premature infants to one of two thresholds of hemoglobin levels that are at
either the high end or low end of the “usual range” — independent of certain clinical factors that
would normally be taken into account in making transfusion decisions as part of routine care of
an individual infant — clearly has the potential to alter the care that the premature infants would
otherwise receive as part of usual care if they are not enrolled in the trial.

For example, it is likely that some infants randomly assigned to the restrictive transfusion group
will receive, overall, fewer transfusions than they would otherwise receive as part of usual care if
they were not in the trial. As a result, particularly in light of the results of the IOWA and PINT
studies, reasonably foreseeable risks of the research include possible increased risks of brain
injury, impaired neurologic development, apnea, and even death. Infants in the restrictive group
are also at increased risk of needing urgent or emergent rescue blood transfusions.

In contrast, it is likely that some infants randomly assigned to the liberal transfusion group,
which is identified as the experimental group, will receive more transfusions, overall, than they
would otherwise receive as part of usual care if they were not enrolled in the trial. Thus,
reasonably foreseeable risks of the research include the potential increased risk of: 33

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

e [Iron overload, which may increase the risk of chronic lung disease (bronchopulmonary
dysplasia), retinopathy of prematurity (an eye disease in premature infants that can lead
to blindness), or necrotizing enterocolitis;

e Transmission of certain infections, such HIV and CMV; and

e Transfusion reactions.

Moreover, the inclusion of death and neurologic injury as components of the composite primary
endpoint for the study, combined with the investigators” acknowledged uncertainty regarding the
impact of each of the two experimental transfusion strategies on these outcomes, also warrants
inclusion of these events as reasonably foreseeable risks. Indeed, the main purpose of the study is
to see which group will have more deaths or neurologic injury.

* Fanaro S. Blood transfusion in infants: techniques and adverse events. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med. 2011
Oct;24 Suppl 1:47-9.

* Martin RJ, Fanaroff AA, Walsh MC. “The blood and hematopoietic system.” Fanaroff and Martin’s Neonatal-
Perinatal Medicine: Diseases of the Fetus and Infant 9th edition. Mosby 2011. P1303-1374. print
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However, all of the 17 IRB-approved consent forms, to varying degrees, fail to adequately
disclose these reasonably foreseeable risks. Based on our analysis of the 17 consent forms, key
observations regarding the discussion of the research risks include the following:

(1) Only one consent form indicates that there may be an increased risk of death or disability
associated with the two research interventions.

(2) Fifteen consent forms conflate the potential risk of the research with the risks of routine
medical care outside the research context by stating the following or something very
similar:*®

The risks associated with this study are exactly the same risks that exist in current

medical practice and in blood transfusion therapy.

(3) Four consent forms include the following misleading statement or a very similar one:”’

This study does not carry any additional risk to your baby if you choose to take
part.

(4) One consent form includes the following misinformation:*®
There are no known risks at this time to participation in this study.

(5) Twelve consent forms indicate that giving too much blood may delay blood production
by the infants” own bone marrow and that not giving enough blood may result in the
infants not having enough hemoglobin to carry oxygen around the body.39 However,
these consent forms proceed to declare that such problems will not occur in this trial
because the study avoids these extremes by transfusing within the ranges of hemoglobin
level routinely used by doctors.

(6) None of the consent forms describe the likely increased need for infants assigned to the
restrictive transfusion group to receive more of urgent or emergent rescue transfusions for
“clinical need,” as was clearly shown in the PINT and IOWA studies.*’

* Ibid.

37 IRB-approved consent forms for the TOP trial. http://www.citizen.org/documents/2150b.pdf. Accessed August
21, 2013.

* Ibid.

* Ibid.

“ Ibid.
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(7) Only two consent forms come close to presenting an appropriate description of the risks
by presenting a more extensive, albeit incomplete, description of the different risk
profiles for each experimental group. The following is an excerpt from of these:*'

Possible risks with transfusions done to keep vour baby's hemoglobin at a higher

level include:

If your baby is randomized to the high group it may result not only in more blood
transfusions, but the babies may take longer to mature their own bone marrow to
produce their own blood. Increased administration of fluids may delay closure of
the PDA. An increased number of transfusions may result in a higher amount of
iron in your baby's body. Too much iron may increase the risk of chronic lung
disease (also called BPD), retinopathy of prematurity (an eye problem in
premature infants) or necrotizing enterocolitis ... .

Possible risks with transfusions done to keep yvour baby's hemoglobin at a lower

level include:

If your baby is randomized to the low group, they will receive fewer transfusions.
A baby with a low hemoglobin level could lead to the baby not having enough
hemoglobin to carry oxygen around the body. The frequency of apnea of
prematurity may be increased, and weight gain may be slower.

B. Purpose of the research

HHS regulations at 45 CFR 46.116(a)(1) require that when seeking informed consent for
research, investigators provide subjects or their legally authorized representatives with an
explanation of the purposes of the research.

Given the primary aim of the study, the TOP trial investigators should be informing parents of
potential subjects that the main purpose of the research is to determine whether extremely
premature infants are more or less likely to die, or more or less likely to develop neurologic
impairment (brain damage), if they are managed with a liberal versus restrictive blood
transfusion strategy.

While the title of the study (Transfusion of Prematures (TOP) Trial: Does a Liberal Red Blood
Cell Transfusion Strategy Improve Neurologically-Intact Survival of Extremely-Low-Birth-
Weight Infants as Compared to Restrictive Strategy?) — which appears on 15 of the IRB-

L Ibid.
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approved consent forms*> — reflects the primary study aim, most parents of prospective subjects
are unlikely to derive an understanding of the primary purpose of this trial from the complex
language used in the title. A review of specific explanations of the purpose of the research in 17
IRB-approved consent forms reveals that only two include reference to assessing mortality and
only five mention an assessment of neurodevelopment or developnnent.43 Thus, the majority of
IRB-approved consent forms fail to clearly explain the most important purposes of the research.

Finally, in discussing the purpose of the study, all of the IRB-approved consent forms included a
statement similar to the fnllat)wing:44

When the hemoglobin falls below a certain level, doctors will transfuse the baby.
However, we know that some doctors tend to use a higher level of hemoglobin and some
doctors tend to use a lower level of hemoglobin. The reason for this is that we do not
know which level of hemoglobin is better. This study aims to help us find out when we
should best transfuse babies.

This statement incorrectly implies that nothing is known about what hemoglobin threshold to use
when deciding when to transfuse premature infants. None of the consent forms discuss the
results of the major randomized studies prior to the TOP trial (the PINT and IOWA studies)
which, as discussed above, suggest overall that there are worse outcomes with a restrictive
transfusion strategy than a liberal one. Nor do the consent forms explain that the TOP trial
investigators, as implied in the title of the study, are trying to definitively prove whether a liberal
strategy is indeed safer than a restrictive one.

C. Description of the research interventions

HHS regulations at 45 CFR 46.116(a)(1) require that when seeking informed consent,
investigators provide subjects or their legally authorized representatives with a description of the
procedures to be followed and identification of any procedures that are experimental.

In numerous ways and to varying degrees, all of the IRB-approved consent forms for the TOP
trial fail to adequately describe the research procedures, identify the procedures that are
experimental, and distinguish those procedures from the usual care the infants would receive if
not enrolled in the research. Both study groups receive experimental interventions that are
intended to alter the timing of blood transfusion decisions in comparison to transfusion decisions
that would be made if they were not enrolled in the research. Not only do most of the consent

2 Ibid.
3 Ibid.
“ Ibid.
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forms fail to clearly identify these experimental procedures and how they differ from usual care,
but they clearly misrepresent the nature of the study interventions by stating that the two
thresholds for transfusing infants enrolled in the trial are within the range of normal or usual care
given to infants not in the research. In particular, we note the following:

(1) As previously discussed, as part of routine care outside the research context, the

hemoglobin level at which a particular premature infant would be transfused is routinely
based on consideration of many individual patient factors, only some of which are taken
into consideration in the experimental algorithms for the liberal and restrictive
transfusion groups. Note also that an experimental algorithm based in part on a poll of
hemoglobin thresholds that would be acceptable to neonatologists in the context of a
randomized clinical trial is not the same as what the hemoglobin thresholds for blood
transfusion would be in usual care outside of a clinical trial. None of the consent forms
clearly describe how the research interventions deviate from the usual individualization
of transfusion care in extremely premature infants not enrolled in the study‘45

(2) Only two of the 17 IRB-approved consent forms identified the restrictive group as being

the usual approach for infants not enrolled in the research at that institution.*® None of the
other consent forms explained how the thresholds used for the two experimental groups
compared to those used at the institution where the infant would be hospitalized if not
enrolled in the research.

(3) Seven consent forms included the following misleading statement or one very similar to

it:*

This study does not alter the routine care of your baby.

(4) Sixteen consent forms included the following uninformative and misleading statement

that blurred the distinction between the two research interventions being tested and the
individualized transfusion decisions that would occur for infants not enrolled in the

48
research:

Both of these [hemoglobin threshold] levels [for determining when to transfuse
blood] are in the usual range used by doctors in the NICU.

* Ibid.
* Ibid.
7 Ibid.
* Ibid.
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Given the nature of the TOP trial protocol, these deficiencies in the consent forms approved by
the IRBs at 17 major academic medical centers regarding the research risks, purpose, and
experimental procedures are disturbing, but perhaps not surprising, given what we now know
about what occurred in the SUPPORT study, involving many of the same institutions and
investigators. Like the SUPPORT study, such egregious consent deficiencies deprive parents of
the opportunity to make an informed decision about whether to enroll their infants in the research
and thus represent a serious violation of research ethics. Finally, it seems unlikely that any parent
who fully understands the results of the prior clinical trials, as well as the true risks, purpose, and
nature of the experiment, would be willing to enroll their premature infant in this study.

II1. Ethical Concerns Regarding the Design of the TOP Trial

In addition to the clear deficiencies regarding the informed-consent process for the SUPPORT
study, we have significant ethical concerns about the design of the study. In particular, it appears
that the study as designed failed to satisfy the requirements of the following provisions of the
HHS human subjects protection regulations:

(1) 45 C.F.R. 46.111(a)(1), which requires that as a condition of approval, the IRB must
determine that risks to subjects are minimized by using procedures which are consistent
with sound research design and which do not unnecessarily expose subjects to risk; and

(2) 45 C.F.R. 46.111(a)(2), which requires that as a condition of approval, the IRB must
determine that risks to subjects are reasonable in relationship to any anticipated benefits, if
any, to subjects, and the importance of the knowledge that may reasonably be expected to
result.

While there are many features of the protocol that raise ethical concerns, we describe two
primary features below.

A. Lack of a control group

The TOP trial involves extremely premature infants who are critically ill, have a high baseline
mortality rate, and require customized neonatal intensive care unit management. As discussed
above, as part of routine care for such infants, decisions regarding the level of hemoglobin at
which to transfuse blood would be individualized, based on multiple clinical factors.

The trial involves randomization to two experimental groups in which a fixed low or high
hemoglobin threshold is used to determine when to transfuse blood, without taking into account
some of the many factors that would be considered in such blood transfusion decisions.
However, the trial lacks a control group receiving usual individualized care. Through
randomization, the care of subjects will be changed from the usual care — individualized
transfusion management provided to infants not enrolled in the study — to one of two
experimental fixed target levels of transfusion thresholds, independent of perceived clinical need
or an individualized assessment of risks and benefits. Without a control group involving
individualized, usual care, adequate safety monitoring cannot be conducted by the data safety
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and monitoring committee. Subjects in both experimental groups may experience an increased
incidence of one or more adverse outcomes, including death, because of harmful misalignments.
Yet these may go undetected without an appropriate usual care control group.49

Therefore, without an appropriate usual care control group, risks to subjects are not minimized,
nor are they reasonable in relation to the anticipated benefits to the subjects or the knowledge to
be gained.

B. Insufficient information on usual care

We are also concerned that the IRBs that reviewed the TOP trial were not provided with
sufficient information to make the findings required under 45 CFR 46.111(a)(1) and (2). In
particular, the TOP trial protocol lacks a robust, detailed explanation of the usual care regarding
transfusion decisions in extremely premature infants at each of the participating NRN medical
centers.

As noted above, the protocol indicates that the transfusion algorithm for triggering a transfusion
in each experimental group was based on the range of hemoglobin thresholds used clinically to
guide transfusion decisions at the participating NRN NICUs. But the TOP trial protocol only
reports that the low threshold values reflect more common practice but otherwise provides no
details about the survey of transfusion practices at NRN NICUs that apparently was conducted
prior to development of the protocol. It is unclear whether the statement that the “low threshold
values reflect more common practice” means that: (a) between the high and low transfusion
thresholds, the low transfusion threshold is more common, or (b) the low transfusion threshold is
the most common across the NRN centers. Knowing whether (a) or (b) is true is critical to
understanding the degree to which the experimental interventions deviate from the usual care at
the NRN centers and the risks thereby posed by these deviations.

To fully assess the risks of the trial and to fully understand how the experimental interventions
would alter transfusion management of the subjects in each study group in comparison to usual
care, the IRBs would need much greater detail about the results of the survey of usual transfusion
thresholds across the NRN NICUs. This should include individual data for each center and
summary data for all centers that include the range, mean, median, and interquartile range. The
IRBs would also need a detailed description of all the clinical factors that are taken into account
when determining when to transfuse an individual infant. It is very concerning that such
important detailed information is lacking from the protocol. Without this information,
determinations regarding whether the TOP trial satisfies the requirements of HHS regulations at
45 CFR 46.111(a)(1) and (2) cannot be made.

* Minneci PC, Eichacker PQ, Danner RL, et al. The importance of usual care control groups for safety monitoring
and validity during critical care research. Intensive Care Med. 2008;34:942-947.
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IV. Conclusions and Requested Actions

As in the SUPPORT study, the IRB-approved consent forms for the TOP trial omit very
important and material information regarding the purpose, nature, and risks of the experiment.
Furthermore, the consent forms include very misleading statements equating the participation in
the research with standard of care, and the majority indicate that the experimental interventions
in the trial have no risk. As a result, the parents of potential TOP trial subjects have been and are
still being denied the opportunity to make an informed decision about whether to enroll their

infants in the research.

There are also unresolved serious ethical concerns regarding the design of the TOP trial and
whether the research satisfies the requirements of the HHS human subjects protection regulations

at 45 C.F.R. 46.111(a)(1) and (2).
We therefore urge you to:

(1) Order an immediate halt to the TOP trial, if you have not already done so per our prior
request for such action.

(2) Direct OHRP to open a compliance oversight investigation into the trial.

(3) Direct OHRP to develop a plan for contacting the parents of subjects already enrolled in
the trial and providing them with a complete and accurate description of the risks,
purpose, and nature of the research.

(4) Initiate an independent investigation of the HHS system for review and oversight of
HHS-funded human subjects research to understand how the system failed so miserably
in both the SUPPORT study and the TOP trial. This investigation should include an
assessment of all entities within NIH and other HHS agencies that played a role in the
review, approval, and funding of the SUPPORT study and TOP trial. In addition, given
the widespread failures across multiple IRBs that reviewed and approved the SUPPORT
study and TOP trial, HHS should determine what systemwide actions are needed to
prevent such failures from recurring.

(5) Identify and suspend any similarly unethical research involving premature infants funded
by NIH or any other HHS agency.
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Thank you for your urgent attention to these matters. Please contact us if you have any questions
or require any additional information.

Sincerely,

A

Gregory P. Weaver, M.D., M.P.H.
General Preventive Medicine Resident
Public Citizen’s Health Research Group

%\\,s&k oo

Sidney M. Wolfe, M.D.
Founder, Senior Adviser
Public Citizen’s Health Research Group

/’7"

S F / ﬁ,x___

Michael A. Carome, M.D.

Director
Public Citizen’s Health Research Group

cc: Dr. Francis Collins, Director, NITH
Dr. Alan E. Guttmacher, Director, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health
and Human Development
Dr. Howard K. Koh, Assistant Secretary for Health, HHS
Dr. Jerry Menikoff, Director, OHRP
Dr. Kristina Borror, Director, Division of Compliance Oversight, OHRP
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APPENDIX: Institutions Participating in the TOP Trial

Brown University, Women & Infants Hospital of Rhode Island*® _
Case Western Reserve University, Rainbow Babies and Children's Hospital*§
Children’s Mercy Hospital**

Cincinnati Children's Medical Center**

Duke University Health System*®

Emory University"‘ga

Indiana University**

Research Institute at Nationwide Children's Hospital”‘§

Stanford University§

University of Alabama at Birmingham

University of Buffalo®

University of California, Los Angeles*®

University of Towa*® .

University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill*

University of New Mexico**

University of Pennsylvania, Children’s Hospital of Philadelphia*®

University of Rochester**

University of Texas Health Science Center, Houston

University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center at Dallas*
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From: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH)
Sent: Thursday, August 22, 2013 4:27 PM
To: East, Janet (HHS/OASH)
Subject: FW: Letter regarding the TOP trial
Attachments: 130822 Letter to Secretary Sebelius re TOP Trial_FINAL.pdf

From: Michael Carome [mailto:

Sent: Thursday, August 22, 2013 9:54 AM

To: Sebelius, Kathleen (HHS/QS)

Cc: Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]; Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH); Borror, Kristina C (HHS/OASH);
Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH)

Subject: Letter regarding the TOP trial

Dear Secretary Sebelius:

Attached please find a letter from Public Citizen’s Health Research Group regarding the lack of informed consent for another
Neonatal Research Network clinical trial involving extremely premature infants: the TOP trial. The original hardcopy of our letter will
follow by regular mail.

Thank you for your attention to this important matter.
Sincerely,

Michael A. Carome, M.D.
Director, Health Research Group
Public Citizen

1600 20th Street, NW
Washington, DC 20009

Tele: 202-588-7781
Fax: 202-588-7796

email: mcarome@citizen.org
web: www.citizen.org
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DocID;
Corr, From:
On Behalf Of:

Date on Letter:

Subject:

Synopsis:
Primary Issues.

Action Office:
Info Copies:

Action Required:
Analyst:

Instructions:

Office of the Assistant Secretary for
Health

Information Copy

08232013B001 Date Due:

Michael Carome, et al. T7ask Date:

8/22/2013 Date Inc Rec'd: 8/23/2013

Copy of letter to the Secretary regarding Transfusion of
Prematures TOP Trial: Does a Liberal Red Blood Cell
Transfusion Strategy Improve Neurologically Intact
Survival of Extremely Low Birth Weight Infants as
Compared to Restrictive Strategy

None

DCO

Odwazny, Laura (HHS/OGC); Bradley, Ann (HHS/OASH);
Summers, Elyse (HHS/OASH); Kaneshiro, Julie A (HHS/
OASH); StithColeman, Irene E (HHS/OASH); Pritchard, Ivor
A (HHS/OASH); Lin, Melody (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry
(HHS/OASH); Banks-Shields, Marinna (HHS/OASH);
Buchanan, Lisa (HHS/OASH); Borror, Kristina C (HHS/
OASH); OD; DPA; DED

Info Only

Toni Goodwin

None
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From: Burklow, John (NIH/OD) [E]
To: Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E1; Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Tabak, Lawrence (NIH/OD) [E1; Rockey, Sally
(NIH/OD) [E]; White, Pat (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E];
Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]

Cc: Wood, Gretchen (NIH/OD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Alexander, Rashada (NIH/OD) [E]; Tatem,
Anne (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Childress, Kerri (NIH/NICHD) [E];
[E1; Myles, Renate (NIH/OD) [E]; |ackson, Calvin (NIH/OD) [E]; Fine, Amanda (NIH/0D) [E

Subject: FW: AP: Preemie study sparks debate: How much should patients know about risks of research

Date: Thursday, August 29, 2013 9:17:13 AM

Attachments: image003.png

FYI

John Burklow

Associate Director for Communications and Public Liaison
National Institutes of Health

Building 1, Room 344

(301) 496-4461 (phone)

(301) 496-0017 (fax)

burklowj@od.nih.gov

png-800
a

Celebration of Science at NIH: watch how medical research saves lives and improves health

From: Sye, Tait (OS/ASPA)

Sent: Thursday, August 29, 2013 8:59 AM

To: Broido, Tara (HHS/OASH); Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Lee, Noelle C. (HHS/IOS); Gianelli, Diane M
(OASH); Burklow, John (NIH/OD) [E]; Salcido, Dori (HHS/ASPA); Myles, Renate (NIH/OD) [E]; Bradley,
Ann (HHS/OASH); Horowitz, David (HHS/OGC); Baldauf, Sarah (OS/ASPA)

Subject: AP: Preemie study sparks debate: How much should patients know about risks of research

Here is AP story on the public meeting. Didn’t make it into the clips. Will include it in tomorrow’s.
No mention of the press conference.

Actually does a very good job of explaining the issues.

ok ok

AP: Preemie study sparks debate: How much should patients know about risks of research

By LAURAN NEERGAARD AP Medical Writer
August 29, 2013 - 3:23 am EDT

WASHINGTON — Dagen Pratt's parents enrolled their tiny premature baby in a study of
oxygen treatment believing she'd get the best possible care. They didn't understand it was
an experiment to test what dose works best. No one mentioned any risks.
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Now 6, Dagen struggles with cerebral palsy, and they wonder: Is that long-ago study to
blame?

"Tell me that the Support study did not hurt Dagen in any way," her father, Shawn Pratt,
challenged a government panel on Wednesday as his daughter, dressed in a bright
sundress, stood quietly by.

A major controversy has erupted over what sounds like a straightforward question: How
much should patients be told about the potential risks before they're enrolled in certain
kinds of medical research?

The issue isn't about how to study a brand-new, unapproved therapy. All sides agree that
those studies must fully inform participants that there's no guarantee the experiment will
work, or even be safe.

Instead, the debate is about one of modern medicine's dirty little secrets: Doctors
frequently prescribe one treatment over another without any evidence to know which
option works best. There's no requirement that they tell their patients when they're
essentially making an educated guess, or that they detail the pros and cons of each
choice.

Researchers are supposed to outline all the risks when they study which commonly used
option is best. But could that mislead patients into thinking research is riskier than their
own doctor's best guess?

Federal health officials put that question to the public Wednesday, as they debate how
strictly to regulate this type of research — a debate sparked by that study of premature
babies who included Dagen Pratt of Kingwood, West Virginia

The tiniest preemies face serious risks, including death and disabilities.

Oxygen has been a mainstay of treating them, but doctors didn't know just how much to
use. Too much causes a kind of blindness called retinopathy of prematurity. Too little can
cause neurologic damage, even death. So hospitals used a range of oxygen, with some
doctors opting for the high end and some for the low.

The Support study, conducted between 2005 and 2009, aimed to settle which end of that
range was the best dose. It randomly assigned about 1,300 preemies at 23 hospitals to a
lower or higher oxygen dose. To researchers' surprise, slightly more babies who got the
lower dose died, a finding that has led to new standards for the care of preemies.

The problem: A government watchdog agency last spring ruled that researchers violated
federal regulations that required them to spell out the risks of the study for parents.
Nowhere in the consent forms that parents had to sign was death mentioned.

"This was a very, very important study to do," Dr. Jerry Menikoff, head of the Office for

Human Research Protections, stressed Wednesday. "All we were asking for," he added,
"is a couple of sentences to say there were risks."
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He agreed with consumer advocates that a similar study in New Zealand phrased the
issue more appropriately, saying the question is whether the lower dose "is safe and
effective in reducing serious vision and lung problems without increasing mortality or
neurodevelopmental disability."

But critics, including the head of the National Institutes of Health, argued that back in 2005,
doctors didn't think the lower dose really posed a survival risk — the question was more
about which dose did a good-enough job at saving their vision.

In fact, preemies who didn't enroll in the study — and got whatever range of oxygen their
doctors deemed best — turned out to have a higher risk of death, said NIH Deputy Director
Kathy Hudson.

Dr. John Lantos, a bioethicist at Children's Mercy Hospital in Kansas City, Missouri, knows
that firsthand. His twin grandsons were born during the Support study but weren't given an
opportunity to enroll. One died soon after birth. The other today is thriving but suffered
severe retinopathy and has poor vision.

"Nonvalidated therapy is often more dangerous than careful research," Lantos said, adding
that the consent forms should make that clear as well. "Doctors just hate to say they don't
know something. When they do say it, we should listen."

While the experts debated how to explain research risks, two families who traveled to
Washington for the unusual meeting outlined a bigger hurdle: Reeling from the stress of
having a vulnerable preemie, they simply didn't understand that they were participating in
an experiment. And they still haven't been told what dose of oxygen their children received,
and it's impossible to say whether lingering health problems are a consequence of the
study or of being extremely premature.

Yet, they now wish they hadn't participated.

"l unknowingly placed my son in harm's way," said Sharissa Cook of Attalla, Alabama, who
wonders if vision problems experienced by her 6-year-old, Dreshan Collins, were caused
by the study or from weighing less than 2 pounds at birth. "The only thing a mother wants
is for her baby to be well."

Dagen's mother, Carrie, was more blunt with reporters: "Why is omitting information not
considered lying?" she said. "We were told they would give her the best care every day."
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Gordon, Vale:z (NIH/OD) [E]

From: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Saturday, August 10, 2013 2:47 PM

To: Gordon, Valery (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: FW: SUPPORT Comments FW: Comments Submitted in Docket as of 8/8/2013
Attachments: Presenters Comments Submitted into Docket as of 8 August2013[1].pdf

Valery, how should we proceed? Could Khair do a summary table of some kind and should we have Denise make
binders?

From: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Friday, August 09, 2013 5:11 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Cc: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: SUPPORT Comments FW: Comments Submitted in Docket as of 8/8/2013

Hi Kathy,

Here are the comments submitted to OHRP in advance of the HHS meeting on the SUPPORT study issues.
OHRP staff says the planning meeting is not yet on the books and will include only HHS officials ( you, Rob
Temple (FDA), Jerry, Caya, and other HHS leadership). The purpose of the meeting will be to figure out how to
organize the commenters/meeting segments etc. Meanwhile, we are reviewing the comments.

Amy

From: StithColeman, Irene E (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Friday, August 09, 2013 3:35 PM

To: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: Comments Submitted in Docket as of 8/8/2013

Hi Amy,

Attached are the comments submitted in the Docket by presenters as of August 8, 2013.

Irene
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Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]

From: StithColeman, Irene E (HHS/QASH)

Sent: Friday, August 09, 2013 3:51 PM

To: Patterscn, Amy (NIH/GD) [E]

Subject: RE: Comments Submitted in Docket as of 8/8/2013

Attachments: Presenters Comments Submitted into Docket as of 8August2013[1].pdf

Let me know if you do not get the attachment.

[rene

From: StithColeman, Irene E {HHS/OASH)

Sent: Friday, August 09, 2013 3:35 PM

To: Patterson, Amy (NIH/CD) [E]

Subject: Comments Submitted in Docket as of 8/8/2013

Hi Amy,
Attached are the comments submitted in the Docket by presenters as of August §, 2013.

Irene
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As of: August 08, 2013

Received: August (07, 2013

Status: Posted

PUBLIC SUBMISSION [posted: August 08, 2013

Tracking No. 1jx-86wi-11ar
Comments Due: September 09, 2013
Submission Type: Web

Docket: HHS-OPHS-2013-0004
HHS Public Meeting Regarding Application of Regulatory Requirements at 45 CFR Part 46 to
Research Studying Standard of Care Interventions

Comment On: HHS-OPHS-2013-0004-0001

Notice of a Department of Health and Human Services Public Meeting and Request for Comments
on Matters Related to the Protection of Human Subjects and Research Studying Standard of Care
Interventions

DPocument: HHS-OPHS-2013-0004-0015
Comment on FR Doc # 2013-15160

Submitter Information

Name: George Annas
Address: 02118
Email: annasgj@bu.edu

General Comment

See attached tile(s)

Attachments

OHRP SOC Signed
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'BOSTON |

UNIVERSITY

Boston University School of Public Health
Cepartment of Health Law, Bioethics & Human Rights

715 Albany Street

Boston, Massachusetts 02118-2526
T 617-538-4626 F 617-414-1464
hi@bu.edy ~ -

August 7, 2013

Office for Hnman Research Protections
Department of Health and Human Services
1101 Wootton Parkway, Suite 200
Rockville, MD 20852

Comments for HHS Public Meeting submitted electronically at www.regulations.gov

RE: Docket HHS-OPHS-2013-0004, Notice of a Department of Health and Human Services
Public Meeting and Request for Comments on Matters Related to the Protection of Human
Subjects and Research Studying Standard of Care Interventions {78 FR 38343)

The follo.wing comments are in response to the notice published by the Department of Health
and Human Services "requesting input regarding how an Institutional Review Board should
assess the risks of research involving randomization to one or more standard of care
interventions, and what reasonably foreseeable risks of the research should be disclosed to

research subjects in the informed consent process.” 78 FR 38343 (June 26, 2013)

Others will address this issue from the point of view of investigators and research institutions.
Our focus is on protecting the rights and welfare of research subjects and we will comment on
the questions from the perspective of potential subjects.: Because of the overlapping nature of

the questions, some points will be made more than once,

Before responding directly to the questions it should be noted that “risk” is not limited to the
chance of physical or psychological harm, Risk includes the failure to respect subjects as

persons which requires acknowledging that they are being asked to provide an important service

1 Qur use of the term “subject” includes individuals who will undergo the research interventions
themselves and surrogate decision makers, such as parents, who are empowered to enroll others in
research.
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Comments for HHS
August 7, 2013

to the larger society--participating in research not for their current benefit, but for the future
benefit of the community. This is the essential difference between clinical interventions and
research interventions. Asking a person to become a research subject without making clear to
the potential subject the purpose of the research, how research subjects will be treated

differently from patients, and the potential risks of the research, is exploitative.

In addition, “risk” should not to be considered solely as the chance of harm to the group of
potential research subjects. Risk means assessing the potential harms to each individual
research subject. The ethical and legal obligation is to obtain informed and voluntary consent
from every individual research subject. It is for this reason that we suggest it is essential that
the questions the Department has presented be addressed from the perspective of the potential
individual subjects. The very purpose of informed consent is to ensure the respectful treatment
of individuals — not to protect researchers or institutions, or to further the interests of

researchers, research institutions or sponsors.

We also wish to note at the outset that there is nothing exceptional about "standard of care”
research that requires that it be treated any differently from any other form of research with
human subjects. Indeed, there is nothing special about the concept of standard of care itself.
Standard of care is simply a term that describes what doctors tend to do in certain
circumstances. It is a description rather than a technical, scientific or medical concept.
Standards of care come from a variety of sources and serve a variety of purposes. There is, for
example, no entity that creates “the standard of care” or that controls how physicians may
exercise their broad discretion to make reasonable treatment decisions with their patients.
Standards of care can be derived from expert consensus panels and can be based on definitive

scientific research. ‘These are often referred to as “practice guidelines” rather than as definitive
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Comments for HHS
August 7, 2013

standards. 2 But standards of care also come from what physicians learn at non-peer reviewed
conference presentations, pharmacentical company advertising and sales techniques, the non-
validated practices of “experts” in their fields, the habits learned in training, and other informal
sources.3 For those who argue that doctors practice “defensive medicine” to protect themselves
from lawsuits, standards of care are created to protect doctors from lawsuits, and not to protect
patients from harm. Given all of this, there should be no special category for so-called standard
of care research. Rather, every research protocol must be evaluated individually to determine if
human beings are being appropriately used as research subjects to further scientific knowledge.
One essential criterion for "appropriate use" is that all research subjects are informed of the fact
that they will not be treated by their physician as they might be if they were patients rather than

research subjects.

Heow should an IRB assess the risks of standard of care interventions provided to
subjects in the research context?

An IRB must consider the fact that subjects in this type of research may not receive what their
own physicians consider to be the best care based on the physician’s knowledge and experience.
Indeed, subjects may not receive what a majority of physicians believe is the most effective or
safest treatment — a bona fide question about which treatment is “best” does not require an even
split in the medical community. Specifically, the subjects should be aware of the fact that the
care that they will receive as research subjects will be determined randomly following a protocol
created by someone other than their physician, and not based on their physician’s best !

judgment. The fact that their physician’s best judgment may ultimately not be proven to provide

2 For a discussion of the problems inherent even in the explicit medical guideline-making process see:
Sniderman, AD, and Furburg, CD, Why Guideline Making Requires Reform, JAMA 2009;301: 429-431.

3 For a discussion of the non-medical or scientific pressures to adopt new practices as standard of care

see: Linton , AL, Naylor, D, Organized Medicine and the Assessment of Technology: Lessons from
Ontario, N EnglJ Med 1990; 323: 1463-1467.
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Comments for HHS
August 7, 2013

the best treatment does not detract from the fact that, unlike researchers whose primary intere_st
is in gaining knowledge to benefit others, a physician is required to exercise individual
professional judgment for the benefit of his or her patient. When patients are randomized they
become subjects who no longer have a physician who is solely concerned with their best interest.
The change in roles from physician to researcher and from patient to subject are especially
important for subjects to understand when the person they sought treatment from will be
“blinded,” and therefore not able to receive information about the subject that could be

clinieally significant to a treating physician.

What factors should an IRB consider in determining that the research-related
risks of standard of care interventions, provided to research subjects in the
research context, or reasonably foreseeable and therefore required to be disclosed
to subjects?

As we previously noted, when research subjects are randomized to determine which type of care
they will receive, they are no longer receiving care based on the best judgments of an individual
physician whose sole interest is the welfare of the patient. The consequences of this must always
to be considered a risk of such research. Furthermore, subjects ﬁeed to be informed that the
treatment they would ordinarily receive for their condition at the institution from where they
sought care will not be provided to at least half of the subjects because they will be randomized
to receive another treatment. Assuming there is a reason to believe that one intervention is
superior to another intervention, which is the very justification for this type of research,
potential subjects need to be informed that if it turns out that the care usually offered at their
institation is superior to the comparative intervention, that 50% of them will not receive this
better care. On the other hand, if it turns out that the treatment they would have received if they
were not in the research project is inferior to the alternative; research subjects can be informed
that, while it is not the purpose of enrolling them in the research study, they could benefit from i
4
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Comments for HHS
Aungust 7, 2013

being in the research. But it is essential that the potential risks and potential benefits be clearly
described to potential research subjects who are the only ones who are entitled to weigh the

risks and benefits in determining whether or not they want to become research subjects.

How should randomization be considered in research studying one or more
interventions within the standard of care? Should the randomization procedure
itself be considered to present a risk to the subjects? Why or why not? If so, is the
risk presented by randomization more than minimal risk? Should an IRB be
allowed to waive informed consent for research involving randomization of
subjects to one or more standard of care interventions? Why or why not?

Randomization procedures themselves do not present a risk. Flipping a coin is risk free as long
as no consequences follow from the outcome of the flip. Randomization is extremely risky,
however, if a life or death decision is determined by a coin flip. Determining which medical
treatment a person receives as a result of a coin flip always presents the risk of exploitation ot
research subjects. For example, there was a substantial controversy regarding the comparative
risks and benefit of radical mastectomy and segmental mastectomy. In the 1980’s both were
used as “standard of care” by different surgeons. To resolve the controversy a randomized
conlrolled clinical study was conducted in which women with breast cancer were randomly
selected for one treatment or the other.4 Itis hard to imagine that anyone would seriously argue
that this is low risk research because both treatments were used by some practitioners as
standard treatments, or that the potential subjects would not need to be informed of the

potential risks and benefits of each ireatment before they consented to be randomized.

When people are ill they seek care from physicians whose sole goal should be to provide care
designed to benefit them. Randomization deprives people of this special doctor-patient fiduciary

relationship. By definition researchers do not have the special fiduciary obligation which is

4 Fisher, B et.al, Five-Year Results of a Randomized Clinical Trial Comparing Total Mastectomy and
Segmental Mastectomy with or without Radiation in the Treatment of Breast Cancer, N Engl J Med 1985;
312 665-673.
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August 7, 2013

defined as the obligation of the physician to use the best interests of the patient as the sole guide
to care, Unlike treating physicians, a researcher’s primary goal is to create new knowledge to
benefit others. However noble or important this undertaking may be, it does not change the fact
that researchers have a different relationship to their research subjects than physicians have to
their patients. It is absolutely essential that potential research subjects understand the different
roles and loyalties of treating physicians and researchers and that these roles are created by the
very act of randomization, In every case of randomization the difference is stark: the treatment
the person will receive is not chosen because it is considered the best treatment for the
individual patient by the physician who has a fiduciary duty to the patient, but rather is chosen

by a protocol designed by people who have no relationship of any kind with the subject.

This is further complicated by the fact that it is rare that there is not some medical consensus
that one form of treatment is superior to the other. A good example of this is found in the
SUPPORT study where the research protocol indicates that the more “conventional treatment”
was to provide very premature infants with higher saturations of oxygenation than the lower
saturation provided by some physicians.s It is essential that subjects be informed that they are
at risk of not receiving what is considered "the more conventional treatment” or the treatment
that many doctors consider to be the superior treatment. While it may turn out that the
treatment considered superior is in fact not superior to the alternative treatments, this will only
be known in retrospect, and subjects need to be aware of what the best judgment of their

treating physicians is at the time of enrollment.

The risk presented by randomization for the determination of which medical treatment a person
will receive is always more than "minimal risk.” According to current federal regulations

minimal risk means “the probability and magnitude of harm or discomfort anticipated in the

. 5 Protocol for the NICHD Neonatal Research Network, The Surfactant Positive Airway Pressure and Pulse
Oximetry Trial in Extremely Low Birth Weight Infants, p. 9, March 28, 2013.

6
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research are not greater in and of themselves than those ordinarily encountered in daily life or
during the performance of routine physical or psychological examinations or tests.” Once again
we note that the terms “risk” and “harm” are not confined to physical risk and harm. The harm
from randomization, as discussed above, is that patients will not receive the care their
physicians consider to be in their best interests. Receiving medical care that is randomly chosen
is not something one encounters in “everyday life.” We think that most patients would be
shocked to discover, after the fact, that the treatment they received was determined by a
stranger who created a protocol rather than by their treating physician’s best judgment. This

risk is clearly greater than minimal risk in terms of respect for persons,

IRBs should never be allowed to waive informed consent for research involving randomization
of individual subjects into “standard of care” interventions. Failure to inform research subjects
that they actually are research subjects is the epitome of disrespect for persons. The failure to
discuss randomization with potential research subjects would result in using people for research
purposes without their knowledge. If there is anything that research ethics requires, and that
IRBs must enforce, it is the principle that every person who is a research subject must be aware
that they have been recruited into that role. People should not be treated like laboratory
animals, as a means to an end, and that is how they are treated in the absence of their

knowledge and consent.

How, and to what extent, does uncertainty about risk within the standard of care
affect the answers to these questions? What if the risk significantly varies within
the standard of care?

If there is no uncertainty about the risks and benefits of various forms of “standard of care,”
then there is no justification for conduecting the research at all. It is the very existence of

uncertainty about both the risks and benefits of different types of care that both justifies the
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conduct of the research and requires that subjects be fully informed of these uncertainties. The ...
more significant the risks and benefits of two interventions differ, the more essential it is that
potential subjects be made aware of these differences and of their option to receive what their
physician considers the best care, As an obvious example, if a study involves randomizing

people to determine which of two accepted forms of treatment is most likely to prevent death, it
would be clearly unethical for research subjects not to be informed that death is the outcome

measure for the study.

Under what circumstances do potential risks qualify as reasonably foreseeable
risks? For example, is it sufficient that there be a documented belief in the
medical community that a particular intervention within the standard of care
increases the risk of harm, or is it necessary that there be published studies
identifying the risk?

As we stated in our introductory comments, there is nothing special or even “scientific” about
the adoption of “standards of care.” When physicians adopt a standard of care it is based on, at
least in part, their assessments of risk and benefit. The fact that numerous methods for
providing care have not come about as a result of rigorous scientific study of risks and benefits
does not mean that there is not substantial experience in the community of physicians of the

risks (whether “documented” or not) inherent in a standard treatment.

One of the reasons physicians adopt particular standards of care is that the combination of
biological plausibility and experience have provided some information of the risks and benefits
of a particular treatment approach. As an example, in the SUPPORT trial it was clear that at
least some physicians were concerned that lower oxygenation levels in very premature infants
increased the risk of mortality, which is why the “more conventional” treatment was the use of
high oxygenation. On the other hand, there were physicians who were concerned that high

oxygenation might lead to increased blindness and therefore they might choose a lower level of
8
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oxygenation. These different approaches and concerns about risks and benefits were the very
reason there wefe differing standards of care in different institutions. Whether or not these
harms were in the peer-reviewed literature or otherwise documented, parents should be made
aware of the reasons different physicians use different treatment approaches, and the risks each

choice presents,

Conclusion

The practice of medicine shounld be evidence-based and comparative treatment studies are an
important way to obtain some of this evidence. We do not suggest that comparative
effectiveness studies should be stopped or that they are inherently unethical. But it is essential
that the utility of such research not blind investigators, IRBs or federal regulators to their
obligation to ensure that the rights and welfare of research subjects are protected. Such
protection is not limited to reducing or eliminating the chances of physical harm, but must also
eliminate the risk to human dignity that is threatened whenever humans are used merely as a

means to an end without their knowledge and voluntary informed consent.-

There is nothing meaningful that distinguishes comparative effectiveness research from any
other form of research with humans that would justify waiving basic informed consent
requirements — it is simply one type of research methodology. As with all forms of human
research methodologies the risks to the rights and welfare of human subjects are dependent on
the specific facts of the case. For example, research using a placebo control arm for people
suffering from a curable infection would clearly be unethical. But this does not make all placebo-
controlled research unethical. The same is true of comparative effectiveness research. Each

study must be reviewed based on its specific goals, outcomes, risks and benefits. This review
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. must be conducted in an atmosphere in which the rights and welfare of research subjects take

primacy over an investigators needs, or even over the benefit the research may provide to others.

Leonard H. Glantz, JD

Michael A. Grodin, MD

Note: The opinions expressed in this document are those of the authors, all of whom work at
Boston University, but do not speak for Boston University.
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PRIMER

PUBLIC RESPONSIBILITY IN
MEDICINE AND RESEARCH

August 1, 2013 Submitted electronically at www.regulations.gov

The Hon. Howard Koh, MD, MPH
Assistant Secretary for Health

Department of Health and Human Services
Suite 200

1101 Wootton Parkway

Rockville, MD 20852

RE: Docket HHS-OPHS-2013-0004, Notice of a Department of Health and Human
Services Public Meeting and Request for Comments on Matters Related to the Protection of
Human Subjects and Research Studying Standard of Care Interventions (78 FR 38343).

Dear Dr. Koh,

Public Responsibility in Medicine and Research (PRIM&R), a nonprofit educational and
professional development organization, appreciates the opportunity to submit comments on matters
related to the protection of human subjects of research when studying standard of care
interventions, as requested in the June 26, 2013 Federal Register notice,

For 39 years, PRIM&R has been dedicated to advancing the highest ethical standards in the
conduct of research. We accomplish this goal by serving the full array of individuals and
organizations involved in biomedical and social science/behavioral research, particularly the
members and staff of human research protection programs (HRPPs) and institutional review boards
(IRBs). Through conferences and other educational activities, PRIM&R provides balanced,
thorough, and accurate information on a range of ethical and regulatory issues affecting research.
As aresult, we have developed a good sense of what is important to the frontline defenders of
ethical research practices.

" I, INTRODUCTION

Before making specific recommendations for the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP)
guidance to IRBs, we wish to make a few preliminary points.

First, PRIM&R believes that protecting the rights and welfare of human subjects should never be
compromised in the service of the desire to expedite research, regardless of how valuable that
research may be. Nothing about the work that is the topic of the present notice, “research studying
standard of care interventions,” justifies departing from this basic precept. A primary mechanism
by which such protection is operationalized is informed consent. When it is working as it should,
the informed consent process provides in a clear, well organized, and accessible way the
tnformation a potential subject needs to make a considered decision about whether or not to enroll
in a research study. While the Common Rule lays out required elements of informed consent, we
believe it is essential that all those involved in human subjects research understand that adherence
to a regulatory formula is not the same as achieving voluntary and informed agreement, which
involves a process, appropriate to the level of risk and burdens implicated in the research, that is

20 Park Plazs, Suite 720 @ Boston, MA $2116 W T 6174234112 W F 617.423.1185 @ info@primrorg W www.primr.org
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thorough, transparent, and sensitive to the situation of each potential subject, particularly those
who are also patients.

Second, investigators who undertake research with patients must be especially vigilant about
potential gaps in or failures of understanding, and must thus be sensitive to the circumstances that
may exacerbate such gaps or failures. Written consent forms alone are rarely if ever adequate for
informed consent. Additional, creative efforts to assess and ensure adequate comprehension of the
options around enrolling in research may be called for, and obtaining consent from patients or
other vulnerable subjects (or their surrogates) commonly requires devoting substantial time and
energy to an ongoing consent conversation. Investigators and their research teams should be
expected to make this effort.

II. GUIDANCE FOR IRBS EVALUATING STUDIES INVOLVING STANDARD-OF-CARE COMPARISONS

Given these precepts, we propose a framework to guide IRBs when they are asked to review
research involving random assignment of patient-subjects to interventions all of which fall within
the “standard of care” provided to patients outside a trial. Our terminology follows that of the
Federal Register announcement. First, we use the term “intervention,” which encompasses
diagnostic and preventive as well as therapeutic measures, since all may be the subject of
comparative study. One difficulty with the term “intervention,” however, is that in some situations,
it might suggest that what is being compared is an individual item (e.g., one type of syringe versus
another). By medical interventions we have in mind not such individual items but clinical
regimens (sets of procedures designed for particular clinical ends). Single items may need to be
evaluated for their efficacy and safety, but comparative effectiveness trials usually involve
multipart regimens. Furthermore, we assume that what is being studied involves something about
which patients usually choose among alternatives, that is, the sorts of changes in routine care that
are first discussed with patients by the physician because they would be material to patients.l

The other phrase in the Federal Register announcement, “standard of care,” could also be criticized
in the present context. Since a common use of “standard” is a rule set by an anthority (i.e., a
bureau of standards), it seems hard to explain why one would intentionally deprive patients of an
intervention that embodies the “standard.”” A good deal of evidence—particularly evidence of
efficacy derived from clinical trials conducted with a carefully select group of subjects—exists for

! Other sorts of matters—how the facility maintains hygienic conditions, how nurses distribute medication,
which scalpel is used in an operation, and the like—are covered by the general consent (implicit as well as
explicit) that patients give upon entering a healthcare facility. Of course, even within this ambit, physicians,
nurses, and healthcare administrators are responsible for the consequences of the professional choices they
make, and if a change they have made unreasonably increased the risk of injury they can be found liabie for
any resulting harm, though not based on the failure to have received informed consent for the change.

2 A similar criticism was raised when “standard of care” was used to indicate the care that had to be used in
the control arm of a clinical trial of a drug for which treatments already exists. This altemative to using a
placebo control was often taken to mean the best treatment for the condition in use anywhere, although the
National Bioethics Advisory Commission argued that it would be acceptable to give any “established
effective” intervention to control arm subjects in a setting where little or no treatment for a condition is
generally available. National Bioethics Advisory Commission, ETHICAL AND POLICY ISSUES IN
INTERNATIONAL RESEARCH: CLINICAL TRIALS IN DEVELOPING COUNTRIES (2001}, pp. 22 ff. “Established
effective” would, however, seem inapt in the present context, when interventions are subjected io
comparative study precisely because their relative effectiveness has not been established.
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many of the interventions routinely used in medical treatment. What is missing, however, is
adequate information about the effectiveness of many interventions as they are generally used,
often for indications and in populations for which clinical trials have not been conducted, much
tess trials that would allow interventions to be compared reliably to one another. In these
circumstances, a range of interventions are all within the standard of care. Thus, despite the
potential ambiguity with the term, we follow the Department’s lead and use “standard of care” to
refer to medical interventions that are routinely used by a recognized group of qualified
practitioners in treating the condition being studied in the relevant population. Trials of this sort
are conducted when uncertainty exists about which of two or more widely used interventions better
achieves a particular set of outcomes.

Below are six questions we recommend that IRBs ask concerning protocols and informed consent
processes in such trials. We provide further explanation and justification for each question.

1. Have the investigators established that the medical interventions being compared are
within the accepted "standard of care" for the population being studied and that doubt
exists concerning their relative effectiveness?

In reviewing a study comparing standard-of-care interventions, the IRB should ensure that the
investigators have adequately supported two threshold points: (1) that the interventions being
studied are indeed within the accepted standard for the proposed study population, and (2) that
adequate evidence is lacking as to which intervention is most successful in producing particular
outcomes, including considerations of burdens and potential harms and benefits. Typically, the
first will involve the investigator providing the IRB with professional practice guidelines, data
on actual physician practices, or other evidence from peer reviewed journals and medical
textbooks relevant to establishing the accepted use of the interventions in the population in
question (which should include information on the safety and effectiveness of the
interventions).

The second point can be addressed by published commentary on the existence of disagreement
regarding the superiority or inferiority of the interventions or any other legitimate source of
information that justifies the need for the comparative research. An IRB may need to consult
experts in the relevant field of practice for advice on the completeness and persuasiveness of
these materials in order to answer these two threshold questions, but in some cases, the answers
may be inferred from the very fact that the protocol involves a multi-site study funded by a
national medical research body which has subjected the protocol to extensive peer review
before being willing to fund it. In examining the two threshold issues, the IRB is not setting
itself up as a scientific review body, because deciding whether those with expertise are satisfied
that adequate justification exists to provide these particular standard-of-care interventions in a
research rather than clinical context is ultimately an ethical judgment.

2. How will potential subjects be informed about the nature and potential harms, burdens,
and benefits of the medical interventions being compared?

In providing interventions in the context of ordinary care, physicians are generally expected to
engage patients in a discussion about the nature of the intervention and any other routinely used
alternatives and their relative burdens and potential harms and benefits. In a research study
involving the comparison of one or more standard interventions, the IRB should be satisfied
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that someone will have engaged potential subjects in the process of discussing the nature,
potential benefits, harms, and burdens of the interventions being compared in the trial. This
would usually be a member of the research team providing the interventions, but sometimes the
discussion of the alternatives in a therapeutic context may initially be carried out by the
patient’s treating physician before the patient is referred to the research team to discuss
entering a trial that will compare two or more standard-of-care interventions for the patient’s
disease or condition. From an informed consent vantage point, the central concern is that all the
relevant factors about each intervention (and especially its potential harms or burdens) be
conveyed in as clear and comprehensible way as possible to the patients {or surrogates) who
are being solicited to become subjects in a study of those interventions.

Investigators should explain how this process will be carried out, and IRBs shouid consider
such descriptions carefully but also creatively. Guidance rather than regulations is needed
because this process of disclosure and discussion can vary from setting to setting and from
intervention to intervention, based on the disease or condition being treated, diagnosed or
prevented, the relative complexity or familiarity of the interventions, the nature of their
potential harms and benefits, the clinical setting, and the prior relationship, if any, of the
participants (patients, physicians, investigators, and so forth). The process may involve
explanatory materials, written consent forms, oral presentations {with the points to be covered
specified, but the exact sequence and format shaped by each particular physician-patient
encounter), or other forms of communication (such as interactive media).

Before they become research subjects--indeed, preferably before they are invited to become
research subjects—patients should have a clear picture of the risks that inhere in the
interventions when they are used in routine medical care. This understanding is especially
important when these risks differ in type—that is, when the potential harms of the alternative
interventions involve trade-offs among different categories or degrees of harm. In such a
situation, a patient may strongly prefer one set of burdens and potential harms and benefits over
the other, and thus would probably not want to be in a research project in which he or she has
an equal likelihood of being assigned to receive the intervention that is more likely to produce
the disfavored risks.

How will the potential subjects be informed that they are being asked to be partof a
study comparing two medical interventions and that if they do not wish to participate in
(or, later, to continue in) this study, they will instead receive standard care?

The essential predicate for a patient being enrolled in a study comparing two or more standard
interventions is that the patient knows what will be entailed in entering the study: namely, that
the intervention he or she receives will be determined under the protocol {typically by random
assignment), that the person providing it will be an investigator rather than simply a treating
physician, and that the research may impose particular burdens and potential harms beyond
those involved in receiving the interventions solely as ordinary care (a point addressed in
question #5 below). The IRB should ensure that there is a plan or process in place for
informing potential subjects that they are being asked to participate in research. Furthermore, in
order for subjects to make an informed decision about participating, they must be made aware
of what it means to become a research subject in this particular context. For research that
involves randomizing subjects between standard-of-care interventions, the basic choice facing
potential subjects is whether they wish to have the intervention that their physician
recommends based upon the physician’s best (albeit less than fully supported) clinical
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judgment or whether they—out of a desire to help develop medical knowledge or frustration
with the lack of adequate comparative information to guide them and their physician in making
choices about their own care—are willing to have the intervention chosen by a process
governed by the rules laid out in the study protocol.

For the IRB, the central goal should be to ensure that the investigator has set forth how
potential subjects will come to understand that they have a choice as regards the specific
interventions being studied between remaining in a therapeutic, doctor-patient relationship, or
entering an investigator-subject relationship, in which case their physician will not routinely be
making personalized clinical decisions about the use of the interventions under study. The
usual reassurance given to potential subjects—that the decision to decline participation in a
study will not adversely affect their treatment—is particularly pertinent here because patients
who decide not to enroll in a trial comparing two standard-of-care interventions should still be
able to get either intervention outside the trial since they are routinely used in clinical practice,
In contrast to the situation in trials of new drugs and devices that are not yet in general use. As
always, patients who choose to enroll must also be told that they can choose to terminate their
participation in the study at any time, in which case they will return to having their care
governed by the best judgment of their physician(s).

4. How will the potential subjects be informed of any available alternatives (and their
potential harms and benefits) to the interventions being offered in the study?

In order for consent to participate in research to qualify as informed, potential research subjects
must be adequately apprised of the alternatives to participating in the study. When the
alternative to participating in research is receiving one or more treatment that is also the object
of the study, there is greater potential for confusion about the differences between participating
and not participating in the research. These differences must be fully explained to the potential
subject, a responsibility that falls to the investigator. It is incumbent upon the IRB, through its
oversight function, to ensure that both the informed consent process and the form include a
very clear statement that the alternative to enrolling in the study—where the specific
Intervention a subject receives will be decided randomly—is to leave the choice in the hands of
a physician using his or her best clinical judgment. At the same time, it is important for
prospective subjects to understand that, given the lack of definitive evidence about which
intervention is best, a physician—however good his or her intentions—cannot know whether
the intervention he or she recommends will actually serve the patients’ interests better than the
alternative, These statements should be accompanied by an explanation of what is known
about the potential benefits and harms (per #2 above) of each possible intervention.

5. What burdens and potential harms—beyond those of the two or more interventions being
compared—are added by participating in the study?

Deciding when a study involves potential harms beyond those that inhere in each intervention
when provided as part of standard care requires complicated and nuanced assessment. An IRB
must determine whether the investigators (1) have thoroughly examined and identified the
added burdens and potential harms to subjects that are added by participation in the study, over
and above the risks of receiving either of the standard-of-care interventions being compared,
and (2) have developed an adequate description of those added risks for the informed consent
process. The specific potential harms added by research participation will necessarily be case-
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dependent. However, we urge OHRP to provide guidance to IRBs about how to identify and
then evaluate those additional burdens and risks, as illustrated by the following examples:

e Some burdens and potential harms may arise because subjects in the study will undergo
additional testing and monitoring (ranging from extra blood-draws and spinal taps to
diagnostic imaging), which may create new burdens and potential harms to which patients
receiving the intervention as ordinary care would not be exposed.

e Some potential harms may arise because in the course of ordinary care the level or type ofa
specific intervention would be modified in light of an individual’s response to the
intervention or what the physician knows about the patient’s preferences, whereas in
research the study interventions will be given according to the protocol which may or may
not provide much flexibility for investigators to respond to the evolving situation of
individual subjects. In general, study protocols tend to be more rigid than management by
one’s personal physician, so it will be important for the IRB to be satisfied with the point
specified by the investigator when a subject's response will be judged to be so far off the
expected range that the subject will be withdrawn from the study and treated simply as a
patient. As part of the obligation to minimize harm to subjects, physician-investigators
always retain the authority to exercise their Hippocratic duties to subjects as patients and
change the interventions being used when necessary to protect the patient’s well-being.

¢ As aresult of procedures that mask certain data sources, a physician-investigator may not
receive information he or she would have received when providing ordinary treatment,
giving rise to additional risk.

e All studies with random assignment also pose the risk that, should the intervention that a
patient-subject would have received outside the research (i.e., the intervention usually
recommended by the patient’s physician) be proven by the research to be the superior one,
the subject has an even chance of not having received that intervention. Of course, the
obverse is also true: should the intervention the patient would have received outside of
research turn out to be the inferior one, the study will have offered the patient-subject an
even chance of getting the superior intervention. The question for a potential subject is thus
whether he or she would find it easier to accept a bad outcome that results from a medical
intervention that was chosen by the physician and patient than if it were produced by
having been randomly assigned to the group that received that intervention.

6. How will the potential subjects be informed of any such additional risks?

Similar to our response to question 2, subjects in studies comparing two or more standard
interventions should be informed of risks using methods traditionally employed to obtain
informed consent from all potential research subjects. The IRB should ensure that, if and when
additional risks of research participation are identified, the informed consent process and form
include (1) a clear statement that participating in research involves potential harms over and
above those receiving one of the interventions outside of the research, and (2) a clear and
complete description of those additional risks.
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III. RESEARCH TO ACHIEVE A “LEARNING HEALTH SYSTEM”

The activity that provoked OHRP’s present enquiry—namely, comparative studies of standard-of -
care interventions—is part of a broader, and growing, interest among clinicians, health systems
researchers, and healthcare funders (including the Federal government) to improve the efficiency
and effectiveness of health care by remedying the alarming lack of evidence for much of what
happens in medical practice. A variety of activities designed to address this gap and compare the
effectiveness of health interventions have recently emerged across the healthcare landscape. The
type of research on which DHHS is seeking guidance for IRBs is just one of many such activities,
Others include pragmatic clinical trials engaging large health care systems and learning healthcare
systems that aim simultaneously to provide care, study outcomes, and improve practice. As the
Patient-Centered Outcomes Research Institute (PCORI) gains momentum, we will see a move
toward a healthcare system that mandates large-scale projects, including retrospective
examinations of health data and interventions designed to determine the optimal standard of care.

" As these activities become more widespread, it will be important to establish-appropriate oversight
systems. Only some of these activities qualify as research under the current regulatory definition,
but all face a number of regulatory and ethical chailenges including what, if any, type of ethical
review is required and what to do when it is not feasible to obtain individual informed consent. It is
unclear how to re-conceive models for appropriate oversight for circumstances such as these in
which risk, if any, may be minimal but benefit for society is potentially great.

PRIM&R is already involved in several projects identifying and examining the ethical issues that
arise for activities designed to learn from the results of providing routine health care and initiating
clinical innovations, and we hope to provide guidance to the HRPP/IRB community as our work
progresses. We encourage OHRP to use its considerable authority to anticipate the need for ethical
guidelines around these emerging learning activities,

IV. CoNCLUSION

Practicing medicine on a strong evidence-base is essential if scarce resources are to be used in the
most patient-centered manner possible. Seeking to fill gaps in our knowledge about the relative
merits of different, accepted interventions for a particular condition is an important tool for adding
to that evidence-base. However, research to improve our understanding of the correct standard of
care (often called comparative effectiveness research) is not unique from the perspective of
research protections. Those seeking to enroll patients in a study to compare standard-of-care
interventions must explicitly tell them that they are being asked to participate in research and what
this means for them. Unless a study meets the criteria for an informed consent waiver or
exemption, prospective subjects must be informed in a comprehensive and transparent way about
the nature, risks, and benefits of the interventions being studied and about any added potential
harms or burdens presented by the research, as well as about alternatives to research participation.
It may be more complicated for IRBs and investigators to apply the Common Rule and general
ethical guidelines about risk and informed consent when research involves standard-of-care
interventions, given the added complexities of identifying the relevant standard, of clearly
separating the potential harms of the existing interventions from those added by enrolling in the
study, and of adequately explaining to subjects the differences between receiving an intervention as
a physician’s patient and receiving possibly that same intervention as the subject of a clinical trial.

We hope that our specific suggestions for how IRBs should be encouraged to think about trials
comparing standard-of-care interventions so as to ensure that they meet the high ethical
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expectations of the Common Rule, as well as our framing comments in sections I and I, are
useful to the Department and to OHRP as you develop guidance or propose modifications in the
regulations. As always, PRIM&R stands ready to assist the Department and OHRP with the
development of a framework for the ethical oversight of research with human beings that is
appropriate to the particular types of research being proposed and carried out. We look forward to
an opportunity to discuss this goal with you and to collaborate with the Department and with
OHRP on achieving it, which is a matter of central importance to our members.

Respectfully Submitted,

(e Tl

Alexander M. Capron
Chair, PRIM&R Board of Directors

cc: Board of Directors, Public Policy Committee
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These comments are submitted on behalf of the leadership of the Clinical Research Ethics Key
Function Committee and the Child Health Oversight Committee {CC-CHOC) of the Clinical and
Translational Science Award (CTSA) Consortium, supported by NIH. We are individuals working at
academic medical centers who are committed to advancing ethically sound and socially responsible
research to improve health. These comments are not the official views of the NIH, the CTSA Consortium or
our institutions, nor do they represent the views of all the members of our groups. These are critical issues
that are complex and have only recently been the subject of scholarship and analysis. We anticipate that
further research and analysis will be necessary and welcome this hearing as an important first step in that
direction.

We initially will acknowledge two perspectives, offer two overarching comments, and present a
vignette to help frame our responses to the questions. Qur substantive comments will focus on the first

three questions posed by HHS for today's hearing.

Our first perspective is from the vantage point of the CTSA Clinical Research Ethics Key
Function Committee, which includes more than 150 members from 61 academic institutions
throughout the US with the mission to expand the use of best practices in clinical research ethics.
We accomplish much of our activity through working groups, two of which highlight usefut approaches to

the questions posed by OHRP. 1) Our Ethics and Community Engagement working group is committed
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to community involvement in all aspects of research. Input from the public, including potential research
subjects, will be critical to interpreting federal policy for the protection of human subjects in ways that are
acceptable to all and that further the public interest. Community engagement can provide important insights
into specific research projects on standard of care when traditional approaches to informed consent are
challenging. 2) Our Consultation working group is a network of individuals who provide research ethics
consuitations to researchers and IRBs at CTSA institutions. We have found that sustained deliberation over
time with input from all relevant stakeholders can be useful when navigating novel moral terrain..We would

encourage OHRP to consider how to convene content experts when new issues arise.

Our second vantage point is from the CC-CHOC, composed of 237 members from the 61
institutions who are committed to improving child health using the scientific method. The traditional
exclusion of children from clinical research has resulted in an even larger proportion of clinical practice
provided without an evidence base than for adults. The great majority of drugs and devices used to treat
infants and children have not been studied adequately for safety and efficacy in those populations, so the

deliberations here are particularly germane and standard of care research is critically important.

Our first errarching coni.me.nt is that there is growing appreciation that the current
approach to informed consent has serious flaws. Clinical studies are becoming increasingly complex.
To understand them, one must process a great deal of background information, appreciate statistical
probabilities, and know the difference between the use of non-validated therapies and clinical research. As
a result, informed consent documents are lengthy and difficult to understand. Numerous studies show that
people can participate in the informed consent process and stiii retain misunderstandings about the most
basic facts about the research for which they have given consent. Further, while the informed consent
process is meant to inform, engage, and empower potential research subjects, consent forms serve other
goals (i.e., administrative and legal) as well. As we think about ways to improve the process of giving
information and seeking consent, it is important that we think about the underlying rationale behind the

2
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consent process and about the range of approaches to engaging participants respectfully and
meaningfully. We are skeptical that patient engagement can be accomplished by appending additional
information to consent forms that are already too long and too complex. Alternative rhééns of engagement
using web, video, graphic communications, and social media may be more useful than 10- to 20-page

consent forms, especially with participants or surrogates who face highly stressful circumstances.

Our second overarching comment is that the concepts used to guide our standard approach
to informed consent-—i.e., risks related to research, foreseeable risks, minimal risk, and waiver of
informed consent—are intrinsically connected to the regulatory framework. As illustrated by the
advanced notice of proposed rulemaking in 2011, the US regulatory framework is being reconsidered.
Although our comment uses this regulatory language, we emphasize that the issues related to “standard of

care research” or “comparative effectiveness research” transcend this framework.

Our vignette {to which our remaining comments refer) is an example of a randomized clinical
trial related to standard of care.

In the early 1980s, several countries and Colorado and implemented newborn screening (NBS) for
cystic fibrosis (CF) as a “standard of care.” Researchefé in Wisconsin d.ecided to study this new
intervention with a randomized clinical trial. From 1985 to 1994, 650,000 newborns were screened for CF
in Wisconsin, Half of the results were returned within six weeks, while the results for the other half were
disclosed at four years of age. This study underwent NIH and IRB review as well as extensive community
engagement and ethics consultation. It was conducted with a waiver of informed consent for screening, but
a more detailed informed consent process was used for diagnostic testing and for treatment of identified
CF patients with standardized treatment protocols. The study yielded important information and coutd not
have been done logistically without a waiver of consent. In 2004, a CDC Workshop concluded that

newborn screening for CF was justified. Today, all states screen newborns for CF.
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There were unforeseen harms during the study. Some children in the group whose positive
screening results were revealed at six weeks had worse pulmonary outcomes than those diagnosed at age
four. The children identified with CF at six weeks were sentto a spe-c.iélty clinic for treatment, where some
were unintentionally exposed to Pseudomonas bacteria from other children. Children diagnosed at age four
avoided that early exposure. Measuring Pseudomonas acquisition was one of many surveillance aspects of
the protocol, but Pseudomonas acquisition was not an identified risk and participants were not told that
infection was a risk of being in the study. This was not expected because of limited knowledge of
appropriate infection control procedures.

Some lessons from the CF newborn screening study are:

¢ There can be unforeseen risks in standard of care research.

e Some of these risks are the risks associated with standard treatment. These risks are
recoghized because of the research. The harm in the CF research was also a harm of standard
therapy, and the study led to reduction of risk and improvements in care for all the children of
Wisconsin, as well as around the country.

» Many parents of newborns did not understand the study. Efforts at community engagement and
public education are inadequate and need to _be_ improved.

e Sometimes waivers of consent for randomization are appropriate, ethically defensible, and

necessary.

1. How should IRBs assess the risks of standard of care interventions provided to subjects in the
research context? The risks of standard practice can be quite significant, particularly for seriously ill
newborns and children. Efforts to provide and improve care can be helpful or harmful whether or not these
efforts are within the context of research. It is important that patients and parents are informed of specific
risks and benefits of proposed treatments. When reviewing proposed standard of care research, IRBs

should be aware of these risks and ensure that the balance between clinical benefits and harms is
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favorable. The risks and benefits of ciinical treatments are NOT risks of research. The risks of research are
only those risks that are associated with the portions of the research protocol that are not part of
conventional clinical practice. IRBs alse should consider their role in conjunction with institutional bodies
responsible for clinical quality improvement planning and implementation. It is important to help patients
understand the risks and benefits of standard treatments, but we do not think that this will be well
accomplished by including substantially more information in consent forms. Nor, do we think that failure to
include risks associated with standard interventions in the consent forms suggests that informed consent
was not adequately obtained. In some cases, the same outcome can be inversely described as a benefit or
a risk, and it is not clear how best to communicate this to participants.

It is important to remember that in a clinical context, there often are numerous conversations about
the risks and benefits of conditions, treatments, and alternatives. During the freatment phase of the CF
newborn screening trial, the potential risks of having a diagnosis of CF included hospitalizations, ICU
admissions, and even death. These were not considered to be risks “of” the research even though these
risks were present “in” the research; the purpose of the research was to learn if newborn screening would

improve the health of chiidren with CF and thereby justify a significant public health effort.

2. What factors s.hould an IRB conside.r in determining t.hat the research-related risks of standard of
care interventions, provided to research subjects in the research context, are reasonably
foreseeable and therefore required to be disclosed to subjects? The critical aspect of this question
focuses on what should be disclosed to subjects. The expected risks of research should be disclosed to
subjects (or their parents/legal guardians) to help them make decisions about research participation.
Expected risks are those that can be reasonably foreseen and that are related to research. As stated
above, some risks are not expected and other risks are not related to research. In the ICU, where death is
a potential outcome, it will always be necessary to measure death rates, but it does not necessarily follow

that death is a foreseen outcome of the research. In the Wisconsin newborn screening study, death rates
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were measured during the screening and treatment phases, but death was not a foreseen risk of the
research nor disclosed as a risk of the research.

In standard of care research, where the goal is to see whether one approach will be better than a
different approach, it remains unclear how best to frame this for patients. We could say that our objective is
to see whether ane approach is better or if one is worse. These outcomes are inverses. We need to learn
more about how best to convey this insight to participants and, without further empirical research on the
issue, we would be refuctant to conclude that simply listing the inverse of benefits as risks will promote

such understanding.

3. How should randomization be considered in research studying one or more interventions within
the standards of care? Should the randomization procedure itself be considered to present a risk to
the subjects? Why or why not? The concept of randomization is complex and much social science
research has suggested that participants often are confused about what it means and why it is done—in
spite of substantial efforts to explain it. We believe that further efforts to learn how best to explain and
communicate the meaning and purpose of randomization are important. But how to explain randomization
is distinct from whether it should be considered a risk. Explicit randomization to two different approaches
offers no more risk than relying on random, unscientific reasons for selecting different treatment
approaches. Using our CF screening example, in 1990 all babies in Wisconsin were randomized to one of
two schedules for reporting screening results, while in Colorado all babies were screened, in Maryland no
babies were screened, and in Connecticut babies in a few hospitals were screened. While the risks and
benefits of screening were unknown at the time, we do not believe that randomization itself introduced any
additional or unique risk.

Under the current regulatory framework, IRBs are able to “waive informed consent” for
randomization of standard of care research in certain circumstances. However, there are ethical obligations
to consider when pondering how best to communicate and engage patients about this process. Although
consent was waived in the CF newborn screening trial, all parents were notified about the study and

6
086



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance. 78

parents couid “opt out’ by requesting their results. (As the study was designed, parents could not opt out of
testing, they could only opt out of being blinded to the results.) One crucial lesson of the CF trial was that
most parents remained unaware of the study. Clearly, better efforts at public engég'ement are essential in
every study but particularly in studies done with waiver of consent. Patients at hospitals where such studies
are being conducted should know that standard of care research with randomization is occurring, that the
research design has been carefully reviewed before being implemented, that they are involved in an
important effort to improve care (which may not benefit their child, but may provide benefits in the future),
and that the research involves treatments that are in routine clinical use. We think that such awareness has
the potential to improve patients’ confidence in our health care systems and promote public trust in
biomedical research.. Requiring explicit patient consent forms for each randomization activity creates an
administrative burden on patients and researchers that is not likely to promote such confidence. More

social science research is necessary to determine how best to engage patients.

In summary:

1. The risks of standard treatments are NOT risks of research. Research comparing two non-validated
treatments is the best way to identify those risks.

2. Studies sometimes "uncover” hérms that are associated with non-validated treatments. This is one
reason why such studies are important.

3. Patients/parents do not understand research well and the current approaches to informed consent are
not effective in improving understanding.

4. We need new approaches to the informed consent process that are more flexible, more focused on
helping prospective study subjects truly understand the most crucial elements of research, and that are
developed in conjunction with the relevant patient communities.

5. Sometimes consent can be waived—but this, too, requires active and innovative community

engagement and alternative ways to reach those patients.
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We applaud OHRP and HHS for organizing this meeting. These issues are complex and we anticipate that
we will learn from others’ comments and that our views likely will change over time. We do not foresee that
this meeting will be a sufficient basis for OHRP to issue guidancél We think that iterative deliberation
among researchers, scholars, regulators, patient advocacy groups, patients, and the public will be
necessary. In addition, more empirical social science research must be conducted regarding public views
and concerns about research and experiments with novel approaches to informed consent and the
engagement of patients. Our primary goal remains to improve the health of the nation and we are

committed to working closely with you and to participating in any future discussions on these crucial issues.
Sincerely,

Benjamin Wilfond MD

Institute for Translationa! Health Sciences

Seattle Children’s Research Institute/ University of Washington
Seattle, WA

John Lantos MD

Heartland Institute for Clinical and Translational Research
Children’s Mercy Hospital

Kansas City, KS

Elizabeth Heitman, PhD

Vanderbilt Institute for Clinical and Translational Research

Vanderbilt University Medical Center

Chair, Clinical Research Ethics Key Function Committee, CTSA Consortium
Nashville, TN

Frederick Kaskel, MD, PhD

Einstein/Montefiore Institute for Translational Research
Albert Einstein College of Medicine

Chair, Child Health Oversight Committee, CTSA Consortium
Bronx, New York

Edward M Connor, MD, MBE

Clinical and Translational Science Institute at Children’s National

George Washington University School of Medicine/ Children's National Medical Center
Chair Elect, Child Health Oversight Committee, CTSA Consortium

Washington, DC
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Boston, MA

Carl T. D'Angio, MD
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Kelly Edwards, PhD
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Seattle, WA

Lisa M Guay-Woodford, MD
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Washington, DC
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University of Cincinnati College of Medicine and Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center
Cincinnati, OH
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These short comments are submitted on behalf of myself, David Magnus, PhD. While
the content reflects and benefited from relevant discussien with a number of others,
particularly members of the compliance community at Stanford University and Drs.
Ben Wilfond, John Lantos, Chris Feudtner, Art Caplan and many others.

1. How should IRBs assess the risks of standard of care interventions provided to
subjects in the research context?

[ will focus my comments on prospective, randomized research among standard of
care interventions. The first issue that needs clarification is the meaning of “risk.”
There is a good deal of philosophical and technical discussion about how to
interpret risk. For these purposes and reflecting the majority view of risk, risk is
about assignment of an expectation value for an event. The expectation value is the
product of probability of a harm occurring and its severity or magnitude. When
discussing the risks of research it is actually difference in risk (changes in
probability or severity of harm) as a result of engaging in research that is at stake.

There has been some confusion in discussion of risk in research with insufficient
attention paid to the difference between risks of the various treatment options that
exist for a given condition (that is being studied); risks of the arms of a study that
falls within the standard of care (which may or may not be the same as the latter as
SUPPORT demonstrates); and risks of enrolling in a research study as a participant
versus receiving standard of care. I argue that it is the latter that is relevant for the
purposes of IRB review. In assessing the degree of risk, the right question to askis
whether, based upon knowledge reasonably available to IRB's and investigators at
the time, there is a reason to believe that the expectation value of any defined
negative outcome (defined as the produce of probability of a negative event and the
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severity of the harm) is greater to those who agree to participate in research versus
those who do not. If there is no expected difference then there is no difference in
risk. For example, if A and B are two drugs to treat hyperthyroidism, and there was
no evidence about which was better (and both were in common use) there is no
increase in risk to being randomized between A and B versus exogenous factors
determining which drug a patient receives.

There are several reasons why this is the right way to look at this question. First, it
avoids making research sound riskier than it really is (i.e. than clinical care that the
patient was going to receive anyway). Informed consent forms (and the more
important informed consent process) are there to help ensure that patient
autonomy is respected and to protect research participants from harm. Falsely,
making research sound riskier than the risks the patient participants will be
exposed to anyway fails to protect participants, but potentially could slow the
progress of incredibly important research.

Second, recognizing that risk is about the difference between the expectation value
of negative outcomes for participants versus non-participants focuses on the
relevant difference between the relevant populations (those who are to be enrolled
in research versus those who are not). The other alternatives parse the populations
for risk assessment in ways that are not relevant to whether someone is enrolled in
research or not (and apply equally to those receiving standard of care).

Third, conflation of the risks (and benefits) of standard care that the patient was
going to receive anyway with the risks of participating in research can be exploited.
For example, a number of years ago, researchers were doing gene transfer research
on brain tumors, using vectors to deliver part of the human herpes simplex virus
that expresses thymidine kinase {HS-tk}to the cancer cells. Participants would take
ganciclovir (GCV) in an attempt to kill off the tumors. In order to deliver the vector
to the tumor site, the research required that patients first undergo a de-bulking
procedure that was standard of care for patients with these forms of incurable
cancer. That is, the patients would have received the de-bulking procedure whether
they were enrolled in research or not. Nonetheless, the procedure was included in
the protocol. By the time this research was being conducted, there was fairly good
evidence that the HS-tk GCV model was not going to work in humans. But
researchers at the time claimed benefit to being enrolled by virtue of the de-bulking
procedure that they would have received anyway. This is wrong. The risks and
benefits of research should be seen as those related to what makes the difference—
being in research and they ways that varies from what they would otherwise have
received.

2. What factors should an IRB consider in determining that the research-related risks
of standard of care interventions, provided to research subjects in the research
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context, are reasonably foreseeable and therefore required to be disclosed to
subjects?

From the fact that a particular study is minimal risk, there are implications for
consent, but there is clear room for greater guidance here. Again thereisa
distinction between disclosing the risks of participating in the research; the risks
(and benefits) of standard treatments (that patients in research within the standard
of care will be receiving); and risks of the different arms of the randomized protocol.
When is it appropriate for [RB’s to consider waiving informed consent for minimal
risk research within the standard of care? What should go into the consent forms?

I suggest that IRB’s should be given guidance to direct their attention to the
challenging issue of commensurating the severity or magnitude of harm associated
with different expectation values. IRB’s are constantly required to make judgments
about equipoise and whether risks are reasonable in relation to anticipated benefits,
These activities require commensurating differences in severity or magnitude of
harms and benefits that may be valued very differently by different individuals. For
example, if there is a very small difference in risk of death but a very great
difference in quality of life, IRB’s may have to decide whether the magnitude of
harm is equivalent to allow a trial to take place. Researchers and IRB’s considering
equipoise must often weigh outcomes that are more challenging to commensurate
to arrive at a communal judgment of the relative risk of two options. This is one of
the reasons for local IRB review, since local values may lead to different ways of
making these valuations. For research within the standard of care, sometimes the
task of commensurating risks is fairly straightforward. If the only significant
difference between two treatment options is about which is more effective (and that
is not known) then there is very little basis for any view that an individual research
participant (or patient) might have for why they would prefer one treatment option
to another. In these cases, if there is no other way for valuable research to take
place, it is appropriate for IRB’s to consider waiving documentation of informed
consent and also for considering expanding the scope of consent practices
{disclosure versus consent; broad consent by patients to be randomized within
standard of care at point of care).

But, if there are significant differences in the way individuals are likely to value the
severity of harms, which should inform what goes into informed consent. To be
clear, this does not imply that such research is necessarily more than minimal risk. if
the product of the probability of harms and their magnitudes (as reasonably judged
by an IRB) are equivalent, they may have the same degree of risk -- but if individuals
are likely to value the magnitudes differently, then respect for the autenomy of
participants requires a fuller consent process and it is appropriate to require
documentation of informed consent and to insist that these relevant differences in
outcomes be included. They are compatible with stating clearly that the research is
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minimal risk in the consent forms. But the forms also need to state clearly what the
differences are in the outcomes that patients might care about. I argue that the
intuition behind the variability of assessment of outcomes is at least partly what
motivated many critics of the SUPPORT study into mistakenly asserting that the
research was greater than minimal risk.

Just as research on informed consent in research has found inadequacies in
participant understanding of basic facts about the research they are participating in,
a great deal of research on clinical informed consent has demonstrated
overwhelmingly that the quality of informed consent in the clinical setting is often
very poor in practice. Physicians rarely meet standards of disclosure or of shared
decision making. This problem should be recognized in considering the consent
requirements for research within the standard of care. It clearly matters more in the
cases where there is likely to be variation in assessment of the magnitude or
severity of harm. Therefore in cases where, in the IRB’s judgment, individual
variation is likely, and there is any question that participants may not fully
understand the trade-offs involved as a result of the standard informed consent
process, it is reasonable for IRB's to require that a full discussion of the risks and
benefits of clinical care for the treatment (as background) be included within the
informed consent forms.

3. How should randomization be considered in research studying one or more
interventions within the standards of care? Should the randomization procedure
itself be considered to present a risk to the subjects? Why or why not?

Randomization in accordance with a protocol is not necessarily greater risk than
clinical care. It may sometimes be the case that clinical judgment about very
complex, known trade-offs between interventions will lead to individualized care
that is beneficial over a protocol. But more typically, well-known and documented
exogenous factors govern decision making by physicians when there are multiple
options available, including geography, history, biography, advertising, and
relationships with drug companies. In fact, physicians often tend to continue to
practice in ways similar to their training even as evidence emerges that this is sub-
optimal.

Opponents of this view have made several unsupported claims. In particular, they
have argued that individualizing is always intrinsically better for patients than to be
assigned based upon a protocol. Two important facts are worth noting in response,
First, in some cases (as for example oxygen saturation targets in SUPPORT)
standard clinical care is based upon on a protocol, not individual adjustment.
Second, if there is no evidence to support the adjustments that are made, it is
difficult to see how they can provide benefit.
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Opponents have alsc argued that because physicians have the patient’s best interest.
as the primary goal {(while researchers are aiming at producing generalizable
knowledge) research is intrinsically riskier than clinical care. Again, there is little
evidence to support this claim (see Faden, et al, Hastings Center Special Report,
2013, 43(1): S16).

Finally, the claim has been made that if there is a difference in what a patient
receives (within the standard of care} as a result of randomization, this means that
there is an increase in risk. This is explicitly stated in the OHRP letter of June 4, 2013
to UAB, in which it responded to critics and stated that the fact that participants in
SUPPORT at many institutions used oxygen saturation targets that were different
from what they normally would have used means that there was an increase in risk.
This is false.

Suppose A and B are two drugs commonly used to treat a disease, Suppose also,
there is no evidence to support using one drug versus another—they have similar
known side-effects and it is not known if they occur more frequently with one
versus another and it is unknown if one is more effective as a treatment that the
other, Let us suppose though, that the company that makes A has a much larger
marketing budget and as a result, 75% of physicians prescribe A, while only 25%
prescribe B. Suppose a trial is designed in which participants are randomized to
equal probabilities on a protocol of getting drug A or drug B. In this case, whether
one is enrolled in research or getting clinical care, there will be a significant
difference in the probability of what drug the person will receive. As a research
participant, there is a 50% chance of getting A, while in clinical care, there is a 75%
chance of getting A. But there is no difference in risk between enrolling in research
and standard clinical care, In the absence of any basis for claiming that at the time of
the trial that A or B is better, the expectation values are the same, whether one
enrolls in research or a clinician uses her clinical judgment (informed by pharma
marketing, other exogenous factors) to decide what drug to use.

In OHRP’s letter, they correctly point out that infants in the study may well have
targeted saturation levels that differ from what they would otherwise have received
(and may have increased the chances of getting lower or higher levels within the
standard target range of 85-95%). But at the time (and still today) there is no
evidence to support the claim that it is better to allow infants to range across 85-
95% than to be randomly assigned to a narrower range within that larger range. In
short, the key is not whether the care will be different, but whether there is
evidence that suggests that randomization will increase risk to participants versus
those who will not be enrolled in research. If the answer to that is no, then the risk
of enrollment is minimal—even if what a patient will receive is different from what
they would otherwise have received. Not all research within standard of care is
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necessarily minimal risk—the question for the [RB is about comparing the
expectation values of research versus standard practice.

Thank you for considering these comments,

Sincerely,

David Magnus, PhD

Director, Center for Biomedical Ethics

Thomas A. Raffin Professor of Medicine and Biomedical Ethics
Professor of Pediatrics

Stanford University
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HHS Public Meeting Regarding Research Assessing Standard of Care Interventions
August 28, 2013
Comments Submitted by Jon Tyson, John Lantos, Kathleen Kennedy, and Susan Wootton

Our comments are focused on comparative effectiveriess (CE) frials. CE frials compare outcomes for patients randomized
to different treatment methods or management strategies used in clinical practice. CE trials differ from those for which
current reguiatory requirements for randomized ftrials were developed: trials comparing patients randomized fo receive a
new experirmental intervention with control patients who receive conventional freatment or in some cases, a placebo or no
treatment. The key difference is that CE trials have no “experimental” arm and no "control” arm and that the potential risks
in one arm are the potential benefits of the other and vice versa.

1, How should an IRB assess the risks of standard of care interventions provided to subjects in the research
context?

This question and others that follow would be clearer and more meaningful if the term "standard of care” was removed
or carefully limited to therapies demonstrared fo be beneficial (as judged by criteria like the GRADE criteria™ or those of
the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force®). This term causes confusion when applied to unproven but routinely or
commonly used therap:es or treatment strategies which unfortunately make up the great majority of therapies used in
clinical practice.*>%” The fact that most freatments fall in this category highlights the pressmg need to promote CE trials
and a learning health care system.*®*1% To call one treatment or another “standard of care” misrepresents the very
problem that policies for oversight of CE trials must solve. Such therapies would be better described by terms like "usual
care” or “conventional treatment.”

The first step for IRBs is to ask “Is the proposed trial justified?” CE irials are justified when there is inadequate evidence to
determine the best treatment method for the patients fo be studied. This decision ma 4 not be easy and may well require
expertise in the clinical issue under investigation or in study design or interpretation.

The trial should be deemed justified when the best available evidence indicates no clear overall difference in the
foreseeable risks (relative to the benefits) of the treatment methods to be studied. CE tnafs shoufd not be performed if
there already is strong evidence from a proper systematic review of prior randomized triafs(indicating that one of the
therapies to be studied is superior to the other). Such evidence may not be recognized without this kind of review. An
exception might be considered if a compelling argument could be made that evidence from prior trials may not be
generalizable to current practice. In the absence of prior trials, the need for a CE trial should be challenged if a well
done cohort study has identified evidence of either strong benefit or hazard (a re!atfve risk for an adverse outcome that
is either <0.10 or >10} for one treatment method to be studied refative to the other.” Otherwise, observational studies
may be quite misleading and are usually an inadequate basis to conclude that a CE trial is unwarranted.

Therapies are ordinarily first evaluated in efficacy trials (o assess therapies under ideal or restricted circumstances).
Therapies found to be beneficial in efficacy trials then need evaluation in effectiveness trials (to assess therapies in
routine clinical circumstances). Therapies that are cloarly beneficial but quite expensive may also be considered as
appropriate for CE trials. In such situations, the trials would be designed to assess whether such therapies are
reasonably cost effective for general use or limited use in highly selected centers or patient populations.

a. Under what circumstances should an IRB consider those to be risks that may result from the research? .

The Common Rule states that the risks of research are the incremental risks from participation in research, as
compared to the risks that would be experienced without study participation. In a legitimate CE trial the treatments
under investigation are afready used in clinical practice, and there is no predictable or reasonably foreseeable
overall difference in their risks (relative to the benefits) as assessed from the best available evidence. So any
differences in cutcomes observed in the trial result from unpredictable freatment risks or baseline differences in
disease severity and are not from the risks of the research itseif.

Systematic reviews of outcomes for patients in well-designed RCTs provide no evidence that participation in a trial,
compared ro non-pamc.'panon in the trial, increases the actual risks of adverse outcomes identified at the completion
of the trial .! Thus, there is no empiric basis to assume that CE trials compromise the outcome of participants for
the benefit of future patients. Physicians who conduct such frials are committed to the welfare of the patients. If they
knew the best treatment for these patients, they would provide it. In some trials, patient risk may be reduced by the
investigators’ efforts to most effectively provide the therapies under investigation, to optimize the patient’s supportive
care and clinical monitoring, and to minimize and more quickly identify and address treatment hazards or disease
complications than would occur in clinical practice.
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b. Under what circumstances should an IRB refrain from considering those risks as unrelated to the
research?

As noted by OHRP, the IRB is to consider research risks to be only the risks and benefits that may result from the
research (as distinguished from those that participants would incur even if not participating in research). In many
studies, those risks are easily identifiable. They include risks from extra blood drawing, biopsies, or other
procedures imposed by the study that would not ordinarily be done in routine clinical care. The IRB should
consider these risks to be related to the research. They should not consider the risks of being assigned fo one
arm or the other of a CE trial to be a risk of research, even if, as a result of the study, the chances that a particular
patient receives one therapy or another may be different if they are in the study compared fo if they are not.

The specific risks of the individual therapies under investigation are likely to differ. However, the IRB’s agreement
that the trial is justified indicates agreement that there is no predictable overall difference in the foreseeable risks
(refative to the benefits} of the treatment methods to be studied as judged from the best available evidence.

c. What type of evidence should an IRB evaluate in identifying these risks?

The IRB should evaluate the methodologically strongest relevant evidence in assessing the need for the frial and
in identifying the specific risks of the individual therapies under investigation. The investigators should reference
and describe the findings of any systematic review of all relevant randomized trials (particularly the well performed
reviews of the Cochrane Collaboration). Unless refuted by rigorous randomized trials, evidence about treatment
risks from well performed cohort or case-control studies may also be considered

Even in randomized trials, the available evidence is not always easily interpreted, particularly when the proposed
trial involves populations or circumstances not previously assessed or when offsetting benefits and hazards or
evidence of subgroup differences or treatment heterogeneity are identified in prior trials. As noted above, criteria
like the GRADE criteria or those of the Preventive Task Force may help in evaluating and integrating the available
evidence. The AGREE Hi criteria’®'” may be helpful in evaluating the evidence underlying practice guidelines.
IRBs, like investigators and clinicians, will need to stay abreast of methods being developed or used to evaluate
when the treatment hazards outweigh the benefits for individual patients or patient subgroups.™ 1

2. What factors should an IRB consider in determining that the research-related risks of standard of care
interventions, provided to research subjects in the research context, are reasonably foreseeable and therefore
required to be disclosed to subjects?

a. What criteria should be used by the IRB to evaluate whether the risks to subjects are reasonably
foreseeable?

We see a number of issues that should be considered for these questions:

A The available evidence about potential treatment hazards. Potential trisks that can be considered to be reasonably
foreseeable would include a) biologically plausible treatment hazards that have not been well assessed in clinical
studies, and b} hazards that have been evaluated in a systematic review of relevant clinical trials or in the absence of
such a review, in one or more clinical trials or well performed cohort studies and found to marginally or significantly
associated with the treatment (p<0.10). In accordance with the principles of evidence-based medicine, investigators
should not be required o list on a consent form all possible hazards or hazards that are nof close fo significant
(0>0.10) in systematic reviews or in well performed clinical trials or cohort studies. To deem such potential hazards as
“reasonably foreseeable” would require investigators to list almost any hazard that that could be considered minimally
plausible despite evidence to the contrary. This might more often mislead than inform potential research participants or
their surrogates. Listing all potential minor or rare hazards would also distract attention from hazards of greater
importance to patients. '

Foreseeable treatment risks often do not include some or many of the secondary outcomes listed in the protocol.
Investigators often specify exhaustive lists of secondary outcomes for CE frials to ensure that all potentially important
outcomes are carefully monitored and recorded and that unexpected observed differences are accepted by reviewers
as “pre-specified” outcomes. Whether these should be listed as risks hinges on the available evidence as noted above.

B. Risk disclosure with competing outcomes. From the public health perspective, the most important CE studies assess
primary outcomes important to patients, e.g., heart attacks or strokes, rather than short-term changes in things like blood
pressure or laboratory tests. Study participants often must be monitored for long pericds of time to evaluate these
outcomes. If the participants are at high risk for death, as would be the case for elderly adults or small premature infants,
some or many may die before they have to opportunity fo develop such outcomes. in this circumstance, death is thus a
competing outcome that prevents the identification of other adverse outcomes. For this reason, it is often prudent to
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include death in the primary outcome (e.g. heart attack, stroke, or death) even though the investigators may have no
reason to think that the different treatments would result in a difference in mortality. Including death in the primary
outcome can prove fo be particutarly fortunate if, as sometimes happens, one of the treatments under mvesr.'gatfon is
associaled with an increased mortality rate despite reducing other adverse oulcomes like heart attacks or strokes.”
However, the inclusion of death in the primary outcome should not be assumed to indicate that a higher mortality is
foreseeable based on the best available evidence or should be noted on the consent form as a foreseeable risk for either
treatment group. :

C. A need for individualized consent forms? It might be argued that incremental risks and benefits of study participation
shoutd be disclosed in comparison to the treatment that each individual participant would otherwise receive. However,
this approach is unlikely to be feasible. Clinicians’ treatment preferences often vary by provider, may be variable or
change over time, and may not be known at enrollment. Efforts to individualize the consent form would lead to
troublesome differences in the forms within and across different study sites. For these reasons, the risks and benefits of
participation cannot be listed in separate “risks” and "benefits” sections of a typical consent form femplate. The ‘risks” of
one study strategy (higher risk of xxx} are “benefits” (fower risk of xxx)} for the other strategy. A better approach would
be to inform subjects in a straightforward manner of the prevailing practice variation and explain why researchers
believe that randomization is appropriate. This information would be the same for all subjects and would be consistent
with the IRB's approval of the study as a legitimate CE lrial.

4, The need lo dovelop better and more uniform approaches to risk disclosure for use of unproven therapies in both
research and clinical practice. This need requires further study of such issues as the wants, needs, and comprehension of
patients (or their surrogates) in routine and emergent circumstances; the effects of differing approaches fo risk disclosure
(including nocebo effects); and factors that can augment the validity of informed consent. It is difficult to see how any
ethical principles including respect for persons, beneficence, or justice justify a different level of risk disclosure in clinical
practice and clinical research for patients receiving the same unproven treatment method. There also seem to be no data
fo indicate that well informed patients support this double standard.

3. How should randomization be considered in research studying one or more interventions within the
standards of care? Should the randomization procedure itself be considered to present a risk to the subjects?
Why or why not? If so, is the risk presented by randomization more than minimal risk?

Randomization should not be considered to increase risk in legitimate CE trials because:

A. As discussed above, randomization to afternative freatment methods in such trials has no foreseeable effect on
freatment risks for participants in the trial.

Randomization is simply a tool fo avoid differences in basefine risk between treatment groups that are a notorious cause
of confounding in observational studies comparing different therapies. If thus reduces the possibility of misleading
results and erroneous conclusions but has no effect on the risks of the treatments provided.

in many clinical circumstances, there is inadequate relevant evidence fo determine which of a number of commonly
used freatments is preferable. In those circumstances, the treatment that is chosen will depend on happenstance and
vary as a resulf of such factors as where the patient happens to be treated, who the treating physician happens to be,
and what his or her treatment preferences happen to be. Those treatment preferences may reflect the considerations of
an extremely dedicated, well informed, and appropriately uncertain physician. Afternatively, it may be based on the
physician’s vague recall of the relevant research, a clinical anecdote, a casual conversation with colleagues, or a recent
visit from a drug company representative. It may be a combination of these factors. The net result, in the absence of
good evidence from good clinical trials, is a decision that at best is similar to a mental flip-of-the-coin

B. The unfounded assumption that clinical trials increase risk leads fo associated regulafory requirements fo warn
patients of dubious or non-existent risks. This may inadvertently harm patients by disincentivizing proper testing in the
most rigorous feasible CE research and by incentivizing clinical use of unproven and possibly hazardous therapies.

As indicated below, this offect can have major serious adverse consequences that should be carefully considered.

Should an IRB be allowed to waive informed consent for research involving randomization of subjects to one or
more standard of care interventions? Why or why not?

Providing the CE trial is justified, waiver would be allowable in some circumstances,”>****** and well justified in urgent

or emergent circumstances when valid consent cannot be reasonably obtained and when freatment delays fo obtain
consent (~ 1 hour, if not longer, in many trials} would be expected to alter the treatment benefits or hazards. This
approach would expand the current criteria to allow waiver of consent when the treatment is not considered potentially
life-saving and remaove the requirement for community participation in these circumstances. Patients receiving proven
emergency therapies benefit from prior studies, and their participation in well justified CE research are needed to further
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improve oufcomes Requiring consent in these circumstance can A) increase the marbidity or mortality of trial
participants;?®%” B} result in erroneous conclusions that adversely affect the care and outcome of a very large number of
future patients; C} deiay completion of a valid trial and dissemination of truly beneficial therapies or abandonment of fruly
harmiul therapies in clinical practice. Requiring consent in these circumstances violates the principle of beneficence and
arguably, also respect for persons and justice.

Public understanding of CE research in these circumstances could be promoted by including potential study participants
in the process of study design as well as by rigorous efforts to explain to participants who have been enrolled in trials of
emergency therapies without their consent - in as timely manner as possible — the rationale for the study and the
reasons why they or their loved cne was enrolled. At that time, investigators should also sesk the patient’s consent to
continue in the friaf or to allow use of their data.

Whatever disclosure and consent procedures are required for CE trials, we would urge that they should be similar for all
patients receiving the same unproven therapy wherher as part of routine clinical care, a prospective observational study,
or a randomized trial. As we have argued elsewhere,” consent procedures deserve reconsideration for clinical as well as
research use of unproven therapies, particularly new unproven therapies. As Fost has emphasized, it is not plausible to
presume that a patient would want a therapy never properly tested for safety or efficacy with no prior review, but would
object to the same treatment being given with all the safeguards of a controlled trial. The current double standard for both
risk disclosure and written consent inadvertently discourages proper testing, encourages clinical administration of
unproven therapies, and coniributes fo the all-too-common problem that unproven therap:es are widely used for years or
even decades before they are rigorously evaluated and found to be ineffective or harmful >#%%%

4. How, and to what extent, does uncertainty about risk within the standard of care affect the answers to these
questions?

The uncertainty about risk is influenced by the quality of the prior research, the p values and confidence intervals for the
measures of freatment effect (relative risk, risk difference, and number needed to treat or number needed to harm), and
in some studies, Bayesian estimates of the probabilily of specific treatment effects. The discussion above indicates how
this uncertainty may be judged in addressing these questions. To the extent feasible, the level of uncertainty should be
conveyed o study subjects, but optimal methods have not been developed for conveying these complex conceplts to
patients with variable skills in literacy and numeracy.

What if the risk significantly varies within the standard of care?

As noted above, the trial is not justified if the relationship of risks to benefits has been shown to be more favorable in
ono treatment group than the other(s). Suggestions are detailed above for disclosing risks and benefits or advantages
and disadvantages of different study strategies that are within the range of common practice.

5. Under what circumstances do potential risks qualify as reasonably foreseeable risks? For example, is it
sufficient that there be a documented belief in the medical community that a particular intervention within the
standard of care increases risk of harm, or is it necessary that there be published studies identifying the risk?

It is unclear what is meant by "documented beliefs.” However, the beliefs within the medical communily about an
intervention can vary widely, particularly if they have not been well assessed in randomized trials. As evident from the
iong unfortunate history of oxygen administration to premature infants,*"*? the evidence supporting the treatment is
more important than the level of belief among some or many physicians.

As noted above, polential freatment risks need not be disclosed if they were well assessed and shown fo have no
association in relevant clinical frials of these therapies, or in the absence of these frials, in well performed cohort
studies. Biologically plausible potential treatment hazards that have not been assessed in clinical studies should
ordinarily be disclosed if they would be of concern to a sizable proportion of patients.
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General Comment

Statement from Edward W. Campion, MD
Assessment of Risks of Standard of Care Interventions [Question #1]

The most pressing need in clinical medicine today is for rigorous clinical effectiveness research.
This is research that is within what is currently accepted as the standard of care. Most of the
decisions that physicians make in caring for patients are not based on evidence from randomized
controlled trials or on other types of rigorous and extensive research data. From the clinic to the
emergency room to the ICU, much of what is done every day relies upon a combination of a
physician’s personal clinical experience, what he or she was been taught by experts, and an
understanding of physiology and disease, as well as upon local standards, expert
recommendations, professional guidelines, point-of-care manuals, respected textbooks, and
articles in the peer-reviewed literature.

We know that usual care varies widely depending on where you are. What may be standard

medical practice in Miami is not seen as the standard in Minneapolis. Usual care in Seattle may
differ from usual care in San Antonio. This applies particularly to uses of technology and high-
cost interventions, but the same types of variation can be seen in many aspects of care. And for
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most of the regional variations in care, we don’t really know which approach produces the best
outcomes for patients. We can make progress here only through clinical effectiveness research on
the different options that are seen as the usual standard. Often this means comparing an expensive
newer intervention that is seen as an exciting advance with an intervention that has been around
for many years. People may feel that one intervention is superior, but that view is not based on
evidence.

Assessment of Potential Risks As Foreseeable [Question #5]

In assessing standard of care research, the crucial first test for an IRB is to establish that the
interventions being studied are, in fact, entirely within the current standard of care. That should be
established by data that document that the specific interventions are actually being used in
situations and in a manner similar to those in the proposed research. Standard-of-care status can
also be established from recommendations in relevant guidelines, clinical texts, point-of-care
tools, and review articles in peer-reviewed journals. Once it is established that all the alternative
interventions to be studied are recommended and in current clinical use and are seen as reasonably
comparable and viable options, then randomization between them does not pose any additional
risk. In these situations, the research itself poses no additional risk. Depending on the severity of
the clinical problem and the nature of the intervention, there may substantial and foreseeable risks
to the patients. But those risks do not derive from the randomization between different treatments
that the medical profession sees as equivalent and within the standard of care.

What do patients need to know? First, if a patient is to be assigned to an intervention randomly,
the patient needs to know about that random assignment and needs to approve of being in the
research trial. Anything else risks the essential trust and understanding of our patients. However,
patients should be able to agree to participate in the trial by speaking with the physician,
reviewing the alternative interventions within the standard of care, and having their questions
answered. Patients can also benefit from educational booklets or videos about their condition, the
interventions, and the research project. And provision must be made for ongoing resources to
answer any questions that patients may continue to have.

Once patients understand and agree to participate in standard of carc rcsearch, they should be able
to sign a simple consent form that is clear, short, and easily understood. Research that is genuinely
within the standard of care should not be required to portray the risks of the aliernative
interventions as risks of the research. Those risks are inherent to the patient’s condition or to the
imperfect and under-studied interventions that are entirely within the current standard of care. It is
misleading to patients, as well as harmful to the much-needed clinical effectiveness research, to
describe those risks as deriving from the research itself. For standard of care research, long,
legalistic consent forms that enumerate and catalogue all foreseeable risks do not help patients. In
fact, they misleadingly communicate that the research itself is risky. The real risks come with the
patient’s condition and from the currently accepted interventions. And the risks to the patient are
only made worse by the uncertainties that derive from insufficient research within the standard of
care.

Submitted by:

Edward W.Campion, MD

Senior Deputy Editor and Online Editor
New England Journal of Medicine

10 Shattuck Street

Boston MA 02115
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HHS PUBLIC MEETING ON APPLICATION OF REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS TO RESEARCH ON
STANDARD OF CARE INTERVENTIONS
Statement

1. Michael McGinnis, M.D., M.P.P.
Date: August 7, 2013

Thank you for the opportunity to offer a comment in the course of a discussion of considerable
importance to the vision and promise of continuous learning in health care. My name is Michael
McGinnis, and [ am Senior Scholar at the Institute of Medicine (IOM) of the National
Academies. My statement is personal and descriptive in nature, and is not a statement or position
of the Institute of Medicine or of the National Academies.

I would like to touch on 3 issues, each briefly:

e First, the impressive developments in the prospects and tools for continuous learning in
health care, and the work of the IOM fo accelerate progress;

¢ Second, the centrality of continuous learning from standard of care interventions as a
conceptual and practical linchpin in capturing those prospects; and

 Third, the core implications of advances in science and technology in blurring traditional
distinctions between research and practice—and the ability to assess outcomes and
identify distinctions in real time.

Before getting to these three points, however, 1 would also like to underscore the IOM’s long-
standing interest in, and commitment to, the careful stewardship of research activities. In 2002,
the IOM report Responsible Research: A Systems Approach to Protecting Research Participants,
recommended uniform protection for all human participants in scientific research, as well as a
refocusing of institutional review board (IRB) deliberations around the ethics of protecting
research participants. In addition, and with increasing frequency, as with the 2009 report, Beyond
the HIPAA Privacy Rule, 1OM Committees have urged attention to the potential of regulatory
impediments to inhibit the development of new insights from the care process and underscored
the importance of practical adjustment to emerging opportunities for learning from and
improving the safety and effectiveness of routine care.

Similarly, in 2012, the IOM Committee on Ethical and Scientific Issues in Studying the Safety of
Approved Drugs—a vein of research with some characteristics in common with standards of care
interventions—ecalled for a consent process tailored to the particular needs and risks of the post-
market surveillance setting, including accommodation of issues of public health importance,
absence of advantageous alternatives, and ability to monitor and respond to resuits. With this
background of formal IOM assessiments and careful stewardship of clinical research, I’ll return to
the three points characterizing my personal perspectives from our work on the continuously
learning health care system.

M
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The background to the first is clear, compelling, and well described in Best Care at Lower Cost,
the report released last year by the IOM Committee on Continuously Learning Health Care in
America. The Report summarized what we’ve learned about the implications of rapid increases
in the complexity of care, the persistent harm and shortfalls in quality of care, and the 30 percent
of care that constitutes little more than wasted resources. These are serious problems for
individuals and for the nation, and they compel us to do things in a very different way.

At the same time, as the report goes on to point out, advances in information technology and
research methods now offer the prospect for substantial enhancement in our capacity for
continuous learning and improvement. Fostering society’s ability to capture this potential has
been a major focus of the Institute of Medicine over the past several years. Through the IOM
Roundtable on Value & Science-Driven Health Care, we have been working with colleagues
throughout the field to map strategies for progress toward the vision of a continuously learning
health system in which science, informatics, incentives, and culture are aligned for constant
improvement and innovation. This vision, and its potential, is central to the discussions here.

To help marshal field leadership on the various dimensions important to realization of this
vision, we have also formed several IOM Innovation Collaboratives to provide a venue for
stakeholders to work together to foster change. One of these Collaboratives, the Clinical
Effectiveness Research Innovation Collaborative (CERIC), is devoted to accelerating progress in
continuous learning from the routine delivery of care. Several participants in that Collaborative,
some here today, have put together a statement, to be introduced by Dr. Rich Platt, which does
not represent an endorsed position by the [OM, but has grown out of discussions at Collaborative
meetings.

An earlier example of such expert comments stemming from Collaborative discussions, and
relevant for today’s topic, is a 2011 discussion paper authored by certain CERIC participants:
The Common Rule and Continuous Improvement in Health Care. In this paper, CERIC explored
the role of risk in clinically-integrated research. The authors advocated for a risk-based
framework in the application of human-subject research requirements, “in which oversight is
commensurate with the level of risk imposed by the study.” In such a framework, studies that
impose little or no added risk to patients—such as those comparing routine interventions within
the general standard of care—would not require IRB oversight. The authors concluded that
focusing the regulatory environment on interventions that might present a discrepancy in the
level of risk would both increase safety and lead to rapid expansion and acceleration in standard
of care research. By extension, a risk-based regulatory framework could lead to a growing
evidence base for the practices and procedures patients experience every day.

This raises the emphasis of my second point: the centrality of assessing standard of care
interventions to the vision of the continuousty learning health care system, in which every health
care interaction is also an opportunity for learning and improvement. The notion of continuous
quality improvement is not novel. It is standard practice in successful businesses, including the

W
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practice of improving worker safety. In health care, with many variables in play, and variation in
individual responses, improvement requires continuous monitoring of both the content ot care
delivered and the processes by which it is delivered. This is the essence of continuous learning
and, even in its early stages, it has already demonstrated its potential.

A 2013 discussion paper by members of CERIC, titled Making the Case for Contintious
Learning from Routinely Collected Data, reviewed a wide variety of case studies illustrating the
power of continuous learning to improve and accelerate care. In a high-profile example, the
discovery that the popular arthritis drug Vioxx increased heart attack risk for certain users was
accelerated in part by analyses of databases for routine care. On the public health front, the use
of instantaneous data from EHRs enables much more precise—and even predictive—tracking of
and intervention against epidemics. As my colleagues from CERIC will present in their
statement, a recent CDC/AHRQ-supported standard of care study found that a set of three
common, accepted practices for preventing hospital-acquired Staph infections exposed patients
to significantly different levels of risk, leading to the suggestion of broad changes—and
increased alignment—in practices for reducing the risk of hospital-acquired infections
throughout the nation.

As to the third point, rapidly occurring advances in information technology, research methods,
and tools for patient engagement have vast conceptual and practical implications for knowledge
generation in health care. Implicit in this vision is the acknowledgement that research and
practice can no longer be viewed as sharply discreet realms, but rather should be viewed as
different areas in a continuous cycle of knowledge generation, application, and positive change.
That is why this moment—this conversation about standards of care research and its associated
policies and practices—is so central to the future of health progress.

As our knowledge generation capacities advance, it ts true that, just as services within the
standard of care will sometimes lead to unintended consequences and unexpected results, so will
research evaluating those results reveal unintended consequences and unexpected results. But
these anomalies, and their discovery, are far from the greatest risk facing our health care system
today. As underscored in various [OM reports, far more significant is the risk to the health of our
population as a whole from clinical care backed by judgment and tradition rather than a strong,
growing foundation of clinical evidence. These circumstances are even more acute when near-
life threatening conditions prevail. This challenge is harmful to patients and our nation as a
whole, and we have at hand the tools to address it.

Also inherent in the notion of a continuously learning health system is the need to reconsider
how information is provided about care choices, and about our regulatory approaches to the
consent process. [ won't go into this—you’ll have ample commentary in that respect—but
clearly we would be well-advised to give close attention to certain principles that may be
operative; principles related to relative risk of options, the burden of the usual care experience,

e
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accommeodation of patient preferences, and participation in care decisions. Each of these is
fundamental to continuously learning health care, as highlighted in Best Care at Lower Cost.

In summary, Best Care at Lower Cost outlined a path to continuous learning through generating
and using real-time knowledge to improve outcomes; engaging patients, families, and
communities; achieving and rewarding high-value care; and generating a new culture of care.
Each of these relates directly to the issues facing HHS as it considers research on standard of
care interventions. As HHS explores the details of policy change and application, a vital
opportunity is presented to set the stage for the evolution of continuously learning health care
that will substantially improve the ability of the health care system to not only protect and to
treat, but to promote the quality and effectiveness of care yet to come.
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Statement on research studying standard of care interventions *

(HHS-OPHS-2013-0004)

The enclosed comments are meant to address Questions 1-4 in “Section Ili. Issues for Discussion” of
the “Notice of a Department of Health and Human Services Public Meeting and Request for Comments
on Matters Related to the Protection of Human Subjects and Research Studying Standard of Care
Interventions” published on pg 38343 in the Federal Register on June 26 2013,

Below is an index to allow for easy reference of the relevant page number and section of the paper

that correspond to each question.

1. How should an IRB assess the risks of
standard of care interventions
provided to subjects in the research
context?

a. Under what circumstances
should an IRB consider
those to be risks that may
result from the research?

b. Under what circumstances
should an IRB refrain from
considering those risks as
unrelated to the research?

Pg 3: Oversight calibrated to risk and patients expected role

Pg 4: Consent calibrated to patient expectations and risk

Pg 6: A new ethical framework

Pg 7: Rationalized, harmonized regulation regarding consent,
collaboration, and dissemination of new knowledge

Pg 5: Redefine health care operations.

c. What type of evidence
should an IRB evaluate in
identifying these risks?

Pg 3: Oversight calibrated to risk and patients expected role:
Pg 6: A new ethical framework

Pg 7: Rationalized, harmonized regulation regarding consent,
collaboration, and dissemination of new knowledge

Pg 5: Redefine health care operations,

2. What factors should an IRB consider
in determining that the research-
related risks of standard of care
interventions, provided to research
subjects in the research context, are
reasonably foreseeahle and
therefore required to be disclosed to

Please see sections listed for Question 1

* Individual authors are participants in the Institute of Medicine {IOM} Clinical Effectiveness
Innovation Collaborative, from which the discussion stems. It does not represent a formal position of

the IOM or the institutions of the authors.
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subjects?

a. What criteria should be
used by the IRB to evaluate
whether the risks to
subjects are reasonably
foreseeable?

How should randomization be
considered in research studying one
or more interventions within the
standards of care? Should the
randomization procedure itself be
considered to present a risk to the
subjects? Why or why not? If so, is
the risk presented by randomization
more than minimal risk? Should an
IRB be allowed to waive informed
consent for research involving
randomization of subjects to one or
more standard of care
interventions? Why or why not?

Pg 2: Intentional assignment of patients to different strategies
Pg 6: Regulation based on the full spectrum of risk:

How, and to what extent, does
uncertainty about risk within the
standard of care affect the answers to
these questions? What if the risk
significantly varies within the standard
of care?

Pg 1: Introduction
Pg 4: Consent calibrated to patient expectations and risk
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Introduction

The undersigned individuals offer these comments for the Department of Health and Human Services
{HHS) public meeting on Federal policy regarding application of regulatory requirements for protection
of human subjects to research studying standard of care interventions on August 28, 2013. Although we
are all participants in the Institute of Medicine {IlOM) Clinical Effectiveness Research Innovation
Collaborative, which has engaged in active discussions on this issue, we emphasize that we offer these
comments as our opinion and not that of the IOM.

We have all been closely involved in research policy issues in leadership positions and as researchers,
We believe deeply in the potential for research to improve the quality of health care and the health of
the nation. In our view, substantial changes are required in the regulatory framework of human
research as it regards studies of routine clinical care. Changing our oversight approach to one that
enables the broad learning now possible from routine health care can save many lives and prevent harm
from widely used practices about which we lack sufficient information about absolute or relative
effectiveness. We believe this can be done in a way that fully maintains our ethical and legal obligations
to protect human subjects and the interests and rights of patients more broadly.

Current ethical and regulatory governance regimes under the Common Rule, the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA}, and Food & Drug Administration (FDA) regulations were
developed decades ago, when research and clinical practice were considered to be completely distinct
activities’. There was little appreciation that clinical practice itself should be a subject of ongoing
investigation to determine which practices produce the best health for which patients. Current
regulations governing research, and their application in practice, create significant impediments to
learning which of several accepted practices is superior. In part, this is due to the basic misconception
that standard clinical practice has a settled evidence base. Instead, it is well documented that good
evidence is often lacking and many standard medical practices are based on clinician judgment alone?.
This often results in differerit treatments .bei.n'g uséd for idéntical indications, with clinicians and patients
having no way to determine their comparative safety and effectiveness. There is thus great potential to
improve patients’ health outcomes through careful clinical evaluation to determine which currently
accepted medical practices are best for which patients. But in order to gather knowledge that is critical
to all patients, we need to change the view that research to learn what works is a completely separate
activity from patient care. In fact, research to inform us about the best course of treatment must be
done within the context of clinical practice to be applicable.

Research that compares prevention, diagnosis, and treatment strategies in common use is the essence
of a learning health care system — one that continuously improves care, first by generating evidence as

1Kass, N. E., Faden, R. R., Goodman, $. N., Pronovost, P., Tunis, S, and T. L. Beauchamp. 2013. The Research-
Treatment Distinction: A Problematic Approach for Determining Which Activities Should Have Ethical OQversight.
Hastings Center Report 43(s1): 54-s15.

2 Tricaci P, Allen J. M., Kramer J. M., Califf R. M., and 5. €. Smith Ir. 2009. Scientific evidence underlying the
ACC/AHA clinical practice guidelines. JAMA 301:831-841
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part of care delivery, and then applying this evidence in everyday practice®. Measurement, evaluation,
systematic comparison of accepted therapies, sharing of experience and information, and coordination
of these activities throughout the healthcare system should be normal expected activities. We focus
here on studies of routine care that involve systematically modifying the care some patients receive, in
order to understand the relative merits of two accepted approaches. The ethical and scientific basis of
for this intentional assignment, or randomization, is the existence of clinical equipoise defined as “...a
state of genuine uncertainty on the part of the clinical investigator regarding the comparative
therapeutic merits of each arm...*”.

in considering the oversight of systematic research involving routine care, there are two critical
components: 1) the intentional assignment of patients, either individually or in clusters, to one or
another care approaches for the purpose of learning their relative effectiveness and safety, and 2} the
use of patients’ protected health information to support the evaluation. We first consider the use of
protected health information in interventional research.

Use of protected health information: Under both the HIPAA Privacy rule and the Common Rule
regulatory regimes, activities using identifiable data and falling under the definition of research, defined
as those contributing to generalizable knowledge™, are subject to more rigorous requirements than for
treatment, payment and “health care operations.” This includes IRB review in the case of the Common
Rule, and prior consent or authorization of the data subjects {unless waived by the [RB — or in the case of
the Privacy Rule, a Privacy Board).

Consequently, the same activity involving analysis of identifiable data is treated as routine, and subject
to minimal regulatory oversight, as long as the analysis is intended to be used only internally. This
approach, where more stringent review is required in circumstances where the results are intended to
be shared with others, creates a disincentive to sharing the outcomes of quality and population-based
analysis.

Intentional assignment of patients to different strategies: It is often possible to learn about the relative
effectiveness of two approaches to care by using observational methods, comparing differences in
policies or practices that organizations, providers, or patients choose for a variety of reasons. Much can
also be fearned from “quasi-experimental” situations, for instance when introduction of a new practice
or policy permits assessment of changes over time.

However, in many situations the best, or sometimes only, way to draw any conclusion with confidence is
to systematically assign some patients, practices, hospital wards, or health plans to different approaches
(see example case study in the Appendix). A cornerstone of systematic assignment is some form of
randomization to reduce the many potential differences that might otherwise be present between

3 |oM. 2007. The Learning Healthcare System: Workshop series summary. Washington, BC: The National
Academies Press

4 Freedman, B. 1987 Equipoise and the Ethics of Clinical Research. N £nglJ Med 317:141-145.

5 45 CFR § 164.501 (2013).

5 45 CFR § 46.102(d) (2009).
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groups. Sometimes this randomization can be as simple as determining by chance the order in which a
new policy that must be implemented over an extended period is introduced to hospital units.

Although current regulations permit making such assignments without requiring informed consent, '
under a set of constrained circumstances {including the determination of minimal risk and the
impracticability of obtaining consent), they frequently impose additional hurdles regardless of how
remote the topic is from the normal range of issues about which patients are engaged to make
decisions. For example, decisions regarding several drugs in a class to include in a hospital’s formulary or
which type of scap a hospital uses for routine bathing in an intensive care unit.

Our recommendations to facilitate evaluation of practices in common use

A new regulatory regime for learning in health care is needed, along with guidance regarding
implementation’. We will not attempt to lay out the contours of such a regime here, but we believe that
doing so is essential and should commence as soon as possible. Here we articulate principles that could
inform development of better guidance for implementation in the short term and a new framewortk in
the long term.

Research as a routine component of care: Foremost, we should adopt the view that development of
new knowledge should be woven into the delivery of healthcare. We should also eliminate the perverse
incentives to degrade the quality of knowledge generation or dissemination in order to allow it to
qualify for the less stringent oversight accorded to quality improvement activities or other operations
decisions. We do not suggest that quality improvement programs or operations decisions require more
oversight, or that all research should be overseen as quality improvement.

Oversight calibrated to risk and patients expected role: Oversight of studies of routine care should be
based on the level of risk, either to the patient or to the misuse of their data, and to the patients’
expected level of engagement in decision making in standard of care activities. Assessment of the risk
imposed by studies of routine care should be of the “additional” risk imposed by the study as compared
to regular care for that same situation. That is to say that oversight of a research study should depend
on the risk imposed by the study, not the risk of the care situation, which would be the same even if the
patient was not part of a systematic evaluation.

Use of patient data should be governed according to the risk of misuse and potential for harm, rather
than whether or not the use is one that qualifies as routine “operations” (because the results will only
be used internally).

Consent calibrated to patient expectations and risk: Similarly, informed consent beyond the general
consent for treatment should not be required in instances where the decision between one intervention
and another is one where the patient’s input would not typically be sought (both because providers do

7 Faden, R, Kass, N. E., Goedman, S. N., Pronovoest, P., Tunis, S, and T. L. Beauchamp. 2013. An Ethics Framework
for a Learning Health Care System: A Departure from Traditional Research Ethics and Clinical Ethics. Hastings
Center Report 43(s1); s16-s27
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not expect patients to be involved, and patients similarly do not expect to be involved), and where no
appreciable additional risks are imposed compared to therapy in the absence of the research activity.

Research oversight and decision making should be transparent and should respect patients’ rights to
understand and participate in decisions about their care, However, we do not believe a complex
individual consent process is required for every situation in which providers or health care systems
perform a formal evaluation of routine operations. We believe this is true even if the evaluation involves
randomization, particularly at the level of a practice, hospital ward, or health system.

In 1999 Truog et. al.® suggested that within certain criteria, consent for general care should be
understood to provide authorization for participation in certain randomized studies. This view is
consistent with the goals of a learning health system and the ethical framework and associated
obligations described by Faden, et. al.%. Beyond the basic ethical requirements for trials such as
equipoise, Truog's proposed criteria include considerations for whether the interventions assessed are
outside what is covered under general consent for care, the risk/benefit profiles of the interventions
being compared and how a reasonable person might be expected to interpret them, and the
requirement that patients be informed that the institution uses these standards to guide consent
requirements. These suggestions are consistent with limiting such studies to routine care in terms of risk
and patient expectations, and addressing obligations to respect patient self determination through
transparency, with opportunities for opting out as appropriate. These priorities can be applied to
thinking about how to improve guidance within the current system of oversight and regulation and in
designing a new one.

We also believe it is important to develop better evidence about what patients, the public, and other
stakeholders expect of the health care system and their providers, with respect to oversight of studies of
routine care and the role of consent. A program of empirical research to gain a better understanding of
expectations and to test approaches will help guide development and implementation of revised
regulations.

Enable coordination: There should be no barrier to coordination between organizations’ working in
concert with one another, such coordination is necessary to address many important problems, as the
example in the appendix shows.

Encourage dissemination: Widespread dissemination of new knowledge arising from any activity is
essential to improving health care. Sharing of results does not itself trigger additional privacy risks for
individuals, if the results are reported in a way that adequately protects the identity of persons in the
study and care is taken to avoid risk of stigma to subpopulations.

8 Truog, R. D., Robinson, W., Randolph, A., and A. Morris. 1995. Is informed consent always necessary for
randomized, controlled trials? New England Journal of Medicine 340 (10); 804-807

9 Faden, R., R., Kass, N. E., Goodman, S. N., Pronovost, P., Tunis, S, and T. L. Beauchamp. 2013. An Ethics
Framework for a Learning Health Care System: A Departure from Traditional Research Ethics and Clinical Ethics.
Hastings Center Report 43(s1): s16-527
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Actions within the current regulatory regime

Some progress in improving the oversight of studies of routine care is possible without changes in
regulation. A basis for the development of such guidance could be a greater reliance on the kind of
comprehensive risk spectrum discussed previously, One example of how this could be applied is
including consideration of whether an evaluation introduces additional risk not already covered by other
regulations, such as HIPAA oversight of personal health information disclosure risk, in assessing the need
for additional consent beyond consent for care.

To make the fullest possible use of the existing regulations, OHRP, the Office of Civil Rights, and the FDA
shouid provide more complete and coordinated (to the greatest extent possible} guidance about
activities that are permitted under existing regulation. This could be done through the development of
guidance that explicate the range of permitted activities, as well as developing annotated “case-law”
descriptions of evaluations of standard of care interventions that demonstrate acceptable application of
existing regulations. Establishing precedents through this and other means will help IRBs and Privacy
Boards to avoid making unnecessarily restrictive decisions because of uncertainty about what the
regulations allow.

Redefine health care operations. One option for working within the current regulatory framework is to
broaden the definition of health care operations as it is used in the context of HIPAA and the application
of the Common Rule. In the context of a learning health system, systematic assessment of operations
should be a routine part of operations. To some extent the rules already allow for this by including
quality improvement activities as operations. However, as already noted, the use of rigorous, systematic
methods in quality improvement often leads to its reclassification as research subject to HIPAA and the
Common Rule research provisions. Avoiding this reclassification, unless it is accompanied by an increase
in risk would be a short term solution to facilitating these assessments. However, any new guidance
clarifying that certain assessments of interventions would not be considered “research” for purposes of
these regulatory regimes must recognize that such assessments will generate new knowledge and
dissemination of findings through publication and other means, Oversight of such activities would be the
responsibility of organizational processes other than IRBs and Privacy Boards, building on processes that
are already in place to govern routine care and quality improvement. This expansion should include
operations activities that use FDA regulated products assuming they are approved and in general use.

Risk-based approach to regulating data: In some respects, the Common Rule and the HIPAA Privacy
Rule do regulate research on data based on risks to privacy and confidentiality. For exampie, neither
regulatory regime regulates the use of data that is not at risk {or raises very low risk) of being
identifiable to a particular patient. In addition, the HIPAA Privacy Rule allows a “limited data set” {data
that excludes 18 categories of common identifiers) to be used for research purposes without the need
for prior consent or authorization of patient data subjects.’® More consistent application of risk-based
standards and principles to guide regulation of research uses of data will result in greater protections for

®rhe Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA; Pub.L. 104-191, 110 Stat. 1936, enacted
August 21, 1996)
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patients, because more stringent regulation will be targeted to those activities with the potential for
harm, and ease the regulatory burden on those activities that can contribute to the learning health care
system without increasing risks to patients.

In cases where IRB review is necessary, guidance for IRBs should include consideration of the level of risk
to the privacy and confidentiality of identifiable patient data and support waiver of consent
requirements in circumstances where the privacy and confidentiality risks are also low. Among the
factors that should be considered are the following:

¢ Does the study increase the risk of exposure of sensitive, identifiable data?

e Does the study involve identifiable data being accessed by outside entities/third parties?

e Does the study include other features that increase the potential risks to privacy and
confidentiality?

We support efforts to realign the Common Rule and other relevant regulations so that they regulate less
stringently those activities that introduce minimal risks for patients, both from a privacy perspective as
well as an intervention perspective. The above criteria could also be used by institutions to determine
whether additional review is required by an IRB or Privacy Board in a circumstance where data are being
collected to study treatments already in common practice. In addition, we urge HHS to work with
stakeholders to more clearly define the aspects of research that introduce risk {both from a privacy and
interventional standpoint) and focus on tailoring regulation to more appropriately address those risks.

Regulation based on the full spectrum of risk: Following on our call for a more risk-based approach to
oversight of studies of routine care, full characterization of the risk to patients in the context of care is
important. This includes the fact that routine care carries risk. The risk of routine care is often very high,
both because of the limits of what is currently available to treat certain illness and injuries and because
of medical errors and other failures to deliver quality care. At present, this risk is exacerbated by the
fact that many medical decisions are made without a strong evidence base, especially regarding the
relative merits of two seemingly equal approaches. We believe that providing care without learning
what works best increases the risk of subjecting patients to treatments that will not help them and could
even hurt them. Consideration of patients’ total risk, and how it fits into the kinds of decisions that
patients usually cede to their clinicians, is important to assessing whether a research activity conveys
additionat or more than minimal risk.

New and reformed regulations

Ultimately, new regulation of assessments of routine care will be needed to support a continuously
learning health system. These new regulations should be developed in consultation with all relevant
stakeholders including front line clinicians, researchers, bioethicists, and patients.

A new ethical framework: A new ethics framework that includes responsibility to learn and improve as
part of health care is needed to ground this new approach to governance of studies of routine care.
Faden et. al. lay out such a construct in their recent paper An Ethics Framework for a Learning Health
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Care System™. This framework “rejects the assumption that clinical research and clinical practice are
fundamentally different enterprises” and suggests that all stakeholders share a moral obligation to
contribute to learning and the improvement of health care.

This ethical framework suggests that a new regulatory regime should refocus oversight and co'nsent on
specific characteristics or features of learning activities. This is in contrast to the current approaches that
rely on the motivation for the activity, such as whether the results will contribute to generalizable
knowledge and be widely disseminated. As has been discussed before, risk, both physical and
informational would be a characteristic key to assessing the appropriateness of in this approach.
Additional factors include whether an intervention involves treatments in common practice, and the
existing level of evidence for their use; whether the type of intervention is one that is typically discussed
with patients in the context of shared decision making; and whether the proposed analyses rely on
routinely collected data versus require the patient’s involvement in the collection of additional data.

Rationalized, harmonized regulation regarding consent, collaboration, and dissemination of new
knowledge: The regulations of all HHS agencies, including the Office of Human Research Protection, the
Office of Civil Rights, and the Food and Drug Administration, covering research on therapies in commaon
use should be harmonized to the greatest extent possible. New regulation should broaden the situations
in which informed consent can be waived for investigations that assess standard of care prevention,
diagnosis, or treatment regimens. The regulations should specifically allow for waiver of consent hoth
for randemization of individuals, and also cluster randomization as a method of evaluating policies and
practices that organizations such as hospitals might otherwise introduce without any rigorous
evaluation. Further, the regulations should impose no barriers on collaborations between organizations
to accelerate understanding of best practices, or to widespread dissemination of findings.

[Please see following pages for list of signatories]

1 Faden, R., R., Kass, N. E., Goodman, S. N., Pronovast, P., Tunis, 5, and T. L. Beauchamp. 2013, An Ethics
Framework for a Learning Health Care System: A Departure from Traditional Research Ethics and Clinical Ethics.
Hastings Center Report 43{s1): 516-527




This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance. 113

Amy P. Abernethy, MD, PhD

Director, Center for Learning Health Care,
Duke Clinical Research Institute

Associate Professor, Division of Medical
Oncology

Duke University

Eric B. Bass, MD, MPH

Professor of Medicine, and Health Policy &
Management

Johns Hopkins University

Barbara E. Bierer, MD

Professor, Harvard Medical School
Senior Vice President, Research
Brigham and Women’s Hospital

Meryl Bloomrosen, MBA

Vice President

American Health Information Management
Association

Enriqueta Bond, PhD
President Emeritus
Burroughs Welicome Fund

Robert M. Califf, MD

Vice Chancellor for Clinical and
Translational Medicine

Director, Translational Medicine Institute

Duke University

Daniel M. Campion, MBA
Research Director
Quintiles Cutcome

Gloria D. Coronado, PhD

Mitch Greenlick Endowed Senior
Investigator in Health Disparities

Kaiser Permanente Center for Health
Research

Lesley H. Curtis, PhD
Associate Professor in Medicine
Duke Clinical Research Institute

Lynn L. DeBar, PhD, MPH
Kaiser Permanente Center for Health
Research

Laura M. Dember, MD
Perelman School of Medicine
University of Pennsylvania

Robert W. Dubois, MD, PhD
Chief Science Officer
National Pharmaceutical Council

Ruth R. Faden, PhD, MPH

Philip Franklin Wagley Professor of
Biomedical Ethics

Director

Johns Hopkins Berman Institute of Bioethics

Jonathan Finkelstein, MD, MPH

Vice Chair for Quality and Cutcomes,
Department of Medicine

Boston Children's Hospital

Lori Frank, PhD

Director, Engagement Research

Patient-Centered Outcomes Research
Institute

Richard Gliklich, MD
President
Quintiles Outcome

Steven Goodman, MD, MHS, PhD

Associate Dean for Clinical and
Translational Research

Professor of Medicine & Health Research
and Policy

Stanford University School of Medicine

0122



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance. 114

W, Ed Hammond, PhD

Director, Duke Center for Health
Informatics

Duke University

Sean Hennessy, PharmD, PhD
Perelman School of Medicine
University of Pennsylvania

Judith S. Hochman, MD

Senior Associate Dean for Clinical Sciences

Co-Director, NYU-HHC Clinical and
Translational Science institute

New York University School of Medicine

Ralph I. Horwitz, MD

Senior Vice President, Clinical Evaluation
Sciences

Harold H. Hines, Ir. Professor Emeritus of
Medicine and Epidemiology, Yale
University

GlaxoSmithKline

Susan Huang, MD, MPH

Associate Professor

Division of Infectious Diseases and Health
Policy Research Institute

University of California Irvine School of
Medicine

Jeffrey G. Jarvik MD MPH

Professor, Radiclogy and Neurological
Surgery and Adjunct Professor, Health
Services and Pharmacy

Director, Comparative Effectiveness, Cost
and Outcomes Research Center

University of Washington

Steven Joffe, MD, MPH
Emanuel and Robert Hart Associate
Professor

Department of Medical Ethics and Health
Policy
University of Pennsylvania

Robert L. Kane, MD

Co-Director, Minnesota Evidence-based
Practice Center

Director, Center on Aging and MAGEC

University of Minnesota School of Public
Health

Nancy E. Kass, ScD

Phoebe R. Berman Professor of Bioethics
and Public Health

lohns Hopkins Bioomberg Schoof of Public
Health

David M. Kent, MD
Associate Professor of Medicine
Tufts Medical Center

Joel Kupersmith, MD

Former Chief Research and Development
Officer

Veterans Health Administration

Bruce L. Lambert, PhD

Professor

Department of Pharmacy Systems,
Outcomes and Policy

University of lllinois at Chicago

Eric B. Larson, MD, MPH

Vice President for Research

Executive Director, Group Health Research
Institute

Group Health

Jeffrey C. Lerner, PhD

President and Chief Executive Officer
ECRI institute

0123



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance.

Deven McGraw, JD
Director, Health Privacy Project
Center for Democracy & Technology

Sally Okun, RN, MMHS

Vice President for Advocacy, Policy &
Patient Safety

PatientsLikeMe

Steven D. Pearson, MD, MSc¢
Institute for Clinical and Economic Review,
Massachusetts General Hospital

Harvard Pilgrim Health Care Institute Harvard

Medical School

Richard Platt, MD, MS

Professor and Chair, Department of
Population Medicine, Harvard Medical
School

Executive Director, Harvard Pilgrim Health
Care institute

Michael E. Porter, PhD

Bishop William Lawrence University
Professor

Harvard Business School

Gary E. Rosenthal, MD

Professor of Internal Medicine and Health
Management and Policy

Director, Institute for Clinical and
Translational Science

University of lowa

Richard L. Schilsky, MD, FACP, FASCO
Chief Medicai Officer
American Society of Clinical Oncology

Kevin A. Schulman, MD

Professor of Medicine and Gregory Mario
and Jeremy Mario Professor of Business
Administration

Associate Director, Duke Clinical Research
Institute

Duke University

1. Sanford Schwartz, MD

Leon Hess Professor of Medicine and Health

Management & Economics
University of Pennsylvania

Joe V. Selby, MD, MPH

Executive Director

Patient-Centered Outcomes Research
Institute

Gregory Simon, MD, MPH
Senior Investigator
Group Health Research Institute

Jeremy Sugarman, MD, MPH, MA
Harvey M, Meyerhoff Professor of Bioethics
and Medicine

Johns Hopkins Berman Institute of Bioethics

Christine M. Weston, PhD

Assistant Scientist

Center for Health Services and Outcomes
Research

Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public
Health

Mary Woolley
President and CEQ
Research!America

115

0124



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing

information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance.

Albert W, Wu, MD, MPH

Professor and Director

Center for Health Services and Outcomes
Research

Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public
Health

Mone Zaidi, MD, PhD, MBA, FRCP
Professor of Medicine and of Geriatrics
Mount Sinai School of Medicine

116

0125



_ Thi; dqcument is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance. 117

Appendix: An example of research in the learning health system

The study: A recent study sponsored by the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the Agency
for Healthcare Research and Quality evaluated the effectiveness of three methods currently in routine
use for preventing hospital-acquired infections in patients cared for in intensive care units.”? These
infections are among the most important preventable complications of medical care. The methods
tested were 1) screening of patients for carriage of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA),
and use of isolation precautions for patients found to be carriers, 2) screening, isolation, and addition of
a topical regimen to remove MRSA, which consisted of bathing of these carriers with soap containing
the over-the-counter antiseptic chlorhexidine, and applying an antimicrobial ointment, mupirocin, in the
nose, and 3) discontinuing screening and using the topical regimen for every ICU patient.

The study used a cluster randomized design in which 43 Hospital Corporation of America (HCA)} hospitals
that volunteered to participate were randomized to one of the three methods. Standardized infection
control policies for HCA facilities are set at the corporate level and organizational leadership was
motivated to identify the optimal approach through systematic research. For any particular hospital,
every patient in its adult ICUs was treated the same way. There were several reasons for using cluster
randomization. Two of the most important were 1) the desire to evaluate the performance of these
three methods under conditions of actual use, which is possible only if the entire ICU follows the same
standard operating procedure, and 2) the need to treat all patients identically because patients who are
carriers of pathogens can transmit them to others in the same ICU.

The study ultimately involved over 70,000 patients. It found that discontinuation of screening and use of
universal decolonization resulted in a significant reduction in the burden of MRSA and in the
bloodstream infections due to any cause. An accompanying editorial, “Screening Inpatients for MRSA —
Case closed,” concluded that screening, currently mandated by several states, should be discontinued.™

Questions the study raised about ethical and regulatory oﬁersight:

¢ Could individual informed consent be waived?

o How should FDA regulations be applied to comparative effectiveness research?

e Does randomization alter the determination of minimal risk?

o How could the study address the special provisions governing research involving prisoners?

The Institutional Review Board reviewing for a majority of the hospitals where the research was
conducted under an Institutional Authorization Agreement (IAA) determined that the protocol met the
criteria for waiver of individual informed consent: the research was determined to involve not more

12 Huang, S. S., Septimus, E., Kleinman, K., Moady, J., Hickok, )., Avery, T. R, Lankiewicz, ., Gombhosev, A, Terpstra,
L., Hartford, F., Hayden, M. K., lernigan, ). A., Weinstein, R. A,, Fraser, V. ), Haffenreffer, K., Cui, E., Kaganov, R. E.,
Lolans, K., Perlin, J, B., Platt, R.; CDC Prevention Epicenters Program; AHRQ DECIDE Network and Healthcare-
Associated Infections Program. 2013. Targeted versus universal decolonization to prevent ICU infection. M Engls
Med 368(24): 2255-2265

* rdmond, M. B., and R. P. Wenzel. (2013). Screening inpatients for MRSA—case closed. N Engl  Med368(24):
2314-2315
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than minimal risk to subjects; the waiver would not adversely affect their rights and welfare, as the
intervention was similar to care provided in non-research situations and only de-identified information
would be disseminated; and the study could not practicably be performed if individual consent were
required.

Although the study was designed to evaluate the effectiveness of three widely used strategies to
prevent MRSA in hospital ICUs, because some of these strategies involved the use of FDA regulated
products (chlorhexidine cloths and mupirocin), FDA’s regulations were also applied (21 CFR 312.3,
56.109 {c)(1}). FDA’s regulations have no provision for waiver of consent. Therefore, this study’s lead IRB
did require consent. However, as the research met the regulatory requirements under 56.109(c){1), the
IRB waived documentation of consent, as the research presented minimal risk and, as a quality
improvement initiative, would not normally require individual consent outside of the research context
and a modified consent process. Documentation about the hospital’s quality improvement initiative was
to be posted in ICU rooms and in admission materials. The notice contained the elements required for
consent to participate in a research study.

Also at issue was the use of disposable cloths impregnated with chlorhexidine. These cloths were FDA
approved for bathing use before surgery, but there was no specific approval to use them for routine
bathing of ICU patients. The question was raised whether an Investigational New Drug license (IND) was
required. The IRB concurred that an IND was not required as the regulated product was being used in
the manner for which it was approved (bathing), and was not intended to support an application for a
new use or marketing of the product.

DHHS regulations require additional safeguards for the protection of prisoners in research. These
safeguards are found in 45 CFR 46, Subpart C. Subpart C applies to all research that includes any
fndividual who is or becomes a prisoner while participating in a research study. Many IRBs—including
the IRB for this study— are not authorized to approve research involving prisoners as they do not have a
qualified prisoner representative as part of their membership, which is required by DHHS regulations.
This was important because it was possible that some prisoners might be included in the tens of
thousands of patients hospitalized during the course of the study. There was no effective method for
excluding prisoners from the research protocol, since hospitals used their assigned regimen for all of
their patients. Nor would it have been possible for hospitals to avoid admitting prisoners for the
duration of the study. The problem could be addressed in this study because one of the participating
hospitals’ IRBs had a qualified prisoner representative, and was able to conduct a review on which the
other participating 'RB’s could rely.

Discussion: Any hospital in a state that did not mandate screening could have adopted any of these
approaches as its standard practice. Hospitals routinely implement these types of strategies without
consulting or informing their patients. Hospitals typically do not ask individual patients to consent to
bathing or isolation procedures. Any hospital could have compared these strategies as part of a Quality
improvement program. However, no single hospital is large enough to answer the important question at
issue. Current quality improvement guidelines make no provision for hospitals to work in concert to
answer a question that is important to all of them. Despite recent OHRP guidance, in many settings,
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publication of findings, which is often critica! to ensuring that what is learned results in significant
impact, triggers the Common Rule’s “generalizable new knowledge” criterion that is a distinguishing
feature of research.

Although this study’s lead IRB determined that the study satisfied the non-FDA criteria for waiver of
consent, other IRBs have concluded that studies similar to this one did require individual consent,
effectively precluding such studies. Some IRBs would not have considered posting of a notice on the wall
of patients’ rooms to be sufficient. Some [RBs would have required the investigators to apply for an IND,
a requirement that makes many studies infeasible. Finally, this study had the simple good fortune that
one of the 43 participating hospitals’ IRB was able to review protocols involving prisoners.
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Office for Human Research Protections
Department of Health and Human Services
1101 Wootton Parkway, Suite 200
Rockville, MD 20852

Submitted to www.regulations.gov

RE: Notice of a Department of Health and Human Sérvices Public Meeting and Request for
Comments on Matters Related to the Protection of Human Subjects and Research Studying
Standard of Care Interventions, 78 FR 38343, Docket number HHS-OPHS-2013-0004

The Assaciation of American Medical Colleges (AAMC) welcomes the opportunity to respond to
the above-referenced notice and request for comments from the Department of Health and
Human Services (HHS) and Office for Human Research Protections {OHRP} on matters related
research studying standard of care interventions. The AAMC is a not-for-profit association
representing all 141 accredited U.S. and 17 accredited Canadian medical schools; nearly 400
major teaching hospitals and health systems, including 51 Department of Veterans Affairs
medical centers; and 90 academic and scientific societies. Through these institutions and
organizations, the AAMC represents 128,000 faculty members, 75,000 medical students, and
110,000 resident physicians.

The AAMC is pleased that OHRP is engaging the broad research, clinical, and bioethics
community to respond to the complex issues that arose in the context of the SUPPORT study.
We are concerned that the controversy significantly and unnecessarily damaged the public’s
trust in the commitment of physicians and scientists to protecting human research subjects,
especially those in high-risk populations.

We underscore the critical need for empirical research to refine the “standard of care” and
clarify the definition of reasonable foreseeable risk and provide informative and reasonable
guidelines for disclosure of those risks. We urge HHS and OHRP to undertake a process for
providing guidance that supports and facilitates comparative effectiveness research to
determine efficacy and safety. The OHRP actions and subsequent controversy in response to
the SUPPORT study has created a chilling environment for clinical research, and may essentially
discourage future clinician researchers from engaging in rigorous research to generate evidence
for the best possibie treatments for critically ill patients, leaving physicians in the difficult
position of making clinical judgments on a case-by-case basis. This will be a disservice to future
patients and to the public.
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At the heart of the SUPPORT-study controversy are the questions of the definition of
reasonable foreseeable risks; who defines reasonably foreseeable risks; and what information
about reasonably foreseeable risks should be included in an IRB’s considerations and in
informed consent documents when subjects are randomized to one or more standard of care
interventions.

How Should the IRB Assess Risks of Standard of Care Interventions?

As a general principle, decisions related to proposed research on standard of care; identifying
and communicating risks to subjects; and how standard of care, the progression of the
underlying disease, and randomization procedures are assessed in terms of research risks are
important questions and should be addressed within the framework for IRB review. The
assessment of whether a risk is potential or known should be based on information available to
the principal investigators, regardless of whether the research focuses on standard of care or a
less tested intervention.

An IRB should consider the best currently available evidence {which may come from empirical
research, past clinical experiences, general practice guidelines and consensus documents) for
assessing risks of research on standard of care interventions.

1. Expected or likely outcomes inherent to the progression of the disease, given the
subject population, and risks associated with all known standard of care interventions
should not be conflated with the risks of participating in the research itself. It is critical
to distinguish for both the IRB and potential research subjects the risks that may be
inherent to the condition or disease state and to the standard of care treatment from
the risks of participating in research. As an example from the SUPPORT trial, the risks
involved in the standard of care interventions were potentially conflated with the high
potential for a poor outcome given the high mortality rates in the subject population of
severely premature infants. Of note, the infants in both arms of SUPPORT had a lower
death rate than a similar group of infants in the Neonatal Research Network on whom
mortality rate statistics were collected at the same time.

2. When the relative risks of the standard of care interventions are unknown, those
variations in risks should not generally be considered by the IRB as a risk of the research.

3. When an identified risk is common to one or more standard of care interventions, an
iRB should not consider that risk as a risk that may result from the research itself.

0131



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities havingldifficulty access?ng
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance. 123

What Factors should the IRB Consider in the Identification and Disclosure of Reasonably
Foreseeable Risks: Differentiating Underlying Disease from Risks of Interventions and Risks of
Participating in Research?

1. IRBs should have clear guidance to help determine their assessment of reasonably
foreseeable risks that must be disclosed to research subjects; the nonbinding guidance
should be based on the risks of participating in the research itself and on the best
information that is available at the time the research is proposed. Guidance should
clearly establish what is permitted under the current regulations. When IRBs perceive
new guidance as creating additional “extra-regulatory” restrictions on research, this can
lead to interpretations of the regulations that are more restrictive than necessary.

2. Factors guiding IRB decisions in identifying and disclosing risks of standard of care
interventions should include whether an intervention involves treatments in common
practice and whether the choice of intervention is one that is typically discussed with
patients, rather than whether or not the patients are part of a research protacol.

3. The adequacy of an informed consent document should not be assessed based on a
retrospective evaluation of the results of the research. The fact that a research study
concluded that one intervention was more effective or had better outcomes than
another should not necessarily indicate that subjects should have been informed in
advance about the potential for those differences. Such approaches fundamentally
damage the public’s trust in the protections that our institutions provide to the
volunteer research subjects who are so vital to advancing tearning and new knowledge.

4. The IRB should also have guidance to help them assess whether the difference in known
risks and benefits of two standard of care interventions are so sufficiently documented
or proven that the research itself is unethical and efforts should be directed at a
national effort to revise the standard of care. In research like the SUPPORT study,
where there is no consensus in the relevant field that one intervention {or narrow array
of options in a wide range of currently acceptable values) is preferable over another, the
likely variation in outcomes is the fundamental purpose of the study, not a risk of
participating in the research. As with research that does not involve standard of care
interventions, if the outcomes of the study are entirely predictable before embarking on
the study, this raises the question of whether the research should be undertaken at all.

Too often, the undiscussed risk of standard of care treatment for a patient is that a physician
has no solid evidence on which to base a recommendation of one intervention over another.
Uncertainty about the risks of various standard of care interventions is often the driving force
behind conducting a study, and necessitates the research.
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Risks of Randomization Procedures

There is not one uniform standard that should apply to ail proposed studies with regard to
whether randomization is an additional risk that should be disclosed or simply a procedural
element in the description of the study.

1. Randomization itself should not be automatically considered a risk to the subjects,
especially in those cases where knowledge of the differences in risk or efficacy between
the interventions leaves providers with little rationale to make clinical decisions about
which to recommend. In other words, when clinical care decisions are routinely made in
a way that is essentially no different than randomization to different interventions,
research that incorporates randomization may not pose any additional risk to subjects.

2. If the relative risks between two interventions are thought to be nominal (as in the case,
perhaps, where there are few known differences between two standard of care
interventions other than a significantly higher cost of one over the other) or when
exclusion criteria eliminate individuals for whom one intervention is clearly indicated
over another, then randomization still poses no more than minimal risk.

OHRP Should Facilitate Comparative Effectiveness Research on Standard of Care
Interventions through Guidance and Actions

If OHRP, with input from clinicians, researchers, patients, ethicists and other stakeholders,
developed a suggested process and guidance for IRBs to follow when assessing proposals for
research on standard of care interventions, this would benefit the community and public as a
whole. Guidance could be provided to IRBs an both the criteria for approval and informed
consent requirements for research on standard of care. As important as this information is,
HHS and OHRP must take a strong position on the importance of such research as a learning or
knowledge generating activity, rather than considering whether the activity is routine care, or
“research.” Robust scientific study—including learning and knowledge generation on current
clinical care decision-making—strengthens our healthcare delivery system and improves the
health of all. The government should be facilitating, not impeding the learning and knowledge
that comes from this research.

Without essential research like that represented by the SUPPORT study, physicians are forced
to use anecdotal information or rely on the customs that they learned as trainees to make
clinical decisions. Recent federal commitment to patient-centered outcomes research and
comparative effectiveness research has been welcomed by the medical and research
community. At a time when scientists are sorely needed to conduct research to determine
what works best for whom and why we must work diligently to ensure that we do not create an
environment that discourages the learning and knowledge from such research.
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Physician scientists could reasonably decide that going with their clinical judgment even
without strong evidence may be preferable to facing professional and personal risk in trying to
obtain the best evidence. Even the most dedicated physician scientist may think twice before
heading into the debris left by the public condemnation of the SUPPORT study, which called
into question the ethics of the government and the investigators. In the end, that hesitation
could bring comparative effectiveness research to a grinding halt, leaving physicians in the
untenable position of taking a reasonable guess, instead of ensuring that all patients receive
treatment based on the best possible evidence.

The AAMC is again grateful to HHS and OHRP for this opportunity to comment, and we look
forward to participating in ongoing discussions about these matters. Please contact me or
Heather Pierce, 1.D., M.P.H., Senior Director for Science Policy and Regulatory Counsel at
hpierce@aamc.org with any questions about these comments or if the AAMC can be of any
assistance during this important inguiry.

Sincerely,

Ann C, Bonham, Ph.D.
AAMC Chief Scientific Officer
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Gordon, Valez (NIH/OD) [E]

From: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Wednesday, August 07, 2013 2:55 PM

To: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Gordon, Valery (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: FW: Support meeting

Attachments: HHS Public Meeting_Amended FR Notice 2013-19056.pdf
Fyi -

Notice from HHS that we might group commenters on theme depending on how the comments look -- as opposed to
the original plan of 1st come 1st serve.

From: Abel, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Wednesday, August 07, 2013 9:47 AM
To: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: FW: Support meeting

From: StithColeman, Irene E (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Wednesday, August 07, 2013 9:43 AM

To: Lewis, Caya (HHS/I0S); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH); Dotzel, Peggy (HHS/OGC)

Cc: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Horowitz, David (HHS/OGC); Palm, Andrea (HHS/IOS); Corr, Bill (HHS/10S); Hudson, Kathy
(NIH/OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); LaPan, Jarel (HHS/IOS)

Subject: RE: Support meeting

The amended Support meeting FR published in today's Federal Register.

Irene

From: Lewis, Caya (HHS/I10S)

Sent: Wednesday, July 24, 2013 4:45 PM

To: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH); Dotzel, Peggy (HHS/OGC)

Cc: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Horowitz, David (HHS/OGC); Palm, Andrea (HHS/10S); Corr, Bill (HHS/10S); Hudson, Kathy
(NIH/OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); LaPan, Jarel (HHS/IOS); StithColeman, Irene E (HHS/OASH)

Subject: RE: Support meeting

Thanks Jerry.

From: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)
Sent: Wednesday, July 24, 2013 2:55 PM
To: Dotzel, Peggy (HHS/OGC)
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Cc: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Horowitz, David (HHS/OGC); Palm, Andrea (HHS/IOS); Corr, Bill
(HHS/10S); Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); LaPan, Jarel (HHS/I0S); StithColeman, Irene
E (HHS/OASH)

Subject: RE: Support meeting

Peggy,

Our thanks to you and Laura for putting this together. And yes, OHRP will go ahead and get this published.

Jerry

(b)(3)
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Gordon, Vale:x (NIH/OD) [E]
e r——
From: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Sent: Friday, July 26, 2013 6:59 PM
To: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Gordon, Valery (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: FW: Support meeting
Attachments: FR Notice clarification SUPPORT public meeting.doc

This is a great step!

From: Abel, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Wednesday, July 24, 2013 3:01 PM
To: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: FW: Support meeting

®G)
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Porter, Kevin (NIH/OD) [E]

From: Lusi, Rose (HHS/QOS)

Sent: Tuesday, July 23, 2013 3:20 PM

To: Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E); Wood, Gretchen (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: From Andrea - for support meeting in progress
Attachments: support study meeting .pdf

Categories: Important

----- Original Message-----

From: Lusi, Rose (HHS/OS)

Sent: Tuesday, July 23, 2013 3:18 PM

To: Lusi, Rose (HHS/0S)

Subject: Scanned document from Lusi, Rose (HHS/OS) (rose.lusi@HHS.GOV)
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August 28, 2013 HHS Public Meeting
On Matters Related to Protection of Human Subjects and Research Considering Standard of Care Interventions
9 am-5 pm in the HHH Great Hall

Panel composition

Strongly recommend that no “politicals” serve on panel to avoid the appearance of political bias.
Dr. Wanda Jones, Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary for Health, to serve as moderator (State
purpase of meeting, introduce speakers, serve as “traffic cop” to keep speakers/meeting
running on time.)

¢ OHRP representative - lerry Menikoff, MD, JD, OHRP Director,

* NIH representative, to be recommended by NIH.

¢ FDA representative, to be recommended by FDA.

Meeting Format

¢ Majority of meeting reserved for comments from registered presenters.

e As per the Federal Register notice, only panel members may question presenters,

¢ Time allotted for each presentation will be determined by HHS, based on the number of
registered presenters,

e As perthe Federal Register notice, presenters will be scheduled to speak in the order in which
they registered to speak.

e Facilities will provide red/yellow/green light to maintain time limit of presentations.

e Public comments that have been submitted in advance of the meeting will be available online. In
addition, one or two notebooks containing copies of the submitted comments will be available
on-site for meeting attendees to view.

Important Deadlines {articulated in Federal Register notice)

e Registration to attend the meeting (but not to present) is 5 pm, Aug. 14,
Registration to present at the meeting is 5 pm, Aug. 7.

e Deadline for submitting written comments for discussion at the meeting is 5 pm, Aug. 7.

¢ Deadline for submitting comments after public meeting is 5 pm, Sept. 9.

e Presenters will be contacted prior to the meeting to be notified of their approximate
presentation times. They will be asked to submit copies of their presentations beforehand, to be
identified with docket number HHS-OHRP-2013-0004, to http://www.regulations.gov

Number of Registrants as of COB Thursday, July 23, 2013

e 130 registered to attend and/or present
e 20 registered to present (2 are NIH employees)
e 110 registered to attend, but not to present
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Bartok, L.auren (NIH/OD) [C]

From: Houser, Anne (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Tuesday, July 23, 2013 10:37 AM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; White, Pat (NIH/OD) [E]
Cc: Houser, Anne (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: FW: SUPPORT Clinical Trial QFR

Attachments: SUPPORT Clinical Trial.docx

From: McGrath, Jason (OS/BPER)
Sent: Tuesday, July 23, 2013 10:31 AM
To: Houser, Anne (NIH/OD) [E]

Cc: Gannon, Jennifer (HHS/ASFR)
Subject: SUPPORT Clinical Trial QFR

Hi Anne,

The attached response to the SUPPORT Clinical Trial QFR has been agreed to by NIH and OASH. We've sent this to the
Subcommittee.

Thanks,
Jason

Jason McGrath
Office of the Assistant Secretary for Financial Resources

Department of Health and Human Services
(202) 690-6704
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SUPPORT Clinical Trial

The University of Alabama at Birmingham (UAB) recently received a letter from the Office for Human
Research Protections (OHRP) about the SUPPORT clinical trial, a research study of premature infants and
supplemental oxygen. In the letter, OHRP determined that UAB should have informed parents of an
increased risk of death of their infant by participating in the study.

1. Could you please provide the specific scientific data that existed at the start of the study that
shows this increased risk?

Response:

OHRP referenced in the articles cited in a letter dated June 4, 2013, from OHRP to the University of
Alabama the specific scientific data that existed at the start of the SUPPORT study that OHRP relied on in
reaching its conclusion. The letter and article references can be found on OHRP’s web site at
http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/detrm letrs/YR13/jun13a.pdf). NIH subsequently responded in
disagreement with the conclusions and stated the more recent data generated with more sophisticated
oxygen-monitoring and oxygen-measurement devices showed no increased risk of death or neurological
damage (see http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMp1306986). OHRP and NIH are continuing to
review these considerations. In addition, HHS will hold a public meeting to seek public input and
comment on how certain provisions of the HHS requirements related to the protection of human
subjects should be applied to research studying one or more interventions which are used as standard of
care treatment in the nonresearch context on August 28, 2013.

2. If no such data existed, could you please explain why it would be scientifically credible or ethical to
explain unknown risks of a study?

Response:

Please see response above regarding specific scientific data. HHS does not and has not questioned
whether the design of the SUPPPORT study was ethical.

3. What is the process for appealing the findings of OHRP? Is there a mechanism for having an
independent review of OHRP actions especially when they are so universally called into question as in
this case? (Please see, for example, editorials and correspondence in the New England Journal of
Medicine and The Hastings Center Bioethics Forum).

Response:

OHRP's compliance oversight procedures state that an institution or complainant may request that the
Director of OHRP reconsider any determinations resulting from a for-cause compliance oversight
evaluation, http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/compliance/evaluation/index.html. OHRP has no recollection of
any such requests for reconsideration from an institution against which OHRP made a determination of
noncompliance. Historically, OHRP has received such requests only from complainants concerned that
OHRP did not agree with their allegations of noncompliance. If such complainants are unsatisfied with
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the response of the OHRP Director, OHRP informs them that they may communicate with the Principal
Deputy Assistant Secretary for Health and the Assistant Secretary for Health and ask them to review the
matter,
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Bartok, Lauren (NIH/OD) [C]

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Sent: Tuesday, July 23, 2013 9:44 AM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH)
Cc: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Final QFR

Attachments: SUPPORT Clinical Trial.docx

Thank you again, all. We will send the attached final to the Committee now.

----- Original Message-----

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
Sent: Monday, July 22, 20613 8:39 PM

To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/OASH); Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)
Cc: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: RE: Final QFR

Given that our primary issue was not the age of data cited by ohrp but the relevance of more
recent data, please use this edit.

(b)(3)

----- Original Message-----

From: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/OASH)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 7:42 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)
Cc: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Re: Final QFR

Consider Kathy's comments, but again, can live w/this. Thanks, all.

Wanda K Jones, DrPH

Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary for Health US Department of Health and Human Services
200 Independence Ave SW

Washington, DC 20201

Sent from my Blackberry while I'm away from my desktop.

————— Original Message -----

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 ©6:01 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Cc: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Lewis, Caya (HHS/I0OS); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Re: Final QFR

Well, [(b)(5) | but we can live with this if you don't like my
suggested sentence.

Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.
Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy NIH
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301 496 1455
kathy.hudson@nih.gov

On Jul 22, 2013, at 5:56 PM, "Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)" <Norris.Cochran@HHS.GOV> wrote:

> Thanks, Kathy. [(b)(5) | wanda,
does the below work?

B6)

A

----- Original Message -----

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Monday, July 22, 20613 ©5:50 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/O0ASH); Lewis,
Caya (HHS/IOS)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: Fwd: Final QFR

Can you make this change in sentence about NIH?

Otherwise - this is all good to go

OlY VvV V ¥V VWV WV OV WV WV VYV WV

(b)(3)

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 4:50 PM

To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh,
Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Subject: RE: Final QFR

Thank you, Wanda. Would the below work for all?

R Y N T L e Y A " VA Y
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From: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/OASH)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 3:42 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh,
Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)
Subject: RE: Final QFR

VOV OV OV VOV WV VY

Do not want to convey the public meeting is about SUPPORT, right? Instead, the broader
issue of conducting research on standard of care treatments? Can’t avoid SUPPORT, and
certainly the impetus, but I’d probably split that last sentence to say that HHS will hold a
public meeting.

>

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 3:39 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/OASH); Koh,

Howard (HHS/0ASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Subject: RE: Final QFR

>
>
>
>
> Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)
>
>
b

(b)(3)

>
>
> SUPPORT Clinical Trial

(b)(3)
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(b)(3)

>

>

>

> From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

> Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 2:56 PM

> To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/OASH); Koh,
> Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

> Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

> Subject: RE: Final QFR
>
>
>
>
)
>
>
>

Norris,
Attached please find:
1. The OHRP letter to UAB sent june 4.

2. The New England Journal of Medicine Article that was extensively reviewed and cleared by
HHS .
>
> In this article we say, " The federal Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP), which
is charged with providing leadership in the protection of the rights, welfare, and well-being
of persons involved in research conducted or supported by the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Services (DHHS), asserted in March 2013, on the basis of its own examination of the
evidence, that the SUPPORT researchers failed to provide prospective parents sufficient
information about the risks posed by the study. After a detailed review of the protocol, the
relevant consent documents, and the research literature, we respectfully disagree with the
conclusions of the OHRP, which we believe resulted from a fundamental difference in
interpretations of how the regulations should apply to the state of scientific understanding
when the SUPPORT study commenced."”
> 3. The Federal Register Notice announcing meeting to get input on this issue. This notice
is from the Office of the Secretary and says, “Through the public reaction to OHRP’s
determination letter, HHS has become aware of differing perspectives in the scientific,
research, and ethics communities about these issues and how the relevant requirements of the
HHS protection of human subjects regulations should apply to research studying standard of
care interventions.”
>
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————— Original Message-----

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 2:09 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Koh,
Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Subject: Re: Final QFR

Thank you, Kathy. If you have them handy, please send me her public
statements

----- Original Message -----

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 ©2:04 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/0ASH); Koh,
Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Subject: RE: Final QFR

I will of course defer to ASFR on what direction to takd(b)(5)

(b)(3)

VoW

VOV WV VOV VY

>

----- Original Message-----

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 12:58 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/OASH); Koh,
Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/0D) [E]

Subject: RE: Final QFR

Thanks, Kathy and Wanda. |(0)(5)

(b)(3)

>
>
>

SUPPORT Clinical Trial
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----- Original Message-----

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 12:46 PM

To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff,
Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/0D) [E]
Subject: RE: Final QFR

I sent you a wrong version of our edits.

Can you take a look at this version please?
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Sorry I had attachment problems.

WoOOWON

————— Original Message-----

> From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

> Sent: Sunday, July 21, 2013 12:37 PM

> To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff,
> Jerry (HHS/OASH)

> Cc: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
> Subject: RE: Final QFR

)

> Wanda, Howard, Jerry,

>

> Thanks for taking another stab at the Shelby QFR response. [(b)(5)
(b))

>

> Please let me know what you think of this proposed revision.

>

> Thanks

> Kathy

>

W

----- Original Message-----

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)
Sent: Friday, July 19, 2013 4:28 PM
To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Fw: Final QFR

Kathy - Please see below and attached. Please let me know of any major issues as soon as
ou can. Thank you.

Norris

VOV VNV VY VY Y WY

W

----- Original Message -----

> From: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/OASH)

> Sent: Friday, July 19, 2013 04:21 PM

> To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

> Cc: Grifka, Michelle (HHS/O0ASH); Gannon, Jennifer (HHS/ASFR)

> Subject: Final QFR

>

> Norris, We have taken language exactly from the (second) letter sent to UAB, except that
we've added a regulatory citation that was implicit in the letter's reference to what
‘society requires'; in this particular context, that might not be so obvious.

If you have any questions, don't hesitate to reach out to me. Wanda

Wanda K. Jones, Dr.P.H.

Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary for Health US Department of
Health and Human Services

200 Independence Ave. SW, Room 716G

Washington, DC 20201

Phone 202 260 4432

Main 202 690 7694

Fax 202 690 6960

WOV OV OV WV VWV Y WYY Y

0175



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance.

Email wanda.jones@hhs.gov<mailto:wanda.jones@hhs.gov>

>
>
> "Mobilizing leadership in science and prevention for a healthier nation"
>
>
>
>
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Butler, Brenda (NIH/OD) [E]

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 8:37 PM
To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Final QFR

No, the problem is that the so-called data that ohrp is referring to is down in very very low oxygen levels and thus
irrelevant. All the other so-called data they refer to is not data at all but concerns and questions. | am worried 1 might
get hit by an asteroid tomorrow on my way to work but that is not data.

How about this? | will send to the group as well.

(b)(3)

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)
Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 6:26 PM
To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Re: Final QFR

Kathy [(D)(5)

[(b)(5) |

————— Original Message -----

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 06:01 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Cc: Jones, Wanda K, (DHHS/OS/OASH); Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Re: Final QFR

Well, "[(b)(5) [put we can live with this if you don't like my suggested sentence.

Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.

Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy NIH
301 496 1455

kathy.hudson@nih.gov

On Jul 22, 2013, at 5:56 PM, "Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)" <Norris.Cochran@HHS.GOV> wrote:

> Thanks, Kathy. {(b)(5) Wanda, does the below work?
>

(b)(3)
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(b)(3)

> mea- Original Message -----

> From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
>Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 05:50 PM

> To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Lewis,
> Caya (HHS/I0S)

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

> Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Lewis, Caya (HHS/10S)

> Subject: RE: Final QFR

>

> Thank you, Wanda. Would the below work for all?

>

>

>

> SUPPORT Clinical Trial

>

> The University of Alabama at Birmingham (UAB) recently received a letter from the Office for Human Research
Protections (OHRP) about the SUPPORT clinical trial, a research study of premature infants and supplemental oxygen. In
the letter, OHRP determined that UAB should have informed parents of an increased risk of death of their infant by
participating in the study.

>
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(b)(3)

Vv V V

>
> From: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/QS/OASH)

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
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>

> Do not want to convey the public meeting is about SUPPORT, right? Instead, the broader issue of conducting research
on standard of care treatments? Can’t avoid SUPPORT, and certainly the impetus, but I'd probably split that last
sentence to say that HHS will hold a public meeting.

>

> From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

> Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 3:39 PM

> To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/0OASH); Koh,

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

> To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Koh,

> Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

> Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Lewis, Caya (HHS/10S)

> Subject: RE: Final QFR

>

> Norris,

>

> Attached please find:

S

> 1. The OHRP letter to UAB sent june 4.

>

> 2. The New England Journal of Medicine Article that was extensively reviewed and cleared by HHS.

S

> In this article we say, " The federal Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP), which is charged with providing
leadership in the protection of the rights, welfare, and well-being of persons involved in research conducted or
supported by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS), asserted in March 2013, on the basis of its
own examination of the evidence, that the SUPPORT researchers failed to provide prospective parents sufficient
information about the risks posed by the study. After a detailed review of the protocol, the relevant consent documents,
and the research literature, we respectfully disagree with the conclusions of the OHRP, which we believe resulted from a
fundamental difference in interpretations of how the regulations should apply to the state of scientific understanding
when the SUPPORT study commenced."

> 3. The Federal Register Notice announcing meeting to get input on this issue. This notice is from the Office of the
Secretary and says, “Through the public reaction to OHRP’s determination letter, HHS has become aware of differing
perspectives in the scientific, research, and ethics communities about these issues and how the relevant requirements of
the HHS protection of human subjects regulations should apply to research studying standard of care interventions.”

>

>
(b)(5)

>

>

> -----Original Message-----

> From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

> Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 2:09 PM

> To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH}); Koh,

5
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

> - Original Message -----

> From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

> Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 02:04 PM

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

>

> | will of course defer to ASFR on what direction to take |(b)(5)

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

>

> Thanks, Kathy and Wanda.|(b)(5)

(b)(3)
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> From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
> Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 12:46 PM

> To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0OS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff,
> Jerry (HHS/OASH)

> Cc: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
> Subject: RE: Final QFR

>

> | sent you a wrong version of our edits.

>

> Can you take a look at this version please?

>

> Sorry | had attachment problems.

>

> From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
> Sent: Sunday, July 21, 2013 12:37 PM
> To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff,

7
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> Jerry (HHS/OASH)

> Cc: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
> Subject: RE: Final QFR

>

> Wanda, Howard, Jerry,

>

> Thanks for taking another stab at the Shelby QFR response.[(®)(5)

(b)(3)

”

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

>

> Kathy - Please see below and attached. Please let me know of any major issues as soon as you can. Thank you.
>

> Norris

> eneen Original Message ----—-

> From: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH)

> Sent: Friday, July 19, 2013 04:21 PM

> To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

> Cc: Grifka, Michelle (HHS/OASH); Gannon, Jennifer (HHS/ASFR)

> Subject: Final QFR

>

> Norris, We have taken language exactly from the (second) letter sent to UAB, except that we've added a regulatory
citation that was implicit in the letter's reference to what 'society requires'; in this particular context, that might not be
so obvious.

>

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

> Fax 202 690 69560

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

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 5:51 PM

To: Boskent, Celeste (NIH/OD) [E]

Cc: Marshall, Lisa (NIH/OD) [E]; Brewer, Ann (NIH/OD) [E]; Schulke, Hilda (NIH/OD) [E];
McManus, Ayanna (NIH/OD) [E]; Wood, Gretchen (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: July 23 - Mtg with OS staff and Dr. Hudson re: Next Steps on SUPPORT

Attachments: FRN 2013-15160.pdf; Draft Precis-for exercising OHRP guidance-6-18.docx; HHS Meeting -

Next Steps on SUPPORT - doc for KH andFC 7-22-13.docx

Hi Celeste —

Attached here for the meeting folders are the documents that | just sent to Kathy and Francis for the meeting on
SUPPORT tomorrow 7/23 at 3:00p.

Best,
Steph

Stephanie Devaney, Ph.D.

Science Policy Analyst

Special Assistant to the Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy
Office of the Director

National Institutes of Health

I Center Drive, Building 1/103

Bethesda, MD 20892

Phone: 301-402-1994

stephanie.devaney@nih.gov

Celebration of Science at NIH: watch how medical research saves lives and improves health
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responsibilities regarding the
maintenance and availability of
inventory records of assets, Without this
information or ability to access the
information, after an ownership change,
the Government would be unable to
ascertain whether contractor assets were
properly valuated. The cost principles at
FAR 31.205-52 address the allowability
of certain costs resulting from asset
valuations following business
combinations. In order to administer the
cost principles adequately, the
information required by FAR 52.215-19
is necessary.

Comment: The respondent
commented that the agency did not
accurately estimate the public burden
challenging that the agency’s
methodology for calculating it is
insufficient and inadequate and does
not reflect the total burden.

Response: Serious consideration is
given, during the open comment period,
to all comments received and
adjustments are made to the paperwork
burden estimate based on reasonable
considerations provided by the public.
This is evidenced, as the respondent
notes, in FAR Case 2007-006 where an
adjustment was made from the total
preparation hours from three to 60. This
change was made considering
particularly the hours that would be
required for review within the company,
prior to release to the Government.

The burden is prepared taking into
consideration the necessary criteria in
OMB guidance for estimating the
paperwork burden put on the entity
submitting the information. For
example, consideration is given to an
entity reviewing instructions; using
technology to collect, process, and
disclose information; adjusting existing
practices to comply with requirements;
searching data sources; completing and
reviewing the response; and
transmitting or disclosing information.
The estimated burden hours for a
collection are based on an average
between the hours that a simple
disclosure by a very small business
might require and the much higher
numbers that might be required for a
very complex disclosure by a major
corporation. Also, the estimated burden
hours should only include projected
hours for those actions which a
company would not undertake in the
normal course of business.

Upon consideration of the
respondent’s comments and review of
Fiscal Year 2012 (FY12) Federal
Procurement Data System (FPDS)
information an adjustment is being
made to the estimated annual burden.
Based on FPDS information
approximately 1200 novations and non-

novated mergers and acquisitions were
recorded in FY12 as descriptions for
modifications. However, it is estimated
that 50 percent or 600 of such actions
will require the contractor to meet the
requirements specified at FAR 52.215—-
19. The clause is only required to be
inserted in solicitations and contracts
for which it is contemplated that
certified cost or pricing data will be
required or for which any pre-award or
post-award cost determination will be
subject to Subpart 31.2. The estimate of
hours per response is adjusted upwards
to partly allow for the internal
coordination and analysis before
submitting the information to the
Government as stated by the
respondent. However the significant
adjustment suggested was not made
because, apart from a notification to the
ACO, the requirements of the clause are
passive, requiring contractors to
maintain rather than to create records to
meet the specific requirements for
Government submission, and should be
part of the normal course of doing
business. At any point, members of the
public may submit comments for further
consideration, and are encouraged to
provide data to support their request for
an adjustment.

C. Annual Reporting Burden

Respondents: 600.

Responses per Respondent: 1.

Total Responses: 600.

Hours per Response: 5.

Total Burden Hours: 3000.

Obtaining Copies of Proposals:
Requesters may obtain a copy of the
information collection documents from
the General Services Administration,
Regulatory Secretariat (MVCB), 1275
First Street NE., Washington, DC 20417,
telephone (202) 501-4755. Please cite
OMB Control No. 9000-0115,
Notification of Ownership Changes, in
all correspondence.

Dated: June 21, 2013.
William Clark,

Acting Director, Office of Governmentwide
Acquisition Policy, Office of Acquisition
Policy, Office of Governmentwide Policy.
[FR Doc. 2013-15300 Filed 6-25-13; 8:45 am]

BILLING CODE 6820-EP-P

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SERVICES

Notice of a Department of Health and
Human Services Public Meeting and
Request for Comments on Matters
Related to the Protection of Human
Subjects and Research Studying
Standard of Care Interventions

AGENCY: Office of the Secretary,
Department of Health and Human
Services.

ACTION: Notice of meeting and request
for comments,

SUMMARY: The Department of Health and
Human Services (HHS) is announcing a
public meeting to seek public input and
comment on how certain provisions of
the HHS requirements related to the
protection of human subjects should be
applied to research studying one or
more interventions which are used as
standard of care treatment in the non-
research context. HHS specifically is
requesting input regarding how an
institutional review board (IRB) should
assess the risks of research involving
randomization to one or more
treatments within the standard of care
for particular interventions, and what
reasonably foreseeable risks of the
research should be disclosed to research
subjects in the informed consent
process. HHS is seeking participation in
the meeting and written comments from
all interested parties, including, but not
limited to, IRB members, IRB staff,
institutional officials, research
institutions, investigators, research
subject advocacy groups, ethicists, and
the regulated community at large. This
meeting and the written comments are
intended to assist HHS, through the
Office for Human Research Protections
(OHRP), Office of the Assistant
Secretary for Health (OASH), in
developing guidance regarding what
constitutes reasonably foreseeable risk
in research involving standard of care
interventions such that the risk is
required to be disclosed to research
subjects. HHS is seeking input on a
number of specific questions but is
interested in any other pertinent
information participants in the public
meeting would like to share.

DATES: Meeting: The public meeting will
be held on August 28, 2013, from 9 a.m.
to 5 p.m.

Deadline for Registration for
Farticipants (not Presenting) at the
Public Meeting and Submitting Requests
for Special Accommodations:
Registration to attend the public
meeting and requests for special
accommodations must be received no
later than 5 p.m. on August 14, 2013,
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Deadline for Registration of Presenters
at the Public Meeling: Registration to
present at the public meeting must be
received no later than 5 p.m. on August
7, 2013,

Deadline for Submission of Written
Comments for the Public Meeting:
Written comments for discussion at the
public meeting must be received no
later than 5 p.m. on August 7, 2013. In
addition to materials submitted for
discussion at the public meeting,
individuals may submit other written
comments after the public meeting, as
specified in the ADDRESSES section of
this notice. These comments must be
received no later than 5 p.m. on
September 9, 2013, for consideration by
HHS.

ADDRESSES: The Public Meeting will be
held at the Department of Health and
Human Services, Hubert H. Humphrey
Building, 200 Independence Ave. SW.,
Great Hall, Washington, DC 20201;
Metro: Federal Center SW station.

In addition, we are providing an
alternative to attending the meeting in
person; participants may view the
public meeting via live streaming
technology. Information on that option
is provided in section ILD. of this
notice,

Registration and Special
Accommodations: While there is no
registration fee, individuals planning to
attend the public meeting in person
must register to attend. Registration may
be completed by sending an email to
OHRP@hhs.gov, with the subject line
“Registration for HHS Public Meeting”;
or a request to register may be sent to:
Registration for HHS Public Meeting,
Office for Human Research Protections,
Department of Health and Human
Services, 1101 Wootton Parkway, Suite
200, Rockville, MD 20852, Please
include your name, address, telephone
number, email address, and fax number,
If you would like to present at the
public meeting, please state this in the
registration submission,

Registration to attend the public
meeting will be accepted on a first-
come, first-served basis. If seating
capacity has been reached, you will be
notified that the meeting has reached
capacity.

Registration to present at the public
meeting will be accepted on a first-
come, first-served basis. HHS has
included questions for comment in
section III of this document. Please
identify by number each question you
wish to address in your presentation
and the approximate time requested.
HHS will do its best to accommodate
requests to speak. HHS will determine
the amount of time allotted to each

presenter and the approximate time that
each oral presentation is scheduled to
begin. Once HHS notifies registered
presenters of their scheduled times,
presenters should submit a copy of each
presentation, identified with docket
number HHS-OPHS-2013-0004, to
http://www.regulations.gov.

Individuals who needg special
accommodations should contact staff
listed in the FOR FURTHER INFORMATION
CONTACT section of this notice.

Submission of Comments for the Public
Meeting

Submit electronic comments,
identified with docket number HHS—
OPHS-2013-0004, to http://
www.regulations.gov.

Submit written comments to
Comments for HHS Public Meeting,
Office for Human Research Protections,
Department of Health and Human
Services, 1101 Wootton Parkway, Suite
200, Rockville, MD 20852.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Dr.
Jerry Menikoff, Director, Office for
Human Research Protections,
Department of Health and Human
Services, 1101 Wootton Parkway, Suite
200, Rockville, MD 20852; phone 240~
453-6900; email
Jerry.Menikoff@hhs.gov.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION:
I. Background

A. HHS Protection of Human Subjects
Regulations

HHS, through OHRP, regulates
research involving human subjects
conducted or supported by HHS in
regulations. The HHS human subjects
protection requirements pertain to
several different entities, including the
IRB charged with reviewing non-exempt
human subjects research.

The IRB is an administrative body
that takes the form of a board,
committee, or group, and is responsible
for conducting the initial and
continuing review of research involving
human subjects. The IRB must have
authority to approve, require
modification in (in order to secure
approval), or disapprove all research
activities regulated by HHS. An IRB's
primary purpose in reviewing research
is to ensure the protection of the rights
and welfare of human research subjects.
In order to approve research, an IRB is
required to make certain
determinations, including that the
following criterion is met:

Risks to subjects are reasonable in relation
to anticipated benefits, if any, to subjects,
and the importance of the knowledge that
may reasonably be expected to result. In
evaluating risks and benefits, the IRB should

consider only those risks and benefits that
may result from the research (as
distinguished from risks and benefits of
therapies subjects would receive even if not
participating in the research). The IRB should
not consider possible long-range effects of
applying knowledge gained in the research
{for example, the possible effects of the
research on public policy) as among those
research risks that fall within the purview of
its responsibility.

The HHS human subjects protections
further require that, unless this
requirement is waived by the IRB, an
investigator must obtain informed
consent from research subjects prior to
the subjects’ participation in the
research, and that, in this informed
consent process, the subjects must be
provided "a description of any
reasonably foreseeable risks or
discomforts to the subject.”

B. OHRP’s Compliance Oversight
Investigation of SUPPORT

On March 7, 2013, OHRP issued a
compliance oversight determination
letter regarding its investigation into
“The Surfactant, Positive Pressure, and
Oxygenation Randomized Trial”
(SUPPORT) clinical trial (http://
www.hhs.gov/ohrp/detrm_letrs/YR13/
mari3a.pdf), in which OHRP
determined that cerlain risks related to
the interventions being studied in the
SUPPORT trial were required by the
HHS protection of human subjects
regulations to be disclosed to the
research subjects, and the subjects were
not informed of these risks, OHRP’s
view of the SUPPORT trial, as described
in this determination letter, triggered
extensive public discussions regarding
(1) what risks to subjects are presented
by clinical trials studying interventions
that are standard of care in the clinical
treatment context, such that an IRB
must evaluate those risks in relation to
the anticipated benefits of the research;
and (2) how an IRB should assess
whether those risks are reasonably
foreseeable such that the risks must be
described to subjects in informed
consent. Through the public reaction to
OHRP’s determination letter, HHS has
become aware of differing perspectives
in the scientific, research, and ethics
communities about these issues and
how the relevant requirements of the
HHS protection of human subjects
regulations should apply to research
studying standard of care interventions.

I1. Public Meeting

A. Purpose and Scope of the Meeting

The public meeting is intended to
provide an opportunity for broad public
participation and comment concerning
how the HHS human subjects
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protections requirements should be
applied to research studying one or
more interventions which are used as
standard of care treatment in the non-
research context, HHS specifically is
requesting input regarding how an IRB
should assess the risks of research
involving randomization to one of more
standard of care interventions, and what
reasonably foreseeable risks of the
research should be disclosed to research
subjects in the informed consent
process, This meeting and the written
comments are intended to assist HHS,
through the OHRP, OASH, in
developing guidance regarding what
constitutes reasonably foreseeable risk
in research involving standard of care
interventions such that the risk is
required to be disclosed to research
subjects,

While HHS is considering whether
other processes should be incorporated
into OHRP’s compliance oversight
procedures and guidance, including, but
not limited to, consultation with subject
matter experts during the course of a
compliance oversight investigation, and
an administrative process for appealing
OHRP determinations of
noncompliance, this meeting is not
intended to specifically address possible
revisions to OHRP’s compliance
oversight procedures,

B. Format of the Meeting

The meeting will be conducted by a
panel of HHS officials, including the
Director of OHRP. The majority of the
meeting will be reserved for
presentations of comments,
recommendations, and data from
registered presenters. The time for each
presenter’s comments will be
determined by HHS and will be based
on the number of registered presenters.
Presenters will be scheduled to speak in
the order in which they register. Only
the HHS panel members may question
any presenter during or at the
conclusion of each presentation. The
meeting will be recorded and
transcribed.

In addition, written comments will
also be accepted and presented at the
meeting, time permitting, if they are
received by the date specified in the
DATES section of this notice,

C. Security and Building Guidelines

Because the public meeting will be
located on federal property, for security
reasons any persons wishing to attend
this meeting must register by the date
specified in the DATES section of this
notice. Attendees should allow
sufficient time to go through the
security checkpoints. Attendees should

arrive at the Hubert H. Humphrey
Building no later than 8:30 a.m.

Security measures include the
following:

¢ Presentation of government-issued
photographic identification to the
Federal Guard Service personnel,

» Passing through a metal detector
and inspection of items brought into the
building; note that all items brought to
HHS are subject to inspection.

Note: Individuals who are not registered in
advance will not be permitted to enter the
building and will be unable to attend the
meeting in person. The public may not enter
the building earlier than 45 minutes prior to
the convening of the meeting(s). All visitors
must be escorted while in the building.

D. Live Streaming Information

For participants who cannot attend
the public meeting in person there will
be an option to view the public meeting
via live streaming technology.
Information on the option to view the
meeting via live streaming technology
will be posted at a later time on the
OHRP Web site at http://www.hhs.gov/
ohrp. Any other updates to information
on the meeting will be posted on the
OHRP Web site.

III. Issues for Discussion

HHS invites comment at the public
meeting about how an IRB should assess
the risks of research involving
randomization to one or more standard
of care interventions, and what risks of
the research should be disclosed to
research subjects in the informed
consent process. HHS is specifically
interested in public input on the
following questions:

1. How should an IRB assess the risks
of standard of care interventions
provided to subjects in the research
context?

a. Under what circumstances should
an IRB consider those to be risks that
may result from the research?

b. Under what circumstances should
an IRB refrain from considering those
risks as unrelated to the research?

c. What type of evidence should an
IRB evaluate in identifying these risks?

2. What factors should an IRB
consider in determining that the
research-related risks of standard of care
interventions, provided to research
subjects in the research context, are
reasonably foreseeable and therefore
required to be disclosed to subjects?

a. What criteria should be used by the
IRB to evaluate whether the risks to
subjects are reasonably foreseeable?

3. How should randomization be
considered in research studying one or
more interventions within the standards
of care? Should the randomization

procedure itself be considered to
present a risk to the subjects? Why or
why not? If so, is the risk presented by
randomization more than minimal risk?
Should an IRB be allowed to waive
informed consent for research involving
randomization of subjects to one or
more standard of care interventions?
Why or why not?

4, How, and to what extent, does
uncertainty about risk within the
standard of care affect the answers to
these questions? What if the risk
significantly varies within the standard
of care?

5. Under what circumstances do
potential risks qualify as reasonably
foreseeable risks? For example, is it
sufficient that there be a documented
belief in the medical community that a
particular intervention within the
standard of care increases the risk of
harm, or is it necessary that there be
published studies identifying the risk?

IV, Transcripts

As soon as a transcript of the public
meeting is available, it will be accessible
on the OHRP Web site, http://
www.hhs.gov/ohrp. A transcript also
will be available in either hardcopy or
on CD-ROM, after submission of a
Freedom of Information request. Written
requests are to be sent to the PHS FOIA
Office, 7700 Wisconsin Avenue, Suite
#920, Bethesda, MD 20857; telephone
(301) 492-4800; fax (301) 492-4848;
email FOIARequest@psc.hhs.gov.

Dated: June 19, 2013.

Howard K. Koh,

Assistant Secretary for Health,

[FR Doc. 2013-15160 Filed 6-25-13; 8:45 am]
BILLING CODE 4150-36-P

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SERVICES

Meeting of the Advisory Group on
Prevention, Health Promotion, and
Integrative and Public Health

AGENCY: Office of the Surgeon General
of the United States Public Health
Service, Office of the Assistant Secretary
for Health, Office of the Secretary,
Department of Health and Human
Services.

ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: In accordance with Section
10(a) of the Federal Advisory Committee
Act, Public Law 92-463, as amended (5
U.S.C. App.), notice is hereby given that
a meeting is scheduled to be held for the
Advisory Group on Prevention, Health
Promotion, and Integrative and Public
Health (the “Advisory Group”). The
meeting will be open to the public.
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Bartok, Lauren (NIH/OD) [C]

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)
Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 5:50 PM
To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Final QFR

Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Completed

Kathy - what do you think?

From: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 05:41 PM

To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard
(HHS/OASH)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Subject: RE: Final QFR

Yes, on the OHRP side, we can live with this.

Jerry

From: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 4:53 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)
Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Subject: RE: Final QFR

I'm satisfied with this, Norris, if Caya, Jerry and Kathy can live with it. Thank you for bringing your expertise to bear here,
a positive presentation for HHS. Wanda

PS Norris--Are you signed up for the diplomatic corps?

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 4:50 PM

To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry
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

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry
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

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry
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
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Thank you, Kathy. If you have them handy, please send me her public statements

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

| will of course defer to ASFR on what direction to take [(b)(5)

(b)(3)

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 12:58 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry
(HHS/OASH)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: RE: Final QFR

Thanks, Kathy and Wanda. |(b)(5)

(b)(3)
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(b)(3)

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 12:46 PM

To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)
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
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Thanks for taking another stab at the Shelby QFR response. 1b)(5)

(b)(3)

Please let me know what you think of this proposed revision,

Thanks
Kathy

-----0riginal Message-----

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

Email wanda.jones@hhs.gov

"Mobilizing leadership in science and prevention for a healthier nation"
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Bartok, Lauren (NIH/OD) [C]

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 3:12 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/QD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Koh, Howard
(HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

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

1. The OHRP letter to UAB sent june 4,

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

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jlerry
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

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Lewis, Caya (HHS/I0S)

Subject: RE: Final QFR

| will of course defer to ASFR on what direction to take[[(b)(5) ]
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

Subject: RE: Final QFR .

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

Thanks for taking another stab at the Shelby QFR response. 1(0)(5)

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
citation that was implicit in the letter's reference to what "society requires'; in this particular context, that might not be
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
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% Office of the Secretary
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICLES Office of the Assistant Secretary for Health

Hervas Office for Human Research Protections

The Tower Building
1101 Wootton Parkway, Suite 200
Rockville, Maryland 20852
Telephone: 240-453-6900
FAX: 240-453-6909

June 4, 2013

Richard B. Marchase, Ph.D.

V.P. for Research & Economic Development
University of Alabama at Birmingham

AB 720E

701 20th Street South

Birmingham, AL 35294-0107

RE: Human Research Protections under Federalwide Assurance (FWA) 5960

Research Project: The Surfactant, Positive Pressure, and Oxygenation
Randomized Trial (SUPPORT)

Principal Investigator: Dr. Waldemar A. Carlo

HHS Protocol Number: ~ 2U10HD034216

Dear Dr. Marchase:

In the wake of extensive scientific and public discussions since our March 7, 2013, determination
letter in the SUPPORT study, OHRP has become aware of widespread misunderstanding about
the risks (hat are required to be disclosed in obtaining informed consent for certain types of
clinical trials. Our goal in this letter is to clarify several issues related to our determination.

At the outset, we wish to emphasize that OHRP does not and has never questioned whether the
design of the SUPPORT study was ethical. [t was a study that asked important questions and
produced information that promises to advance both scientific knowledge and clinical care.
Rather, consistent with OHRP’s mission to protect human subjects of research, the overarching
concern of our determination was the adequacy of informed consent, a bedrock principle of
research involving human subjects.

To make truly informed decisions about whether or not to participate in a research study,
potential volunteers or their parents or guardians are entitled to certain information, including a
description of reasonably foreseeable risks. We acknowledge that the UAB consent form
included language that reflected then-current research suggesting that lower saturation targets
reduced the risk of retinopathy of prematurity (ROP), as well as language about the potential
risks of ROP with prolonged use of supplemental oxygen. However, the “Risks” section of that
form failed to mention and appropriately describe, as it should have, that relationship. More
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significantly, neither the “Risks” section nor any other portion of the form mentioned any risks
associated with lower oxygen levels.

OHRP recognizes that the SUPPORT investigators did not design the study with the expectation
that they would find a difference in mortality rates between the high and low oxygen groups.
Whereas much earlier studies of oxygen supplementation in premature babies had shown risks of
mortality and neurological damage at very low oxygen levels, more recent studies did not
demonstrate such risks. Consequently, when the SUPPORT study was initiated, there was no
clear recent evidence indicating that different oxygenation levels within the then-current standard
of care (85%-95%) would produce differences in neurological damage or survival.

However, the medical profession looks at many factors when assessing potential risks. At the
outset of the SUPPORT study, many in the research and clinical communities remained
concerned about the possible relationship between low oxygen and increased mortality and
neurodevelopmental problems within the oxygen ranges that were to be evaluated in that study.'
Indeed, such concerns were a core reason why the study was conducted. Those concerns were
sufficient to affect clinical decisions and discouraged some doctors from treating premature
infants at lower oxygen levels.

Indeed, descriptions of the process of designing the SUPPORT study and four similar studies
conducted in other countries indicate a clear awareness of such concerns and the need to resolve
them. This is evidenced by multiple statements from the SUPPORT investigators and other
experts,” who identified the important need for a large randomized study with sufficient power to
detect differences in mortality rates of 5% or greater.

' See note 2, below.

2411 2003, an eminent international group of over 30 trialists, bio-statisticians, neonatologists, ophthalmologists and
developmental paediatricians was convened to conduct [what would become known as] the Neonatal Oxygenation
Prospective Meta-analysis (NeOProM) Collaboration.” Askie et al.,, BMC Pediatrics 2011 [1:6, at page 3. That
collaboration eventually included the SUPPORT study and four similar studies conducted within Canada (COT), the
United Kingdom (BOOST-I1 UK), Australia (BOOST-1I), and New Zealand (BOOST NZ). The initial thinking
behind this group of studies was “outlined in a [2003] commentary in Pediatrics™ in which Cole et al., Resolving
Our Uncertainty About Oxygen Therapy, Pediatrics 2003;112:1415, discussed many aspects of what such studies
should involve. They noted, for example, that a large sample would be needed to “exclude smaller, important
differences in outcomes such as mortality and disability to address real concerns about the safety of lower oxygen
tensions.” They also noted a particular challenge in recruiting neonatal units to participate: some units “regard
[oxygen levels greater than 90%)] as mandatory,” and might thercfore be unwilling to participate in a study in which
one-half of the infants would be randomized to levels below 90%. To recruit such units, they suggested using
“cohort data suggesting that lower levels of saturation can reduce retinopathy without increasing mortality or
cerebral palsy.”

Subsequent official statements regarding SUPPORT and the other four trials, issued prior to the 2010 results from
SUPPORT, demonstrate that resolving those “real concerns” about mortality risks at the low oxygen end remained a
major issue for these studies. On the official registration system for clinical trials in the U.S., clinicaltrials.gov, the
SUPPORT researchers, in 2005, provided a one-sentence description, saying that it “will determine whether or not
[the] two management strategies affect chronic lung disease and survival of premature infants.”
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Some commentators, in discussing the risks involved in the SUPPORT study, have attached
great importance to the fact that all the oxygen levels to which the infants were assigned were
within the range of the standard care.> But they draw inappropriate conclusions from that fact.
Medicine is an imperfect science. When considerable uncertainty exists about the best way (o
treat a particular medical problem, the range of what can be considered standard care often is
quite broad, to allow physicians to exercise clinical judgment on behalf of their patients.*
Indeed, a core principle of medical ethics requires physicians to make such judgments, even in
the face of uncertainty. All of us, as patients, rely on our doctors to do precisely that.

This principle has direct bearing on the SUPPORT study. When there is a range of oxygen levels
within the standard of care, clinicians (and their institutions) often do, in fact, make their own
determinations regarding which oxygen levels within that range to employ in treating their
patients. Some physicians, recognizing the particular concerns about risks near the low (85%)
and high (95%) ends of that range, might choose to avoid one or both of those regions.

The version of the consent form used at one SUPPORT site specifically acknowledged this to be
the case; at that center, for clinical purposes, oxygen saturation was “kept between 88 and
94%.”5 Assuming the researchers achieved the distribution of oxygen levels they were trying to
attain, research subjects at that site had a greater than 25% chance of being treated with an
oxygen saturation between 85 and 88%, whereas, for those treated outside the study, the
likelihood of being treated with oxygen in that range was quite small. Thus, by participating in

Canadian trial in 2008 states that a randomized trial “is urgently needed and long overdue to determine whether
oxygen exposure can be reduced safely in extremely preterm infants without increasing the risk of hypoxic death or
disability.” The United Kingdom pratocal noted that “restricting oxygen exposure to minimize [the possibility of
severe retinopathy] risks increasing early mortality.” http:/clinicaltrials.goviarchive/NCT00637169/2008 03 (4
See also Silverman WA: A cautionary tale about supplemental oxygen: the albatross of neonatal medicine.
Pediatrics 2004 (113):394-396 (“For decades, the optimum range of oxygenation (to balance four competing risks:
mortality, ROP blindness, chronic lung disease, and brain damage) was, and remains to this day, unknown™); Tin et
al, Pulse oximetry, severe retinopathy, and outcome at one year in babies of less than 28 weeks gestation. Arch Dis
Child Fetal Neonatal Ed 2001;84:F106-F110 (“Because mortality went undocumented in the first of the large trials
of oxygen administration, we do not even know if there is a price to be paid for controliing administration strictly
enough to minimise the risk of severe retinopathy.”) . A Cochrane Collaboration review in 2009 specifically looked
at the relationship between oxygen levels and mortality, concluding that the correct range to use was still not yet
known. With regard to the most recent studies (from 2001 to 2004) showing no increased mortality at lower oxygen
ranges, it noted: “these non-randomized studies lack adequate statistical power to exclude possible small, but
important, increases in death and disability that could have major implications if a policy of lower oxygen targeting
was implemented worldwide,” and that the SUPPORT and other four studies were collecting data to “help resolve
this remaining question.” Askie LM, Henderson-Smart DJ, Ko H. Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for
preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants (Review). Cochrane Database of
Systematic Reviews 2009(1).

Y Drazen JM, Solomon CG, Greene MF. Informed Consent and SUPPORT. N Engl J Med 2013;368:1929; Magnus
D, Caplan AL. Risk, Consent and SUPPORT. N Eng! J Med 20 13:368:1864; Lantos JD. OHRP and Public Citizen
are Wrong about Neonatal Research on Oxygen Therapy. Hastings Center Bioethics Forum, April 18, 2013;.

¥ Shepherd L. The SUPPORT Study and the Standard of Care. Hastings Center Bioethics Forum, May 17,2013,

S SUPPORT consent form, Tufts Medical Center, available at http:/www.citizen.org/documents/support-study-
consent-form.pdf.
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the study, the treatment of such subjects was substantially altered to make it much more likely
that they would be within the range in which there were significant concerns about increased
mortality. -

And this circumstance is likely not unique to that site. As another of the consent forms noted, the
“aim in many units is to keep oxygen saturations between 88 and 92%.”° For institutions with
those clinical care policies, participating in the study would have significantly increased the
chance of an infant being assigned to oxygen levels at both the very low (85 to 88%) and the
very high ends (92 to 95%), as opposed to the level they would have received, had they not been
in the study.?

Unless, as is extraordinarily unlikely, an institution used for clinical purposes exactly the same
randomization assignment procedure that was used in the SUPPORT trial, every child in the
SUPPORT trial experienced some change in the likelihood of being assigned to the various
oxygen levels. And as the above discussion demonstrates, for at least some of the children
participating in the SUPPORT trial, the effect of such participation was to specifically increase
their likelihood of being assigned to oxygen levels close to either end of the range of standard
care — and thus to oxygen levels at which, as a clinical matter, they would not have been assigned
by their individual physicians, had they not been in the study.

Ultimately, the issues in this case come down to a fundamental difference between the
obligations of clinicians and those of researchers. Doctors are required, even in the face of
uncertainty, to do what they view as being best for their individual patients. Researchers do not
have the same obligation: Our society relaxes that requirement because of the need to conduct
research, the results of which are important to us all. As a modest but crucial trade-off in
allowing researchers such flexibility, society requires that researchers tell subjects how
participating in the study might alter the risks to which they are exposed. For some if not many
of the subjects in the SUPPORT study, research participation increased the chance that they were
treated at one or another end of the standard of care range. Given the requirement that subjects be
apprised of “reasonably foreseeable risks,” it would seem appropriate that the parents of the
infants should have been informed of the real concerns within the medical community regarding
those oxygen levels. ® '

6 QUPPORT consent form, Duke University Health System, available at http://www.citizen.org/documents/support-
study-consent-form.pdf .

"Imagine, for example, an institution whose clinical standard allowed the full range of standard care to be used, with
the puise oximeter alarm set to go off at the levels of 85% and 95%, and with the goal of trying to keep the infant in
the middle of that range (near 90%). Even under that scenario, by participating in the trial, the likelihood of the
infant ending up in the more extreme values (85 to 87% or 93 to 95%) would, under some plausible assumptions,
have nearly doubled.

® As noted above, the UAB consent form mentioned no risks with regard to the use of lower oxygen levels, In
contrast, a 2005 version of the consent form used in the New Zealand BOOST study included this language: “Too
low oxygen in the blood for long periods may 1) increase the risk the baby will not survive or contribute to poor
growth; 2) raise blood pressure in the lungs and contribute to bronchopulmonary dysplasia; 3) damage the brain cells
and lead to developmental problems. . . .. The aim of this study is to determine, within the range of oxygen
saturation values currently used in the treatment of preterm babies (83-95%), whether targeting the lower end of
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OHRP recognizes that applying the “reasonably foreseeable risk™ concept to randomized studies
of standard of care treatments is a complex undertaking. We want to be clear, however, that it is
not necessary to disclose all theoretical risks present at the outset of every study. Moreover,
disclosure of a risk is unnecessary when study participation has no potential to increase or
modify that risk compared to what would have happened had the subject not been in the study.

The facts regarding the SUPPORT study and what was known about the use of oxygen to treat
premature infants also are complicated. Accordingly, we appreciate that there is justification for
an incomplete understanding of how those rules might apply to this study. In addition, there are
some who disagree with OHRP’s analysis of how the regulations should apply to such studies.
Indeed, some of the researchers involved in the SUPPORT study and others have argued that
there was no need for researchers to have obtained any consent from parents before placing their
children in this study.’ This discussion takes place in the midst of a much broader discussion
regarding a proposal from a distinguished group of scholars that is receiving prominent attention,
which argues for completely eliminating the need for any consent in similar studies — a change
that would involve a major reframing of the rules for protecting research subjects.ID

These are crucially important issues, not just with regard to our ability to be able to conduct
rescarch with appropriate oversight, but also with regard to fundamental questions about the
obligations owed by doctors to patients. Given their importance, we recognize OHRP’s
obligation to provide clear guidance on what the rules are with regard to disclosure of risks in
randomized studies whose treatments fall within the range of standard of care. We are committed
to doing that, and doing it promptly. Most important, given the controversy engendered by our
determination in the SUPPORT study, we will ensure that the process for producing such
guidance is as open as possible, to allow input from all interested parties. Thus, not only will we
engage in the usual notice and comment process with regard to draft guidance, we will also
conduct an open public meeting on this topic.

In addition, in further recognition of the concerns noted above, we have put on hold all
compliance actions against UAB relating to the SUPPORT case, and plan to take no further

this range (85-89%) compared to upper end of this range (91-95%), beginning within 24 hours of birth, is safe and
effective in reducing serious vision (ROP) and lung (BPD) problems without increasing mortality or
neurodevelopmental disability.” (BOOST-NZ consent form, July 2005, personal communication (rom Brian
Darlow, principal investigator of BOOST-NZ) Had such language been in the UAB consent form, there would likely
have been no OHRP finding with regard to non-disclosure of the risks relating to mortality and neurodevelopmental
problems. And the NeOProM 2011 write-up, mentioned in note 2 above, using only pre-2005 references, describes
the risks issue as follows: “There are two opposing concerns. Less inspired oxygen {under 90%] may increase patent
ductus arteriosus, pulmonary vascular resistance and apnoea, and impair survival and neuro-development. More
inspired oxygen [greater than 90%] may increase severe [retinopathy] and chronic lung disease.”

9 Rich W el al. Enrollment of Extremely Low Birth Weight Infants in a Clinical Research Study May Not Be
Representative. Pediatrics 2012;129:480; Whitney SN. The Python’s Embrace: Clinical Research Regulation by
[nstitutional Review Boards. Pediatrics 2012;129:576.

19 Faden RR et al. An Ethics Framework for a Learning Health Care System: A Departure from Traditional Research
Ethics and Clinical Ethics. Hastings Center Report Special Report 2013;43(1):816.
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action in studies involving similar designs until the process of producing appropriate guidance is
completed.

OIIRP’s top priority remains that of protecting research participants. For this reason, we look
forward to the forthcoming public discussion, and assuring that important research can proceed
both with appropriate protection of subjects and without confusion about which risks must be
disclosed.

We appreciate the continued commitment of your institutions to the protection of human
research subjects. Please do not hesitate to contact me should you have any questions.

Sincerely,

isd R. Buchanan, MAOM
Compliance Oversight Coordinator
Division of Compliance Oversight

ce:

Ms. Sheila D. Moore, Director, Office of the IRB, UAB

Dr. Ferdinand Urthaler, Chair, UAB IRBs

Dr. Juesta M. Caddell, Director, Office of Research Protection, RTI

Mr. David Borasky, Chair IRB#1, RTI

Ms. Angela Greene, Chair IRB#2, RTI

Dr. Juesta M. Caddell, Chair IRB#3, RTI

Dr. Margaret Hamburg, Commissioner, Food and Drug Administration (FDA)

Dr. Joanne Less, FDA

Dr. Sherry Mills, National Institutes of Health (NIH)

Mr. Joseph Ellis, NIH

Dr. Alan E. Guttmacher, Director, Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child

Health and Human Development (NICHD)

Dr. Yvonne Maddox, Deputy Director, NICHD

Dr. Rosemary Higgins, Program Scientist, NICHD

Dr. Robert H. Miller, Case Western Reserve University

Dr. Nancy C. Andrews, Duke University

Dr. Janice D. Wagner, Wake Forest University School of Medicine

Mr. Thomas Hughes, Women and Infants Hospital of Rhode Island

Dr. Clyde L. Briant, Brown University

Dr. Thomas N. Parks, University of Utah, School of Medicine

Dr. Jane Strasser, University of Cincinnati

Ms. Susan Blanchard, BBA, Tufts Medical Center

Ms. Angela Wishon, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center
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In Support of SUPPORT — A View from the NIH

Kathy L. Hudson, Ph.D., Alan E. Guttmacher, M.D., and Francis S. Collins, M.D., Ph.D.

ence in mortality between the two

l Each vear in the United States, nearly 500,000
infants — 1 in every 8 — are born prematurely,

before 37 weeks of gestation.

Despite substantial

advances in their care, premature infants face a

daunting array of challenges; they
are at high risk for death in in-
fancy and face severe and life-
long health problems if they sur-
vive.* The National Institutes of
Health (NIH) has a legal and
moral responsibility to do research
in partnership with scientists and
families to optimize the care of
these highly vulnerable infants.
In recent weeks, a major public
debate has arisen regarding a
study designed to do just that.
And the ramifications go well
beyond this one study: the out-
come of this debate could affect
how we conduct and communi-
cate about critical research on
interventions that are within the
standard of care for all diseases
and conditions.

The Surfactant, Positive Pres-
sure, and Oxygenation Random-

ized Trial (SUPPORT), carried out
at more than 20 sites between
2004 and 2009, sought to identi-
fy, in infants born very prema-
turely at 24 to 27 weeks' gesta-
tion, the oxygen-saturation level
within the range considered the
standard of care that would min-
imize the risk of retinopathy of
prematurity (ROP), a complication
of oxygen therapy that can result
in vision loss.2 When the study
began, targeting an oxygen-satu-
ration range of 85 to 95% was
becoming standard clinical prac-
tice, and the American Academy
of Pediatrics (AAP) later recom-
mended this range in its 2007
guidelines. The SUPPORT re-
searchers and institutional review
boards (IRBs), practicing clini-
cians, and the AAP had no scien-
tific evidence to expect a differ-

N ENGL ) MED NEJM.ORG

treatment groups in SUPPORT —
one with the oxygen saturation
target of 85 to 89%, the other
with the target of 91 to 95%.

An important finding of the
study was a reduced incidence of
ROP in the lower oxygen-satura-
tion range. However, contrary to
what was known at the time, the
study also showed a slightly but
significantly increased incidence
of death — 19.9% versus 16.2%
(P=0.04) — among infants as-
signed to the lower as compared
with the upper range. As a result,
last year the AAP amended its
guidelines, citing SUPPORT, and
physicians treating very premature
infants are starting to use higher
saturation rates to reduce the risk
of death, even with the poten-
tially higher risk of ROP at these
levels. Studies such as SUPPORT
that compare two alternatives,
both within current standard
clinical practice, often lead to
critical improvements in medi-
cal care.
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IN SUPPORT OF SUPPORT — A VIEW FROM THE NIH

A 400-Gram Female infant Delivered at 24 and 4/7 Weeks.

The federal Office for Human
Research Protections (OHRDP),
which is charged with providing
leadership in the protection of the
rights, welfare, and well-being of
persons involved in research con-
ducted or supported by the U.S.
Department of Health and Hu-
man Services (DHHS), asserted
in March 2013, on the basis of its
own examination of the evidence,
that the SUPPORT researchers
failed to provide prospective par-
ents sufficient information about
the risks posed by the study. Af-
ter a detailed review of the proto-
col, the relevant consent docu-
ments, and the research literature,
we respectfully disagree with the
conclusions of the OHRP, which
we believe resulted from a fun-
damental difference in interpre-
tations of how the regulations
should apply to the state of sci-
entific understanding when the
SUPPORT study commenced.
Moreover, there is a larger issue
here: how risks should be con-
veyed in the informed-consent pro-
cess when research is comparing
interventions that are all consid-
ered to be the standard of care.

In a letter dated March 7,
2013, the OHRP asserted that the
study’s consent form failed to
convey that “the level of oxygen
being provided to some infants,
compared to the level they would
have received had they not par-
ticipated, could increase the risk
of brain injury or death.” That
finding was influenced by re-
search conducted in the 1950s,
but in our view, it failed to assign
proper weight to studies conduct-
ed in premature infants in the
2000s, which used more sophis-
ticated oxygen-monitoring and
oxygen-measurement devices, sim-
ilar to those used in SUPPORT.*
The more recent studies showed
no increased risk of death or neu-
rodevelopmental impairment at
saturation levels as low as 70%.°

Given these data, the investi-
gators had no reason to foresee
that infants in one study group
would have a higher risk of death
than would those in the other
group. The babies included in
SUPPORT were, of course, facing
substantial risks because of pre-
maturity — the same risks as
premature babies who were not

N ENGL ) MED NEJM.ORG

enrolled in the study — but their
care was never compromised for
the sake of the study. The sample
consent form for SUPPORT stat-
ed that each of the “possible
combinations of treatments is
considered by some units to rep-
resent their desired approach”
(www.nih.govficd/od/foia/library/
Records.htm). This statement de-
scribes the clinical equipoise at
the time of the study, which was,
in fact, the justification for con-
ducting a clinical trial. Although
the OHRP took issue with the
consent form, it stated that the
study design was ethical — a
conclusion worth emphasizing.
The increased risk of death was a
significant and unexpected find-
ing of the study; if it had been
known before the study began,
standard clinical care would not
have encompassed the lower oxy-
gen range, and it would have been
unethical to conduct the study.
The NIH is committed to en-
suring that prospective research
participants — and the people
who speak for and love them —
are given clear, complete, and ac-
curate information about the risks
and benefits of participating in
research. We are strongly com-
mitted to supporting critical re-
search studies like SUPPORT,
which inform clinical care by pro-
viding rigorous evidence for use
in daily practice. This controversy
has alarmed some of the parents
of infants who were in the study,
confused the biomedical research
community, and befuddled IRBs.
Several other studies seeking new
insights to improve care for these
vulnerable infants have been put
on hold as the field tries to un-
derstand the OHRP findings.
But controversies such as this
are also an opportunity to ad-
vance shared understanding, pro-
vide clarification, and encourage
progress. The public debate sur-
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rounding the SUPPORT study has
set the stage for a substantive
national dialogue with the re-
search, advocacy, and ethics com-
munities on how best to respect
and protect participants in re-
search studies conducted within
the standard of care and how to
define “reasonably foreseeable
risks” in this setting. The timing
is critical — the clinical research
community, bioethicists, regula-
tors, IRBs, and prospective re-
search participants are paying
close attention now. The NIH is
happy to work with all stake-
holders to advance this impor-
tant dialogue and its translation
into clear guidance, in accor-
dance with the plan just an-
nounced by the DHHS (www.hhs
.govjohrp/). In addition, a new
letter to the University of Ala-
bama at Birmingham from the
OHRP, stating its intention to put
all compliance actions on hold
until the process of producing
appropriate guidance is complet-
ed, is available now on the OHRP
website (www.hhs.govjohrp/detrm
_letrs/YR13/jun13a.pdf).

Going forward, the NIH
strongly and unequivocally sup-

ports the importance of the role
of the OHRP in the oversight of
human subjects research, But the
community will benefit from an
explicit description of the pro-
cess the OHRP follows for inves-
tigating complaints. For example,
when questions are raised about
reasonably foreseeable risks and
the state of the science relevant
to a particular clinical trial, ap-
propriate independent experts
might need to be consulted. Fi-
nally, we are pleased to see the
DHHS plans to ensure that inves-
tigators and IRBs will have a fair
and transparent process for ap-
pealing OHRP findings and com-
pliance actions, in those situa-
tions in which reasonable people
disagree about the actions taken.

The circumstances surround-
ing the SUPPORT study have un-
questionably created controversy
in the research community, but
the situation has created an op-
portunity for a better understand-
ing of the scientific and ethical
issues that must be addressed
when designing such studies in
the future. We look forward to
working with the OHRP, the re-
search community, and patient

N ENGL ) MED NEJM.ORG

advocates to improve the effec-
tiveness and ethical standards of
research involving human partic-
ipants.

Disclosure forms provided by the authors
are available with the full text of this article
at NEJM.org.

From the National Institutes of Health,
Bethesda, MD.

This article was published an June 5, 2013,
at NE)M.org.
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Bartok, Lauren (NIH/OD) [C]

From: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 2:45 PM

To: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Ce: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: Final QFR

Attachments: nih comments on oash revision 7-21.docx
Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Completed

Hi Caya -

So sorry you weren't cc'd. Here is the version with NIH edits. Kathy sent this at 12:46 (see
below) and this is the version that Norris is commenting on in his email from 12:58 PM this
afternoon.

Best,
Steph

----- Original Message-----

From: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 2:31 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH);
Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: RE: Final QFR

Do we have suggested edits from NIH to the draft Wanda sent around?

————— Original Message-----

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 2:09 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH);
Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

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

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH);
Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Subject: RE: Final QFR

I will of course defer to ASFR on what direction to take L()5) |

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

To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/0ASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)
Cc: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/0OD) [E]

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

To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/O0S/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)
Cc: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: RE: Final QFR

Wanda, Howard, Jerry,

Thanks for taking another stab at the Shelby QFR response. KbXS)

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

Kathy - Please see below and attached. Please let me know of any major issues as soon as you
can. Thank you.

Norris
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----- Original Message -----

From: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/0ASH)

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
'society requires'; in this particular context, that might not be so obvious.

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

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 1:22 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH),
Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: Final QFR

Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Completed

Norris, you've cut right to the chase. We'd suggest a relatively minor clarification of the
response to #1:

"The specific scientific data that existed at the start of the study that shows an increased
risk are described in the articles cited in a letter dated June 4, 2013, from OHRP to the
University of Alabama, which can be found on OHRP’s web site at
http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/detrm_letrs/YR13/junl3a.pdf."

So, #1 would now be as follows:

e e e o o e ok ok

1. Could you please provide the specific scientific data that existed at the start of the
study that shows this increased risk?

Response:

The specific scientific data that existed at the start of the study that shows an increased
risk are described in the articles cited in a letter dated June 4, 2013, from OHRP to the
University of Alabama, which can be found on OHRP’s web site at

http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/detrm_letrs/YR13/junl3a.pdf.
o e o o ok ok ok

If this is acceptable to all, we may be done. Thanks. Wanda

[IHT1ITETETErirr Ty

————— Original Message-----

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 12:58 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0OD) [E]; Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH);
Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/0D) [E]

Subject: RE: Final QFR

(b)(3)
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(b)(3)

----- Original Message-----

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 12:46 PM

To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)
Cc: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/O0D) [E]

Subject: RE: Final QFR

I sent you a wrong version of our edits.
Can you take a look at this version please?

Sorry I had attachment problems.
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From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E]

Sent: Sunday, July 21, 2013 12:37 PM

To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)
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
Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 12:45 PM
To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)
Subject: Final QFR

I sent the wrong version of the gfr. (b))
(b)(3)

————— Original Message-----

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)
Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 12:44 PM
To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: RE: Final QFR

Kathy - we will work to get the revised into the record in lieu of the earlier draft absent
hearing soon there are any remaining open issues.

----- Original Message-----

From: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/OASH)

Sent: Monday, July 22, 2013 12:22 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS);
Bumpus, Kirby (HHS/OASH)

Subject: RE: Final QFR

All, here’'s the final version, per my discussion just now with Norris. Because OHRP has
regulatory authority of the Department, the answer to question 2 that Kathy supplied has been
modified to the 'editorial we'. Wanda

----- Original Message-----

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Sunday, July 21, 2013 12:37 PM

To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/O0S/O0ASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)
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
200 Independence Ave, SW, Room 716G

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

Attachments: Final QFR 7-22-13.docx

Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Completed

All, here's the final version, per my discussion just now with Norris. Because OHRP has
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

Thanks for taking another stab at the Shelby QFR response. [(b)(5) |
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

Main 202 69@ 7694

Fax 202 690 6960

Email wanda.iones@hhs.gov

"Mobilizing leadership in science and prevention for a healthier nation”
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SUPPORT Clinical Trial

The University of Alabama at Birmingham (UAB) recently received a letter from the Office for
Human Research Protections (OHRP) about the SUPPORT clinical trial, a research study of
premature infants and supplemental oxygen. In the letter, OHRP determined that UAB should
have informed parents of an increased risk of death of their infant by participating in the study.

1. Could you please provide the specific scientific data that existed at the start of the study
that shows this increased risk?

Response:

The SUPPORT investigators did not design the study with the expectation that they would find
a difference in mortality rates between the high and low oxygen groups. Whereas much earlier
studies of oxygen supplementation in premature babies had shown risks of mortality and
neurological damage at very low oxygen levels, more recent studies did not demonstrate such
risks. Consequently, when the SUPPORT study was initiated, there was no clear recent
evidence indicating that different oxygenation levels with the then-current standard of care
(85%-95%) would produce differences in neurological damage or survival.

The medical profession looks at many factors when assessing potential risks. At the outset of
the SUPPORT study, many in the research and clinical communities remained concerned about
the possible relationship between low oxygen and increased mortality and
neurodevelopmental problems within the oxygen ranges that were to be evaluated in that
study. Indeed, such concerns were a core reason why the study was conducted. Those
concerns were sufficient to affect clinical decisions and discouraged some doctors from
treating premature infants at lower oxygen levels.

Indeed, descriptions of the process of designing the SUPPORT study and four similar studies
conducted in other countries indicate a clear awareness of such concerns and the need to
resolve them. This is evidenced by multiple statements from the SUPPORT investigators and
other experts, who identified the important need for a large randomized study with sufficient
power to detect differences in mortality rates of 5% or greater. The information that both
clinicians and researchers relied upon in determining that there was a possible risk of increased
mortality is explained in the articles cited in a letter dated June 4, 2013, from OHRP to the
University of Alabama, which can be found on OHRP’s web site at
http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/detrm_letrs/YR13/jun13a.pdf.

2. If no such data existed, could you please explain why it would be scientifically credible
or ethical to explain unknown risks of a study?

Response:

As noted in the answer to question 1, we believe that such data did indeed exist. HHS does not
and has never questioned whether the design of the SUPPPORT study was ethical.
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3. What is the process for appealing the findings of OHRP? Is there a mechanism for
having an independent review of OHRP actions especially when they are so universally
called into question as in this case? (Please see, for example, editorials and
correspondence in the New England Journal of Medicine and The Hastings Center
Bioethics Forum).

Response:

OHRP's compliance oversight procedures state that an institution or complainant may request
that the Director of OHRP reconsider any determinations resulting from a for-cause compliance
oversight evaluation, http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/compliance/evaluation/index.html. OHRP has
no recollection of any such requests for reconsideration from an institution against which OHRP
made a determination of noncompliance. Historically, OHRP has received such requests only
from complainants concerned that OHRP did not agree with their allegations of
noncompliance. If such complainants are unsatisfied with the response of the OHRP Director,
OHRP informs them that they may communicate with the Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary
for Health and the Assistant Secretary for Health and ask them to review the matter.
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Bartok, Lauren (NIH/OD) [(—:.].—

Subject: Conferenc Call with Dr. Howard Koh re: SUPPORT Study
Location: 1/103 - We will call him at 202-690-7694

Start: Wed 7/17/2013 5:00 PM

End: Wed 7/17/2013 5:30 PM

Recurrence: (none)

Categories: Phone Call
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Porter, Kevin (NIH/OD) [E]

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Sunday, July 21, 2013 12:39 PM

To: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Collins, Francis
(NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: FW: Final QFR

Attachments: nih comments on oash revision 7-21.docx

This is proving difficult...

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Sunday, July 21, 2013 12:37 PM

To: Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/0ASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)
Cc: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: RE: Final QFR

Wanda, Howard, lerry,

Thanks for taking another stab at the Shelby QFR response. TH(B)(5)

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

----- Original Message -—--

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

Fax 202 650 6960

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
Sent: Sunday, July 21, 2013 9:47 AM
To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Final QFR

Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Completed

(b)(5)

----- Original Message -----

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
Sent: Sunday, July 21, 2013 ©9:28 AM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Subject: Re: Final QFR

(b)(3)

Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.

Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy NIH
301 496 1455

kathy.hudson@nih.gov

On Jul 19, 2013, at 4:27 PM, "Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)" <Norris.Cochran@HHS.GOV> wrote:

> Kathy - Please see below and attached. Please let me know of any major issues as soon as
you can. Thank you.
>

> Norris

>

L Original Message -----

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

VOV W WV OV VWV Y VWY
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Main 202 690 7694
Fax 202 690 6960
Email wanda.jones@hhs.gov

“"Mobilizing leadership in science and prevention for a healthier nation"
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Bartok, Lauren (NIH/OD) [C]

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)
Sent: Thursday, July 18, 2013 5:30 PM
To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: do you have memo

(b)(5)

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
Sent: Thursday, July 18, 2013 1:14 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Subject: RE: do you have memo

(b)(3)

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)
Sent: Thursday, July 18, 2013 1:12 PM
To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Re: do you have memo

Excellent, thank you! | don't, but will try to get it.

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
Sent: Thursday, July 18, 2013 01:08 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Subject: do you have memo

(b)(3)

| am on the trail.

Kathy (aka bloodhound) Hudson
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Bartok, Lauren (NIH/OD) [C]

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2013 10:58 PM

To: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Shapiro, Neil (NIH/OD) [E]; Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)
Subject: QFR on SUPPORT

Attachments: QFR with nih redline.docx

Caya,

Yesterday we received a note from a grantee institution sharing with us a copy of a QFR from the Secretary’s hearing
before Senate Approps Cmte. We had not previously seen this QFR or been asked to clear.

1))

Thanks
kathy

From: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2013 7:39 PM

To: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH)

Cc: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: QFR on SUPPORT

Good evening —

Kathy asked me to send along NIH’s mark-up of the SUPPORT QFR. This is the version Kathy sent to ASFR today.

Best regards,
Stephanie

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

Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2013 10:31 PM
To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: SUPPORT study QFR with nih redline
Follow Up Flag: Follow up

Flag Status: Completed

Yes, that works. Thank you, Kathy.

————— Original Message -----

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2013 10:28 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Subject: RE: SUPPORT study QFR with nih redline

Thank you. Just fyi,|®)®)

(b)(3)

----- Original Message-----

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2013 10:90 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: Re: SUPPORT study QFR with nih redline

Thank you, Kathy. On the Q+A we'll ask OASH to clear it and then I'll engage the Committee on
options. On NCI, it should be quick, I could try you in the morning again, if that's okay.

----- Original Message -----

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2013 09:50 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Subject: Re: SUPPORT study QFR with nih redline

[0 |

What are next steps?

[(b)(5)

Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.

Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy NIH
301 496 1455
kathy.hudson@nih.gov<mailto:kathy.hudson@nih.gov>

On Jul 17, 2013, at 7:26 PM, "Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)"
<Norris.Cochran@HHS.GOV<mailto:Norris.Cochran@HHS.GOV>> wrote:
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Kathy - did you and Dr. Koh connect and reach agreement on wording for the Q+A today?

(b)(3)

Thank you!
Norris

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2013 1:47 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; White, Pat (NIH/OD) [E]; Shapiro, Neil (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: RE: SUPPORT study QFR with nih redline

I think our desired response is the redline. The comment bubbles is our commentary...

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2013 1:27 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; White, Pat (NIH/OD) [E]; Shapiro, Neil (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Re: SUPPORT study QFR with nih redline

Thank you, Kathy. |(b)(5) |

(b)(3)

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2013 12:42 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; White, Pat (NIH/OD) [E]; Shapiro, Neil (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: SUPPORT study QFR with nih redline

Norris,

As quick background, |(b)(5)

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
before Senate Approps Cmte, We had not previously seen this QFR or been asked to clear.

(b)(3)

Thanks
kathy

From: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2013 7:39 PM

To: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/0OASH)
Cc: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: QFR on SUPPORT

Good evening -
Kathy asked me to send along NIH’s mark-up of the SUPPORT QFR. This is the version Kathy sent to ASFR today.

Best regards,
Stephanie

Stephanie Devaney, Ph.D.
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Bartok, Lauren (NIH/OD) !C]

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

Thank you. Just fyi, [B)(5) |
(b)(5)

----- Original Message-----

From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2013 10:00 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0OD) [E]

Subject: Re: SUPPORT study QFR with nih redline

nk vou, Kathvkbxs)
6)(5) |

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

1
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Kathy - did you and Dr. Koh connect |(b)(5) |

Separately, when there is time tomorrow I would like to catch up with you on|(b)(5)
|(b)(5)

Thank you!

Norris

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2013 1:47 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/0OD) [E]; White, Pat (NIH/0OD) [E]; Shapiro, Neil (NIH/OD) [E]
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

As quick background, |(0)(5)

(b)(3)

Thanks
kathy
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Butler, Brenda (NIH/OD) [E]

= =
From: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)
Sent: Wednesday, July 17, 2013 12:03 AM
To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Question about QFR - NIH concerns about response to senate

Kathy - let's talk in the morning. If we had a break down in the review process, | apologize. It will help to know the
specific prablems with the below responses for any follow up.

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
Sent: Tuesday, July 16, 2013 11:16 PM

To: Cochran, Norris (HHS/ASFR)

Subject: Question about QFR - NIH concerns about response to senate

Norris,

Given we did not connect tonight, let me pose my question by email.

(b)(3)

Can you help me out? Also, can you tell me when the qfrs were actually delivered to the senate?
Thanks Norris.

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
supplemental oxygen. In the letter, OHRP determined that UAB should have informed parents of an increased
risk of death of their infant by participating in the study.

1. Could you please provide the specific scientific data that existed at the start of the study that shows this
increased risk?

Response:

At the time the SUPPORT study began, substantial information was available on possible risks of increased
mortality at lower oxygen levels. In 2003, an international group of over 30 experts began a collaboration
around improving the understanding of neonatal oxygenation through well-designed clinical trials. One output
of this nascent collaboration was a 2003 commentary in Pediatrics (Cole et al., Resolving Our Uncertainty

!
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About Oxygen Therapy, Pediatrics 2003;112:1415), which discussed many aspects of what such studies should
involve. They noted, for example, that a large sample would be needed to “exclude smaller, important
differences in outcomes such as mortality and disability to address real concerns about the safety of lower
oxygen tensions.” This information, and other similar concerns, is more fully described in the letter dated June
4,2013, from OHRP to the University of Alabama, which can be found on OHRP’s web site at
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
mortality at lower oxygen levels.

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

OHRP's compliance oversight procedures state that an institution or complainant may request that the Director
of OHRP reconsider any determinations resulting from a for-cause compliance oversight evaluation,
http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/compliance/evaluation/index.html. OHRP has no recollection of any such requests for
reconsideration from an institution against which OHRP made a determination of noncompliance. Historically,
OHRP has received such requests only from complainants concerned that OHRP did not agree with their
allegations of noncompliance. If such complainants are unsatisfied with the response of the OHRP Director,
OHRP informs them that they may communicate with the Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary for Health and
the Assistant Secretary for Health and ask them to review the matter.

Laura Friedel

Committee on Appropriations
Subcommittee on Labor, HHS and Education
156 Dirksen Senate Office Building
Washington, DC 20510

202-224-0314
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Bartok, Lauren (NIH/OD) [C]

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
Sent: Monday, July 01, 2013 9:18 PM
To: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: more on support

http://www.bmj.com/content/346/bmj.f3786

main article here. click on tab above title to see responses to the article.

Kathy L. Hudson, Ph.D.
Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy
National Institutes of Health

301 496 1455
Kathy.hudson@nih.gov

m Nationai Institutes of Health
Tiwrrung Discovery Into Health

Celebration of Science at NIH: watch how medical research saves lives and improves health
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Author Affiliations
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US Office for Human Research Protections messes up

The randomised controlled trial has justifiably been embraced as necessary to the delivery of evidence based medicine.
Randomisation reduces confounding by unknown factors, ensures every patient has a fair and equal chance of receiving the
best (as yet unknown) treatment option, and is the gold standard approach to identifying effective treatments for future patients.
In an ideal world every treatment uncertainty would be dealt with in this way. Recent experience in the United States highlights
the unexpected barriers to doing this.

Most uncertainties in healthcare relate not to new experimental treatments but fo those already in wide use. The administration
of oxygen to premature babies is an example of this. A longstanding uncertainty about the treatment—the optimum saturation
target—was put to the test of a randomised controlled trial. Preterm babies with respiratory immaturity often need additional
oxygen, but too much oxygen is associated with a proliferative retinal vasculopathy—retinopathy of prematurity—a cardinal
cause of lifelong visual impairment and blindness. For this reason, the accepted standard of care oxygen saturation range of 85
-95% is used to avoid levels that are too low or too high.

Investigators in the United Kingdom, Australia, New Zealand, and the US set about designing a randomised controlled trial to
refine this range and determine whether targeting the lower end of the accepted range (85-89%), rather than the upper end (91
-95%), reduced the incidence of retinopathy of prematurity. The US SUPPORT trial found that babies given oxygen at the
higher end of the recommended range did have a greater incidence of retinopathy of prematurity, but, unexpectedly, babies at
the lower end had a higher risk of death.1 The data monitoring committees of the UK, Australian, and New Zealand BOOST2
trials reviewed interim data, confirmed the higher risk of death in babies randomised to the iower saturation range, and stopped
further recruitment.2

These trials recruited thousands of babies and advanced knowledge and preterm care, yet in March 2013 the lead investigators
for the SUPPORT trial received a letter from the Office for Human Research Protections informing them that they were “in
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violation of the regulatory requirements for informed consent, stemming from the failure to describe the reasonably foreseeable
risks of blindness, neurclogical damage, and death.”3 A commentary in the New England Joumal of Medicine pointed out that
the SUPPORT consent form, approved by no less than 23 US institutional review boards, explained the prevalent equipoise
and state of knowledge "fairly and reasonably.”4 The higher risk of death at the lower saturation range would never have been
recognised had it not been for the SUPPQORT trial. Finding researchers at fault for not foreseeing an unexpected outcome and
suggesting that babies were at greater risk from randomisation when they received oxygen within accepted standard of care
limits has led to confusion and mistrust among parents and the public. It has also set back attempts to reduce treatment
uncertainties.5

As with all sciences, there are no absolute truths in medicine, only a progressive reduction in uncertainty with each null
hypothesis rejected. lllogical regulation, as reflected in this response, and poor integration of research with day to day clinical
practice delay the incremental advances that are essential to improve care. To redress this, a paradigm shift is needed,
involving acceptance of randomised allocation of treatments already widely used as a standard of care, an approach that has
been used successfully in developing treatment protocols in oncology. Continuing uncertainty will ultimately result in many
more patients being disadvantaged or harmed by receiving the (unknown) worse treatment. It is also noteworthy that infants in
both higher and lower saturation target arms of the SUPPORT trial had a lower rate of death than infants who were not
enrolled. It is time to be honest and tell patients and parents that the fairest chance of receiving the (unknown) best treatment is
through randomisation because the choice of treatment is not affected by clinician bias. There is also likely to be benefit,
regardless of allocation arm, from participating in methodologically rigorous comparisons of standard treatments, because care
will be delivered along a closely monitored pathway.

In adopting this approach, peer review and explanation would remain unchanged. The involvement of patients can help ensure
that the design of comparisons is acceptable and explained clearly, and regulatory approval should be proportionate. The key
difference is that randomisation would be the recommended default and that patients would be offered the opportunity to opt
out, rather than invited to opt in. This would reduce the burden of decision making at difficult and stressful times. It would also
reduce the risk of “injurious misconception,” where participation is inappropriately rejected because of an exaggerated and
disproportionate perception of risk,6 and speed up trial completion. Data can increasingly be extracted from electronic clinical
records, reducing costs and the burden on busy clinical teams.7 This approach would fulfil the four cardinal principles of
research ethics—autonomy, justice, beneficence, and non-maleficence—and uphold the responsibility enshrined in General
Medical Committee guidance that doctors must “strive to reduce uncertainties in care."8

Notes

Cite this as: BMJ 2013:346:f3786
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Recent rapid responses
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Re: How not to reduce uncertainties in care
1 July 2013

Exposure of the decision of the Office for Human Research Protection (OHRP) to investigate and then challenge the lead
investigators of the SUPPORT trial that they failed to meet the regulatory informed consent requirements [1] brought both
vigorous and thoughtful support for SUPPORT [2][3] but also a defence [4] for the regulatory body’s untimely and damaging
challenge in March 2013,

The stage has thus been set, as the NIH foresaw [2], by providing "an opportunity to advance shared understanding, provide
clarification, and encourage progress” for a public debate for “a substantive national dialogue with the research, advocacy, and
ethics communities on how best to respect and protect participants in research studies conducted within the standard of care
and how to define ‘reasonable foreseeable risks™ in this setting.”

The benefits of involvement of patients and citizens in the research process have become increasingly recognised in the
decade since the SUPPORT study was conceived and initiated. Many initiatives since then to educate the public about
research concepts have begun to produce better-informed citizens and better-informed health professionals. [5] | concur with
Neena Modi's assertion [3] that “involvement of patients can help to ensure that the design of comparisons is acceptable and
explained clearly”.

Enough damage has been done by undue focus and insistence on retrospective precise adherence to regulatory requirements,
but failing to take into account the harm it is causing by over-zealous morale-sapping fault finding to the exclusion of all else.
That the consent process fell short of the ideal has been acknowledged by both groups of ‘experts’. Is it not time to move
forward to use this debate to bring about more satisfactory ways of achieving "informed concordance’ [6] between health
professionals and those from whom they seek consent, and for their becoming thoroughly involved in reducing the many
uncertainties in the way that healthcare is provided?

"The timing is critical”: everyone is “paying close attention now". [2] It is a time, surely, to consider the spirit of the law as well as
the letter of the law? We must ensure that the endeavours of the clinicians and trial participants in the SUPPORT Trial will not
have been in vain.
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Re: How not to reduce uncertainties in care
14 June 2013

The shortcomings and the harmful after-effects of the ill-conceived intervention by the Office for Human Research Protection
(OHRP) in challenging the running of the SUPPORT trial have been overlooked in Pharoah's defence of their action. [1] The
OHRP's assertion that the investigators were “in violation of the regulatory requirements for informed consent” was illogical
because it failed to properly understand or appreciate the current state of uncertainty and regulation that obtained at the time
the investigators set out to reduce it by conducting their study, as clearly described in Modi's editorial. [2]

Furthermore, as the U.S. National Institutes of Health™s (NIH) “Support of SUPPORT" Perspective in the NEJM describes, [3]
the OHRP failed to assign proper weight to more recent studies in its overview, those exploring effects of oxygen saturation
levels as low as 70%. Yet this inadequacy in the OHRPS’s basis for challenging the investigators was overlooked by Pharoah
when he selected this part of the evidence in his support for the OHRP's action, and in his condemnation of widely-informed
and well-reasoned support for SUPPORT from clinicians, governing organisations and journal editors. [2][3][4].

Pharoah's explanation of his concept of equipoise and “"one” (participants? investigators? both?) being required to trade-off
"one harm against another” | find difficult to comprehend. This "Hobson's choice™ element is surely the dilemma that faces
brave people confronted with addressing uncertainty about potential harms and benefits in studies?

This lack of appreciation by the OHRP of both the degree of uncertainty of ALL reliable evidence at the time the trial was
conceived and approved and the manner of seeking consent prevailing at that time, together with their potential (now realised)
for doing harm to all affected by this untimely wielding of authority - as well as the holding back of progress in reducing these
uncertainties so that better-informed care can be provided - has been suitably addressed by various experienced and
compassionate critics. [2][3][4][5][6]

The silver lining to this dark cloud is that this sorry tale of heavy-handed regulation is leading to many constructive suggestions
for improvement to the regulation and governance of research including the consent process.

[1] Pharoah, P. Rapid response posted 13 June 2013 to Modi [2] http://iwww.bmj.com/content/346/bm|.f37867tab=responses
[2] Modi N. How not to reduce uncertainties in care. US Office for Human Research Protection messes up. Br. Med. J.
2013;346:13786

[3] Hudsen KL, Guttmacher AE, Collins FS. In Support of SUPPORT - A View from the NIH. N. Engl. J. Med. 2013. DOI:
10.1056/NEJMp 1306986

[4] Drazen JM, Solomon CG, Greene MF. Informed consent and SUPPORT. N. Engl. J. Med. 2013;368(20):1929-31.

[5] Magnus DR, Caplan AL. Risk, Consent, and SUPPORT. NEJM 2013; 368.20 p1864-65. DOI: 10.1056/NEJMp1305086

[6] Carlo WA, Bell EF, Walsh MC. Oxygen-Saturation Targets in Extremely Preterm Infants. N Eng.J. Med 368:20 p1948-50
DOI: 10.1056/NEJMc1304827
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Re: How not to reduce uncertainties in care
13 June 2013

There has been substantial criticism of the findings of the investigation of the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP)
of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services into the informed-consent process used when newborns were enrolled
in SUPPORT [1-3], The OHRP stated that the lead investigators were “in violation of the regulatory requirements for informed
consent, stemming from the failure to describe the reasonably foreseeable risks of blindness, neurological damage, and death”.
Critics have suggested that the judgment was flawed, has led to confusion and mistrust among parents and the public, and has
set back attempts to reduce treatment and uncertainties.

Much of the criticism has focused on the fact that overall the risks (whatever those risks might be) to the premature baby would
not be increased by taking part in the trial as the intervention in both arms of the trial were within usual care guidelines. This is
not the key issue. The key issues are that the risks associated with being in one or other arm of the trial were likely to be
different, that prior knowledge informed us what those differential risk might be, and that those giving consent to the trial should
have been informed of those differential risks. They were not.

Before the SUPPORT trial it was known that low oxygen saturation was associated with poorer outcomes in terms of mortality
and that higher oxygen saturations were associated with an increased risk of retinopathy of prematurity (ROP). What was not
known was the shape of either of those dose response curves. And so, a trial was proposed in which the participants would be
randomised into two groups according to managed oxygen saturation. Note that under these circumstances there is no clear
concept of equipoise because one is trading off one harm against another. What constitutes equipoise will depend on the
weight an individual puts on the two competing risks - one person's net benefit would be another person's net harm.

This trial only makes sense if there was uncertainty about the risks of both ROP and mortality in relation o managed oxygen
saturation. Hudson and colleagues cited research showing that oxygen saturation levels as low as 70 per cent are not
associated with an increased risk of death or neurological development [1]. If this were true and then there would have been no
need for the trial as there could have been no conceivable harm to using the lower oxygen concentration and only a possible
benefit - a lower incidence of ROP. The corollary of this is that standard clinical practice could not be justified and the trial
would have been unethical as the criterion for equipoise would not have been met. And so we can only conclude that there was
reasonable uncertainty about the association between oxygen saturation and mortality.

It was possible that those randomised to a higher oxygen saturation would have a higher incidence of ROP. This was known at
the time the trial was started. Indeed, the parents were told about this possible differential risk as part of the informed consent.
There was also a reasonable possibility that those randomised to a lower oxygen saturation would have a higher incidence of
brain damage or mortality (as came to pass). However, parents were not told about this risk. Thus, the consent given by the
parents could not be considered informed in any reasonable sense of the word.

One has to wonder why this information was not given to the parents. One explanation is that, given this information, parents
may have opted out of the study and the very important data generated by this trial would not have been generated. This is not
an acceptable reason for withholding information. The history of medicine and biomedical research is littered with examples of
doctors and scientists withholding information from participants and justifying the withholding by the importance of the research
question being addressed.

And so, the judgment of the OHRP seems entirely reasonable. If it has set back the conduct of studies aimed at reducing
uncertainties in care then a debate and rethink about how such stuides are conducted is needed. In the SUPPORT study there
seemed no good reason not to be clear and inform the parents of all the reasonably likely risks. If that had hampered
recruitment into the trial then we would have to accept that this important clinical question cannot be answered be a
randomised trial.

1. Hudson KL, Guttmacher AE, Collins FS. In Support of SUPPORT - A View from the NIH. N. Engl. J. Med. 2013.

2. Drazen JM, Solomon CG, Greene MF. Informed consent and SUPPORT. N. Engl. J. Med. 2013;368(20):1929-31.
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From: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Cc: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Re: FR notice re SUPPORT public meeting

Date: Monday, June 10, 2013 5:14:18 PM

Sounds right.

Alan E. Guttmacher, M.D.
Director
Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development

National institutes of Health

On Jun 10, 2013, at 4:22 PM, "Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]"
<Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov> wrote:

August 28" is the date.

How should we share this info with NIH? Wait for notice and then send to tnbc, p&e,
epmg, icd, and eieio?

From: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Sent: Monday, June 10, 2013 2:14 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E]

Subject: FR notice re SUPPORT public meeting

This is the final sent to OHRP

<SUPPORT public meeting FR notice 6.5.13.doc>
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Bartok, Lauren (NIH/OD) [C]

From: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/QASH)

Sent: Monday, June 10, 2013 4:45 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: RE: FR notice re SUPPORT public meeting

Thanks, Kathy. It's great to hear that. And if the briefing helps, we can see what else we can do to help people better
understand the NPRM (and to revise it to make it clearer!).

Jerry

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
Sent: Monday, June 10, 2013 4:21 PM

To: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Subject: RE: FR notice re SUPPORT public meeting

Great. Thanks,

Just finished reading the draft nprm. It looks terrific. thanks for doing the brfing tomorrow. | hope that will help
smooth the final clearances.

From: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Monday, June 10, 2013 4:07 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: RE: FR notice re SUPPORT public meeting

Kathy,
The date selected is August 28", and yes, the notice has been put into the federal register process.

Best,
lerry

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
Sent: Monday, June 10, 2013 2:30 PM

To: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Subject: FW: FR notice re SUPPORT public meeting

Hilerry
Caya forwarded this version of the fed reg notice. Do you know if a date has been selected and if the notice has been
put into the fed reg process?

Thanks
kathy

From: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Sent: Monday, June 10, 2013 2:14 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: FR notice re SUPPORT public meeting

This is the final sent to OHRP
‘ 0262
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From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

To: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/0D) [E]
Subject: FW: FR notice re SUPPORT public meeting

Date: Monday, June 10, 2013 4:22:28 PM

Attachments: SUPPORT public meeting FR notice 6.5.13.doc

August 28" is the date.

How should we share this info with NIH? Wait for notice and then send to tnbc, p&e, epmc, icd, and

eieio?

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

Sent: Friday, May 10, 2013 1042 AM

To: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah {NIH/QDj) [E]

Subject: Fwd: SUPPORT study

Attachments: 05 08 13 SUPPORT clarification b CLEAN.final version.docx; ATTO000L. htm; 05 08 13

SUPPORT darification final version.docx; ATTQ0002 htm

Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.

Ceputy Director for Science, Qutreach, and Policy
N1H

301 496 1455

kathy.hudson@nih.gov

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Koh, Howard {HHS/QASH)" <Howard.Koh@hhs.gov>

Date: May 8, 2013, 4:56:47 PM EDT

To: "Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]" <collinsf@od.nih.gov>, "Palm, Andrea {HHS/I0S}"
<Andrea.Paim@hhs.gov>

Cc: "Corr, Bill (HHS/105)" <Bill.Corr@hhs.gov>, "Lewis, Caya (HHS/10S)" <Caya,lewis@hhs.gov>, "Schultz,
William B (HHS/OGC)" <William.Schultz@hhs.gov>, "LaPan, Jarel (HHS/10S)" <jarel.LaPan@hhs. gov>,
"Cheema, Subhan (HHS/10S)" <Subhan.Cheema@hhs.gov>, "Horowitz, David {HHS/OGC)"
<David.Horowitz@hhs.gov>, "Dotzel, Peggy (HHS/OGC)" <Peggy.Dotzel@hhs.gov>, "Hudson, Kathy
(NIH/OD) [E]" <Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov>, "Guttmacher, Alan {NIH/NICHD) [E]"
<guttmach®@mail.nih.gov>, "Higgins, Rosemary {NIH/NICHD) [E]" <higginst@mail.nih.gov>, "Wolters,
Bradley (O5/OPHS}" <Bradley. Wolters@hhs.gov>

Subject: RE: SUPPORT study

Andrea and colleagues
Thank you for your feedback and these suggestions.

We now attach two versions of an updated document that slightly adjusts language further based on: 1)
your comments and 2) Francis” email frem this morning. One version now shows all redlined changes
since the weekend;the other version is a clean copy (b)(3) |

[®)5) |

The specific responses to your suggestions are:

(b)(3)
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(b)(3)

From: Collins, Francis (NIH/OD} [E] [mailtc:collinsf@od.nih.gov]
Sent: Wednesday, May 08, 2013 5:34 AM

To: Palm, Andrea (HHS/I0S); Koh, Howard {HHS/QASH)
Cc: Corr, Bill {HHS/I0S); Lewis, Caya {HHS/IOS); Schultz, William B (HHS/OGC); LaPan, Jarel (HHS/IOS);
Cheema, Subhan (HHS/10S); Horowitz, David (HHS/OGC); Dotzel, Peggy {(HHS/OGC); Hudson, Kathy

(NIH/OD) [E]; Guttmacher, Alan {(NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary {NIH/NICHD} [E]
Subject: RE: SUPPORT study

Dear Andrea,

Thanks for jumping in so effectively on this very complicated issue. We have made a few minor

suggestions in the attached redlined document.](b)(5)

(b)(3)

This is QHRP’s letter, and we appreciate their willingness to have our input to get to this point -- but this

version of the letter shauld not be perceived as reflecting NIH’s point of view.

White not ideal, | think it is okay for a Department that houses a research agency and regulatory bodies

to have such disagreements from time to time.

We need to move on now to a more public discussion of these topics. Decisions about standards fo

r

consent for clinical trials within the standard of care affect vast swaths of NIH research. |(b)(5)

[(b)(5)

[(B)(5) | In addition, NIH will be plannin

workshop in the very near future to discuss the scientific and ethical standards for conducting such
studies. We will actively include OHRP in this workshop of course.

ga

How do you like your new job so far? Woe at the NIH are thrilled to have you as the new Chief of Staff.

Best regards, Francis
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From: Palm, Andrea {(HHS/105)

Sent: Tuesday, May 07, 2013 1:06 PM

To: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Collins, Francis {(NIH/QOD) [E]

Cc: Corr, Bill (HHS/I0S); Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Schultz, William B (HHS/OGC); LaPan, Jarel (HHS/IOS);
Cheema, Subhan (HHS/1OS); Horowitz, David (HHS/OGC); Dotzel, Pegay (HHS/OGC)

Subject: SUPPORT study

Howard and Francis,

(b)(3)

Thanks again,
Andrea
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Carr, Sarah (NIH/0D) [E]

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Tuesday, May 07, 2013 2:04 PM

To: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [El; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD} [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: FwW: SUPPORT study

Attachments: 05 07 13 SUPPORT clarificationAG.docx

See attached. (b))

From: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]

Sent: Tuesday, May 07, 2013 1:35 PM

To: Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]; Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]
Subject: RE: SUPPORT study

[(b)(5)

points are on the attached.

| After quick read, my comments on a couple of specific

Alan

From: Collins, Francis {NIH/OD) [E]
Sent: Tuesday, May 07, 2013 1:15 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) {E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]
Subject: FW: SUPPORT study

Fyl, 've only scanned...

From: Palm, Andrea (HHS/10S)

Sent: Tuesday, May 07, 2013 1:06 PM

To: Koh, Howard {HHS/OASH); Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]

Cc: Corr, Bill (HHS/IOS): Lewis, Caya (HHS/10S); Schultz, William B (HHS/OGC); LaPan, Jarel (HHS/10S); Cheema,
Subhan {HHS/10S); Horowitz, David (HHS/OGC); Dotzel, Peggy (HHS/OGC)

Subject: SUPPORT study

Howard and Francis,

(b))
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From: Rowe, Mona (NIH/NICHD) [E]

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Palm, Andrea (HHS/IOS)

Cc: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, lerry (HHS/QASH); Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Guttmacher, Alan
(NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: RE: Preemie studies - heads up

Date: Sunday, May 05, 2013 3:41:14 PM

Confirming our first FOIA request- hope this helps, Mona

FOIA 1 from Public Citizen
The request is seeking the following documents related to the Surfactant, Positive
Pressure, and Pulse Oximetry Randomized Trial (SUPPORT) study
(ClinicalTrials.gov number NCT00233324) conducted by the Eunice Kennedy Shriver
National Institute of Child Health and Human Development Neonatal Research
Network.

(1) All versions of the protocol for the SUPPORT study
(2) All versions of the sample template for the consent/parental permission form
for the SUPPORT study

Checked on Friday. This is ready to go tomorrow and we will post on the NICHD
Website with links to the NIH website.

We will alter the letter slightly as we will be sending out the complete response rather
than a partial response.

Mona

Mona Jaffe Rowe, M.C.P.

Associate Director for Science Policy,
Analysis and Communication

Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of
Child Health and Human Development

National Institutes of Health, DHHS

Building 31, Rm 2A-18

31 Center Drive

Bethesda, MD 20892-2425

Phone: 301.496.1877/Fax: 301.496.0588

Email: rowem@mail.nih.gov

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E]

Sent: Sunday, May 05, 2013 3:06 PM

To: Palm, Andrea (HHS/IOS)

Cc: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH); Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Guttmacher, Alan
(NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah
(NIH/OD) [E]; Rowe, Mona (NIH/NICHD) [E]

Subject: RE: Preemie studies - heads up

Andrea,

The attached is the cover letter that presumably will be revised to date for Monday. The foia is for
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all versions we have a support protocol. | am cc-ing Mona Rowe to be sure | have not misspoken.

Also, there are outstanding foia requests from public citizen for the protocols and consents for the
other studies being conducted in the Newborn Research Network. Those are mostly ready to go.

We have reviewed these materials |[(b)(5) |

[(b)(5) |

And, on behalf of the entire NIH, congratulations on your new position!

Kathy

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E]

Sent: Sunday, May 05, 2013 2:37 PM

To: Palm, Andrea (HHS/IOS)

Cc: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH); Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Guttmacher, Alan
(NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah
(NIH/0D) [E]

Subject: Re: Preemie studies - heads up

(b)(3)

I have list of docs for FOIA that I will send in separate email.

Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.
Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy

NIH
301 496 1455
Kathy hudson @nih.gov

On May 5, 2013, at 1:48 PM, "Palm, Andrea (HHS/IOS)" <Andrea.Palm @hhs.gov> wrote:

Thanks Kathy. Do we know what they included re consent? And just so we know, what
is going to public citzen as part of the FOIA response ? Thanks.

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Sunday, May 05, 2013 12:54 PM

To: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH); Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS);
Palm, Andrea (HHS/IOS)

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson,
Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: Preemie studies - heads up

http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx ?articleid=1684963

Wanted to make sure you were aware that Canadian study analogous to SUPPORT
was published online in JAMA this morning. [(P)(5) |
(b)(3)
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(b)(3)

Also, on semi related note, information on our newborn research network studies will
be sent to public citizen in response to FOIA tomorrow (we are at the deadline) and
we will subsequently post on our Webpages.

Too much going on!

Let me know if you have questions.

Kathy

Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.

Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy
NIH

301 496 1455

kathy.hudson @nih.gov

No virus found in this message.
Checked by AVG - www.avg.com
Version: 2013.0.2904 / Virus Database: 3162/6295 - Release Date: 05/03/13
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From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
To: Palm, Andrea (HHS/IOS)
Cc: Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Menikoff, lerry (HHS/QASH); Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Guttmacher, Alan

(NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E];
Rowe, Mona (NIH/NICHD) [E]

Subject: RE: Preemie studies - heads up
Date: Sunday, May 05, 2013 3:06:08 PM
Attachments: Partial Rel

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

We have reviewed these materials [(b)(5) |

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
was published online in JAMA this morning. |(b)(5) |

[ |

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
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Bethesda, Maryland 20892

April 30, 2013

Michael A. Carome, M.D.

Public Citizen’s Health Research Group
1600 20" Street, NW

Washington, DC 20009

FOIA Case No. 41203
Dear Dr. Carome:

This is a partial response to your two April 8, 2013 Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requests
addressed to Earl Blansfield. You requested a copy of all institutional review board-approved versions of
the consent/parental permission forms for the study site’s enrolled subjects in the Surfactant, Positive
Pressure, and Pulse Oximetry Randomized (SUPPORT) Study (ClinicalTrials.gov #NCT00233324),
conducted by the NICHD Neonatal Research Network. In addition, you requested a copy of all versions
of the protocol and all versions of the sample template for the consent/parental permission form for the
Surfactant, Positive Pressure, and Pulse Oximetry Randomized (SUPPORT) Study (ClinicalTrials.gov
#NCT00233324).

We searched the files of the NICHD Pregnancy and Perinatology Branch. So far, that search produced
259 pages responsive to your request. This partial release includes seven versions of the SUPPORT study
protocol. The most recent version of the protocol is included in this response and is also available online
at http.//www.mh.gov/icd/od/foia/index. htm#foialibrary, We are still in the process collecting and
ciearing documents related to IRB approved consent/parental permission forms and the sample template
for the consent/parental permission form.

In certain circumstances provisions of the FOIA and Department of Health and Human Services FOIA
Regulations allow us to recover part of the cost of responding to your request. Because the cost is below
the $25 minimum, there is no charge for the enclosed materials.

Sincerely,

G A

Earl H. Blansfield

Freedom of Information Coordinator
Naticonal Institute of Child Heailth and
Human Development

31 Center Drive, Rm. 2A32, MSC 2425
Bethesda, MD 20892

Enclosures: 7 Protocols — 259 pages
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From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kethy. Hudson@nih gon]
Sent: Sunday, May 05, 2013 02:36 PM

To: Palm, Andrea (HHS/05)

Cc: Koh, Howard (HHS/O85H) Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/DASH); Lews, Caya (HHS/0S); Guttmacher, Alan {NINICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stepharie (NIHAOD) [E); Fatterson, Amy (KIH/OD) [E); Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD} [E]
Subject: Re: Presmie studies - heads up

L(b)(5) |

1 have list of dacs for FOLA that T will send in separate email.

Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.
Deputy Director for Sclence, Outreach, and Policy
NIH

301 496 1455
kathy.hudsan@nih.gov

On May 5, 2013, at 1:48 PM, "Palm, Andrea (HHS/10S)" <Andrea.Palm@hhs.govs wrote:

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIKAOD) [E) [maite: kathy Hudson@rib goy]
Sent: Sunday, May 05, 2013 12:54 PM

To: Koh, Howard (HHS/0ASH); Menikoff, ey [HHS/DRSHE Lewis, Caya (HHS/0%K Palm, Andrea (HHS/0S)
Cc: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E); Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [EL: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIHAOD) [E]
Subject: Preemie studies - heads up

Rty k farticle sy Tarticheid=] 68406

‘Wanted to make sure you were aware that Canadian study analogous to SUPPORT was published anline in JAMA ths morning. Ifh‘lfl:‘l

(b)(3)

Also, on semi related note, mfarmation on our newbarn research netwark studies will be sent to public citizen in response to FOLA tamarrow (we are at the deadiing) and we will subsequently post an our Webpages.

Taa much going on!
Let me know if you have questions.

Kathy

Kathy Hudsan, Ph.D.
Deputy Directar for Science, Outreach, and Policy

NIH
301 496 1455
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From: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]

To: Menikoff, lerry (HHS/OASH); Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K.
(DHHS/0S/0ASH); Bumpus, Kirby (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr,
Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: RE: Support study -

Date: Saturday, May 04, 2013 3:49:30 PM

And it really is wonderful using this as a teachable moment, as the expanded letter does.

Best, Alan

From: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Saturday, May 04, 2013 3:36 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/0OASH);
Bumpus, Kirby (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie
(NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Re: Support study -

Thanks again, Kathy, to you and Alan and your colleagues for the collegial manner in which we
reached this point. And we will welcome the similar discussions that you mentioned that will be
needed as we move forward.

Best,
lerry

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Saturday, May 04, 2013 03:27 PM

To: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH);
Bumpus, Kirby (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie
(NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Collins, Francis (NIH/0OD) [E]
Subject: RE: Support study -

Thanks for taking time to chat on a spring Saturday afternoon. Here are the edits we discussed.
Have a great week end everyone.

Kathy

From: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Friday, May 03, 2013 4:54 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH);
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

For your weekend enjoyment, here is the revised version of the SUPPORT letter.

Best,
Jerry
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From: Menikoff, lerry (HHS/OASH)

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/QD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/QS/0ASH); Bumpus, Kirby
(HHS/0ASH)

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E];
Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: Re: Support study -

Date: Saturday, May 04, 2013 3:36:07 PM

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

To: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/0ASH);
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
(NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Collins, Francis (NIH/0D) [E]
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

To: Menikoff, lerry (HHS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); lones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/0ASH); Bumpus, Kirby
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

Date: Saturday, May 04, 2013 3:27:53 PM

Attachments: SUPPORT revisited 5-3-2013¢ nih.docx

Thanks for taking time to chat on a spring Saturday afternoon. Here are the edits we discussed.
Have a great week end everyone.

Kathy

From: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Friday, May 03, 2013 4:54 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/0ASH);
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

To: Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; + Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH);
(DHHS/0S/0ASH); Bumpus, Kirby (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr,
Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: Re: Support study -

Date: Saturday, May 04, 2013 6:49:55 AM

And if you are referring to the status of a final version of this letter, after it has been sent to UAB: |
would expect that, consistent with usual policies, this would get posted on an OHRP web site, a
couple weeks after the letter was sent out.

lerry

From: Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E] [mailto:higginsr@mail.nih.gov]

Sent: Friday, May 03, 2013 06:17 PM

To: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH); Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones,
Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/OASH); Bumpus, Kirby (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD)
[E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/0OD) [E]; Collins, Francis (NIH/0OD) [E]

Subject: Re: Support study -

Is this in the public domain?

Rosemary D. Higgins
Program Scientist for the NICHD Neonatal Research Network

From: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Friday, May 03, 2013 04:53 PM

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

Date: Friday, May 03, 2013 6:48:44 PM

This a draft of a letter that OHRP might consider releasing. It is merely a revised version of the letter
that we have been discussing. It certainly has not been made public, and should not be shared
outside of this group.

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
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Carr, Sarah {(NIH/OD) [E]

From: Menikoff, lerry (RHS/OASH)

Sent: Friday, May 03, 2013 4:54 PM

To: Hudsen, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/QASH); Jones, Wanda K.
{DHHS/OS/OASH);, Bumpus, Kirby (HHS/OASH)

Cc Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney,

Stephanie (NIH/QD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/QD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Collins,
Francis (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: RE: Support study -
Attachments: SUPPQORT revisited 5-3-2013¢.docx
Kathy,

For your weekend enjoyment, here is the revised version of the SUPPORT latter,

Best,
Jerry
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From: Menikoff, lerry (HHS/OASH)

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Bumpus, Kirby
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

Date: Wednesday, May 01, 2013 10:41:45 PM

Kathy,

This is great to hear! | will look forward to closing up that last micron on our end.

Thanks,
lerry

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Wednesday, May 01, 2013 10:17 PM

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
Subject: Support study -

Thanks so much Jerry. This marks a real turning point. | have left your edits intact and added our
single suggested edit.

[®)5) |

Best,
Kathy

From: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)
Sent: Wednesday, May 01, 2013 6:46 PM
To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/0OASH);

Bumpus, Kirby (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie
(NIH/QD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/0OD) [E]; Collins, Francis (NIH/0D) [E]
Subject: RE: NIH support summary - nih response

Kathy,
Attached are our edits to your version. To stick with your suggestion regarding making things
simpler, we first accepted all of your changes, and so the markings only show our changes to what

you were most recently proposing.

Best,
lerry

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]
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Sent: Wednesday, May 01, 2013 12:11 AM

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
Subject: NIH support summary - nih response

Hilerry,

Thanks so much for vour response 1(bY5) ]

(b)(5)

BI6) |
lB)(5) | However, at the end of the day (and my clock reads 11:59 pm so it truly

is the end of the day), | think {(b)(5) |

(b)(5)

We remain committed to figuring out a path to a good resolution.

Thanks Howard and team for a productive series of discussions today. We really appreciated being
able to work through the issues with you.

Best,
Kathy

From: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Tuesday, April 30, 2013 6:08 PM

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

Subject: RE: NIH support summary

Kathy,
Attached, as we discussed, is a mark-up of your document.

Best,
lerry
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(b)(3)

We regret any confusion regarding this matter.
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

Date: Wednesday, May 01, 2013 10:17:44 PM

Attachments: Follow-up SUPPORT letter 5-1-2013 1009pm.docx

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

Hi lerry,

Thanks so much for your responsel(b)(5) |

(b)(3)

TR However, at the end of the day (and my clock reads 11:59 pm so it truly
is the end of the day), | think |(b)(5) |
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

From: Menikaff, Jerry (HHS/OASH]}

Sent: Wednesday, May 01, 2013 6:46 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy {NIH/QOD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASHY), Jones, Wanda K.
(DHHS/OS/QASH); Bumpus, Kirby (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan {NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney,

Stephanie (NIH/QD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD} [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD] [E]; Collins,
Francis {NIH/ODj} [E]

Subject: RE: NIH support summary - nih response
Attachments: Follow-up SUPPORT letter 5-1-2013.docx
Kathy,

Attached are our edits to your version, To stick with your suggestion regarding making things simpler, we first accepted
all of your changes, and so the markings only show our changes to what you were most recently proposing.

Best,
Jerry

From: Hudson, Kathy {(NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Wednesday, May 01, 2013 12:11 AM

To: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/0ASH); Bumpus, Kirby
(HHS/OASH)

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary {NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/CD) [E];
Patterson, Amy {NItH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: NIH support summary - nih response

Hi Jerry,

Thanks so much for your response (RL3) [ . |

[(B)5) |
(b)(3) However, at the end of the day {and my
clock reads 11:59 pm so it truly is the end of the day), ! think(R)(5) ]

(b)(3)

We remain committed to figuring out a path to a good resciution.

Thanks Howard and team for a productive series of discussions today. We really appreciated being able to work through
the issues with you.

Best,
Kathy

From: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Tuesday, April 30, 2013 6:08 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIR/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard {HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Bumpus, Kirby
(HHS/OASH)
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Cc: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary {NIH/NICHD} [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/QOD) [E]

Subject: RE: NIH support summary
Kathy,
Attached, as we discussed, is a mark-up of your document.

Best,
jerry
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(b)(3)

We regret any confusion regarding this matter.
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Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

From: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/QASH])

Sent: Wednesday, May 01, 2013 6:.20 AM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/QD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH), Jones, Wanda K.
(DHHS/OS/OQASH); Bumpus, Kirby (HHS/OASH)

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan {NIH/NICHD) (E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) {E]; Devaney,

Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Collins,
Francis (NIH/OD) [E]
Subiject: Re: NIH support summary - nih response

Kathy,

Thank you for all of your work on this. On our end, we share your commitment to produce a mutuatly acceptable
resolution to this, and will be getting back to you with that in mind.

lerry

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Wednesday, May 01, 2013 12:10 AM

To: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Bumpus, Kirby
{HHS/0ASH)

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan {(NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) {E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E];
Patterson, Amy (NIH/QD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: NIH support summary - nih response

HiJerry,

Thanks so much for your response to[(0)(5) |

[(b)(5) |
[(b)(5) _ However, at the end of the day {and my
clock reads 11:59 pm so it truly is the end of the day}, [ think {(b)(5) |
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

Fraom: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Tuesday, April 30, 2013 6:08 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/OS/OASH); Bumpus, Kirby
(HHS/OASH)

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD} [E]
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

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/QD) [E]

Sent: Wednesday, May 01, 2013 12:11 AM

To: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/QASH); Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K.
{DHHS/OS/0ASH); Bumpus, Kirby (HHS/OASH}

Cc Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney.

Stephanie (NIH/OD) {E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/QD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Collins,
Francis (NIH/QD) [E]

Subject: NIH support summary - nih response
Attachments: Follow-up SUPPORT letter 2NICHD edits klh.docx
Hi Jerry,

Thanks so much for your response to §UE) : ]
D)5 ' —= |
TR ] However, at the end of the day (and my

clock reads 11:59 pm so it truly is the end of the day), | think|(b)(5)

(b)(3)

We remain committed to figuring out a path to a good resolution.

Thanks Howard and team for a productive series of discussions today. We really appreciated being abte to work through
the issues with you.

Best,
Kathy

From: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/OASH)

Sent: Tuesday, April 3¢, 2013 6:08 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Koh, Howard (HHS/OASH); Jones, Wanda K. (DHHS/0S/CASH); Bumpus, Kirby
(HHS/OASH)

Cc: Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]
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

Cc: Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Fennington, Kelly (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: Fw: Fwd: NIH two pager SUPPORT 042413 11PM

Date: Thursday, April 25, 2013 9:14:17 AM

Attachments: NIH two pager SUPPORT 042413 11PM fsc.docx

ATT00001.htm

188

Hi Amy, see some edits from FC on the 3 pager. Do you have time to consult on it this morning? |
need to get it back around to folks this morning. This was a wonderful write up.

Thank you!
Steph

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E]

Sent: Thursday, April 25, 2013 08:20 AM

To: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/0D) [E]

Subject: Fwd: NIH two pager SUPPORT 042413 11PM

Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.

Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy
NIH

301 496 1455

kathy.h n@nih.gov

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Collins, Francis (NIH/0OD) [E]" <collinsf@od.nih.gov>
Date: April 25, 2013, 5:48:05 AM EDT

To: "Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E]" <Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov>
Subject: RE: NIH two pager SUPPORT 042413 11PM

Saw a few things here that might need refinement....

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Wednesday, April 24, 2013 11:41 PM

To: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Palm, Andrea (HHS/IOS)

Cc: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie
(NIH/OD) [E]; McGarey, Barbara (NIH/OD) [E]; Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E];
Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Burklow, John (NIH/OD) [E]; White, Pat (NIH/OD)
[E]; Howard, Sally (HHS/I0S); Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]; Horowitz, David (HHS/0GC)
Subject: NIH two pager SUPPORT 042413 11PM

Caya,
You asked for a two pager on the support study by 1 pm tomorrow. Please accept our
slightly longer (3.15 pages) that has not undergone extensive review here but please

know that the nih team is all standing firmly together about our views on this.
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(b)(3)

kathy
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From: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Cc: Palm, Andrea (HHS/IOS); Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie
(NIH/OD) [E]; McGarey, Barbara (NIH/OD) [E]; Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary
(NIH/NICHD) [E]; Burklow, John (NIH/OD) [E]; White, Pat (NIH/OD) [E]

Subject: RE: NIH two pager SUPPORT 042413 11PM

Date: Thursday, April 25, 2013 12:48:30 PM

Attachments: --Editori
Cochrane Review of use of oxygen 2009.pdf
NE|M--Support study results.pdf

Importance: High

Kathy,

(b))
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(b)(3)

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E] [mailto:Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Thursday, April 25, 2013 12:19 AM

To: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Cc: Palm, Andrea (HHS/IOS); Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/0D) [E]; Devaney,
Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; McGarey, Barbara (NIH/OD) [E]; Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins,
Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Burklow, John (NIH/OD) [E]; White, Pat (NIH/OD) [E]; Howard, Sally
(HHS/I0S); Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]; Horowitz, David (HHS/OGC)

Subject: Re: NIH two pager SUPPORT 042413 11PM

It would be great if you could send us the specific studies ohrp is citing. Our folks are familiar with
every study in this area. They live and breath this work and will be able to tell you how the ohrp
cited studies fit into the overall portrait of studies on preemies.
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Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.

Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy
NIH

301496 1455

kathy.hudson@nih.gov

On Apr 25, 2013, at 12:04 AM, "Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)" <Caya.lLewis@hhs.gov> wrote:

Thanks so much for the quick turn around.
(b)(5)

Thanks again,

Caya

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0OD) [E] [Kathy.Hudson@nih.gov]

Sent: Wednesday, April 24, 2013 11:40 PM

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
[E]; Howard, Sally (HHS/IOS); Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]; Horowitz, David (HHS/OGC)
Subject: NIH two pager SUPPORT 042413 11PM

Caya,
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Outcome 4 Vascular RLF (severe stages) in survivors. .
Analysis 1.5. Comparison 1 Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all pretermr’ LBW mfants) in ear]y neonatal pe
Outcome 5 Cicarricial RLF (severe grades) in survivors. .
Analysis 1.6. Comparison 1 Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterml LBW 1nfants) in ear]v neonatal pe
Outcome 6 Death or vascular (RLF (any stage). .
Analysis 1.7. Comparison 1 Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterml LBW 1nfants) in ear]v neonatal pe
Outcome 7 Death or cicatricial RLF (any grade). . .
Analysis 1.8. Comparison 1 Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterml LBW 1nfants) in ear]v neonatal pe
Outcome 8 Cicatricial RLF (severe grades) in survivors (excluding Patz 1954).
Analysis 1.9. Comparison 1 Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early neonatal pe
Outcome 9 Vascular RLF (any stage) in survivors (excluding Patz 1954).
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Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (BW<1000g) in early neonatal penod Outcome 1

Cicatricial RLF (severe grades) in survivors.

Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Lower versus higher blood oxygen le\ els (all pn:terrn.wJ LBW lnfants) in earlv neonatal penod

Outcome 1 Death (any).

Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 Lower versus h|gher b]ood oxygen levels (BW<1250g) in early neonata] permd Outtome 1

Death (any).

Analysis 5.1. Comparison 5 Lower versus h|gher hlmd oxygen Ieveln (a]l preterma’LBW mFants} in ]ater neonatal period,

Outcome 1 Death.

Analysis 5.2. Comparison 5 Lower versus h|gher hlmd oxygen Ieveln (a]l preterma’LBW mFants} in ]ater neonatal period,

Qutcome 2 ROP (any stage) in survivors.

Analysns 5.3. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen leve]s (a]l preterm;Ir LBW mfants) in ]ater netmatal per10d

Outcome 3 ROP >5Stage 2 in survivors.

Analysns 5.4. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen leve]s (a]l preterm;Ir LBW mfants) in ]ater netmatal per10d

Outcome 4 ROP Stage 4 or 5 or blindness in survivors.

Analysns 5.5. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (a]l preterm;Ir LBW mfants) in ]ater netmatal per10d

Outcome 5 Death or ROP >Stage 2.

Analysis 5.6. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen leve]s (a]l preterm;Ir LBW mfants) in ]ater netmatal period,

Outcome 6 Death or ROP Stage 4 or 5 or blindness.

Analysis 5.7. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (a]l preterm;Ir LBW mfants) in ]ater netmatal period,

Outcome 7 Dependence on supplemental oxygen at 36 weeks of postmenstrual age.
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Analysis 5.8. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later neonatal period,

Qutcome 8 Postnatal corticosteroids.

Analysis 5.9. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen leve]s (a]l prcterm;Ir LBW mfams} in ]ater neonaral period,

Outcome 9 Diuretics for chronic lung disease.

Analysis 5.10. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen ]evel (all preterm/LBW infants) in later neonatal period,

Outcome 10 Major developmental abnormality at 12 months corrected age.

Analysis 6.1. Comparison 6 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (<28 weeks GA) in later neonatal penod Ourcome 1

ROP Stage 3 or 4.

Analysis 6.2. Comparison 6 Lower versus hlgher blood oxygen le\ els (¢28 weeks (JA) in later neonaral penod Outcome 2

Blindness.
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ABSTRACT
Background

While the use of supplemental oxygen has a long history in neonatal care, resulting in both significant health care benefits and harms,
uncertainty remains as to the most appropriate range to target blood oxygen levels in preterm and low birth weight infants. Potential
benefits of higher oxygen targeting may include more stable sleep patterns and improved long-term growth and development. However,
there may be significant deleterious pulmonary effects and health service use implications resulting from such a policy.

Objectives

To determine whether targeting ambient oxygen concentration to achieve a lower vs. higher blood oxygen range, or administering
restricted vs. liberal supplemental oxygen, effects mortality, retinopathy of prematurity, lung function, growth or development in
preterm or low birth weight infants.

Search strategy

The standard search strategy of the Neonatal Review Group was used. An additional literature search was conducted of the MEDLINE
and CINAHL databases in order to locate any trials in addition to those provided by the Cochrane Controlled Trials Register (CEN-
TRAL/CCTR). Search updated to week two July 2008.

Selection criteria

All trials in preterm or low birth weight infants utilising random or quasi-random patient allocation in which ambient oxygen
concentrations were targeted to achieve a lower vs. higher blood oxygen range, or restricted vs. liberal oxygen was administered were
eligible for inclusion.

Data collection and analysis

The methodological quality of the eligible trials was assessed independently by each review author for the degree of selection, perfor-
mance, attrition and detection bias. Data were extracted and reviewed independently by the each author. Data analysis was conducted
according to the standards of the Cochrane Neonatal Review Group.
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Main results

In the meta-analysis of the five trials included in this review, the restriction of oxygen significantly reduced the incidence and severity
of retinopathy of prematurity without unduly increasing death rates The one prospective, multicenter, double-blind, randomized trial
investigating lower vs. higher blood oxygen levels from 32 weeks postmenstrual age showed no significant differences in the rates of
ROP, mortality or growth and development between the two groups. However, this study did show increased rates of chronic lung
disease and home oxygen use.

Authors’ conclusions

The results of this systematic review confirm that (the now historical) policy of unrestricted, unmonitored oxygen therapy has potential
harms without clear benefits. However, the question of what is the optimal target range for maintaining blood oxygen levels in preterm/
LBW infants was not answered by the data available for inclusion in this review.

PLAIN LANGUAGE SUMMARY
Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Restricting oxygen supplementation significantly reduces the rate and severity of vision problems (retinopathy) in premature and low
birth weight babies. Babies born either prematurely (before 37 weeks) or with a low birth weight often have breathing problems and
need extra oxygen. Oxygen supplementation has provided many benefits for these babies but can cause damage to the eyes (retinopathy)
and lungs. The review of trials found that unrestricted oxygen supplementation has these potential adverse effects without any clear
benefits. Restricted oxygen significantly reduces these risks. More research is needed to find the best level of oxygen supplementation.

BACKGROUND

o ) ) other clinical outcomes and concluded there was no benefit in
The administration of supplemental oxygen has a long history in targeting a higher range, and there may in fact be deleterious res-
piratory effects (Coates 1982). A cohort study by Tin et al (Tin
2001) also suggested an increase in adverse respiratory outcomes
and a significant increase in the incidence of ROP occurred when

neonatal care (Wilson 1942). The use of oxygen in preterm and low
birth weight infants suffering respiratory insufficiency has resulted
in significant health care benefits, such as reduced mortality and
spastic diplegia (Avery 1960; McDonald 1963), but has also been

) 5 5 VR ’ ‘ higher oxygen ranges were targeted in preterm infants. However,
associated with significant deleterious effects such as retinopathy

Phelps and Rosenbaum (Phelps 1984) demonstrated significantly
. iy e
of prematurity and lung toxicity (Duc 1992). more severe retinopathy in kittens recovering from hyperoxic-in-

Improvements in technology in the past few decades have led o~ duced disease when allowed to recover in lower levels of ambient

both the increased survival of preterm and low birth weight in-  0Xygen, suggesting that targeting higher blood oxygen levels may

fants and an ability to measure their oxygen levels more accurately.
Despite the exceedingly common use of supplemental oxygen in
this population of infants, there is little consensus as to the opti-
mal mode of administration and appropriate levels of oxygen for
maximising short or long-term growth and development, while
minimising harmful effects (Poets 1998; Mclntosh 2001).

Uncertainty remains as to the most appropriate range to target
blood oxygen levels in preterm and low birth weight infants. Usher
(Usher 1973) examined the effect of targeting a lower vs. higher
range of PaO; on death, the need for mechanical ventilation and

be beneficial to visual outcomes. The STOP-ROP trial (STOP-
ROP 2000) found that higher oxygen targeting did not signifi-
cantly decrease the incidence of pre-threshold ROP progression,
but did cause an exacerbation of adverse pulmonary events. The
results of this trial are included in a separate Cochrane review en-
titled: “Supplemental oxygen for the treatment of pre-threshold
retinopathy of prematurity” (Lloyd 2003). The effects of either
policy of oxygen administration on long-term growth and devel-
opment in preterm or low birth weight infants remains uncertain.

Two related Cochrane reviews have summarised the findings on

Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants (Review) 2
Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

0333



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance. 202

gradual vs. abrupt (Askie 2001a) and early vs. late discontinuation
of oxygen therapy (Askie 2001b) in preterm or low birth weight
infants.

OBJECTIVES

To determine whether targeting ambient oxygen concentration
to achieve a lower vs. higher blood oxygen range, or adminis-
tering restricted vs. liberal supplemental oxygen effects mortality,
retinopathy of prematurity, lung function, growth or development
in preterm or low birth weight infants.

A priori sub-group analyses:

o Method of oxygen monitoring. Infants born at different
gestational age and birth weight subgroups: as there are differing
baseline risks of the outcome measures in these subgroups. Time
of discontinuation: early vs. late discontinuation as this is
hypothesized to influence outcome measures (Gunn 1980).
Method of discontinuation: gradual vs. abrupt discontinuation
as this is hypothesized to influence outcome measures (Chan-

Ling 1995)

METHODS

Criteria for considering studies for this review

Types of studies

Trials utilising random or quasi-random patient allocation were
eligible for inclusion.

Types of participants

Preterm (< 37 weeks gestation) or low birth weight (< 2500 g)
infants receiving supplemental oxygen.

Types of interventions

Restricted vs. liberal administration of supplemental oxygen; or
targeting a lower vs. higher range of blood oxygen levels.

Types of outcome measures

. Rerinopathy of prematurity (ROP) - any, severe (stage 3 or
greater)

o Mortality - any, early neonatal period (< 1 week postnatal
age), later neonatal period (> 3 weeks postnatal age)

e ROP (severe) or death (any)

e Apnea of prematurity

o Chronic lung disease/bronchopulmonary dysplasia
e Growth - neonatal period and long-term

o Neurodevelopment - long-term

e Visual function - long-term

Outcome data with attrition rates greater than 20% were not in-
cluded in analyses.

Search methods for identification of studies

The standard search strategy of the Cochrane Neonatal Review
Group was used. This includes searches of the Cochrane Con-
trolled Trials Register (CENTRAL/CCTR, The Cochrane Li-
brary, Issue 2, 2008), the Oxford Database of Perinatal trials,
MEDLINE, previous reviews including cross references, abstracts,
conferences and symposia proceedings, expert informants, journal
hand searching mainly in the English language.

An additional literature search, using OVID software, was con-
ducted of the MEDLINE (1996 - June, Week 2, 2008), Maternity
and Infant Care (1971 - June 2008), and CINAHL (1982 - June
2008) databases in order to locate any trials in addition to those
provided by the Cochrane Controlled Trials Register (CENTRAL/
CCTR, The Cochrane Library, Issue 2, 2008). The search strategy
involved various combinations of the following keywords, using
the search fields of abstract, MeSH subject heading, exploded sub-
ject heading, floating subject heading, publication type, registry
number word, subject heading word, text word, and title: oxygen,
preterm, premature, neonate, newborn, infant, oxygen saturation,
hypoxia, retinopathy of prematurity, retrolental fibroplasia, low
birth weight, very low birth weight, extremely low birth weight,
randomized controlled trial, controlled clinical trial, clinical trial,
random allocation, placebo.

Data collection and analysis

The standard methods of the Cochrane Collaboration and its
Neonatal Review Group were used to select trials, assess quality and
extract and synthesise data. For each trial, each author indepen-
dently assessed the methodological quality and extracted the data
from the report. Results were compared and differences resolved as
required. Level of agreement between the two authors was greater
than 90% in all cases. Eligible trials were assessed for the degree
of selection, performance, attrition and detection bias. Additional
information was requested from authors to clarify methodology
or results as necessary.

Meta-analyses were carried out with use of relative risk (RR) and
risk difference (RD). When appropriate, number needed to treat
(1/RD) was calculated. The fixed effects “assumption free” model
was used. Evaluation of heterogeneity, subgroup and sensitivity
analyses were undertaken as appropriate.

Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants (Review) 3
Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

0334



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance. 203

RESULTS

Description of studies

See: Characteristics of included studies; Characteristics of excluded
studies; Characteristics of ongoing studies.

The systematic review located six trials that addressed the ques-
tion of targeting oxygen administration in preterm/LBW infants.
Fourteen other studies were excluded from the analysis as they
either did not address this particular question or did not involve
random allocation of one of the interventions under review.
Participants:

The enrolment period for five included studies was between 1951
- 1969 (referred to as “pre-1990” trials or studies hereon in) and
one (Askie 2003) included study was conducted between 1996 -
2000 (referred to as “post-1990” trials or studies hereon in). The
five pre-1990 studies were done during an early era of neonatal
care, with therapies and practices quite different from modern
“intensive” care. These studies included only small numbers of
survivors with birth weights under 1000 g, the infants who carry
the greatest mortality and morbidity burden today. There was a
wide range of birth weights among trial participants, from less
than 1000 to 2500 g. The largest pre-1990 era trial (Kinsey 1956)
only enrolled infants who survived beyond 48 hours, while the
other four trials randomized infants on admission to the neonatal
nursery anywhere from two hrs (Usher 1973) to > 48 hours (
Kinsey 1956). Infants from these five trials have been categorised
as belonging to the early neonatal period (< 1 week postnatal age),
which was defined as treatments starting at < 1 week of age. The
only post-1990 trial (Askie 2003) enrolled infants < 30 weeks
gestation who remained dependent on supplemental oxygen at 32
weeks postmenstrual age; therefore, infants in this trial were at
least three weeks postnatal age at randomization. Infants in this
trial have been defined in this review as belonging to the later
neonatal period (= 3 weeks postnatal age). The five pre-1990 trials
used birth weight as inclusion criteria, with the most recent trial
using gestational and postmenstrual age as inclusion criteria. Three
trials also selected infants for inclusion based on a diagnosis of
respiratory distress syndrome (Usher 1973) or hypoxia/acidemia (
Sinclair 1968) or continued dependence on supplemental oxygen
more than three weeks after birth (Askie 2003).

Intervention:

Three trials (Askie 2003; Usher 1973; Sinclair 1968) administered
oxygen based on actual arterial, saturation or capillary blood oxy-
gen levels. The other three trials were conducted in an era be-
fore accurate blood oxygen monitoring in infants was possible.
As such, these trials could only test the effects of cruder mea-
sures of oxygenation, such as ambient oxygen concentration, and
even these in only general terms, labelled “liberal” and “restricted”
oxygen administration in this review. For the included studies,
due to the variation in measurement methods, restricted oxygen
ranged from values of Fn SpO; 91-94% (Askie 2003), either 0.4

or 0.5 maximum FiQ; (Kinsey 1956; Lanman 1954; Patz 1954),
or Pa0;<45mmHg (PcapO2<35mmHg) (Usher 1973) or maxi-
mum O; of 35% (in a headbox, PaO; 50-120mmHg) (Sinclair
1968). Liberal O; ranged from values of Fn SpO; 95-98% (Askie
2003), O3 levels at 50% (Kinsey 1956), 60-70% (Patz 1954), or
100% (in a headbox; PaO; 50-120mmHg) (Sinclair 1968), FiO,
69% (Lanman 1954), or minimum O3 40% (PaO; 80-120mmHg
or PcapO; 50-60mmHg) (Usher 1973).

Five of the included trials started the intervention in the early
neonatal period (< 1 week postnatal age), but continued it for a
wide range of time; from one day to seven weeks. Of these, four
studies randomized infants from birth (defined as < 48 hours after
birth) (Lanman 1954; Patz 1954; Sinclair 1968; Usher 1973),
while one study did not randomize infants until > 48 hours after
birth (Kinsey 1956). One trial started the intervention in the later
neonatal period (from 32 weeks postmenstrual age) (Askie 2003),
and continued for a median of 17.5 days (IQR 7.0 to 41.0 days)
for lower oxygen targeting and a median of 40.0 days (IQR 20.5
to 73.0 days) for the higher oxygen targeting group. When oxygen
weaning was indicated, it was done so gradually in two trials,
abruptly in one trial, and the method not specified in the remaining
three trials.

Outcomes:

Outcome measures were assessed at time periods ranging from two
days to 12 months. Only Askie 2003 reported the longer term
(12 months corrected age) effects of the interventions on growth,
neurodevelopment, lung function, or chronic lung disease. Coates
1982 reported some long-term outcomes on infants from Usher’s
1973 study (Usher 1973). Unfortunately, he was only able to ob-
tain outcome data for 23% of survivors, and in keeping with our #
priovispecification of only including outcome measures with 80%
or greater ascertainment, these data are not included in the review.
Only one study (Askie 2003) reporting eye outcome data used the
International Classification of Retinopathy of Prematurity grading
system (ROP Committee 1984). This was assessed by routine
ophthalmic examinations at two-week intervals from enrolment
until the resolution of retinopathy.

The only other study to report eye outcome data used the retro-
lental fibroplasia (RLF) classifications (Reese 1953). Vascular RLF
grade 1, vascular RLF grade 2, and cicatricial RLF / RLF grade 3
correspond approximately with retinopathy of prematurity (ROP)
stage 3, ROP stage 4, and ROP stage 5 / blindness respectively.
These inferred classifications were gathered from references to
RLF/ROP cross-classification from the International Classifica-
tion of Retinopathy of Prematurity system (ROP Committee
1984; ROP Committee 1987; Garner 1985; Hindle 1986; Hindle
1990; Sira 1988; Szewcyk 1953). Ascertainment of RLF in the five
trials from 1951 - 1969 was by direct ophthalmoscope, visualising
the posterior pole only. The only findings that could be identified
using this method were dilation and tortuosity of the retinal vessels
(“plus disease”, using the 1984 and 1987 classifications, as above).
The more common findings in the anterior pole that can today be
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identified with indirect ophthalmoscopy were unable to be iden-
tified. Hence, even the least severe eye outcomes reported in this
review equate with what today would be described as “threshold”
ROP.

The largest trial (Askie 2003, n = 358) only enrolled infants who
survived and were oxygen dependent beyond three weeks postnatal
age. The second largest trial (Kinsey 1956, n = 212) only enrolled
infants who survived beyond 48 hours. Unfortunately, the third
largest trial (Patz 1954, n = unknown, but greater than 120) did
not report any mortality data and these data are not retrievable (

Duc 1992).

Risk of bias in included studies

Allincluded trials used either quasi-random or random patient al-
location, had at least one clinically meaningful outcome, and were
thus included in the analyses. The overall methodological quality
of the included trials was fair. Askie 2003 stratified the randomiza-
tion with the use of a dynamic balancing method to ensure a bal-
ance of treatment group assignment within each stratum defined
according to hospital, singleton or multiple birth, and gestational
age.

Three of the trials had adequate allocation concealment: Askie
2003 and Kinsey 1956 used central telephone randomization, and
Sinclair 1968 used a method of sealed envelopes. Allocation con-
cealment is unclear in the other three trials. Patz 1954 used quasi-
random patient allocation, while the remaining five trials were
truly randomized. Askie 2003 was the only trial to employ mask-
ing with families, clinicians and outcome assessors in this trial un-
aware of treatment allocation. Askie 2003 and Kinsey 1956 were
the only two trials to report power calculations a priori. Five of
the included studies had adequate short-term outcome measure
ascertainment. The Patz 1954 trial did not report deaths or losses
to follow-up, but it is assumed that outcome data were reported
only on survivors and assessed by six months age.

Effects of interventions

RESTRICTED VS. LIBERAL OXYGEN THERAPY
(ALL PRETERM/LBW INFANTS) IN EARLY
NEONATAL PERIOD (Comparison |):

In this meta-analysis, restricted compared with liberal oxygen ad-
ministration when started during the early neonatal period did not
have any statistically significant effect on the incidence of death.
It should be noted that there were a range of times for enrolment
in this early period from two hrs (Usher 1973) to > 48 hrs (Kinsey
1956). However, restricted oxygen administration did significantly
reduce the incidence of all forms of retrolental fibroplasia (RLF) in
survivors. Cicatricial RLF (any grade) was significantly reduced in

surviving infants who were exposed to a restricted oxygen regime
(summary RR 0.26, 95% CI 0.11-0.58). There was also a sig-
nificant reduction in the precursor, vascular RLF (any stage), in
surviving infants exposed to restricted oxygen (summary RR 0.34,
95% CI CI 0.25-0.406).

During the early neonatal period, neither restricted compared with
liberal oxygen administration nor lower vs. higher blood oxygen
levels (where blood oxygen was directly measured) had significant
independent effects on death rates, either in all preterm/LBW in-
fants or in a sub-group of infants with birth weights < 1250 g.
However, restricted compared with liberal oxygen administration
did significantly reduce a combined measure of adverse outcome,
death or RLF (vascular, any stage) (summary RR 0.59, 95% CI
0.48-0.72). Thus, one would need to treat only three infants with
restricted oxygen to prevent one infant from having the adverse
outcome of death or RLF (NNT = 1/RD = 1/0.310 = 3.2). Re-
stricted compared with liberal oxygen administration also reduced
the more severe measure of adverse outcome, death or RLF (cica-
tricial, any grade) (summary RR 0.77, 95% CI 0.56-1.07) for the
trial where the intervention was used in the early neonatal period,
although this result was not statistically significant.

No other outcome measures specified « priori as clinically mean-
ingful were reported in enough detail or with satisfactory follow-
up rates to be included in the analysis (chronic lung disease; long-
term growth, development, lung or visual function).

SUBGROUP ANALYSIS FOR THE EARLY
NEONATAL PERIOD (Comparisons 2-4):

Only one of the a priori stated subgroup analyses was possible with
the available data for the early neonatal period.

Subgroup analysis of lower vs. higher blood oxygen levels in the
early neonatal period showed that for infants with BW < 1250 g
weeks gestational age, there was no significant difference in the
incidence of death. However, it should be noted that this trial (
Usher 1973) only enrolled 45 infants. The only reported effect of
restricted vs. liberal oxygen saturation targeting on infants with
birth weight less than 1000g was a non-significant decrease in RLF
(cicatricial, severe) in the Patz 1954 trial. The analysis was based
on very small numbers, with uneven denominators in each group.
This may reflect a difference in the number of survivors in the
two groups resulting from deaths which were not accounted for by
Patz 1954. This result should thus be interpreted with caution as
the small numbers in this subgroup (as reflected in the wide con-
fidence intervals) and non-reported deaths make any meaningful
interpretation of these data difficult.

It was not possible to undertake any of the other # priori specified
subgroup analyses such as time or method of oxygen weaning, or a
comprehensive analysis of the method of oxygen monitoring due
to insufficient data.

LOWER VS, HIGHER BLOOD OXYGEN LEVELS (ALL
PRETERM/LBW" INFANTS) IN THE LATER NEONATAL
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PERIOD (Comparison 5):
Only one study (Askie 2003), with 358 infants, contributed to
the results in the later neonatal period. There was no significant

difference in the incidence of death between lower or higher oxy-
gen saturation targeting when started in the later neonatal period.
There were no statistically significant differences in the incidence
of ROP (any stage) in survivors, the incidence of ROP > Stage
2 nor ROP Stage 4 or 5 or blindness between the infants receiv-
ing lower or higher oxygen saturation targeting. There were no
statistically significant differences between intervention strategies
for the combined outcomes of death or ROP > Stage 2, nor with
death or ROP Stage 4 or 5 or blindness.

Some outcome measures specified a priori as clinically meaningful
were reported. There was no statistically significant difference in
the incidence of major developmental abnormality at 12 months
corrected age between lower or higher oxygen saturation targeting,
In relation to lung function, there was a significant reduction on
the dependence of supplemental oxygen at 36 weeks of postmen-
strual age with using a lower oxygen saturation rarget (RR 0.71,
95% CI 0.59-0.87). There was no statistically significant differ-
ence between interventions for the incidence of use of postnatal
corticosteroids and diuretics for chronic lung disease with the use
of either a lower or higher oxygen saturation targeting.

Some outcomes were either not reported at all or not reported in
enough detail or with satisfactory follow-up rates to be included
in the analysis (long-term lung or visual function).

SUBGROUP ANALYSIS FOR THE LATER
NEONATAL PERIOD (Comparison 6):

Only one of the @ priori stated subgroup analysis could be under-
taken with the available data for the later neonatal period.
Comparison of lower vs. higher oxygen saturation targeting when
started in the later neonatal period in infants < 28 weeks gestational
age revealed no statistically significant difference in the incidence
of death, ROP Stage 3 or 4, nor in the incidence of blindness.
Evaluation of heterogeneity:

No statistical heterogeneity was demonstrated in any of the out-
come measures analysed that included more than one trial,
There was considerable clinical heterogeneity amongst the six tri-
als included in this review. All included trials contained a wide
range of birth weights, followed infants for a relatively wide rang-
ing period (and all but one in the short-term only), used differ-
ent definitions of outcome measures (five trials used RLF and one

trial used ROP eye outcome definitions), and implemented the
interventions in either an early or later neonatal period. There was
a very wide range of exposure to the interventions under review
(1 day to >10 weeks). Moreover, there were three distinct inter-
vention comparisons included in the review (hence the division
of comparisons into restricted vs. liberal oxygen administration
in the early neonatal period, lower vs. higher blood oxygen levels
in the early neonatal period, and lower vs. higher blood oxygen

levels in the later neonatal period). The Kinsey 1956, Lanman
1954 and Patz 1954 trials were conducted in an early (pre-1990)
era of neonatal care where methods of oxygen monitoring and
administration were crude in comparison to today’s techniques
and thus only restricted vs. liberal oxygen administration could
be compared in these trials. The Usher 1973 and Sinclair 1968
trials used more modern techniques (including umbilical artery
catheterization, arterialised capillary sampling, micromethods for
blood gases and acid-base), so comparison of lower vs. higher blood
oxygen levels were possible with these data. The Askie 2003 trial
used pulse oximeters whose algorithm assessed functional oxygen
saturation, and thus comparisons of lower vs. higher blood oxygen
level via oxygen saturation targets were possible with data from
these trials.

Sensitivity analyses:

The results of the meta-analyses were tested for robustness with
regard to study quality. We had stated a priori that trials containing
outcome measures with greater than 20% attrition would not be
included in the analysis. In one trial, Patz 1954, it was unclear
whether outcome ascertainment was complete as attrition due to
losses to follow-up and deaths were not reported. This, plus the
fact that it was the only trial using a quasi-random method of
patient allocation, led us to test the results without the inclusion
of this trial.

There were two outcome measures for the early neonatal period
analysis that included data from the Patz 1954 trial. The outcomes
to which the Patz trial contributed were RLF (vascular, any stage)
and RLF (cicatricial, severe grades). The results for neither of these
outcome measures were significantly affected by the exclusion of
the Patz trial. Hence, the results of these meta-analyses were not
sensitive to the effect of study quality.

DISCUSSION

The answer to the question of what is the optimal therapeutic
range of blood oxygen level for preterm/LBW infants to maximise
benefits, while minimising harms, remains uncertain.

To date only two randomized trials (Askie 2003; Usher 1973) have
attempted to address this question directly. Sinclair 1968 assessed
the effects of lower vs. higher blood oxygen levels and other co-
interventions in a group of hypoxic, acidaemic low birth weight
infants. The related, but now historic, question of restricted vs.
liberal oxygen administration was addressed by three randomized
trials (Kinsey 1956; Lanman 1954; Patz 1954) in an era before
accurate and/or continuous monitoring of infant blood oxygen
levels was possible. Both interventions were included in this review,
which addresses the general question of the effect of oxygen dose
on outcomes for preterm/LBW infants.

In this analysis, restricting oxygen exposure in the early neonatal
period significantly reduced the incidence and severity of RLF
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without unduly increasing death rates. The results of the largest
trial contributing to these outcomes (Kinsey 1956) have often
been misinterpreted, with the resulting extrapolation of aggressive
restriction of oxygen from birth leading to a substantial increase in
mortality rates among preterm/LBW infants in the years following
its publication (Cross 1973). This trial did not enrol infants until
at least 48 hours of age. It should also be noted that the second
largest trial, Patz 1954, did not report any mortality data and
this information is not retrievable (Duc 1992). Unfortunately, the
confidence intervals around the point estimate for this outcome
are quite wide (RR 1.20, 95% CI 0.80-1.80), and the addition of
the Patz 1954 mortality data would have been helpful in resolving
this issue. It is possible that the difference in RLF rates seen in
survivors may be influenced by the trend toward excess deaths
caused by the restricted oxygen policy.

Since the publication of these earlier era trials, other authors
have attempted to further investigate the association between
RLF/ROP and blood oxygen levels. A large, prospective, non-ran-
domized study (Kinsey 1977) involving a detailed survey across
five collaborating centres in the USA was undertaken between
1969 and 1972. No definitive relationship between blood oxygen
levels and the occurrence of RLF could be established. It should
be noted that this analysis was undertaken using the limited in-
formation available from intermittent blood gas sampling. The
study did find an association between susceptibility to RLF and
decreasing birth weight and increasing time in oxygen. However,
no guidelines for the optimal range of blood oxygen level were
suggested by this study.

Two trials (Sinclair 1968; Usher 1973) that addressed the question
of low vs. higher blood oxygen levels in the early neonatal period
(< 1 week postnatal age) found no significant effect on death in
the early neonatal period, but did not report (in sufficient de-
tail to warrant inclusion) the effect of this intervention on eye or
other outcomes. The effects of either of these oxygen administra-
tion policies on other clinically meaningful outcomes, including
chronic lung disease, long-term growth, neurodevelopment, lung
or visual function were not reported.

No further trials were undertaken until a prospective, multicen-
ter, double-blind, randomized, controlled trial (Askie 2003) in-
volving eight collaborating centres in Australia was conducted be-
tween 1996 and 2000. There were no significant differences in the
rates of ROP at any stage between the lower and higher oxygen
saturation target groups in the later neonatal period (> 3 weeks
postnatal age). There were no significant differences between the
groups in mortality rates either. However, this study noted that
there was a disadvantage to using higher oxygen saturation tar-
geting because of the increase in the proportion of infants need-
ing oxygen therapy for longer, as well as supplemental oxygen af-
ter discharge. Again, this study made no recommendations for an
optimal blood oxygen level, but suggested that targeting higher
blood oxygen levels may increase the burden of health services for

these infants. This trial enrolled oxygen-dependent infants at 32
weeks postmenstrual age who were at least 3 weeks of age. There
is therefore a need to evaluate this therapy when commenced soon
after birth as this may alter the rates of ROP or death. A num-
ber of trials currently underway are examining this (BOOST NZ
(NZ); BOOSTII (Australia); BOOSTII (UK); COT (Canada);
SUPPORT (USA)).

All studies included in this review measured eye outcomes. Unlike
the pre-1990 studies, the Askie 2003 trial also reported the effect
of interventions on growth and development. However, these out-
comes were not measured beyond 12 months corrected age and
thus studies with longer term outcomes will need to be conducted.
Since 2001, several observational studies (Tin 2001; Anderson
2004; Sun 2002; Chow 2003) have been published that have sug-
gested short-term ophthalmic and respiratory outcomes might be
significantly improved by a policy of lower oxygen range target-
ing without causing increases in mortality or long-term morbidity.
However, these non-randomized studies lack adequate statistical
power to exclude possible small, but important, increases in death
and disability that could have major implications if a policy of
lower oxygen targeting was implemented worldwide. Currently,
there are five ongoing randomized trials being conducted to assess
the effects of lower vs. higher oxygen saturation levels in extremely
preterm infants from birth. The individual patient data from these
trials will be combined in a prospective meta-analysis to help re-
solve this remaining question.

The role of careful, continuous monitoring of oxygen levels on
the incidence of retinopathy of prematurity has also been investi-
gated by several authors since the publication of the earlier stud-
ies included in this review. Bancalari and co-workers (Bancalari
1987a; Bancalari 1987b; Flynn 1987) conducted the only large
randomized trial of continuous transcutaneous PO, monitoring
to date. This study showed no significant difference in the in-
cidence or severity of ROP, mortality or chronic lung disease in
the continuously monitored infants compared with those who re-
ceived standard (intermittent) monitoring of PO; levels. The util-
ity of pulse oximetry monitoring in preventing adverse neonatal
outcomes remains largely untested. The value of pulse oximetry
in reducing major hypoxic events during anaesthesia among 152
children undergoing surgery has been assessed in one study (Cote
1988). Another trial (Watkin 1999) compared near infrared spec-
troscopy and pulse oximetry in the detection of hypoxaemia in
neonates with pauses in nasal airflow. Roemer and colleagues (
Roemer 2005) examined the diagnostic power of pulse oximetry,
other blood oxygen measures and acid-base measurements for hy-
poxia in term fetuses. However, randomized controlled trial ev-
idence for the effectiveness of pulse oximetry monitoring in the
early neonatal period is still unavailable.

AUTHORS’ CONCLUSIONS
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Implications for practice

The results of this systematic review confirm that (the now his-
torical) policy of unrestricted, unmonitored oxygen therapy has
potential harms without clear benefits. However, the question of
what is the optimal target range for maintaining blood oxygen
levels in preterm/LBW infants in the modern clinical setting from
birth or soon thereafter was not answered by the data available for
inclusion in this review.

Implications for research

As the question of what is the optimal target range for maintaining
blood oxygen levels remains unclear, further research should be
undertaken to resolve this important clinical question. An ongo-
ing international collaboration is attempting to address this issue.
The BOOSTII trials (BOOST NZ (NZ); BOOSTII (Australia);
BOOSTII (UK); COT (Canada); SUPPORT (USA)) are all as-
sessing the effects of higher oxygen levels on infants 27 weeks or
less gestational age in terms of both short and long-term outcomes.
Results from these trials will be combined in a prospective meta-
analysis (known as the NeOProM Collaboration) and will be in-
corporated into this systematic review as they become available.
The STOP-ROP trial (STOP-ROP 2000) assessed the effect of
higher oxygen levels on the progression of pre-threshold ROP. The
results of this trial are included in a separate Cochrane review en-
titled: “Supplemental oxygen for the treatment of pre-threshold
retinopathy of prematurity” (Lloyd J, Askie LM, Smith ], Tarnow-
Mordi WQO). It should be noted that this trial did not address the
effect of oxygen levels administered in the early neonatal period
either as infants were 35.6 weeks postmenstrual age at enrolment
into this trial.
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CHARACTERISTICS OF STUDIES

Characteristics of included studies [ordered by study ID]

Askie 2003

Methods

Randomization was stratified with the use of a dynamic balancing method to ensure a
balance of treatment-group assignment within each stratum defined according to hos-
pital, singleton or multiple birth, and gestational age. Central telephone randomization
ensured adequate allocation concealment.

The intervention group (standard oxygen) received oxygen to achieve Fn SpO, 91-94%,
while the control group (high oxygen) received oxygen to achieve Fn SpO, 95-98%.
Masking of all interventions was achieved by using oximeters designed to display levels
either 2% higher or lower than what it really was, thereby giving readings between 93-
96%. Caregivers were not aware of the offset level (double-blinding).

There were no losses in follow-up. There were detailed power calculations.

Participants

358 infants < 30wks gestation who remained dependent on supplemental oxygen at 32
wks of postmenstrual age. The mean birth weight for standard saturation group was
918g and for high saturation group 916g. Infants were followed and measured at 12
months corrected age.

Interventions

Experimental group (standard oxygen): received oxygen to achieve Fn SpO; 91-94%.
Intervention treatment applied at 32wks postmenstrual age and maintained for the
duration of the supplemental oxygen therapy.

Control group (high oxygen): received oxygen to achieve Fn SpO; 95-98%. Intervention
treatment applied at 32 wks postmenstrual age and maintained for the duration of the
supplemental-oxygen therapy.

Outcomes

Worst retinopathy of prematurity (< stage 3)

Worst retinopathy of prematurity (stage 3 or 4)

Ablative retinal surgery for severe retinopathy of prematurity

Death (after randomization)

Growth measures:

- weight

- length

- head circumference

Major developmental abnormality

Dependence on supplemental oxygen at 36 wks of postmenstrual age
Home-based oxygen therapy & duration of oxygen therapy after randomization
Postmenstrual age at cessation of oxygen therapy

Duration of assisted ventilation after randomization

Postnatal corticosteroids

Diuretics for chronic lung disease

Length of stay after randomization

Postmenstrual age at discharge from hospital

Postmenstrual age at time of fully oral feeding

Infant rehospitalized

Number of health service visits per infant
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Askie 2003 (Continued)

Scores on psychological measures

-Edinburgh postnatal depression scale (mother)
-infant temperature scale

-toddler temperment scale

-parenting stress index, short form
-impact-on-family scale

Notes

Risk of bias

Item Authors’ judgement Description

Adequate sequence generation? Yes Randomization was stratified with the use

of a dynamic balancing method.

Allocation concealment?

Yes Central telephone randomization.

Blinding?

All outcomes

Yes Oxygen saturation levels were adjusted to
display a value 2% higher than the actual
saturation in infants in the standard O2
group or 2% lower than the actual satura-
tion in infants in the high-saturation group.

lncnmp]ctc outcome data addressed? Yes There was cnmp]ctc ﬁ)”()w—up for outcome
All outcomes data.
Free of selective reporting? Yes All outcomes were reported.

Kinsey 1956

Methods

Central telephone randomization ensured adequate allocation concealment. The ratio
of experimental group : control group was 2:1 in first 3 months of enrolment. Following
that, 574 infants were consecutively allocated to the experimental group and had no
concurrent controls, These infants are not included in this review. The number of infants
excluded before randomization is not known. Randomization was stratified by birth
weight categories and institution. The intervention was not blinded and the blinding
of outcome assessments is unclear. The follow-up rate for outcome measures was 97%.
There were detailed power calculations.

Participants

212 infants with BW <1500g who survived to 48 hours. Enrolment commenced in
July 1953. The mean BW in the two groups was 1242g (restricted)and 1234g (liberal)
respectively. Infants were followed until 2.5 months of age.

Interventions

Experimental group (restricted oxygen): received oxygen only if clinical condition indi-
cated and maximum FiO; permitted was 0.5.

Control group (liberal oxygen): received supplemental oxygen in excess of 50% for a
minimum of 28 days and were then weaned over 3 days.
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Kinsey 1956 (Continued)

Qutcomes Vascular RLF (any stage) in survivors
Vascular RLF (severe stages) in survivors
Cicarricial RLF (any grade) in survivors
Cicartricial RLF (severe grades) in survivors
Mortality (48 hours-40 days)
Of the 144 infants assigned to the restricted oxygen group, 36 died before 40 days and
4 were lost to follow-up. There were 15 deaths and no losses to follow-up among the 68
infants allocated to the liberal oxygen group.
Notes
Risk of bias
[tem Authors’ judgement Description
Adequate sequence generation? Yes Block and stratified randomization.
Allocation concealment? Yes Central telephone randomization.
Blinding? No Blinding not stated.
All outcomes
Incomplete outcome data addressed? Yes Follow-up was 97%. Reasons were given

All outcomes

for loss to follow-up (e.g. death)

Free of selective reporting?

Yes There were 21 tables and 8 appendices ta-
bles of results and measured data report-
ing various analyses of the outcome data
and breakdown of the characteristics of the
populations from all the participating cen-
tres.

Lanman 1954

Methods

Infants were randomized by random numbers, method unspecified, and thus allocation
concealment is unclear. There was no blinding of the intervention and it is unknown
if outcome assessments were done blinded to treatrment allocation. There was only one
loss to follow-up of the 86 infants enrolled. Power calculations were inadequate with the
completion of the study being determine by a date specified one year in advance.

Participants

86 infants with BW 1000-1850g admitted within 12 hours of birth. Infants were followed

until 3 months age.

Interventions

Experimental group (restricted oxygen): only received oxygen when cyanosed, at a max-
imum FiO; of 0.5. The mean FiO; received by this group was 0.38.

Control group (liberal oxygen): received supplemental oxygen for a minimum of 2 weeks
or until reaching 1500g, and were then weaned abruptly. The mean FiO; received by
this group was 0.69.
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Lanman 1954  (Continued)

Qutcomes Vascular RLF (any stage) in survivors
Cicatricial RLF (any grade) in survivors
Mortality (12 hours-3 months)
Notes
Risk of bias
Item Authors’ judgement Description

Adequate sequence generation?

Yes

Random numbers, but method was not

specified.

Allocation concealment?

Unclear

Allocation was in order of admission by
random numbers but method was not
specified. Allocated to one of 4 groups:
high oxygen, high oxygen + estrogen given
orally, low oxygen, & low oxygen + estro-
gen given orally.

Blinding?

All outcomes

For restricted oxygen intervention, oxygen
was given only when infants were cyanosed,
so blinding would not have been easily
done.

Incomplete outcome data addressed?
All outcomes

Yes

There was complete follow-up, and infants
who were lost lost to follow-up were ac-
counted for.

Free of selective reporting?

Yes

All participants and outcomes were re-
ported, even those that were lost to follow-
up were reported.

Patz 1954

Methods

Quasi-random treatment allocation, based on alternate admission basis. Allocation con-

cealment was thus inadequate. There was no blinding of the intervention and it is un-

clear whether outcome assessments were blinded to treatment allocation. Attrition due to

deaths or losses to follow-up are not reported, so it is unclear whether there was complete

outcome measure ascertainment. No power calculations were reported.

Participants

An unknown number of very low birthweight infants (</= 1500g) were enrolled from Jan

1951 to May 1953. 120 infants survived and had eye outcome assessments completed

by 6 months age and were included in the analysis.

Interventions

Experimental group (restricted oxygen): infants received oxygen only for clinical indi-

cations, and to a maximum FiO; of 0.4. The range of duration of oxygen in this group

was 1 day - 2 weeks. Once weaning was indicated, it proceeded over 1-3 days.
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Parz 1954  (Continied)

Control group (liberal oxygen): infants were placed in supplemental oxygen of 60-70%
for 4-7 weeks, then weaned over one week.

Qutcomes Vascular RLF (any stage) in survivors
Cicatricial RLF (severe grades) in survivors
Cicatricial RLF (severe grades), BW <1000g, in survivors
There are no data available, either published or unpublished, on mortality rates. The
number of infants allocated to each group was not reported, hence outcome data can
only be expressed in relation to the surviving infants presenting for follow-up assessment.
Notes
Risk of bias
Item Authors’ judgement Description
Adequate sequence generation? No Quasi-random allocation based on alter-

nate admission basis.

Allocation concealment?

No Quasi-random allocation based on alter-
nate admission basis.

Blinding?

All outcomes

No Blinding not stated. Also, the experimental
and control interventions were applied for
different lengths of time, so treatment dif-
ferences would have been obvious.

Incomplete outcome data addressed?
All outcomes

Unclear The focus of results seemed to be on qual-
itative histological data. The quantitative
results seemed to report on all outcomes.

Sinclair 1968

Methods

Randomized to one of 4 treatment groups, using sealed envelopes and thus allocation
concealment was adequate. There was no blinding of treatment intervention, and it is
unclear whether there was blinding of outcome assessments. No power calculations were
reported. Short-term follow up was complete.

Participants

20 infants with BW 1000-2500g less than 24 hours age who were hypoxic and acidemic
were included.

Interventions

Infants were randomized to one of four treatment groups including combinations of the
following treatments: restricted vs. liberal ambient oxygen, rapid vs. slow alkali infusion,
assisted vs. spontaneous ventilation. There was random allocation of the other two
treatments within the two oxygen therapy groups, hence the data from this trial were
included in the review.

Experimental group (restricted oxygen): supplemental oxygen, to a maximum of 35%, to
keep PaO; 50-120 mmHg, If PaO; fell below 40 mmHg or infant became bradycardic,

could give unlimited oxygen and would be considered as a treatment failure.
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Sinclair 1968  (Continued)

Control group (liberal oxygen): received 100% headbox oxygen for first 2 hours, then
aimed to maintain Pa0; at 50-120 mmHg using any FiO; needed.

QOutcomes Mortality (any)
Physiological measures including:
- acid-base balance
- Pa0; levels
- percentage right-left shunt
- serum electrolytes, blood urea nitrogen, serum lactate
- urinary net acid excretion
- plasma bicarbonate
- “apparent” bicarbonate space
Long-term neurological assessments reported as “in progress” in the paper were never
completed (personal communication J. Sinclair, July 1998).
Notes
Risk of bias
Item Authors’ judgement Description
Adequate sequence generation? Yes Sealed envelopes & stratified
Allocation concealment? Yes Random allocation to 1 of 4 treatment

groups, using sealed envelopes; stratified by
severity of A (severe vs. moderate).

Blinding? No Blinding not stated.
All outcomes
Incomplete outcome data addressed? Yes There was complete follow-up (but not

All outcomes

specified). Short-term follow-up was com-
plete.

Free of selective reporting?

Yes There were 14 tables and 15 figures of re-
sults and analysed data reporting various
analyses of the outcome dara. It seemed all
outcomes were reported.
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Usher 1973

Methods

Infants were randomized by a stratified random sampling technique. Allocation conceal-
ment is unclear. There was no blinding of the intervention. One author was unblinded
to the treatment allocation, but is unclear whether this author was involved in outcome
assessments. No power calculations were reported. Early outcome data were reported
completely. However, long-term outcome data included only 15% of the enrolled infants
and thus have not been included in this review.

Participants

150 infants with a diagnosis of respiratory distress syndrome or BW <1000g were eligible
for inclusion. The numbers excluded prior to randomization are not reported.

Interventions

Experimental group (low PaO3): infants received oxygen only if their PaO; fell below 40
mmHg or PcapO; fell below 35 mmHg. Sufficient oxygen was used to maintain these
tensions.

Control group (high PaO,): infants were kept in a minimum of 40% oxygen for 72
hours. Aim was to maintain PaO; 80-120 mmHg or PcapO; 50-60 mmHg.
Mechanical ventilation was not available to either group.

QOutcomes Mortality (any)
Mortality (respiratory)
Descriptive results of respiratory failure measures were reported (such as retractions,
grunting, respiratory pattern and rate, chest Xray changes).
Notes
Risk of bias
Item Authors’ judgement Description
Adequate sequence generation? Yes Stratified random sampling technique.
Allocation concealment? Unclear Unclear
Blinding? No Blinding not stated.
All outcomes
Incomplete outcome data addressed? Yes There was complete follow-up for early

All outcomes

outcomes, but not for late outcomes. Only
15% follow-up at 10yrs (Coates).

Free of selective reporting?

Yes There were 10 tables and 16 figures of re-
sults and analysed data reporting various
analyses of the outcome data. It seemed that
all outcomes were reported.
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Characteristics of excluded studies [oidered by study ID]

Bard 1996

Infants were not randomly assigned to target two different arterial blood oxygen saturations (90% and 95%).
Infants acted as their own controls. This was not a random or quasi-random trial and was thus excluded from
the review.

Cunningham 1995

This non-randomized, retrospective study assessed the effects of variability of oxygen levels, as measured by
transcutaneous oxygen monitoring, on the incidence of retinopathy of prematurity. Patient allocation was not
randomized, and thus the study was excluded from the review.

Deulofeur 2007

This was a non-randomized study of infants from January 2000 to December 2004, where there was a change
from SpO; 92-100% to SpO; 85-93% from January 2003. Since allocation of treatment was non-randomized,
this study was excluded from the review.

Engleson 1958

This non-randomized trial addressed a different question from that under review. It examined the effects of
keeping preterm infants at oxygen concentrations below that of room air, and was thus not included in the

review.

Fitzgerald 1998

Infants in this study were randomized to receive either air/usual supplementary oxygen (to maintain SpO,
>93%) or increased supplementary oxygen (to maintain SpO; >97%) only for one night whilst the sleep study
was done. Included trials randomized infants to an ongoing policy of higher / lower SpO5. Infants also already
had CLD at the start of the study (which was one of this study’s population inclusion criteria).

Gaynon 1997

The study was a retrospective analysis of different target ranges of oxygen saturation on the incidence of ROP.
There was no random allocation of patients to different treatment groups, thus the trial was excluded from the

review.

Kitchen 1978

This study was a randomized trial of a “package” of intensive care, including intravenous glucose, umbilical
arterial catheterisation, bicarbonate infusion, and high PaO; levels, vs. the standard neonatal care regimen of
the late 1960s. The trial was excluded from the review because the entire “package” of interventions, rather
than the separate elements within it, was the randomized intervention. Thus, other interventions that could
affect clinical outcomes were unbalanced between oxygen exposure groups.

Lundstrom 1995

This randomized trial addressed a different question from that under review. It compared the use of atmospheric
air vs. 80% oxygen for preterm infants during initial stabilization in the delivery room, and was thus excluded
from the review.

Mendicini 1971

This study was a randomized trial of a “package” of intensive care, including intravenous glucose, bicarbonate
infusion, and high PaO3 levels, vs. the standard neonatal care regimen of the late 1960s. The trial was excluded
from the review because the entire “package” of interventions, rather than the separate elements within it, was
the randomized intervention. Thus, other interventions that could affect clinical outcomes were unbalanced
between oxygen exposure groups.

Schulze 1995

This was a non-randomized, crossover trial comparing the effects of two different oxygen saturation target
ranges on cardiac output, oxygen extraction, and oxygen consumption in mechanically ventilated, low birth
weight infants. As treatment allocation was not random or quasi-random, the trial was excluded from the
review.

Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants (Review) 19
Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

0350



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance. 219

(Continued)

STOP-ROP 2000

This trial included preterm/LBW infants with pre-threshold ROP. The intervention tested was supplemental
oxygen for the treatment of pre-threshold ROP, not a preventative strategy. The results of this trial will be
included in a separate Cochrane review entitled: “Supplemental oxygen in the treatment of pre-threshold

retinopathy of prematurity” (Lloyd ], Askie LM, Smith J, Tarnow-Mordi WO).

Wallace 2007

This was a non-randomized retrospective cohort study of infants. Eligible infants born between October 1,
2002, and July 31, 2003, were given SpO2 98-100%. Eligible infants born between January 1, 2004, and
April 30, 2005, were given SpO3 90-96%. Since allocation of treatment was non-randomized, this study was

excluded from the review.

Weintraub 1956

The planned scheme of quasi-random, alternate allocation was not adhered to, resulting in the possibility of
substantial selection bias, and the study was thus excluded from the review.

Wright 2006

This was a non-randomized prospective observational study of infants from 3 centres where there was a change
in SpO; from >90%, 89-94% or 90-95% to 83-93% for all centres. Eligible infants born after the transition
year were given the lower SpO2 treatment. Since allocation of treatment was non-randomized, this study was
excluded from the review.

Characteristics of ongoing studies |oidered by study ID]

BOOST NZ (NZ)

Trial name or title

Benefits of oxygen saturation targeting trial (NZ)

Methods

Infants are randomized centrally by telephone, using a computerized interactive voice response system. Ran-
domization is stratified by site, sex, gestation and inborn and outborn. Computer-generated randomization
lists are prepared by an independent statistician and not accessible to staff involved in the daily care of infants.
The intervention monitored through Masimo Radical SET pulse oximeters are masked by offsetting the
assigned SpO2 by +/-3% points. Staff will (a) target SpO; 88-92% and (b) aim to maximize time spent with
SpO; between 85-95%. From 85-95%, the offset will be 3% above or below the actual SpO;. Outside 85-
95%, study oximeters read actual SpO5;.

320 infants will be enrolled. This data will be analysed with the data from the Australian BOOST-II trial.
A sample size of 1200 infants has 80% power (2p=0.05) to detect an absolute 8% increase or decrease in
the composite outcome of death or major disability at 2 years. This would mean one less infant who died or
was disabled for every 12 infants managed in the optimal range. This would have similar power to detect a
reduction in severe ROP from 10% to 7.8% and in CLD from 40% to 32%.

Participants

Infants <27 weeks' gestation at birth and <24 hours old

Interventions

Lower (Fn SpO, 85-89%) vs higher (Fn SpO; 91-95%) O3 targeting

Outcomes

Survival and major disability at 2 years corrected age, other secondary outcomes

Starting date

2006

Contact information

Professor Brian Darlow; Email: brian.darlow@chmeds.ac.nz
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BOOST NZ (NZ)

(Continued)

Notes

BOOSTII (Australia)

Trial name or title

Benefits of oxygen saturation targeting trial 2 (Australia)

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
95%, study oximeters read actual SpO5.

A sample size of 1200 infants has 80% power (2p=0.03) to detect an absolute 8% increase or decrease in
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

Infants <27 weeks’ gestation at birth and <24 hours old

Interventions

Lower (Fn SpO; 85-89%) vs higher (Fn SpO; 91-95%) O targeting

Outcomes

Death or major disability at 2 years corrected age, other secondary outcomes

Starting date

2006

Contact information

Alpana Ghadge; Tel: +61 2 9562 5000; Fax: +61 2 9562 5094

Notes

BOOSTII (UK)

Trial name or title

Benefits of oxygen saturation targeting trial 2 (UK)

Methods

Infants are randomized centrally by a secure website at the National Perinatal Epidemiology Unit (NPEU) in
Oxford. A computer-generated program that used minimization will be used to ensure balanced allocation
to the two arms of the trials in each recruiting unit from a knowledge of weight, gestation and sex at birth.
The NPEU is write the randomization program and hold the code.

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

Data analysis will be intention to treat.

Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants (Review) 21
Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

0352



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance. 221

BOOSTII (UK) (Continued)

Participants

Infants <28 weeks gestation at birth and <12 hours old (24 hours old if the ha})y is outborn)

Interventions

Lower (Fn SpO; 85-89%) vs higher (Fn SpO;, 91-95%) O targeting

Outcomes

Death or serious neurosensory disahili[y at 2 years corrected age, other sccundary outcomes

Starting date

2007

Contact information

Professor Peter Brocklehurst; Email: peter.brocklehurst@npeu.ox.ac.uk

Notes

COT (Canada)

Trial name or title

Canadian oxygen trial

Methods

Infants are randomized centrally by telephone. Randomization is stratified by gestational age (23-25 and 26-
27 weeks) and by study centre. Alocation will incorporate variable block sizes. The concealed study allocation
will be determined, in advance, using a computer-based random number generator.

The intervention monitored through Masimo Radical SET pulse oximeters are masked by offsetting the
assigned SpO2 by +/-3% points. Staff will (a) target SpO; 88-92% and (b) aim to maximize time spent with
SpO2 berween 85-95%. From 85-95%, the offset will be 3% above or below the actual SpO;. Outside 85-
95%, study oximeters read actual SpO,.

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

Death or major disabi“ty (C()gni[i(m, neuromotor function, vision, hcaring} at 2 years corrected age, other

secondary outcomes

Starting date

October 2006

Contact information

Dr Barbara Schmidt; Email: schmidt@memaster.ca

Notes

SUPPORT (USA)

Trial name or title

The surfactant positive airway pressure and pulse oximetry trial in extremely low birth weight infants
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SUPPORT (USA)

(Continued)

Methods

This is a prospective, randomized, factorial 2x2 design multi-centre trial. Randomization will be stratified by
gestational age, and will be done utilizing double-sealed envelopes.

The individual factors to be tested will be: 1) A prospective comparison of CPAP and a permissive ventilatory
strategy begun in the delivery room and continuing in the NICU with early (<1 hour) surfactant and
mechanical ventilation; 2) A prospective comparison of a lower SpO2 range (85% to 89%) with a higher
more conventional SpO2 range (91% to 95%) until the infant is no longer requiring ventilatory support or
oxygen.

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

Power has been calculated to be 80% for detecting an absolute difference of 10% in the primary and secondary
outcomes, with a sample size of 1310.

Participants

Infants <27 weeks’ gestation at birth and <24 hours old

Interventions

Lower (Fn SpO; 85-89%) vs higher (Fn SpO;, 91-95%) O targeting

Qutcomes

Death or major disability at 2 years corrected age, survival without BPD at 36 weeks, survival without ROP,
other secondary outcomes

Starting date

February 2005

Contact information

Dr Neil Finer; Email: nfiner@ucsd.edu

Notes
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DATA AND ANALYSES

Comparison 1. Restricted versus liberal oxyvgen therapy (all preterm/LBW’ infants) in early neonatal period

No. of No. of

Outcome or subgroup title studies participants Statistical method Effect size

1 Death (any) 2 298 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 1.23 [0.80, 1.90]

2 Cicatricial RLF (any grade) in 2 221 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.26 [0.11, 0.58]
SUrvivors

3 Vascular RLF (any stage) in 3 341 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.34 [0.25, 0.46]
SUrvivors

4 Vascular RLF (severe stages) in 1 157 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.38 [0.17, 0.85]
SUrvivors

5 Cicatricial RLF (severe grades) 2 277 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.19 [0.07, 0.50]
In survivors

6 Death or vascular (RLF (any 2 298 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.59 [0.48, 0.72]
stage)

7 Death or cicatricial RLF (any 2 298 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.77 [0.56, 1.07]
grade)

8 Cicatricial RLF (severe grades) in 1 157 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.32 [0.11, 0.93]
survivors (excluding Patz 1954)

9 Vascular RLF (any stage) in 2 221 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.36 [0.26, 0.51]

survivors (excluding Patz 1954)

Comparison 2. Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (BW'<1000g) in early neonatal period

No. of No. of

studies  participants Statistical method Effect size

Outcome or subgroup title

1 Cicatricial RLF (severe grades) 1 17 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.24 [0.02, 3.79]

in survivors

Comparison 3, Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in early neonatal period

No. of No. of

Outcome or subgroup title studies participants Statistical method Effect size
1 Death (any) 2 170 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.91 [0.57, 1.44]
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Comparison 4. Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (BW'<1250g) in early neonatal period

No. of No. of

studies  participants Statistical method Effect size

Outcome or subgroup title

1 Death (any) 1 45 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 1.08 [0.75, 1.58]

Comparison 5. Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW" infants) in later neonatal period

No. of No. of

Outcome or subgroup title studies participants Statistical method Effect size
1 Death 1 358 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.56 [0.19, 1.64]
2 ROP (any stage) in survivors 1 358 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.95 [0.76, 1.19]
3 ROP >Stage 2 in survivors 1 358 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 1.29 [0.77, 2.16]
4 ROP Stage 4 or 5 or blindness in 1 358 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 5.06 [0.60, 42.85]
survivors
5 Death or ROP >Stage 2 1 358 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 1.08 [0.69, 1.68]
6 Death or ROP Stage 4 or 5 or 1 358 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 1.01 [0.43, 2.37]
blindness
7 Dependence on supplemental 1 358 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.71 [0.59, 0.87]
oxygen at 36 weeks of
postmenstrual age
8 Postnatal corticosteroids 1 358 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.87 [0.71, 1.05]
9 Diuretics for chronic lung 1 358 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 0.85 [0.68, 1.05]
disease
10 Major developmental 1 334 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 1.04 [0.71, 1.53]

abnormality at 12 months
corrected age

Comparison 6, Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (<28 weeks GA) in later neonatal period

No. of No. of

Outcome or subgroup title studies participants Statistical method Effect size
1 ROP Stage 3 or 4 1 256 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 1.42 [0.85, 2.36]
2 Blindness 1 240 Risk Ratio (M-H, Fixed, 95% CI) 4.14 [0.47, 36.46]

Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants (Review)
Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

0356



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance. 225

Analysis |.1. Comparison | Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early
neonatal period, Outcome | Death (any).

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: | Restricted versus liberal axygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early necnatal period

Outcome: | Death (any)

Study or subgroup Treatrment Coritrol Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
i i M-H Fixed 95% Cl M-H Fixed 55% Cl

Kinsey 1956 367144 |15/68 L 704 % 137067, 192]
Lanman 1954 12/4] 9/45 - 296 % 146 [ 0,69, 3.11 ]
Total (95% CI) 185 113 et 100.0 % 1.23 [ 0.80, 1.90]

Total events: 48 (Treatment), 24 (Control)
Heterogeneity: Chi? = 0.30, df = | (P = 0.59); * =0.0%
Test for overall effect: 2 = 0.94 (P = 0.35)

.01 0.1 | 10

100

Favaurs restricted Favours liberal

Analysis |1.2. Comparison | Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early

neonatal period, Outcome 2 Cicatricial RLF (any grade) in survivors.

Rewview: Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: | Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterm/LBWW infants) in early neonatal period

Outcome: 2 Cicatricial RLF (any grade) in survivors

Study or subgroup Treatment Control Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
/M /M M-HFixed %5% Cl M-H Fixed,35% Cl
Kinsey 1956 B/104 12/53 - 66.0 % 034 [0.15078 ]
Lanman 1954 0/28 836 —— 320 % 008000, 1.25]
Total (95% CI) 132 89 - 100.0 % 0.26 [ 0.11, 0.58 ]
Total events: 8 {Treatment), 20 {Control)
Heterogeneity: Chi? = .18, df = | (P = 0.28); F =16%
Test for overall effect: 7 = 329 (P = 0.0010)
0.0l 0.l | 10 100
Favours restricted Favours liberal
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Analysis 1.3. Comparison | Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early
neonatal period, Outcome 3 Vascular RLF (any stage) in survivors.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants
Comparison: | Restricted versus liberal axygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early necnatal period

Outcome: 3 Vascular RLF (any stage) in survivors

Study or subgroup Treatrment Coritrol Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
i i M-H Fixed 95% Cl M-H Fixed 55% Cl

Kinsey 1956 347104 38/53 L 45,1 % 046 [ 033,063 ]
Lanman 1954 2118 22136 — 88 % 0.2 [ 003,046 ]
Patz 1954 10/60 33/60 & 322 % 030[ 006 056]
Total (95% CI) 192 149 * 100.0 %% 0.34 [0.25, 0.46 |

Total events: 46 (Treatment), 93 (Control)
Heterogeneity: Chi® = 553, df = 2 (P = 0.08); I =64%
Test for overall effect: 2 = 7.00 (P < 0.00001)

.01 0.1 | 10 100

Favours restricted Favours liberal

Analysis 1.4. Comparison | Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early
neonatal period, Outcome 4 Vascular RLF (severe stages) in survivors.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants
Comparison: | Restricted versus liberal axygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early necnatal period

Outcome: 4 Vascular RLF (severe stages) in survivors

Study or subgroup Treatrment Coritrol Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
i i M-H Fixed 95% Cl M-H Fixed 55% Cl

Kinsey 1956 G104 12/53 . 3 100.0 % 038[017,085]
Total (95% CI) 104 53 R 100.0 % 0.38 [0.17, 0.85 ]

Total events: 9 (Treatment), |2 (Control)
Heterogeneity: not applicable

Test for overall effect: 7 = 2.36 (P = 0.018)

0.0l 0.l | 10 100
Favours restricted Favours liberal
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Analysis |1.5. Comparison | Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early
neonatal period, Outcome 5 Cicatricial RLF (severe grades) in survivors.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants
Comparison: | Restricted versus liberal axygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early necnatal period

Outcome: 5 Cicatricial RLF (severe grades) in survivars

Study or subgroup Treatrment Contral Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
niM niM M-H Fixed 95% Cl M-H Fixed 95% Cl

Kinsey 1956 5/104 8/53 —— 469 % 032[0.11,093]
Patz 1954 160 12160 —— 530 % 0.08[001,062]
Total (95% CI) 164 113 — 100.0 % 0.19 [ 0.07, 0.50 ]

Total events: & (Treatment), 20 {Control)
Heterogeneity: Chi = 1.51, df = | (P = 0.22); P =34%
Test for overall effect: Z = 3.3% (P = 0.00070)

.01 0.1 | 10 100

Favaurs restricted Favours liberal

Analysis 1.6. Comparison | Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early
neonatal period, Outcome 6 Death or vascular (RLF (any stage).

Review: Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants
Comparison: | Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterm/LBWW infants) in early neonatal period

Outcome: 6 Death or vascular (RLF (any stage)

Study or subgroup Treatment Control Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
/M /M M-HFixed %5% Cl M-H,Fixed,25% Cl

Kinsey 1956 70/144 53/68 H 705 % 062[051,077]
Lanman 1954 1441 31745 - 29.0 % 050[031,079]
Total (95% CI) 185 113 * 100.0 % 0.59 [ 0.48, 0.72 ]

Total events: 84 (Treatment), 84 (Control)
Heterogeneity: Chi? = 0.83, df = | (P = 0.36); 2 =0.0%
Test for overall effect: 7 = 5.28 (P < 0.00001)

0.0l 0.l | 10 100
Favours restricted Favours liberal
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Analysis |1.7. Comparison | Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early

neonatal period, Outcome 7 Death or cicatricial RLF (any grade).

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: | Restricted versus liberal axygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early necnatal period

Outcome: 7 Death or cicatricial RLF (any grade)

Study or subgroup Treatrment Coritrol Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
i i M-H Fixed 95% Cl M-H Fixed 55% Cl
Kinsey 1956 44/ 44 27768 | 69.4 % 077 [052.1.13]
Lanman 1954 12/4] 17/45 - 306 % 077 [ 042, 142]
Total (95% CI) 185 113 * 100.0 % 0.77 [ 0.56, 1.07 ]
Total events: 56 (Treatment), 44 (Control)
Heterogeneity: Chi = 0.00, df = | (P = 0.99); * =0.0%
Test for overall effect: 2 = 1.57 (P = 0.12)
0.0l ol | 10 100
Favaurs restricted Favours liberal

Analysis |1.8. Comparison | Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early
neonatal period, Outcome 8 Cicatricial RLF (severe grades) in survivors (excluding Patz 1954).

Rewview: Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: | Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterm/LBWW infants) in early neonatal period

Outcome: B Cicatricial RLF (severe grades) in survivors (excluding Patz [954)

Study or subgroup Treatment Control Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
n/N n/N M-H Fixed,35% Cl M-H,Fixed,25% Cl
Kinsey 1956 5/104 8/53 . 100.0 % 032[0.11,093]
Total (95% CI) 104 53 — 100.0 %% 0.32[0.11,0.93 ]
Total events: 5 (Treatment), 8 (Control)
Heterogeneity: not applicable
Test for overall effect: Z = 2,10 (P = 0.038)
0.01 ol | 10 100
Favours restricted Favours liberal

Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants (Review)
Copyright © 2009 The Cochrane Collaboration. Published by John Wiley & Sons, Ltd.

0360

29



This document is provided for reference purposes only. Persons with disabilities having difficulty accessing
information in this document should e-mail NICHD FOIA Office at NICHDFOIARequest@mail.nih.gov for assistance. 229

Analysis 1.9. Comparison | Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early
neonatal period, Outcome 9 Vascular RLF (any stage) in survivors (excluding Patz 1954).

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: | Restricted versus liberal axygen therapy (all preterm/LBW infants) in early necnatal period

Outcome: 9 Vascular RLF (any stage) in survivors (excluding Patz 1954)

Study or subgroup Treatrment Coritrol

Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
i i M-H Fixed 95% Cl M-H Fixed 55% Cl
Kinsey 1956 347104 38/53 == 713 % 046 [ 033,063 ]
Lanman 1954 2028 22136 —— 277 % 0.12[ 003 046
Total (95% CI) 132 89 * 100.0 % 0.36 [ 0.26, 0.51 ]
Total events: 36 (Treatment), 60 (Control)
Heterogeneity: Chi® = 4.60, df = | (P = 0.03); * =78%
Test for overall effect: Z = 5.88 (P < 0.00001)
0.0l ol | 10 100

Favaurs restricted Favours liberal

Analysis 2.1. Comparison 2 Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (BW<1000g) in early neonatal period,
Outcome | Cicatricial RLF (severe grades) in survivors.

Rewview: Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: 2 Restricted versus liberal oxygen therapy (BW=1000g) in early neonatal period

Outcome: | Cicatricial RLF (severe grades) in survivors

Study or subgroup Treatment Control Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
n/™ n/™ M-H Fixed 25% Cl M-H Fixed,35% Cl
Patz 1954 05 412 —— 1000 % 024002379 ]
Total (95% CI) 5 12 —— 100.0 % 0.24 [ 0.02, 3.79 ]
Total events: O (Treatment), 4 (Control)
Heterogeneity: not applicable
Test for overall effect: Z = 1.01 (P = 031)
001 ol | 10 100

Favours lower Favours higher
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Analysis 3.1. Comparison 3 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in early
neonatal period, Outcome | Death (any).

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants
Comparison: 3 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in early neonatal period

Outcome: | Death (any)

Study or subgroup Treatrment Coritrol Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
i i M-H Fixed 95% Cl M-H Fixed 55% Cl

Sinclair 1968 410 410 e 50% 1.00[034,2593]
Usher 1973 20074 23776 = 850 % 089 [054, 148]
Total (95% CI) 84 86 -* 100.0 % 0.91 [0.57, 1.44 ]

Total events: 24 (Treatment), 27 (Control)
Heterogeneity: Chi = 0.04, df = | (P = 0.85); * =0.0%
Test for overall effect: Z = 041 (P = 0.68)

.01 0.1 | 10 100

Favours lower Favours higher

Analysis 4.1. Comparison 4 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (BW<1250g) in early neonatal period,
Outcome | Death (any).

Rewview: Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and mortality in preterm or low birth weight infants
Comparison: 4 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (BW<=1250g) in early necnatal period

Outcome: | Death (any)

Study or subgroup Treatment Control Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
/M /M M-HFixed %5% Cl M-H,Fixed,25% Cl

Usher 1973 1723 15722 [ | 100.0 % .08 [ 075, 1.58 ]
Total (95% CI) 23 22 * 100.0 %% 1.08 [ 0.75, 1.38 ]

Total events: |7 (Treatment), |5 (Control)
Heterogeneity: not applicable
Test for overall effect: 7 = 042 (P = 0.67)

001 ol | 10 100
Favours lower Favours higher
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Analysis 5.1. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later
neonatal period, Outcome | Death.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later necnatal period

Outcome: | Death

Study or subgroup Treatrment Coritrol Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
n/N n/N M-HFixed95% Cl M-H,Fixed,25% Cl
Askie 2003 5/178 /180 - 100.0 % 056 [0.109, 164]
Total (95% CI) 178 180 ~——_— 100.0 % 0.56 [0.19, 1.64 |
Total events: 5 (Treatment), 9 (Control)
Heterogeneity: not applicable
Test for overall effect: Z = 1.05 (P = 0.2%)
001 ol | 10 100
Favours lower Favours higher

Analysis 5.2. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later
neonatal period, Outcome 2 ROP (any stage) in survivors.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later necnatal period

Outcome: 2 ROP (any stage) in survivors

Study or subgroup Treatrment

Control Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
i i M-H Fixed 95% Cl M-H Fixed 55% Cl
Askie 2003 81/178 86/180 . 100.0 % 035076, 1.19]
Total (95% CI) 178 180 + 100.0 % 0.95 [ 0.76, 1.19 ]
lotal events: 81 (Treatment), 86 (Control)
Heterogeneity: not applicable
Test for overall effect: 7 = 043 (P = 0.67)
005 02 | 5 20
Favours lower Favours higher
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Analysis 5.3. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later
neonatal period, Outcome 3 ROP >Stage 2 in survivors.
Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later necnatal period

Outcome: 3 ROP =Stage 2 in survivors

Study or subgroup Treatrment Coritrol Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
i i M-H Fixed 95% Cl M-H Fixed 55% Cl

Askie 2003 28/178 22/180 . 100.0 % 129 [077,2.16]
Total (95% CI) 178 180 - 100.0 % 1.29 [0.77, 2,16 ]

Total events: 28 (Treatment), 22 (Control)
Heterogeneity: not applicable

Test for overall effect: 7 = 085 (P = 0.34)

0.0l Gl | 10 100

Favours lower Favours higher

Analysis 5.4. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later
neonatal period, Outcome 4 ROP Stage 4 or 5 or blindness in survivors.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and maortality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later necnatal period

Outcome: 4 ROP Stage 4 or 5 or blindness in survivors

Study or subgroup Treatrment Control Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
n/N n/N M-H Fixed,95% Cl M-H Fixed 95% CI

Askie 2003 5/178 11180 —— 000 % 5.06 [ 0.60, 42.85 ]
Total (95% CI) 178 180 T 100.0 % 5.06 [ 0.60, 42.85 ]

lotal events: 5 (Treatment), | (Control)
Heterogeneity: not applicable

lest for overall effect: 2 = 149 (P = 0.14)

ool Ql | 10 100

Favours lower Favours higher
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Analysis 5.5. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later
neonatal period, Outcome 5 Death or ROP >Stage 2.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison:

Outcome: 5 Death or ROP =5tage 2

Study or subgroup Treatrment

5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later necnatal period

Cortral Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio

M M M-H Fixed 95% CI M-H,Fixed 35% Cl

Askie 2003 33/178 31180 . 1000 % 1.0B[ 069, 168]

Total (95% CI) 178 180 > 100.0 % 1.08 [ 0.69, 1.68 ]
Total events: 33 (Treatment), 31 (Control)

Heterogeneity: not applicable
Test for overall effect: 7 = 0.33 (P = 0.75)
0.01 ol | 10 100

Favours lower

Favours higher

Analysis 5.6. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later
neonatal period, Outcome 6 Death or ROP Stage 4 or 5 or blindness.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and maortality in preterm or low birth weight infants
Comparison: 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later necnatal period
Outcome: & Death or ROP Stage 4 or 5 or blindness
Study or subgroup Treatrment Control Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
/M /M M-H Fixed 95% C M-H,Fixed,%5% Cl
Askie 2003 10/178 10/ 180 ‘.‘ 100.0 % .01 [043,237]
Total (95% CI) 178 180 - 100.0 %
Total events: 10 (Treatment), 10 (Control)

Heterogeneity: not applicable

lest for overall effect: 2 = 0.03 (P = 0.98)

1.01 [ 0.43, 2.37 ]

0.0l 0.1 | 10 100

Favours lower Favours higher
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Analysis 5.7. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later
neonatal period, Outcome 7 Dependence on supplemental oxygen at 36 weeks of postmenstrual age.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later necnatal period
Outcome: 7 Dependence on supplemental oxygen at 36 weeks of postmenstrual age
Study or subgroup Treatrment Coritrol Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
i i M-H Fixed 95% Cl M-H Fixed 55% Cl
Askie 2003 82178 | 16/180 . 100.0 % 071 [059 087]
Total (95% CI) 178 180 ¢+ 100.0 % 0.71 [0.59, 0.87 ]
Total events: 82 (Treatment), | 16 (Control)
Heterogeneity: not applicable
Test for overall effect: 7 = 342 (P = 0.00063)
o0l ol | 100
Favours lower Favours higher

Analysis 5.8. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later

neonatal period, Outcome 8 Postnatal corticosteroids.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and maortality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later necnatal period

Outcome: 8 Postnatal corticosteroids

Study or subgroup Treatrment

Control Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
niN niN M-H Fixed, 5% Cl M-H,Fixed,35% Cl
Askie 2003 89/178 104/180 - 100.0 % 087071, 105]
Total (95% CI) 178 180 A 100.0 % 0.87 [0.71, 1.05 ]
lotal events: 89 (Treatment), 104 (Control)
Heterogeneity: not applicable
Test for overall effect: 7 = 147 (P = 0.14)
0.0l 0.l | 10 100
Favours lower Favours higher
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Analysis 5.9. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later

neonatal period, Outcome 9 Diuretics for chronic lung disease.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later necnatal period

Outcome: 9 Diuretics for chronic lung disease

Study or subgroup Treatrment Coritrol Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
niN niN M-H Fixed,35% Cl M-H,Fixed,35% Cl
Askie 2003 78/178 93/180 . 100.0 % 085068, 1.05]
Total (95% CI) 178 180 i 100.0 % 0.85 [ 0.68, 1.05 ]
Total events: 78 (Treatment), 93 (Control)
Heterogeneity: not applicable
Test for overall effect: 7 = 148 (P = 0.14)
0.0l 0.l | 10 100
Favours lower Favours higher

Analysis 5.10. Comparison 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later
neonatal period, Outcome 10 Major developmental abnormality at 12 months corrected age.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and maortality in preterm or low birth weight infants
Comparison: 5 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (all preterm/LBW infants) in later necnatal period
Qutcome: |10 Major developmental abnormality at 12 months corrected age
Study or subgroup Treatrment Control Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio
n/N n/N M-H Fixed,95% Cl M-H Fixed 95% CI
Askie 2003 40/166 39/168 [ | 1000 % 104 [071, 153 ]
Total (95% CI) 166 168 * 100.0 % 1.04 [0.71, 1.33 ]
Total events: 40 (Treatment), 39 (Control)
Heterogeneity: not applicable
lest for overall effect: 2 = 0,19 (P = 0.85)

0.0l 0.1 | 10 100

Favours lower Favours higher
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Analysis 6.1. Comparison 6 Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (<28 weeks GA) in later neonatal

period, Outcome | ROP Stage 3 or 4.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and martality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: & Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (<28 weeks GA) in later neonatal period

Outcome: | ROP Stage 3 or 4

Study or subgroup Treatrment Coritrol Risk Ratio Weight Risk Ratio

i i M-H Fixed 95% Cl M-H Fixed 55% Cl

Askie 2003 28/124 217132 . 100.0 % 142 [ 085 236]

Total (95% CI) 124 132 - 100.0 % 1.42 [ 0.85, 2.36 |
Total events: 28 (Treatment), 21 (Contral)

Heterogeneity: not applicable
Test for overall effect: 2 = 1.35 (P = 0.18)
0.0l 0.l | 10 100

Favours lower Favours higher

Analysis 6.2. Comparison é Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (<28 weeks GA) in later neonatal
period, Outcome 2 Blindness.

Review:  Restricted versus liberal oxygen exposure for preventing morbidity and maortality in preterm or low birth weight infants

Comparison: & Lower versus higher blood oxygen levels (<28 weeks GA) in later necnatal period

QOutcome: 2 Blindness

Study or subgroup Treatrment

Control

Risk Ratio

Weight Risk Ratio
n/N niN M-H Fixed,35% Cl M-H,Fixed,35% Cl
Askie 2003 4118 11122 L ] 00,0 % 4.14 [ 047, 3646 ]
Total (95% CI) 118 122 T—— 100.0 % 4.14[0.47, 36.46 |
lotal events: 4 (Treatment), | (Control)
Heterogeneity: not applicable
Test for overall effect: 7 = 1.28 (P = 0.20)
0.0l Ql | 10 100
Favours lower Favours higher
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WHAT’S NEW

Last assessed as up-to-date: 14 August 2008.

13 May 2009 Amended Minor amendment - References Watkin and Roemer added

HISTORY

Protocol first published: Issue 2, 1998

Review first published: Issue 2, 1999

14 August 2008

New search has been performed

This review updates the existing review “Restricted ver-
sus liberal oxygen for preventing morbidity and mortal-
ity in preterm or low birth weight infants” published in
the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews.

This update includes an updated literature search, re-
vised Background section including RLF/ROP cross-
classification information and references, revised darta
analysis with a new included study, updated Discussion
and conclusion sections, updated information regard-
ing ongoing clinical trials.

14 August 2008

New citation required but conclusions have not changed

Substantive amendment

25 January 2008  Amended

Converted to new review formart.

1 October 2003

New search has been performed

This review updates the existing review “Restricted ver-
sus liberal oxygen for preventing morbidity and mortal-
ity in preterm or low birth weight infants” which was
published in the Cochrane Library Issue 2, 2001.

The background section has additional references; The
STOP-ROP 2000, trial previously listed as ongoing,
has now been listed as an excluded trial and will be
included in another Cochrane systematic review entitled
“Supplemental oxygen in the treatment of pre-threshold
retinopathy of prematurity” (Lloyd J, Askie LM, Smith
J, Tarnow-Mordi WO); a synopsis and a background
section to the abstract have also been added.

No new trials were identified as a result of the most
recent search, and hence no substantive changes have
been made to either the results or conclusions of the

review.
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CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Askie and Henderson-Smart developed the original protocol for this review, as well as doing the original literature searching, background,
data analysis, discussion and conclusions. Askie and Henderson-Smart also contributed to the updated version of the review. Ko updated
the review with an updated literature search, background with RLF/ROP cross-classification information and references, data analysis
with the new included trial, updated the discussion and conclusions, updated the information on the ongoing clinical trials, and created

the GRADE summary of findings tables which will be

included ar a later date. Askie and Henderson-Smart reviewed this.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Askie and Henderson-Smart have conducted and published a randomized, controlled trial of the effect of higher vs. standard oxygen
saturation targeting on long-term growth and development of preterm infants.

SOURCES OF SUPPORT

Internal sources

o NHMRC Clinical Trials Centre, University of Sydney, Australia.
e NSW Centre for Perinatal Health Services Research, University of Sydney, Australia.

External sources

e Department of Public Health and Community Medicine, University of Sydney, Australia.

DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PROTOCOL AND REVIEW

In the original protocol, visual function was to be recorded only in the first year of life, but in the review it was expanded to measure
long-term visual function. The outcomes from long-term visual function observations fit well with the original protocol and subsequent
review outcome measures of long-term growth and neurodevelopment.

In the current review, results have been split into observations made in the early neonatal period of life and the later neonatal period of
life. This differentiation was not stated in the protocol. The splitting of the observations was due to the large time gap between when
infants commenced the different oxygen strategies: either early in the neonatal period (< 1 week) and later in the neonatal period (> 3
weeks postnatal age).

As stated in the review, some long-term growth and development measures could not be measured due to no data being available for
those outcomes.
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EDITORIALS

CPAP and Low Oxygen Saturation for Very Preterm Babies?

Colin J. Morley, M.D.

The survival rate among extremely preterm ba-
bies — those born at 24 to 27 weeks of gestation
— is about 75%, and there is a high prevalence
of neurodevelopmental problems. Reducing the
rates of complications and death among these
infants is a key research area. Traditionally, ex-
tremely preterm babies have been treated with
intubation and ventilation soon after birth. How-
ever, these interventions may contribute to lung
injury. Many infants breathe adequately but not
normally at birth, and some can be assisted with
the less invasive strategy of nasal continuous pos-
itive airway pressure (CPAP) and receive ventila-
tion and surfactant only if this strategy fails.}?
Oxygen therapy is very toxic for preterm babies,
and maintaining even slightly high arterial lev-
els contributes to retinopathy of prematurity and
increases the duration of oxygen treatment.® Un-
fortunately, an oxygen saturation (SpO,) range that
reduces retinopathy of prematurity optimally but
does not increase the rates of death or neurode-
velopmental problems has not been accurately de-
fined.

The results of the Surfactant, Positive Pressure,
and Oxygenation Randomized Trial (SUPPORT),
a randomized, 2-by-2 factorial trial in which 1316
babies who were born between 24 weeks 0 days
and 27 weeks 6 days of gestation were enrolled,
are reported in this issue of the Journal.#* In this
trial, early treatment with CPAP was compared
with immediate intubation followed by surfactant,
and a target oxygen saturation range of 85 to 89%
was compared with a target range of 91 to 95%.

In one part of the trial,* babies were random-
ly assigned, before birth, to either intubation in
the delivery room and surfactant administration
within an hour or nasal CPAP started in the de-
livery room. Babies who were randomly assigned
to CPAP could be intubated in the delivery room,

N ENGL | MED 362,‘21

The New England Journal of Medicine
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for the purpose of resuscitation, or later, if pre-
defined criteria were met. Extubation criteria were
also predefined; the criteria for threshold levels
of the partial pressure of arterial carbon dioxide
(PaCO,), pH, the fraction of inspired oxygen (FiO,),
and SpO, were more stringent for the intubation
group than for the CPAP group. The rates of the
primary outcome of death or bronchopulmonary
dysplasia® did not differ significantly between
the CPAP group and the surfactant group (47.8%
and 51.0%, respectively; P=0.30). The CPAP group,
as compared with the surfactant group, less fre-
quently required intubation in the delivery room
(34.4% vs. 93.4%) or postnatal corticosteroids for
the treatment of bronchopulmonary dysplasia
(7.2% vs. 13.2%) (P<0.001 for both comparisons),
and required ventilation for an average of 3 days
less (P=0.03). There were no significant differ-
ences between the two groups in the incidences
of death or other major outcomes before dis-
charge from the hospital. These results are sim-
ilar to those of the Continuous Positive Airway
Pressure or Intubation at Birth trial (COIN; Aus-
tralian New Zealand Clinical Trials Registry num-
ber, 12606000258550),2 in which 610 babies who
were born at 25 to 28 weeks of gestation were
randomly assigned to CPAP or intubation and ven-
tilation at 5 minutes after birth.

Some limitations of the present trial should
be noted. Randomization was performed before
delivery (i.e., before it was known whether babies
would breathe or have respiratory distress); as a
result, some of the infants in the CPAP group were
intubated immediately after birth and did not
receive CPAP. The median duration of ventilation
for both groups was 3 to 4 weeks, which was
much longer than the 3 to 4 days in the COIN tri-
al,? and suggests that the extubation criteria in
this trial were more stringent than were those in

NEJM.ORG MAY 27, 2070
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the COIN trial. In the COIN trial,> pneumotho-
rax occutred in 9.1% of the infants in the CPAP
group and in 3.0% of the infants in the ventila-
tion group. In the SUPPORT trial, they occurred
in 6.8% of the infants in the CPAP group and in
74% of the infants in the ventilation group, a
finding that suggests that early CPAP is not as-
sociated with pneumothorax.

In the other part of SUPPORT,* the babies
were randomly assigned to a target range for pe-
ripheral oxygen saturation of 85 to 89% or 91 to
95%. Staff members were unaware of the true
levels because the oximeters had been altered to
read 3% above or 3% below the true reading, so
that they displayed a range of 88 to 92% for both
ranges. The unmasked trial data showed that the
distribution of oxygen saturation levels was
within or above the target range in the higher-
oxygen-saturation group, but in the lower-oxy-
gen-saturation group, it was about 90 to 95%
(i.e., above the target range). The difference in
oxygen saturation levels between the groups was
about 3 percentage points instead of the 6 per-
centage points that had been planned. Therefore,
this study actually compared saturation levels of
about 89 to 97% with saturation levels of 91 to
97%; the results should be ascribed to these high-
er ranges. There is evidence that nurses tend to
keep a baby’s oxygen saturation level toward the
higher end of the range,” which may account for
the shift of both groups toward higher satura-
tion levels than those targeted.

There was no significant difference between
the oxygen-saturation groups in the primary out-
come of severe retinopathy of prematurity or
death before discharge. However, even with the
relatively modest difference in oxygen saturation
levels between the groups, the rate of severe ret-
inopathy of prematurity was lower in the lower-
oxygen-saturation group than in the higher-oxy-
gen-saturation group (8.6% vs. 17.9%, P<0.001).

Moderate-to-severe bronchopulmonary dyspla-
sia is defined as the need for supplemental oxy-
gen in a very preterm infant at 36 weeks of post-
menstrual age.® This trial also used a physiological
definition of bronchopulmonary dysplasia, which
calls for the FIO, to be reduced at 36 weeks in
order to determine whether supplemental oxygen
is really required.® As in previous studies,® the
rate of needed treatment with supplemental oxy-
gen at 36 weeks among survivors was lower in the
lower-oxygen-saturation group than in the high-
er-oxygen-saturation group (P=0.002). When the

N ENGL ) MED 362;21
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physiological definition of bronchopulmonary
dysplasia was used, the rate of oxygen use at 36
weeks was not altered in the lower-oxygen-satu-
ration group but it was reduced in the higher-
oxygen-saturation group, with the result that
the difference between the groups was no lon-
ger significant. The rate of the composite of
death or bronchopulmonary dysplasia (accord-
ing to either definition) by 36 weeks did not dif-
fer significantly between the groups.

There was weak evidence'® of an increased
rate of death before discharge in the lower-oxy-
gen-saturation group (P=0.04). An association
between lower oxygen-saturation targets and in-
creased mortality has been reported previously
in some?! but not other?1? nonrandomized stud-
ies and was not observed in a previous random-
ized trial.? This is a most important outcome,
but caution is warranted in interpreting this re-
sult. Additional research is needed to clarify this
finding. There were no significant differences
between the groups in short-term outcomes that
have been associated with relative ischemia.

How do the results of this trial help neona-
tologists? They show that starting CPAP at birth
in very preterm babies, even if it fails in some,
has important benefits and no serious side ef-
fects. Predicting which babies will not have an
adequate response to treatment with CPAP and
should therefore receive early ventilation and sur-
factant should be a future goal. Targeting oxygen
saturation levels is difficult, and a recommend-
ed oxygen saturation range that is effective yet
safe remains elusive. A lower oxygen saturation
level significantly reduces the incidence of severe
retinopathy of prematurity but may increase the
rate of death. Long-term follow-up is vital to de-
termine whether either intervention was associ-
ated with neurodevelopmental problems.

Disclosure forms provided by the author are available with the
full text of this article at NEJM.org.

From the Royal Women's Hospital and the Department of Obstet-
rics, University of Melbourne — both in Melbourne, Australia.

This article (10.1056/NEJMel004342) was published on May 16,
2010, and updated on July 21, 2010, at NEJM.org.
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Hypoplastic Left Heart Syndrome

Carolyn A. Bondy, M.D.

Just 30 years ago, the newborn with hypoplastic
left heart syndrome faced certain death. This con-
genital defect involves a rudimentary mitral valve
and left ventricle, coupled with a hypoplastic aor-
tic valve and ascending aorta.* Multistage surgical
remediation of hypoplastic left heart syndrome,
introduced in the 1980s, has led to survival rates
that exceed 60%, and in this issue of the Journal,
Ohye et al. report a further survival benefit with
the use of a newly developed shunt.?

The fetus with hypoplastic left heart is able
to survive until birth because of the unique fetal
circulatory pattern. In the fetus with hypoplas-
tic left heart syndrome, since fetal blood is oxy-
genated by the placenta, the right-heart and pul-
monary circulation is usually sidetracked before
birth, so the right heart may pinch hit for the
left to serve the systemic circulation. Oxygenat-
ed blood entering the left atrium crosses the fo-
ramen ovale to the right heart and is pumped
into the pulmonary artery. This blood then by-
passes the defective ascending aorta and reaches
the systemic circulation via a dilated ductus arte-
riosus (see Fig. 1 of the article by Ohye et al.?).
Birth is a catastrophic event in hypoplastic left
heart syndrome. Under normal circumstances,
the foramen ovale and ductus close at birth to
allow the newborn’s blood to be oxygenated by
means of the pulmonary circulation. In newborns
with hypoplastic left heart syndrome, however,
these changes effectively shut down the systemic
circulation, causing right heart failure and death
within a few days.

Hypoplastic left heart syndrome is a genetically
heterogeneous disorder that affects 1 in 5000 live

N ENGL | MED 362;21

births.> About one third of cases occur in the
context of a recognized genetic disorder such as
Turner’s syndrome (in which all or major parts
of one sex chromosome are deleted) or Jacobsen’s
syndrome (in which the terminal part of 11q is
deleted) or in the context of a monogenic disor-
der such as Noonan’s or Holt—-Oram’s syndrome.
Screening studies involving family members of
nonsyndromic probands with hypoplastic left
heart syndrome suggest that heritability is com-
plex, encompassing various left ventricular out-
flow tract defects, and no single disease-causing
gene or pathway has as yet been identified.*

In the early 1980s, Norwood and colleagues
at the Children’s Hospital of Philadelphia pio-
neered a three-stage surgical intervention for hy-
poplastic left heart syndrome.5 Their goal was to
establish a right-heart-based systemic circulation,
using the Fontan procedure to create a separate
pulmonary circulation, in which venous blood
returns passively to the lungs. The first stage,
known as the Norwood procedure, is the most
difficult to perform and is associated with a high
risk of death; it must be undertaken soon after
birth to save the infant’s life and prevent dam-
age to the right heart and pulmonary vasculature.
The procedure involves excising the atrial sep-
tum, so that oxygenated blood entering the left
atrium crosses to the right heart; remodeling the
ascending aorta, which is then patched into the
proximal pulmonary artery, allowing the right
ventricle to drive the systemic circulation; and
establishing a separate conduit to deliver blood
from the right ventricle to the pulmonary circu-
lation.

NEJM.ORG MAY 27, 2070
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Preterm Infants
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ABSTRACT

BACKGROUND

Previous studies have suggested that the incidence of retinopathy is lower in pre-
term infants with exposure to reduced levels of oxygenation than in those exposed
to higher levels of oxygenation. However, it is unclear what range of oxygen satura-
tion is appropriate to minimize retinopathy without increasing adverse outcomes.

METHODS

We performed a randomized trial with a 2-by-2 factorial design to compare target
ranges of oxygen saturation of 85 to 89% or 91 to 95% among 1316 infants who
were born between 24 weeks 0 days and 27 weeks 6 days of gestation. The primary
outcome was a composite of severe retinopathy of prematurity (defined as the pres-
ence of threshold retinopathy, the need for surgical ophthalmologic intervention,
or the use of bevacizumab), death before discharge from the hospital, or both. All
infants were also randomly assigned to continuous positive airway pressure or in-
tubation and surfactant.

RESULTS

The rates of severe retinopathy or death did not differ significantly between the lower-
oxygen-saturation group and the higher-oxygen-saturation group (28.3% and 32.1%,
respectively; relative risk with lower oxygen saturation, 0.90; 95% confidence interval
[CI], 0.76 to 1.06; P=0.21). Death before discharge occurred more frequently in the
lower-oxygen-saturation group (in 19.9% of infants vs. 16.2%; relative risk, 1.27; 95%
CI, 1.01 to 1.60; P=0.04), whereas severe retinopathy among survivors occurred less
often in this group (8.6% vs. 17.9%; relative risk, 0.52; 95% CI, 0.37 to 0.73; P<0.001).
There were no significant differences in the rates of other adverse events.

CONCLUSIONS

A lower target range of oxygenation (85 to 89%), as compared with a higher range (91
to 95%), did not significantly decrease the composite outcome of severe retinopathy
or death, but it resulted in an increase in mortality and a substantial decrease in se-
vere retinopathy among survivors. The increase in mortality is a major concern, since
a lower target range of oxygen saturation is increasingly being advocated to prevent
retinopathy of prematurity. (ClinicalTrials.gov number, NCT00233324.)
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ETINOPATHY OF PREMATURITY IS AN IM-

portant cause of blindness and other vi-

sual disabilities in preterm infants. The
incidence of retinopathy of prematurity was in-
creased with exposure to unrestricted oxygen sup-
plementation in preterm infants in randomized,
controlled trials performed in the 1950s.* In the
1960s, this increase resulted in the practice of
restricting the fraction of inspired oxygen (F10,)
to no more than 0.50, which was estimated to re-
sult in an excess of 16 deaths per case of blind-
ness prevented.? More recent data suggest that
levels of oxygen saturation previously thought to
be at the upper end of the normal range may in-
crease the risk of retinopathy of prematurity as
compared with levels at the lower end of the nor-
mal range.?"> Oxygen toxicity may also increase the
risk of death,®” bronchopulmonary dysplasia,®1°
periventricular leukomalacia,** cerebral palsy,*?
and other conditions. Although a multicenter ob-
servational study did not show a significant as-
sociation between higher values for the partial
pressure of arterial oxygen and retinopathy, a sin-
gle-center cohort study involving transcutaneous
oxygen monitoring provided support for an as-
sociation between an increased risk of retinopa-
thy'?® and exposure to arterial oxygen levels of
80 mm Hg or more.*

Pulse oximetry allows clinicians to continu-
ously monitor levels of oxygen saturation and to
target levels in a defined range. Associations be-
tween lower target levels of oxygen saturation
and a lower incidence of retinopathy have been
reported.s In a survey of 144 neonatal intensive
care units (NICUs), the rate of retinal ablation sur-
gery among very-low-birth-weight infants was in-
creased among infants cared for in NICUs that
used higher maximum target levels of oxygen
saturation, as compared with infants in NICUs
that used lower target levels. The rate of retinal
ablation surgery was 3.3% in NICUs using target
levels of 92% or higher and 1.4% in NICUs using
target levels of less than 92%; the rate was 5.6%
in NICUs using target levels of 98% or higher and
3.1% in NICUs using target levels of less than
98%.* In a retrospective study comparing out-
comes at five NICUs, the incidence of severe retin-
opathy requiring ablation therapy was 27% in
NICUs where the target saturation level was 88
to 98% and only 6% in NICUs where the target
level was 70 to 90%.3 Rates of death and cerebral
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palsy did not differ significantly among these
NICUs. In three studies with a before-and-after
design, the implementation of a policy of target
levels of oxygen saturation of approximately 83
to 95% was associated with a substantial reduc-
tion in the incidence of retinopathy, as compared
with the period before implementation of the
policy; however, the actual levels of oxygen satura-
tion achieved, mortality, and neurodevelopmen-
tal outcomes were not reported.*>1¢ Although
data from these studies suggest that maintenance
of oxygenation at ranges lower than those previ-
ously used may decrease the incidence of retin-
opathy of prematurity, the safety of low target
levels of oxygen saturation remains a concern.

We conducted the Surfactant, Positive Pressure,
and Oxygenation Randomized Trial (SUPPORT),
a controlled, multicenter trial with a 2-by-2 facto-
rial design, to compare two target levels of oxygen
saturation and two ventilation approaches (con-
tinuous positive airway pressure [CPAP] initiated
in the delivery room with a protocol-driven strat-
egy of limited ventilation vs. intratracheal admin-
istration of surfactant with a protocol-driven
strategy of conventional ventilation). The oxygen-
saturation component of the trial tested the hy-
pothesis that a lower target range of oxygen satu-
ration (85 to 89%), as compared with a higher
target range (91 to 95%), would reduce the inci-
dence of the composite outcome of severe retin-
opathy of prematurity or death among infants
who were born between 24 weeks 0 days of ges-
tation and 27 weeks 6 days of gestation. The ven-
tilation part of this factorial-design trial, which
was used to control the ventilation approach and
test other hypotheses, is reported elsewhere in
this issue of the Journal.*”

METHODS

STUDY DESIGN

The study was conducted as part of the Neonatal
Research Network of the Eunice Kennedy Shriver
National Institute of Child Health and Human
Development. The study was approved by the in-
stitutional review board at each participating site
and by RTI International, which is the indepen-
dent data coordinating center for the Neonatal
Research Network. Data collected at the study sites
were transmitted to RTI International, which
stored, managed, and analyzed the data for this
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study. Written informed consent was obtained
from the parent or guardian of each child before
delivery.

PATIENTS

Infants who were born between 24 weeks 0 days
of gestation and 27 weeks 6 days of gestation for
whom a decision had been made to provide full
resuscitation were eligible for enrollment at birth.
Infants born in other hospitals and those known
to have major congenital anomalies were excluded.

ENROLLMENT AND TREATMENT

Infants were enrolled from February 2005 through
February 2009. Permuted-block randomization was
used, with stratification according to study center
and gestational age (24 weeks 0 days to 25 weeks
6 days or 26 weeks 0 days to 27 weeks 6 days).
Using sealed, opaque envelopes, we randomly as-
signed infants before birth to a target range of
oxygen saturation of 85 to 89% (the lower-oxygen-
saturation group) or 91 to 95% (the higher-oxygen-
saturation group). Infants who were part of mul-
tiple births were randomly assigned to the same
group.

Blinding was maintained with the use of elec-
tronically altered pulse oximeters (Masimo Rad-
ical Pulse Oximeter) that showed saturation levels
of 88 to 92% for both targets of oxygen saturation,
with a maximum variation of 3%. For example,
a reading of 90% corresponded to actual levels of
oxygen saturation of 87% in the group assigned
to lower oxygen saturation (85 to 89%) and 93% in
the group assigned to higher oxygen saturation
(91 to 95%). A previous trial used a fixed 3% ab-
solute oxygen-saturation variation throughout the
entire range of saturation levels to keep caregiv-
ers unaware of study-group assignments and to
separate levels of oxygen saturation in preterm
infants,*® but the algorithm used in the current
trial differed, since the oxygen-saturation reading
gradually changed and reverted to actual (non-
skewed) values when it was less than 84% or
higher than 96% in both treatment groups. Lim-
its of 85% and 95% that would trigger an alarm
in the delivery system were suggested, but they
could be changed for individual patients.

Targeting of levels of oxygen saturation with
altered pulse oximetry was initiated within the
first 2 hours after birth and was continued until
36 weeks of postmenstrual age or until the in-
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fant was breathing ambient air and did not re-
quire ventilator support or CPAP for more than 72
hours, whichever occurred first. Infants who were
weaned to room air but who subsequently received
oxygen supplementation before 36 weeks of post-
menstrual age were placed back on the assigned
study pulse oximeter. The target ranges were kept
unchanged from birth until 36 weeks of postmen-
strual age. Adjustments in supplemental oxygen
to maintain the target level of oxygen saturation
between 88 and 92% were performed by the
clinical staff rather than the research staff.
Data on oxygen saturation were electronically
sampled every 10 seconds and downloaded by the
data center. Readings of levels of oxygen satura-
tion that were pooled (i.e., not separated accord-
ing to treatment group) were provided quarterly to
each center for feedback on compliance. Actual
data on oxygen saturation were not provided to
the clinicians or researchers but are used exclu-
sively in this article. For the ventilation part of this
trial with a 2-by-2 factorial design, participants
were randomly assigned to CPAP with a protocol-
driven limited ventilation strategy or to prophylac-
tic early administration of surfactant with a pro-
tocol-driven conventional ventilation strategy.’”

ASSESSMENTS

Research nurses recorded all data using standard-
ized definitions included in the trial’s manual of
operations. Data collection, excluding examina-
tions to detect retinopathy of prematurity, was
completed at discharge. All surviving infants were
followed by ophthalmologists trained in the di-
agnosis of retinopathy of prematurity. Examina-
tions began by 33 weeks of postmenstrual age and
continued until the study outcome was reached
or resolution occurred. Resolution was defined
as fully vascularized retinas or immature vessels
in zone 3 for two consecutive examinations in
each eye. Threshold retinopathy of prematurity
(called “new type 1 threshold” by the Early Treat-
ment of Retinopathy Cooperative Group'*2°) was
diagnosed if any of the following findings were
present: in zone 1, stage 3 retinopathy of prema-
turity, even without plus disease (i.e., two or more
quadrants of dilated veins and tortuous arteries
in the posterior pole), or plus disease with any
stage of retinopathy of prematurity; in zone 2,
plus disease with stage 2 retinopathy of prematu-
rity or plus disease with stage 3 retinopathy of
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prematurity. Surgical ophthalmologic intervention
was recorded if any of the following occurred:
laser therapy, cryotherapy, both laser therapy and
cryotherapy, scleral buckling, or vitrectomy. The
primary outcome was death before discharge or
severe retinopathy as defined by threshold retin-
opathy, ophthalmologic surgery, or the use of be-
vacizumab treatment for retinopathy. The original
study protocol specified a primary outcome of
death before 36 weeks of postmenstrual age, but
this was changed to death before discharge be-
fore any data analyses were performed. All other
outcomes reported were prespecified, including
assessment of the need for oxygen at 36 weeks of
postmenstrual age?* and safety outcomes.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The analysis for the oxygen-saturation part of this
factorial trial compared the percentage of infants
in each treatment group in whom the primary
outcome of severe retinopathy or death occurred.
Analysis of this and all other categorical outcomes
was performed with the use of robust Poisson
regression in a generalized-estimating-equation
model to obtain adjusted relative risks with 95%
confidence intervals. Continuous outcomes were
analyzed with the use of mixed-effects linear
models to obtain adjusted means and standard
errors. We performed a post hoc survival analysis
with the use of a Cox proportional-hazards mod-
el to compare mortality in the two oxygen-satu-
ration groups, assuming that there were no sub-
sequent deaths among the infants who were
discharged. In the analysis of all outcomes, the
results were adjusted, as prespecified, for strati-
fication according to study center and gestation-
al age, as well as for familial clustering due to
random assignment of infants who were part of
multiple births to the same treatment group. To
compare the actual oxygen-saturation values in
the two treatment groups, the median value dur-
ing oxygen supplementation was determined for
each infant. Those values were plotted according
to treatment group, and the medians of the re-
sulting distributions were compared with the use
of a rank-sum test.

An absolute between-group difference of 10
percentage points in the rate of the composite
primary outcome was considered clinically impor-
tant. The sample-size calculations were based on
the rate of death or threshold retinopathy of 47%
in the Neonatal Research Network for the year
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Figure 1 (facing page). Screening, Randomization,

and Primary Outcome.

The numbers shown exclude infants of women who
were screened during pregnancy but whose babies
were not subsequently born at a study center between
24 weeks 0 days and 27 weeks 6 days of gestation. The
outcome of severe retinopathy of prematurity (ROP)
could not be determined in some infants because of
loss to follow-up. CPAP denotes continuous positive
airway pressure.

2000. We increased the sample size by a factor of
1.12 to allow for infants who were part of mul-
tiple births to be randomly assigned to the same
treatment (since this introduced a clustering ef-
fect into the design), and we increased the sample
size by an additional 17% to adjust for attrition
after hospital discharge. We increased the sam-
ple size further to minimize type I error with the
use of a conservative 2% level of significance. The
result was a target sample of 1310 infants. The
study was not powered to detect an interaction ef-
fect between the two factorial parts of the study.

Analyses were performed according to the in-
tention-to-treat principle. The denominator that
was used to calculate the rate of each outcome was
the number of infants for whom that outcome
was known. All analyses were conducted at the
data center. Two-sided P values of less than 0.05
were considered to indicate statistical significance.
Analyses of secondary outcomes did not include
adjustment for multiple comparisons; however, for
the 46 planned analyses of secondary outcomes
according to treatment group, we would expect
no more than three tests to have P values of less
than 0.05 on the basis of chance alone. Subgroup
analyses were conducted within prespecified ges-
tational-age strata for predefined outcomes. Al-
though these tests were not adjusted for multiple
comparisons, we would expect no more than two
tests per stratum to have P values of less than
0.05 on the basis of chance alone.

An independent data and safety monitoring
committee appointed by the director of the Na-
tional Institute of Child Health and Human De-
velopment reviewed the primary outcomes, adverse
events, and other interim results at approximately
25%, 50%, and 75% of planned enrollment. In ad-
dition, the data and safety monitoring commit-
tee, at the request of the investigators, evaluated
the data on oxygen saturation to evaluate compli-
ance with the protocol. The Lan—DeMets spend-
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Table 1. Baseline Characteristics of the Patients.

Characteristic
Birth weight — g
Gestational age — wk
Male sex — no. /total no. (%)
Race or ethnic group — no./total no. (%)
Non-Hispanic white
Non-Hispanic black
Hispanic
Other or unknown

Maternal use of antenatal corticosteroids —
no./total no. (%)

Any

Full course
Apgar score <3 at 5 min — no. total no. (%)
Surfactant treatment — no.total no. (%)

Multiple birth — no./total no. (%)

Lower Oxygen Saturation

Higher Oxygen Saturation

(N=654) (N=662)
836193 825193
2611 2621

341/654 (52.1) 371/662 (56.0)
242/654 (37.0)
257/654 (39.3)
132/654 (20.2)
23/654 (3.5)

279/662 (42.1)

232/662 (35.0)
127/662 (19.2)
24/662 (3.6)

633/654 (96.8)
477/651 (73.3)
34654 (5.2)
531/653 (81.3)
161/654 (24.6)

632/661 (95.6)
462/658 (70.2)
24/662 (3.6)
558/660 (34.5)
176/662 (26.6)

* Plus—minus values are means +SD. P=0.05 for all comparisons.
T Race or ethnic group was reported by the mother or guardian of each child.

ing functions with Pocock and O’Brien—Flem-
ing boundaries were used to develop stopping
rules for interim safety and efficacy monitoring,
respectively. In the final analysis, the nominal
level of significance was 0.05. The monitored
safety outcomes included death, pneumothorax,
intraventricular hemorrhage, and a combination of
any of these events.

RESULTS

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE STUDY SAMPLE

We enrolled 1316 infants in the study (Fig. 1).
When 247 infants had been enrolled, enrollment
was temporarily suspended on the basis of the
recommendation of the data and safety monitor-
ing committee and the decision of the director of
the National Institute of Child Health and Hu-
man Development because of concern that read-
ings of levels of oxygen saturation often exceeded
the target levels. Separation of the oximetry data
according to whether patients were breathing am-
bient air or receiving oxygen supplementation ad-
dressed this concern, because infants who did not
require supplemental oxygen accounted for a large
proportion of the high saturation levels. Resump-

tion of enrollment was approved. The baseline
characteristics of the two treatment groups were
similar (Table 1).

PRIMARY OUTCOME

The rate of the composite primary outcome, se-
vere retinopathy or death before discharge, did not
differ significantly between the lower-oxygen-
saturation group and the higher-oxygen-satura-
tion group (28.3 and 32.1%, respectively; relative
risk with lower oxygen saturation, 0.90; 95% con-
fidence interval [CI], 0.76 to 1.06; P=0.21) (Table
2). Although the trial was not powered to detect
an interaction between the level of oxygen satura-
tion and the ventilation intervention, we prospec-
tively planned to evaluate this interaction, and no
significant interaction was found (P=0.57). Death
before discharge occurred in 130 of 654 infants
in the lower-oxygen-saturation group (19.9%) as
compared with 107 of 662 infants in the higher-
oxygen-saturation group (16.2%) (relative risk with
lower oxygen saturation, 1.27; 95% CI, 1.01 to 1.60;
P=0.04; number needed to harm, 27). The distri-
bution of the major causes of death did not differ
significantly between the two groups (see Table 1
in the Supplementary Appendix, available with the
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Table 2. Major Outcomes.*

Qutcome

Severe retinopathy of prematurity or death before discharge
Severe retinopathy of prematurity
Death

Before discharge

By 36 wk postmenstrual age
BPD, defined by use of supplemental oxygen, at 36 wk
BPD, defined by use of supplemental oxygen, or death by 36 wk
BPD, physiological definition, at 36 wkT
BPD, physiological definition, or death by 36 wkf
Intraventricular hemorrhage, grade 3 or 4%
Intraventricular hemorrhage, grade 3 or 4, or death;
Periventricular leukomalacia
Periventricular leukomalacia or death
Necrotizing enterocolitis, stage =2{
Necrotizing enterocolitis, stage =2, or death
Pneumothorax
Postnatal corticosteroids for BPD
Death

By 7 days

By 14 days
Late-onset sepsis
Late-onset sepsis or death
Patent ductus arteriosus
Treatment for patent ductus arteriosus

Medical

Surgical
Any air leaks in first 14 days

Lower Oxygen
Saturation
(N=654)

Higher Oxygen
Saturation
(N=662)

no. ftotal no. (%)

171/605 (28.3)
41/475 (3.6)

130/654 (19.9)
114/654 (17.4)
203/540 (37.6)
317/654 (48.5)
205/540 (38.0)
319/654 (48.8)
83/630 (13.2)
179/653 (27.4)
24/631 (3.8)
149/654 (22.8)
76/641 (11.9)
176/654 (26.9)
47/654 (7.2)
61/636 (9.6)

41/654 (6.3)
64/654 (9.8)
228/624 (36.5)
300/654 (45.9)
307/641 (47.9)

219/634 (34.5)
73/641 (11.4)
51/654 (7.8)

198/616 (32.1)
91/509 (17.9)

107/662 (16.2)
94/662 (14.2)
265/568 (46.7)
359/662 (54.2)
237/568 (41.7)
331/662 (50.0)
81/640 (12.7)
156/661 (23.6)
30/641 (4.7)
132/662 (19.9)
70/649 (10.8)
155/662 (23.4)
43/662 (6.5)
69/644 (10.7)

38/662 (5.7)
56/662 (3.5)
226/634 (35.6)
291/662 (44.0)
324/648 (50.0)

233/645 (36.1)
68/648 (10.5)
42/662 (6.3)

Adjusted Relative
Risk
(95% Cl)

0.90 (0.76-1.06)
0.52 (0.37-0.73)

1.27 (1.01-1.60)
1.27 (0.99-1.63)
0.82 (0.72-0.93)
0.91 (0.83-1.01)
0.92 (0.81-1.05)
0.99 (0.90-1.10)
1.06 (0.80-1.40)
1.18 (0.99-1.42)
0.83 (0.49-1.42)
1.18 (0.96-1.45)
1.11 (0.82-1.51)
1.18 (0.98-1.43)
1.12 (0.74-1.68)
0.91 (0.67-1.24)

1.11 (0.72-1.72)
1.20 (0.84-1.70)
1.03 (0.89-1.18)
1.05 (0.94-1.18)
0.96 (0.86-1.07)

0.95 (0.82-1.09)
1.09 (0.80-1.48)
1.23 (0.83-1.83)

* Values were adjusted for stratification factors (study center and gestational-age group) as well as for familial clustering. BPD denotes bron-

chopulmonary dysplasia.

T The physiological definition of BPD includes, as a criterion, the receipt of more than 30% oxygen or the need for positive pressure support
at 36 weeks or, in the case of infants requiring less than 30% oxygen, the need for any oxygen at 36 weeks after an attempt at oxygen with-

drawal.

i There are four grades of intraventricular hemorrhage; higher grades indicate more severe bleeding.

{ There are three stages of necrotizing enterocolitis; higher stages indicate more severe necrotizing enterocolitis.

full text of this article at NEJM.org). Similar re- The rate of severe retinopathy among survivors
sults were observed for both gestational-age strata. who were discharged or transferred to another
Survival analysis with the use of the unadjusted facility or who reached the age of 1 year was low-
Kaplan—Meier method (Fig. 2) and a Cox propor- er in the lower-oxygen-saturation group (8.6% vs.
tional-hazards model produced similar results 17.9%; relative risk, 0.52; 95% CI, 0.37 to 0.73;
(hazard ratio, 1.28; 95% CI, 0.98 to 1.68; P=0.07). P<0.001; number needed to treat, 11). Although
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Figure 2. Kaplan—Meier Estimate of Survival to Hospital Discharge,
Transfer, or 1 Year of Life.

Cox proportional-hazards analysis indicated that there was an increased
hazard of death in the lower-oxygen-saturation group as compared with the
higher-oxygen-saturation group (hazard ratio, 1.28; 95% Cl, 0.98 to 1.68;
P=0.07). The analysis assumed that infants who were discharged or trans-
ferred from the hospital survived to 1 year of age.
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Figure 3. Actual Median Oxygen Saturation with Oxygen Supplementation
in the Two Treatment Groups.

The medians of the distributions were significantly different on the basis of
a rank-sum test (P<0.001). The 80% level of oxygen saturation shown in-
cludes all values at or below 80%.

use of bevacizumab was among the criteria for
this outcome, only three infants received bevaciz-
umab, and these infants also had threshold retin-
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opathy or surgical intervention for retinopathy.
Three ophthalmologists adjudicated results for the
patients who did not meet the criteria for retinopa-
thy, and the results were materially unchanged
(Table 2 in the Supplementary Appendix).

SECONDARY OUTCOMES
The rate of oxygen use at 36 weeks was reduced
in the lower-oxygen-saturation group as com-
pared with the higher-oxygen-saturation group
(P=0.002), but the rates of bronchopulmonary dys-
plasia among survivors, as determined by the phys-
iological test of oxygen saturation at 36 weeks,
and the composite outcome of bronchopulmonary
dysplasia or death by 36 weeks did not differ sig-
nificantly between the treatment groups. Other
prespecified major outcomes also did not differ
significantly between the two groups (Table 2).
The median level of oxygen saturation in in-
fants who were receiving oxygen supplementation
in the two treatment groups differed substan-
tially but, as expected, there was considerable
overlap (Fig. 3). The actual median levels of oxy-
gen saturation were slightly higher than targeted
levels in both treatment groups. The duration of
oxygen supplementation was shorter in the lower-
oxygen-saturation group, but the duration of me-
chanical ventilation, CPAP, and nasal synchronized
intermittent mandatory ventilation did not differ
significantly (Table 3 in the Supplementary Ap-
pendix). Other measures of resource use also did
not differ significantly between the two groups.

DISCUSSION

In this multicenter, randomized trial, we found
no significant difference in the primary outcome
— severe retinopathy or death — between in-
fants randomly assigned to a lower target range
of oxygen saturation (85 to 89%) and those as-
signed to a higher target range (91 to 95%). As-
sessment of the individual components of the pri-
mary outcome showed that the lower target range
of oxygen saturation increased the risk of in-hos-
pital death, whereas it reduced the risk of severe
retinopathy among survivors. These results were
observed even though there was substantial over-
lap of actual levels of oxygen saturation between
the two treatment groups. Previous trials of tar-
geting of levels of oxygen saturation have shown
similar difficulties in maintaining levels of oxy-
gen saturation within a narrow target range.'®:2?
Longer follow-up will be required to determine
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the effects of lower target ranges of oxygen sat-
uration on functional visual and neurodevelop-
mental outcomes.

Despite the increase in mortality when restric-
tive oxygen supplementation was used in the 1950s
and 1960s and the limited data from observa-
tional studies,?%1%1° it is becoming common prac-
tice to use lower target ranges of oxygen satu-
ration with the goal of reducing the risk of
retinopathy of prematurity.® The results of this
large randomized trial to test the effect of lower
versus higher target ranges of oxygen saturation,
in conjunction with the results of previous stud-
ies, add to the concern that oxygen restriction
may increase the rate of death among preterm
infants. The combined risk difference observed
in the trials from the 1950s was an absolute in-
crease in in-hospital mortality of 4.9 percentage
points in the oxygen-restricted group,* which is
close to the absolute increase of 3.7 percentage
points in the rate of death before discharge in
the lower-oxygen-saturation group that was ob-
served in the current trial.

Randomized trials of oxygen restriction in pre-
term infants at least 2 weeks after birth® or after
moderately severe retinopathy developed?? did not
show an increased risk of death or a significantly
reduced risk of retinopathy in the lower-oxygen-
saturation groups. However, the lower target
ranges of oxygen saturation in these trials — 91
to 94% in one trial and 89 to 94% in the other
— were closer to the target range in our higher-
oxygen-saturation group. The increase in mortal-
ity in our trial may be related to the lower target
ranges of levels of oxygen saturation, the use of
oxygen restriction started soon after birth, or both.
A meta-analysis of early restriction of oxygen
supplementation based on trials from the 1950s
to the 1970s showed a reduction in severe retin-
opathy (relative risk, 0.19; 95% CI, 0.07 to 0.50)
with a nonsignificant trend toward increased
mortality.* These trials were performed by lim-
iting the F10, concentration usually to less than
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0.50, at a time before the continuous monitoring
of arterial oxygen saturation was possible. To our
knowledge, no other randomized, controlled tri-
als of different target ranges of oxygen saturation
in supplementation initiated soon after birth have
been performed since the availability of continu-
ous transcutaneous monitoring of oxygen satu-
ration. Like the meta-analysis®* and most non-
randomized studies,5151¢ our trial confirmed
that lower target ranges of oxygenation result in
a large reduction in the incidence of severe retin-
opathy among survivors. However, our data sug-
gest that there is one additional death for ap-
proximately every two cases of severe retinopathy
that are prevented. Several ongoing trials across
the world address the same intervention tested in
the current trial.2s

In summary, a target range of oxygen satura-
tion of 85 to 89%, as compared with a range of
91 to 95%, did not affect the combined outcome
of severe retinopathy or death, but it increased
mortality while substantially decreasing severe
retinopathy among survivors. At the present time,
caution should be exercised regarding a strategy
of targeting levels of oxygen saturation in the low
range for preterm infants, since it may lead to in-
creased mortality.
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From: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]

To: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]
Subject: FW: SUPPORT study issue still unresolved

Date: Thursday, April 25, 2013 11:08:29 AM

From: Abel, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

Sent: Thursday, April 25, 2013 11:08 AM
To: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/0OD) [E]
Subject: FW: SUPPORT study issue still unresolved

From:

Collins, Francis (NIH/0D) [E]

Sent: Thursday, April 25, 2013 10:26 AM

To: Hu

dson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E]

Subject: Fwd: SUPPORT study issue still unresolved

Spoke with Bill, he's on it. [(b)(5)

(b)(3)

Sent from my iPhone

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Corr, Bill (HHS/10S)" <Bill.Corr@hhs.gov>
Date: April 25,2013 7:51:10 AM EDT

To: "Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]" <collinsf@od.nih.gov>

Subject: RE: SUPPORT study issue still unresolved

Francis,

Heading to SCIF, will try to reach you before 8:30am.

From: Collins, Francis (NIH/0D) [E] [mailto:collinsf@od.nih.gov]

Sent: Wednesday, April 24, 2013 9:54 PM

To: Corr, Bill (HHS/IOS)

Subject: SUPPORT study issue still unresolved
Importance: High

Hi Bill,

(b)(3)
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(b)(3)

Do you have a few minutes early tomorrow to discuss this? | could call anytime before

8:30 AM.
Thanks, and sorry to trouble you,

Francis
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From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]
To: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS); Palm, Andrea (HHS/IOS)
Cc: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]; Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; McGarey, Barbara

(NIH/OD) [E]; Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Burklow, John
(NIH/OD) [E]; White, Pat (NIH/OD) [E]; Howard, Sally (HH5/10S); Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]; Horowitz,

David (HHS/OGC)
Subject: NIH two pager SUPPORT 042413 11PM
Date: Wednesday, April 24, 2013 11:40:45 PM
Attachments: NIH two pager SUPPORT 042413 11PM.docx

Caya,

You asked for a two pager on the support study by 1 pm tomorrow. Please accept our slightly longer
(3.15 pages) that has not undergone extensive review here but please know that the nih team is all
standing firmly together about our views on this. [()(5) ]

[(B)5) |
kathy
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NIH’s Concerns about OHRP’s Complaint
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From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]

To: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]
Subject: Fwd: SUPPORT study issue still unresolved

Date: Wednesday, April 24, 2013 10:18:03 PM

Attachments: NEJM 4-17-13 Editorial.doc

ATT00001.htm

261

FYI and not to distribute.

Kathy Hudson, Ph.D.

Deputy Director for Science, Outreach, and Policy
NIH

301 496 1455

kathy.h n@nih.gov

Begin forwarded message:

From: "Collins, Francis (NIH/OD) [E]" <collinsf@od.nih.gov>
Date: April 24, 2013, 9:53:48 PM EDT

To: "Corr, Bill (HHS/IOS)" <Bill.Corr@hhs.gov>

Subject: SUPPORT study issue still unresolved

Hi Bill,

(b)(3)

Do you have a few minutes early tomorrow to discuss this? | could call anytime before
8:30 AM.

Thanks, and sorry to trouble you,
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NEW ENGLAND JOURNAL OF MEDICINE

EDITORIAL

Informed Consent and SUPPORT

Jeffrey M. Drazen, M.D., Caren G. Solomon, M.D., M.P.H., and Michael F. Greene, M.D.
April 17, 2013DOI: 10.1056/NEJMe 1304996

In the summer of 1963, the nation watched in sadness as Patrick Bouvier Kennedy, the youngest child of
President John F. Kennedy and First Lady Jacqueline Bouvier Kennedy, was born prematurely and then died of
lung disease 2 days later at Children's Hospital in Boston. Even now, it is common knowledge that children

born prematurely are at high risk for death.

So it is easy to imagine the stress when, in 2005, your new baby decides to come into the world after only 6
months of gestation, long before your pregnancy has reached term. You know that extremely premature babies
like yours may not survive, but you are reassured that you are giving birth at an academic medical center with a
sophisticated nursery for premature newborns and with physicians who have extensive experience with very
preterm infants. Decades of study and refining practice have resulted in major improvements in the care of
premature infants; now most babies weighing a kilogram or more, and many weighing less than this, survive.
This progress has come through careful research in multiple aspects of neonatal care, but many questions
remain regarding practice that will maximize survival and minimize the long-term sequelae resulting from
surviving severe prematurity. Without research studies your neonatologist would simply be guessing about

what is best rather than knowing what is best for your child.

The physicians in the nursery ask you to allow your very premature baby to participate in a research study,
called the Surfactant, Positive Pressure, and Oxygenation Randomized Trial (SUPPORT), part of which is
focused on the amount of supplemental oxygen they will give to your baby. They orally explain the study to you

and ask you to sign an informed-consent document; it is six pages of single-spaced typescript.

Premature babies often require supplemental oxygen; what was not known in 2005 was exactly how much
oxygen to give. The doctors knew that maintaining very high oxygen levels in the blood might cause retinopathy
of prematurity (ROP), or abnormal growth of blood vessels in the eyes, which can damage the retinas and
impair vision. The informed-consent form notes the higher risk of ROP that is associated with prolonged
exposure to supplemental oxygen but states that “the benefit of higher versus lower levels of oxygenation in
infants, especially for premature infants, is not known" and also notes that “the use of lower saturation ranges
may result in a lower incidence of severe ROP.” Clinical practice at the time (and that recommended in the
2002 and 2007 guidelines of the American Academy of Pediatrics,1.2 on whose guidelines committee one of us
served) was to target values for the partial pressure of arterial oxygen anywhere between 50 and 80 mm Hg,

consistent with oxygen saturations measured by pulse oximetry between 85% and 95%. Among the clinical
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questions addressed by SUPPORT was whether targeting the upper or lower end of this range might result in

better outcomes for very preterm infants.

The study was conceived in 2003, initiated in 2005, and completed in 2009. Trials addressing the same clinical
question were initiated in 2006 in the United Kingdom, Australia, and New Zealand (Benefits of Oxygen
Saturation Targeting [BOOST 1)), indicating the importance of the question.3 For a baby not enrolled in any of
these trials, the specific range of oxygen saturation targeted within these broader guidelines was left to the

discretion of the child's physician, who lacked data to guide decision making.

The consent document for SUPPORT that you have been handed spells this out clearly and succinctly: “The
babies in the lower range group will have a target saturation of 85—89%, while the babies in the higher range
group will have a target saturation of 91—-95%. All of these saturations are considered normal ranges for
premature infants.” You sign the form, and your child enters the study. The same process was also taking place

with parents of newborn extremely premature infants at multiple centers across the country.

After 5 years and more than 1300 babies studied, the data from SUPPORT are published in 2010 in the
Journal .4 The data show that, even within the recommended oxygen saturation range, babies with a higher
oxygen saturation target had a higher risk of ROP, and those with a lower saturation target had a higher risk of
death. With this new information, the investigators in the BOOST Il trials in the United Kingdom and Australia
review their preliminary data and discover that lower oxygen saturations in their trials are also associated with a

higher rate of death.3 These findings changed medical practice at many centers.

There was no way for you as a parent of a child in SUPPORT to know what the answer would be before your
child participated. The study made clear that higher oxygen saturations within the then-recommended range
increased the risk of retinopathy but decreased the risk of death. This is how new medical knowledge is gained.

The story should have ended there, but it didn't.

In 2011, the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) of the U.S. Department of Health and Human
Services began an investigation into the informed-consent process used when newborns were enrolled in
SUPPORT. Their investigation concluded with a 13-page letter of determination sent to the SUPPORT lead

center on March 7, 2013 (provided with a sample informed-consent form in the Supplementary Appendix,

available with the full text of this article at NEJM.org). The OHRP reached the following conclusion: “It was
alleged, and we determine, that the IRB [institutional review board] approved informed consent documents for
this study failed to include or adequately address the following basic element required by HHS [Health and
Human Services] regulations at 45 CFR 46.116(a): Section 46.116(a)(2): A description of any reasonably

foreseeable risks and discomforts.”

This response is disappointing, because it does not take into account either the extent of clinical equipoise at

the time the study was initiated and conducted or that the consent form, when viewed in its entirety, addressed
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the prevalent knowledge fairly and reasonably. At the time, as explained in the principal investigator's response
to the allegations and in a related letter to the editor in the Journals there was no evidence to suggest an
increased risk of death with oxygen levels in the lower end of a range viewed by experts as acceptable, and
thus there was not a failure on the part of investigators to obtain appropriately informed consent from parents of
participating infants. Through hindsight (and essentially faulting investigators for not informing parents up front
of a risk later uncovered by the trial itself), the OHRP investigation has had the effect of damaging the
reputation of the investigators and, even worse, casting a pall over the conduct of clinical research to answer

important questions in daily practice.

Clinical research is crucial if we are to advance medical science. Clinical investigators acted in good faith to
design a trial to address an important question. An informed-consent document was drafted and approved by
institutional review boards of participating centers before the work was begun. The OHRP has a duty to
investigate questions of research impropriety, but we strongly disagree with their determination of inadequate

informed consent in this case.

The results of SUPPORT have been critical in informing treatment decisions for extremely preterm infants.
When babies like Patrick Bouvier Kennedy are born today, their chances of survival to adulthood are greatly
improved, thanks to research made possible by thousands of parents and their children. We are dismayed by

the response of the OHRP and consider the SUPPORT trial a model of how to make medical progress.
Disclosure forms provided by the authors are available with the full text of this article at NEJM.org.

This article was published on April 17, 2013, at NEJM.org.

Source Information

From the Massachusetts General Hospital, Boston (M.F.G.).
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From: Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/OD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/OD) [E]; Rowe, Mona (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Maddox, Yvonne (NIH/NICHD) [E];
Guttmacher, Alan (NIH/NICHD) [E]

Subject: RE: NIH memo on SUPPORT study

Date: Wednesday, April 24, 2013 5:47:36 PM

Attachments: Final Support Internal.docx

This is a document that we had previously worked on at NICHD— the issues at hand is that the AAP
Guidelines for Perinatal Care were to target sats 85-95%. Thus, since a clinical guideline, there was
not evidence at either end that mortality was at issue.

Let me know if you need more documentation.

Thanks for your help
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

Sent: Wednesday, April 24, 2013 5:37 PM

To: Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]
Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/0D) [E]

Subject: RE: NIH memo on SUPPORT study

We don’t really have a template and not enough time to develop one so send whatever you have
rose and amy and | will work to get something ready to send downtown

From: Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]

Sent: Wednesday, April 24, 2013 5:36 PM

To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E]; Patterson, Amy (NIH/0OD) [E]
Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/0D) [E]

Subject: Re: NIH memo on SUPPORT study

Amy-

Do you have a template?
Thanks

Rose

Rosemary D. Higgins
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Program Scientist for the NICHD Neonatal Research Network

From: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E]

Sent: Wednesday, April 24, 2013 05:34 PM

To: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Higgins, Rosemary (NIH/NICHD) [E]
Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/0D) [E]

Subject: FW: NIH memo on SUPPORT study

That one pager can now be 2 but can | get a draft tonight???

From: Lewis, Caya (HHS/IOS)

Sent: Wednesday, April 24, 2013 5:32 PM
To: Hudson, Kathy (NIH/0D) [E]

Cc: Devaney, Stephanie (NIH/0D) [E]
Subject: NIH memo on SUPPORT study
Importance: High

Kathy,

Thanks for your time earlier today on this.

267

(b)(3)

Thanks,
Caya
Caya B. Lewis, MPH

Counselor for Science & Public Health
Office of the Secretary, DHHS
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What is the SUPPORT Study?

The Surfactant Positive Airway Pressure and Pulse Oximetry Trial (SUPPORT) study was a
large clinical trial that sought to determine how best to deliver oxygen to very small preterm
infants and determine the ideal oxygen saturation targets for these very fragile newborns. The
study compared the traditional means of providing oxygen, ventilator therapy with surfactant, to
continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP), in which air is blown through a preterm infant’s
nostrils to gently inflate the lungs. When the study began, the standard treatment was to maintain
oxygen levels in the range of 85 to 95 percent. The researchers sought to identify within this
standard range the percentage of oxygen saturation that would minimize the risk of retinopathy
of prematurity. Previous studies had shown that prolonged exposure to high levels of oxygen
could increase the risk of retinopathy of prematurity, a complication of oxygen therapy that
affects the retina and can sometimes result in vision loss. The study was divided into two arms,
each of which proceeded at the same time, in the same group of infants. In the first arm, each
infant had a 50 percent chance of receiving higher oxygen target saturation levels, and a 50
percent chance of receiving lower levels. In the second arm, each infant had a 50 percent chance
of receiving oxygen by CPAP and a 50 percent chance of being assigned to the ventilator group.

What did the SUPPORT Study find?

The researchers found that the higher range increased the chances of survival but also increased
the chances for ROP. This unexpected but critical finding informed clinical practice. The
researchers also concluded that CPAP therapy was as effective as ventilator therapy, and resulted
in fewer complications.

How did mortality rates from the study compare to those of infants not in the study?
Infants in the study had a lower mortality rate than those not enrolled. Even after adjusting for

characteristics of the non-enrolled infants, such as poorer health, infants in the study were still at
no greater risk of death and other conditions associated with extreme prematurity.

Percent Mortality:

Higher saturation group 16.2 percent
Lower saturation group 19.9 percent
Infants treated outside of study 23.1 percent
Non-enrolled/Eligible patients 24.1 percent

Had the researchers anticipated a lower survival rate for the infants in the lower oxygen
range?

No. The finding of a lower survival rate for those at the lower range was not anticipated or
expected. At the time of the study, clinical practice for providing oxygen to very preterm babies
varied widely. A target range of 85-95 percent was generally standard clinical practice and in
2007 was recommended by the American Academy of Pediatrics. In fact, at the time, emerging
research showed that providing oxygen at the lower end of the acceptable range reduced the
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risk of retinopathy without increasing the risk of death and neurodevelopmental impairment. As
a result, physicians were starting to use the lower oxygen range to treat very preterm babies.

Has the Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP) criticized the design or rationale
for the study?

It is critical to note that the treatments or the rationale of the study has never been in question by
the Office for Human Research Protections.

What had OHRP objected to?

The OHRP cited the study for not including language, specifically in the risk/benefit section of
the consent form, about research conducted in the 1950s suggesting the risk of death was higher
with oxygen restriction.

Why had the researchers not included this language?

The older ROP studies were conducted before the widespread use of ventilators, pulse oximetry,
and other sophisticated oxygen monitoring and measurement devices. The risk/benefit
description under the oxygen saturation section of the consent form included language that
reflected the available information/knowledge/data the oxygen administered at the lower
saturation range reduced the risk of retinopathy. Since the current research had not shown a
higher risk of death and neurodevelopmental impairment at any of these saturation levels (85-
95%), the study authors did not list death and neurodevelopmental impairment as potential risks.

Were parents adequately informed of the study risks?

In addition to the consent form, representatives of the study explained the purpose of the
research and its potential risks and benefits to parents and responded to their questions and
concerns.

Has the OHRP expressed any additional concerns with the study?

In an interview with the New York Times (but not in the original letter to the Principal
Investigator’s institution, the University of Alabama), the Director of OHRP, Jerry Menikoff
said: “Based on their very hypothesis, they were thinking that there might well be a
difference...Being in the higher end [of the oxygen saturation range] should have put you at
greater risk of developing eye disease.” The parents were informed in the consent form that their
children would be assigned at random to the higher or lower range. They were also told that they
believed children at the lower range would be less likely to develop ROP. However, it was not
explicitly stated that children at the higher range might be more likely to develop ROP.

In addition to the consent form, were there any other safeguards to ensure that the infants
would receive the optimal care?
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Attending physicians were allowed to override the settings if they thought their patients were in
danger, and provide either more or less oxygen if they thought that following either course was
in their patients’ best interest. In addition, attending physicians and parents were free to ask that
their children be withdrawn from the study at any time.

What is the purpose of the Neonatal Research Network (NRN)?

The NRN, which is currently composed of 18 medical research institutions, was established in
1986 to conduct clinical trials and observational studies in neonatal medicine to help reduce
infant morbidity and mortality, and promote healthy outcomes.

Consistent with this mission, between 2000 and 2009, deaths of preterm infants declined 5.5%,
from 109.75 per 1,000 live births to 103.48. Death rates for “early” preterm infants, those born
before 32 weeks, declined 4.9% from 180.95 to 172.15 per 1,000 live births. In addition, NRN
findings have helped to change clinical practice and improve outcomes for premature infants,
such as:
v" Identifying a safe way to protect newborns whose brains were getting insufficient
oxygen
v Showing that providing additional Vitamin A to infants under 1,000 grams
significantly reduced their risk of death or getting chronic lung disease
v Showing that giving intravenous immune globulin to reduce hospital-acquired
infections in very low birthweight infants, actually increased rates of an often fatal
intestinal condition in newborns
v Showing that giving additional glutamine, an amino acid, to extremely low
birthweight infants did not reduce their risk of death or sepsis
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Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) [E]

From: Carr, Sarah (NIH/ODj) [E]

Sent: Saturday, April 13, 2013 6:57 PM
To: Borror, Kristina C (HHS/CASH)
Subject: RE: UAB's response

Thanks, Kristina, and also for taking time to confer with us yesterday.

From: Borror, Kristina C (HHS/QASH)

Sent: Friday, April 12, 2013 4:17 PM

To: Patterson, Amy (NIH/OD) [E]; Carr, Sarah (NIH/OD) {E]; Stagnitto, Maria (NIH/OD) [E]; Hardy, Ann (NIH/OD} [E];
Gordon, Valery (NIH/QOD} [E]

Cc: Menikoff, Jerry (HHS/0OASH)

Subject: UAB's response

UAB’s response is attached.

Keristina C. Borvor, Ph.D.

Director

Division of Compliance Oversight
Office for Human Rescarch Protections
1101 Wootton Parkway, Suite 200

The Tower Building

Rockville, MD 20852

email: kristina.borror@hhs.goy

Phone: (240} 453-8132

Fa: (240 453-6909
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lL'JI‘:IEE!;T}%EELJ%M\/E}?EHT“Y OF
ALABAMA AT BIRMINGHAM

Office of the Vice Fresident for Research and Economic Davelopment

March 22, 2013

Lisa R, Buchanan, MAOM

Compliance Oversight Coordinator
Division of Compliance Oversight
Office for Human Research Protections
The Tower Building

1101 Wootton Parkway, Suite 200
Rockville, Maryland 20852

RE: Research Project entitled “The Surfactant, Positive Pressure, and Oxygenation Randomized Trial
{SUPPORT}
Principal Investigator; Dr. Waldemar Carlo
HHS Protocol Number: 2U10HDO34216

Dear Ms. Buchanan:

This letter is in response to your correspondence dated February 8, 2013 {and subsequent revision dated March
7, 2013) regarding the project referenced above. 1 am in receipt of a letter from the investigators of the NICHD
Neonatal Research Network and authors of the SUPPORT Study Group. Allow me to provide an excerpt from
that correspondence:

The investigators of the NICHD Neonatat Research Network and authors of the SUPPORT Study Group
would like ta first thank OHRP for presenting its concerns clearly and giving us an opportunity to share
our thinking about these issues. The Neonatal Research Network investigators are committed to the
highest standards of ethical conduct in our human subjects’ research, especially where vulnerable
participants are concerned, Please ... let us know if we can discuss any of the issues by conference call
at your convenience. We welcome the opportunity to engage in a constructive dialogue with OHRP to
ensure that if there are opportunities to improve our research practices, we will identify them and
incorporate them into our program going forward.

OHRP's {etter requested that UAB “provide a pian that the IRB will use to ensure that approved informed
consent documents include and adequately address the basic elements of consent as required by HHS
regulations at 45 CFR 46.116(a)”. The following actions have already been implemented:

¢ The Office of the Institutional Review Board (OIRB) has revised the sample consent form {see Appendix 1)
provided to investigators. Information has been added to the Risks and Discomforts section to instruct
investigators to include the specific risks of all arms even if those procedures fall within the parameters
of standard of care.

e Checklists used by OIRB staff members to ensure both regulatory and institutional requirements are met
prior to the [RB approval of a study have been refined to ensure inclusion of all of the basic elements of

720E Adrainlsiralion Buiding marchase@uab edu
700 20w Street Souih wisew, tab. edu/research
205034, 1204 Mailing Address:

[ 200 H¥ b 24540 AB 720E
1530 3RD AVE S
BIRMINGHAM Al 35284-0107
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Page 2 of 2
Lisa R. Buchanan — QHRP
March 22, 2013

consent as required by HHS regulations at 45 CFR 46.116(a). The New Protocol Checklist is attached as
Appendix (i,

+ OIRB staff members who coordinate the reviews of research protocols have been reminded that the
risks of all study arms must be described in the consent document, even when those arms fall within the
parameters of standard of care.

We believe the steps described above wilf ensure that approved informed consent documents will include and
adequately address the basic elements of consent as required by HHS regulations at 45 CFR 46.116(a}. The UAB
QIRB continually seeks ways to improve its already strong program of human research protection and is
appreciative of OHRP’s recommendations and guidance.

Please do not hesitate to contact me if OHRP has questions or suggestions in this regard.
Smceref? 4 /

Richard B. Marchase? Ph.D.
Vice President for Research and Economic Development

cC: Ferdinand Urthaler, MD, Chair, UAB IRBs
Jonathan Miller, Director, UAB Office of the IRB
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Appendix | — UAB IRB Sample Informed Consent Docurnent
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Sample Consent Form

It is impossible to address all scenarios for the many types of
research protocols conducted by UAB researchers. This sample is
designed to assist you in the preparation of consent forms. It is
intended to show language preferred by the UAB IRB to address the
essential elements of informed consent. In many cases, the sample
language will need to be modified, deleted, or expanded for the
particular study.

Shaded paragraphs like this one are Instructions for you, the writer, Do not include them
in the consent form you submit, If the instructions Indicate that specific language applies
to your protocol, the specific language will be shown below the instructions outside of
the shaded paragraph.

Use this sample consent form as a guide for obtaining consent and/or assent
from participants 14 years of age and older.

Formatting Instructions

+ Usea 12 pt font for the consent form.

» Write the consent form in the 2nd person (l.e., you) and keep the pronoun usage
consistent throughout.
Use Page X of Y numbering on each page.

+ lLeave an area approximately 1 inch by 2 inches on the bottom of the first page for
the IRB approval stamp.

Use understandable, non-technical language at an 8th-grade or lower reading

level,

+ Readability statistics can be displayed in Microsoft Word, Search Microsoft Office Help
for “readability statistics” for further instructlons,

DELETE THIS FIRST PAGE OF INFORMATION
IF YOU ARE USING THIS DOCUMENT
TO CREATE YOUR CONSENT FORM.

Page 1 of 17
Version Date: 02/25/13
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CONSENT FORM

TITLE OF RESEARCH: Fvaluation of the Safety and Efficacy of Trimycin vs.
Hydrochlorothiazide in the Treatment of Hypertension

IRB PROTOCOL: Ui HER
INVESTIGATOR: John Doe, Ph.D.

SPONSOR: If the protacol is being sponsored by UAB departmental funds or is
unfunded, put the name of the department here (e.g., UAB Department of Medicine).
For student research, include the student’s departmental affiliation,

If additional or other support is being provided, include this information with a heading
such as "SUPPORTED BY:" After the SPONSOCR line.

SPONSOR: Wise Drug Company, Inc.

RESEARCH INVOLVING CHILDREN:

* When a parent cr guardian is providing consent for oniy the chiid participant who will
slgn the assent section of the consent form, do not use “you/your child” throughout
the form. Instead, use "you" and insert the following text after the SPONSOR line
and before the Purpose of the Research section:

For Children (persons under 19 years of age) participating in this study, the term “You” |
addresses both the participant ("you") and the parent or legally authorized representative ("your |

child”).

+ When a parent or guardian is providing consent for only the child participant who will
sign a separate assent form or who will not provide written assent, use "your child”
throughout the form.

+ When a parent or guardlan is providing consent for both him/herself and the child
participant, specify throughout the consent form when you are referring to the
parent and when you are referring to the ¢hlld. This would allow for the use of “you,”
“your child,” and “you and your child” throughout the form,

Purpose of the Research

Explain the purpose of the study in nontechnical language,

Describe why the participant is being asked to join.

State that the study invelves research,

If drugs or devices are used, indicate whether they are FDA approved or
investigational.

If applicable, explain what a Pilot, Phase 1, 11, II1, or IV drug study is.

» State the total planned number of participants (e.g., Individuals, records, specimens)
to be enrclled by the UAB investigator, and studywlde for multicenter studies.

Page 2 of 17
Version Date: 02/25/13
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We are asking you to take part in a research study. This research study will test how well a new
drug lowers blood pressure, The new drug, Trimycin, is investigational and not yet approved by
the .S, Food and Drug Administration (FDA). Pecople who cnter into the study will take either
the new drug, Trimycin, or Hydrochlorothiazide (water pill). Hydrochlorothiazide is the FDA
approved drug that most pcople take now Lo lower blood pressure. Trimycin is approved in
Europe, but has not been approved in the United States. More than 200 people in other rescarch
studies in the United States have salely used Trimycin. This is a Phase III study. A Phase I1I
study is a research study that looks at a large number of paticnts receiving a common or routine
treatrment, This study will enroll 200 participants nationwide, and 20 of them will come from
UAB.

Explanation of Procedurcs

+« Describe the procedures to be followed, [dentifying which procedures are for research
and which procedures are standard of care.

« Identify which procedures are experimental,

« Estimate the amount of time involved in study participation.

« If specimens {e.q., blood, tissue, body fluids) will be collected as part of the research
procedures, describe the collection in this section. If the specimens will be stored for
future research, describe the storage procedures under "Storage of Specimens for

Future Use.”

If you enter the study, all your current blood pressure medicines will be stopped for 1 month,
During this time, you will be given pills called placchos. A placebo does not have any active
medicine, so it should not have any effect on your blood pressure. However, this placeboe might
cause your blood pressure to lower. The study staff will need to watch your blood pressure
closely while you are not on any medicine for your blood pressure. Your blood pressure will be
watched to make sure it does not rise so high that you need immediate treatment. You will need
to come for office visits three times during the first week. You will need 1o come for office visits
two times per week during Weeks 2, 3, and 4. If your blood pressure is in the range required after
Week 4, you will be entered into the study. If your blood pressure is not in the range required
after Week 4, you will not be enlered into the study and will receive standard care for your blood
pressure. If you are entered and complete the entire study, you will be in the study for 6 months,
If you qualify for the study, you will be randemly picked (like the {lip of a coin) by a computer
to receive either Trimyein or Hydrochlorothiazide. You will take the medicine once a day by
mouth. This will be a double-blind study. This means neither you nor your doctors will know
which medicine you are taking, If medically necessary, the doctor can find out which drug you
are taking,

These tests will be made during the study: lab blood tests, urine tests, weight measures, resting
electrocardiogram, heart rate, and blood pressure. (An electrocardiogram measures the cleetrical
activity of the hear{.} You will be asked to come back to the clinic for 20 weekly visits. At each
visit you will be asked if you have had any bad reactions and how you are {eeling on the drug,

If drug screening s part of the protocol, include a statement such as:

Page 3 of 17
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If you have used any illicit (street) drug(s) within the past 3 months, we ask that you not
participate in this project.

Where HIV testing is conducted, Individuals whose test results are associated with
personal identiflers must be informed of thelr own test results and provided the
opportunity to receive appropriate counseling before and after the testing.

Where other protoccl testing for reportable diseases is conducted, indlviduals will be

informed of the results and told where to obtain counseling and referred to their primary
care physician or the state health department.

Incidental Findings

If research-only imaging studies are part of the protocel, address whether or not the
images will be read for incidental findings. If the images will not be read for incidental
findings, Include the following:

We are performing imaging solely for the research purposes described above. 1t is not a clinical
scan intended for diagnostic or therapeutic purposes. Under no circumstance will the
investigator, research staff, or imaging staff interpret the scan as normal or abnormal, They are
unable to make any medical comments about your scan. The scan will not be looked at or read
for any healthcare treatment or diagnostic purpose. If you want your scan to be reviewed by a
physician so that the physician can look for medical issues, you can request a copy of your scan,
We will provide an clectronic copy at no charge.

Risks and Discomforts

« Include any foreseeable risks or discomforts to the participant (e.g., physical, social,
financlal, loss of employability, reputation, and breach of confidentiality).
» When possible, quantify the risks Involved {e.g., common, rare, percentages),
» If the study involves a placebo,
o define placebo {not as treatment or medication; see paragraph above that
begins “If you enter the study...”
o describe what complications may result
o describe the precautions that will be taken to protect the participant during
this time.
» Do not include risks or discomforts associated with drugs or interventions that are
not being administered or performed as part of this study.

You may have some side effects from taking these drugs. The side effects of Trimycin are
headaches, feeling drowsy, and feeling tired. About forty percent (40%) of people who take
Trimycin have reported feeling drowsy and tired. About twenty percent (20%) of people who
take Trimycin have headaches. Hydrochlorothiazide can cause the following side cffects: low
blood potassium, a rise in blood uric acid and blood sugar; and a lowering of red and white blood
cells. About eighty percent (80%) of people who take Hydrochlorothiazide have these problems.
There may also be risks that are unknown at this time. You will be given more information if
other risks are found.
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Randomization: If your protocol involves randomization, Include a paragraph on tlsks
of randomization. Ensure the risks of all study arms are described in detail in this
section, even if the procedures in those arms would be standard of care if the participant
was not in the study. For example:

You will be assigned to a treatment group by chance, and the treatment you receive may prove to
be less effective or to have more side effects than the other study treatment(s) or other available
irealments,

Information for Women of Childbearing Potential and/or Men Capable of FFathering a
Child

If applicable, include this section and address the precautions that should be taken by
women of childbearing potential and/or by men capable of fathering a child before,
during, and/or after participation. List the specific acceptable methods of birth control
for participants involved in the study. Use only the information that is applicable to the
study populaticn,

We do not know if the study drug will affect mother’s milk or an unborn fetus. Therefore, breast-
feeding and pregnant women are not allowed to take part in the study. If you are pregnant or
become pregnant, there may be risks to the embryo or fetus that are unknown at this time
Women who can become pregnant must take a pregnancy test before the starl of the study.

You should not father a child while on this study as the treatment may indirectly affect an unborn
child. If you are sexually active and arc at risk of causing a pregnancy, you and your female
partner(s) must use a method to avoid pregnancy that works well or you must not have sex.

Unless you cannot have children because of surgery or other medical reasons, you must have
been using an effective form of birth control before you start the study, You must also agree to
continue to use an cffective form of birth control for 6 months after taking the study drug.
Effective birth control includes birth control pills, patch, [UD, condom, sponge, diaphragm with
spermnicide, or avoiding sexual activity that could cause you (o become pregnant.

Benefits

s State any potential benefits to the participant or to others that may reasonably be
expected from the research.
s« Do not overstate benefits.
If there is no potential for direct benefit to the participant, that should also be stated.
» Do not include medication, treatment, devices, or compensation Information.

You may not benefit directly from taking part in this study. Howcver, this study may help us
better understand how to treat high blood pressure in the future.

Allernatives

+ Include appropriate alternative procedures or courses of treatment that may be
advantageous to the participant.
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+ One alternative may be to not participate in the study.
There are many other drugs that arc used to trcat high blood pressure. Some examples of these
drugs are Betasan, Enapror, and Ditserin. The investigator or research staff will discuss these
other drugs with you.

Confidentiality

+ Include information regarding anyone who will receive identifiable data {e.g.,
through subcentracts or other agreements,

s Include the US Food and Drug Administration (FOA) if the research involves a drug,
device, or biologic subject toc FDA oversight.

Information obtained about you for this study will be kept confidential to the extent allowed by
law. However, rescarch information that identifies you may be shared with the UAB Institutional
Review Board (IRB) and others who are responsible for ensuring compliance with laws and
regulations related to research, including people on behalf of [ADD SPONSOR NAME] and the
Office for Human Research Protections (OHRP). The results of the reatment may be published
for scientific purposcs. These results could include your [ONLY INCLUDE APPLICABLE] lab
tests and X-rays. However, your identity will not be given out,

Permanent Medical Record: If the consent form will be placed in the participant’s
permanent medical record at University of Alabama Hospltal and/or The Chitdren’s
Hospitat of Alabama, include the foliowing:

If any part of this study takes place at

[UAB ONLY] University of Alabama Hospital
[TCHA ONLY] The Children’s Hospital of Alabama
[(UAB & TCHA] University of Alabama Hospital and The Children’s Hospital of Alabama

this consent document will be placed in your file at that facility, The document will become part
of your medical record chart.

Bitling Compliance Language: Cnly if “clinical billable services” will be provided at a
UAB Health System location {1.e. HSF Clinics, UAB Hospital, UAB Highlands, or Callahan
Eve Foundation) or The Children’s Hospital of Alabama, Include the language below, as
applicable. If you have questions about UAB’s clinical trial billing, contact the Fiscal
Approval Process (FAP) staff at FAP@uab.edu, For details on submission reguirements,
go to http://www.uab.edu/osp/fiscal-approval-process-fap. If you have guestions about
clinical trial billing for studies conducted at The Chlldren’s Hospital of Alabama, contact
Pam Barlow at pam.barlcw@chsys.org or 558-2452,

Information relating to this study, including your name, medical record number, date of birth and
social security number, may be shared with the billing offices of

[UAB ONLY) UAB and UAB Health System affiliated entities
[TCHA ONLY] The Children’s Hospital of Alabama and its billing agents
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[UAB & TCHA] UAB and UARB Health System affiliated entities, along with The Children’s
Hospital of Alabama and its billing agents

so that claims may be appropriatcly submitted to the study sponsor or to your insurance company
for clinical services and procedures provided to you during the course of this study.

International Protocols: Only if the study Is conducted cutside the United States or
sponsored by a company based outside the United States and foreign regufatory
agencles will have access to identifiable research records, include the fellowing:

Monitors, auditors, the [nstitutional Review Board for Human Use, and regulatory authorities
will be granted direct access to your original medical records for verification of trial procedures
and/or data without violaling confidentiality.

ClinicalTrials.gov: For applicable clinical trials, include the statement below, If is the
responsibility of the spensors and investigators to determine if their clinical trial meets
the definitlon of an “applicable clinical trial” and to ensure compliance with the most
current applicable statutory and regulatory requirements. If you have any guestions
regarding registering a study on ClinicalTrials.gov, contact Penny Jester at 934-2424 or
piester@®uab.edu.

A description of this ¢linical trial will be available on http://www.Clinical Trials.goyv, as required
by U.S. Law. This Web site will not include information that can identify you. At most, the Web
sitc will include a summary of the results. You can search this Web site at any time.

Reportable Diseases/Conditions: Only if the Investigator will be testing for any
reportable diseases/conditions, include a statement specifying what reportable
diseases/conditions are being tested and that positive results will be reported to the
county cr state health department.

Screaning for Drugs, Observations of Abusive Behavior: Only if the investigator
will conduct drug screening or Inquire about abusive behavior (e.g., child or elder abuse
ar neglect, or harm to self) as part of the protocol, include the following statement:

Information obtained during the coutse of the study which, in the opinion of the investigator(s),
suggests that you may be at significant risk of harm 1o yourself or others will be reportable to a
third party in the interest of protecting the rights and wellare of those at potential risk.

Genetic Research: Only if the research involves genetic testing, describe the
protections provided to the participant under GINA. For questions regarding GINA, see
the IRB Guidebook. The following may be used for the description:

A federal law, called the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act (GINA), generally makes it
illegal for health insurance companies, group health plans, and most empiloyers to discriminate
against you based on your genetic information. This law generally will protect you in the
following ways:
s Health insurance companies and group health plans may not request your genetic
information that we get from this research.
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» Health insurance companies and group health plans may not use your genetic information
when making decistons regarding your eligibility or premiums.

» Employers with 15 or more employees may not use your genetic information that we gel
from this research when making a decision to hire, promote, or fire you or when setting
the terms of your employment.

Re aware that this new federal law does not protect you against genetic discrimination by
companies that sell life insurance, disability insurance, or long-term care insurance, nor does it

protect you against genctic discrimination by all employers.

Voluntary Participation and Withdrawal

Include the consequences of a participant’s decisiop to withdraw from the research.
Include procedures for orderly termination of participaticn by the participant.

e [If applicable, include anticipated circumstances under which the PI witheut regard to
the participant’s consent may terminate the participant’s participation {see second
paragraph below).

Whether or not you take part in this study is your choice. There will be no penalty if you decide
not to be in the study. If you decide not to be in the study, you will not lose any benetits you are
otherwise owed. You are free to withdraw from this research study at any time, Your choice to
leave the study will not affect your relationship with this institution. However, you should return
to see the study doctor for safety reasons so you can be taken off the study drug and referred for
foliow-up care.

You may be removed from the study without your consent if the sponsor ends the study, if the
study drug 1s approved by the TDA, if the study doctor decides it is not in the best intercst of
your health, or if you are not following the study rules.

If students or employees of UAB may participate in the study, the IRB recommends
using the following language in the consent form:

If you are a UADB student or employce, taking part in this research is ot a part of your UAB
class work or duties. You can refuse to enroll, or withdraw afler enrolling at any time before the
study is over, with no cffect on your class standing, grades, or job at UAB. You will not be
offered or receive any special consideration if you take part in this research.

Cost of Participation

e If any costs to the participant or the participant's health insurance might result from
the research (e.q., for tests, drugs, biologics, devices, or copayments), describe
those costs. Include information about any financial assistance that may be
available, such as how to consult a social worker,

+« If there is no cost to the participant, this should be stated.

There will be no cost fo you for taking part in this study. All drugs, exams, and medical care
related to this study will be provided to you at no cost during the 6-month study period.
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If standard medical care may be provided during the study include the following
statement:

The costs of your standard medical care will be billed to you and/or your insurance company in
the usual manner.

If participants may be enrclled in Medicare Advantage and will have study related
services billed to thelr Medicare Advantage insurance, include the following statement, If
you have quastions regarding the incluslon of this statement, contact the Fisca! Approval
Process (FAP) staff at EAP@uab.edy.

If you are in Medicare Advantage (Medicare managed carc plan), you should contact someone at
your plan before you start a clinical trial. They can provide more information about additional

costs you could incur from participating in clinical trials,

Payment for Participation in Research

s Note:; Payment may not be based upon successful completion of the protacol.

+ Specify the amount and type/methed of compensation a participant will receive for
participating OR that there is no compensation for participation.

» If applicable, include the payment schedule,

¢ Describe prorated payments for particlpants who withdraw hefore the end of the
study.

« If children are involved, specify whether the child or parent is being paid.

You will be paid $10 for each study visit, including the placebo phase of the study. If you quit
the study, you will be paid $10 for each study visit made to the clinic. Payments will be made
after 3 months and 6 months if you complete the entire study. Payments will be made by check
sent to you in the mail, If you do not finish the entire study, you will be paid at the time you
decide to stop taking part in the study. If you complete the entire study, you will recetve a total
of $290.

If a participant is to earn $600 or more in & calendar year from their participation in
research, include the follawing language:

You are responsible for paying any state, federal, Social Security or other taxes on the payments
you receive. You will receive a form 1099 in January of the year following your participation in
this study, This form is also sent to the [RS to report any moncy paid to you. No taxes are kept
from your check.

Payment for Research-Related Injuries

« Include this section only if the research invoives {a) greater than minimal risk or (b)
procedures or interventions that could result in harm ar injury.
+ If the sectlon Is to be included, include the UAB statement below.
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UAB has not provided for any payment if you are harmed as a result of taking part in this study.
If such harm occurs, treaiment will be provided. However, this treatment will not be provided
free of charge.

In addition, if the research s sponsored, include language that addresses whether or not

the sponsor(s) will provide compensation for research-related injuries,

« For sponsored research where the sponsor(s) will not pay for compensation to
injured research participants or pay for medical treatment of research-related
injuries, Hist the names of all sponsors after "UAB”.

UAB and Wise Drug Company, Inc. have not provided for any payment if you are harmed as a
result of taking part in this study. If such harm occurs, treatment will be provided. However, this
treatment will not be provided free of charge.

» For sponsored research where the sponsor{s) will pay participants for either
compensation or treatment for research-related injuries, include the specific
language provided by the sponsor(s) regarding injury compensation. The IRB must
be provided with “sponsor verification” either in the form of a letter signed by the
sponsor(s) with the same wording given in the consent form or a model consent
form included in the protocol and listed in the Table of Contents of the protocol with
the same wording. Do not submit a copy of the indemnification letter as the
verification. Include information regarding what medical treatment will consist of if
injury occurs and where further Information may be cbtained,

Significant New Findings

Indicate that significant new findings developed during the course of the research that
may relate to the participant’s wlliingness to continue participation wiil he provided to
the participant by the principal investigator or his/her staff.

You will be told by your doctor or the study staff if new information becomes available that
might affect your choice to stay in the study.

Genome-Wide Association Studies (GWAS)

For pratocols that are constdered Genome-Wide Association Studies (GWAS), UAB must
certify that plans for the submission of genotype and phenotype data from GWAS to the
NIH meet the expectations of the policy. See the IRB Guidebook for more Information on
what should be submitted for this certification. For applicable protocol, include the
following:

The DNA that composes your genes wilt be analyzed and that data, which is referred to as your
genotype or complete genetic makeup, will be compared to your phenotype, which consists of
your observablc traits, characteristics, and discases. Your genotype and phenotype data will be
shared for research purposes through the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Genome-Wide
Association Studies (GWAS) data repository. The aim of this research is to discover genetic
factors that contribute to the development, progression, or therapy for a particular disease or trait,
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Questions

» Include the name of the Princlpal Investigator and his/her contact number for
participants to contact regarding the research and research-related injuries.
+ Include the names of additional contact personnel, if applicable,

If you have any questions, concerns, or complaints about the research or a research- related
injury including available treatments, you may contact Dr. John Doe. He will be glad to answer
any of your questions. Dr. Doe’s number is 205-934-3810. Dr. Doe may also be reached after
hours by paging him at 205-934-3411 {beeper 9999).

Include far the Office of the IRB contact information.

[f you have questions about your rights as a research participant, or concerns or complaints about
the research, you may contact the UAB Office of the IRB (OIRB) at (205) 934-3789 or toll fiee
at 1-855-860-3789. Regular hours for the OIRB are 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. CT, Monday through
Friday. You may also call this number in the event the research staff cannot be reached or you
wish fo talk to someone else.

Legal Rights

You are not waiving any of your legal rights by signing this informed consent document,

Storage of Specimens for Future Use

If specimens {e.g., blood, tissue) obtained for the research may be stored for research
not specifically defined in the protocol, place this section after Legal Rights and before
Signatuyres. At a minimum, address the following points and include lines for participants
to initial (do not use checkboxes):

s What king of specimens will be cotlected and the means of collection.

s  What type of research will be done with the specimens.

s Whether the spectmens will be shared with other investigators

+  Whether the specimens will be coded or anonymized (no way of tracing back to

participant/uncoded or code destroyed).

Whether the participant may be contacted for additionai consent.

s How long, if known, the biclogical specimens will be stored. (Short- term: current
protocol only or ather current research; Long-term: future studies on disease or
condition, repository, etc.}.

+ Foreseeable risks or benefits to participants in the coliection, storage, and
subsequent research use of specimens,

«  What will be done with the biologica! specimens if the participant refuses permission,

«  What will be done with the research results, (Research results should not be placed
fn the individual participant’s medical record.}

¢ Potential for commercial use of the subject’s specimen(s).

s How o withdraw consent for future use.

As part of this study, we would like to store some of the blood and urine specimens collected
from you for future research on hypertension. The future rescarch may be conducted by Dr. John
Doe or by other researchers that obtain 1RB approval for their research. The specimens will be
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labeled with a code that only Dr. John Doc can link back to you. Results of any future rescarch

will not be given to you or your doctor. The specimens obtained from you in this research may

help in the development of a future commereial product. There are no plans to provide financial
compensation to you should this occur,

You do not have to agree to allow your blood and urine specimens to be stored in order to be part
of this study.

You may request at any time that your rescarch samples be removed from storage and not be
used for future research. 1f you decide you want your samples removed, you may contact Dr,
Joha Doe at the University of Alabama at Birmingham at 205-934-3810. Once the request is
received, and if your samples have not already been used for other research, they will be
destroyed. If you do not make such a request, your specimens will be stored indefinitely or until
used.

Initial your choice below:

__Tagree to allow my samples to be kept and used for future research on hypertension,

I do not agree to allow my samples to be kept and used for future research.

Signatures

needed for various types of research. These instructions and samplfes are designed
to assist you in the preparation of the Signatures section. In many cases, the
Signatures section will need to be customized for the particular study population.

¢ The requirements for signature lines depend upen the consent process described in
the Human Subjects Protocol.

« Each signature-date line included in the Signatures section, as applicable to the
research, must be signed and dated.

» Al signatures must appear on the same page, but that page does not need to be a
separate page with no other information.

+« Each person who signs the consent form must include the date of his/her signature.

v If the research involves children (i.e,, individuals younger than 19 years of age for
research conducted in the state of Alabama), see "Children" under General
Informatlon in the IRB Guidebook and see Example Signatures for Research
Involving Children, below.

s If the research Involves pregnant women. see "Pregnant Wemen, Fetuses, Neonates"
under General Information in the IRE Guldebook.

s A signature-date line for the participant must be included. The three acceptable
optlons are shown and described below.

Your signature below indicales you agree to participate in this study. You will receive a copy of
this signed consent form.
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Option 1

Signature of Participant Date
Option 2

Signature of Participant or Legally Authorized Representative Date
Option 3

Signature of Participant Date

Signature of Legally Authorized Reprcscntative_ Date

Legally Authorized Representatives (LAR)

If the research proposes to obtain consent from the participant or the LAR, add “(or
Legally Authorized Representative)” after “Signature of Participant.”
If the research proposes to obtain consent from the participant and the LAR, Include
a separate signature-date line for each person,
If an individual (s not capsble of providing informed consent, the IRB allows that it
may be obtained frem the individuals listed below in priority order:

o Judicially appointed guardian or individual named in 2 durable power of
attorney;
Spouse;
Sons or daughters 19 years of age or older;
Either parent;
Brother or Sister 19 years of age or older;
Other nearest kin 19 years of age or older.

o ¢ Q0 C

Signature of Principal Investigator Date

All persons who discuss or obtain informed consent must be listed in the HSP,

If the principal investigator is not the only person who will conduct informed consent
discussions and obtain signatures, add “or Other Person Obtaining Consent” after
“Signature of Principal Investigator.”

If the Principal Investigator will never obtaln Informed consent, this signature-date
line should be labeled "Signature of Person Obtalning Infermed Consent.”

Signature of Witness Date

Page

Include this line unless the PI requests and justifies, and the IRB approves a waiver
of the witness requirement.

The person administering the consent (e.g., study coordinater) cannot sign as the
witness,
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Reviewed by:

Signature of Principal Invesligator Reviewing Consent Document Date

Include this line anly if the HSP specifies that the principal investigator will not obtaln
Infermed consent but wlll anly review signed consent documents,
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Signatures for Research Involving Children

You are making a decision whether or not to have your child participate in this study. Your
signature indicates that you have read {or been read) the information provided above and decided
to allow your child to participate,

The requirements for signature lines depend upon the consent process described In
the Human Subjects Protocol. See the instructions and options below.

The UAB IRB usually recommends the following:

o Waiver of assent needs to be documented for participants under 7 years of
age, but these participants should be included in the consent process if
possibie,

o A separate assent form should be prepared for use with, and to document the
assent of, participants who are 7-13 years old.

o Participants 14-18 years cld document their assent by signing the main
consent form.

If the IRB determines the permission of only cne parent or guardian is necessary,
only include one iine for “Signature of Parent or Guardian” below,

A parent, for purposes of consent, means either a child’s biologicai or adoptive
parent. In some instances, the consent of a guardian may be used in lieu of parental
consent. A guardian is an individual who is authorized under applicable state or local
faw ko consent on behalf of a child to general medical care. For purposes of research
conducted in Alabama a guardian is;

1. A person appointed guardian of a child pursuant to the Alabama Uniform
Guardianship and Protective Proceedings Act {(Code of Alabama, Titie 26} as
documented by a valid court order;

2. A person having legal custody of a child and as documented by court order;

3. A person acting in loco parentis, regardless of whether such is documented by a
court order. A person acts /n foco parentis of a child where the individual
voluntarily assumes responsibility for the child’s custody, care, and malntenance
even though no court order exists formally appointing the person as the guardian,
legal custodian, or adoptive parent of the child. If such individuals may provide
permission for the enrollment of children, the Human Subjects Protoco! must
explain how the investigator will confirm the in loco parentis relationship,

You will receive a copy of this signed informed consent document.

289

Signature of Participant 14-18 Years of Age Date
Signature of Parent or Guardian Date
Signature of Parent or Guardian Date
Signature of Investigator or Person Obtaining Consent Date
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Signature of Witness Date

If the assent of any child participant may be walved, include the following section with
the applicable reason(s) for walver of assent marked:

Waiver of Assent

The assent of ___(name of child/minor) was waived because |
of: .
Age Maturity Psychelogical state of the child ~
i
!
Signature of Parent or Guardian " Date |
Signature of Parent or Guardian Date
Signature of Investigator or Peréaébtai11il1g Consent Date
Signature of Witness Date
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University of Alabama at Birmingham
AUTHORIZATION FOR USE/DISCLOSURE OF HEALTH INFORMATION
FOR RESEARCH

What is the purpose of this form? You are being asked te sign this form so that UAB may use and release your
health information fot research. Participation in research is voluntary. If you choose to participate in the research,
you must sign this farm so that yaur health information may be used for the research,

Participant Name: UARB IRB Protocol Number: FHERH iR
Research Protocol; Evaluation of the Safety and Principal Investigator: John Doe, Ph.D.
Efficacy of Trimycin vs. Hydrochlorothiazide in the

Treatment of Hypertension Sponsor: Wise Drug Company, loc.

What health information do the researchers want to use? All medical information and personal identifters,
including past, present, and future history, examinations, laboratory results, imaging studies and reports and
treatments of whatever kind related to or collected Tor use in the research protocol.

Why do the researchers want my health information? The rescarchers want to use your health information as
part of the research prolocol listed above and described to you in the Informed Consent document.

Who will disclose, use and/or receive my health information? The physicians, nurses and staff working on the
rescarch protocol (whether at UAR or elsewhere); other operating units of UAB, 1HSF, UAB Highlands, The
Children’s Hospital of Alabama, Eye Foundation Hospital and the Jefferson County Department of Public Health, as
necessary for their operations; the IRB and ils staff; the sponsor of the research and its employees: and cutside
regulatory agencics, such as the Foed and Drug Administration,

How will my health information be protected once it is given to others? Your health information that is given to
the study sponsor will remain private to the extent possible, even though the study sponsor is not required to foliow
the federal privacy laws, However, once your information is given to other orpanizations that are vot required to
follow federal privacy laws, we cannot assure that the information will remain protected.

How leng will this Authocization last? Your authorization for the uses and disclosures described in this
Authorization does not have an expiration date,

Can t cancel the Authorization? You may cancel this Authorization at any time by notilying the Director of the
IRB, in writing, referencing the Rescarch Protocel and IRB Protocel Number, [f you cancel this Authorization, the
study doctor and staff will not use any new health information for research. However, researchers nway continue to
use the health information that was provided before you cancelled your authorization,

Can I sec my health information? You have a right to request to see your health information. However, to ensure
the scientific integrity of the research, you will not be able to review the research information until afier the research
protoco! has been completed.

Signature of participant; Dater

or patticipant's legally authorized representative; . Date:

Pristed Name of participant’s representative;

Relationship to the participant: ___
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[ JFuti convened

Principal Investigator:

New Protocol Checldist

[:] Research no more than minimal risk (Expedited Category #

FAX:

Contact Persan:

PHONE:

Protocol Title:

293

1

IRB Protocol #;

[ ]iRAP Created

Faculty Sponsor:

Sponsor;

OS5P Proposal #

Training Complete: ¥ N - Needed for;

[ Joob [ Jpoe [Jpe []DOJ/NIJ/Bureau of Prisons [_JICH/GCP applies
[(IFunding App/Grant [ ]Subcontract [ JMTA [_|cDA []DUA [_]FFS

[ IHsP

[JPORF or cTRC

(11572
[Twaiver of IC
[ IConsent/Assent Farmis) #

[Isponsor Protocol {date}
[_ITitles Match —{_|Grant/Sponsor Protacol [ _JHSP [ ]icF

s,
DWaiver of Auth & IC
[_Jsponseor Sample CF

Package Insert, or Device Manual

[_Jwaiver of IC Documentation
DICH/GCP criteria met (if applicable)

[ Iritle, tRB Protacol #, Investigator,

L]

Alternatlve_§

[ JPayment for Partmpa_ﬂon '__' '

You/vour child box o

I

' |Purposes of the Research

Billing Compliance
P

_[JuaB [ JTCHA

& Spensor/Support [ confidentiaiity |_JUAB Injury Statement
_‘:Version Date [: Permanent Medical Record |_[Sponsor fnjury Statement
| |Page #s [ JuaB [_JTcHA [ Jsponsor Verification

__|Statement re: research

:New Findings

[ JewAs

I

[ Jinternational Protocol

Name/NumHe_t_' (Research/lnju_h})

{__iExplanation of Procedures

| [Climical Trials.gov

[

Mame/Number {Participant Rights}

—

I

__|identify experimental procedures |_|Reportable Diseases/Conditions | Legal Rights
|_{Expected duration of participation Screen Drugs/Observe Abuse Behavior ___:Storag_e of Specimens
_lIncidental Findings | |Genetic Research/GINA ':Slgnatures

|_|Risks and Discomforts

;Voluntary Participation & Withdrawal

|_lAssent of Child/Waiver of Assent

| JRandomization risks

Student/Employees

:HIPAA .................

:Childbearing &/or Fathering

|_|Cost of Participation

| |Benefits

[ |Cost of SMC

[ Irap

: Medicare Advantage Ianguage

[ IPharmacy Release
DRadiation Safety Approval
[Jinfection Control Approval
[:]Pathology Release

[]isc Approval

[ ]e1rRB Conflict Identified
[:]Include CIRB Language

[ _JFERPA Applies

LIPPRA Applies

[Cchildren - CRL#
DPrisoners - Cat#
[ IRecruitment Materials

[ _]student/Employees

jUH, notif attached-Y N
[_1UAB Highlands, notif attached - Y N
[ JTCHA, notif attached - Y N

|_EFH, notif attached - ¥ N

[ JcRU, notification attached - ¥ N

[ Jother UAB sites
[INon UAB sites
Engaged in Research: ¥ N

[Ipregnant Women & Fetuses [ JNonviable or UV Neonates
[ INon-English Speakers

I:]SAE Log submitted, Date/numbers

[ ]other Questionnaires

if yes, IRB approvalsY N

DDecisicnally Impaired

%Partial Waliver of Autherization

Screening Script/Questionnaire

Phase:

Drugs/Devices Name and IND/IDE Number

[Joswe [ Jint. Analysls [_]Sponsor/Pl Monitoring Plan [_IPlan Described
[ ]Describes alternate plan for SAE reporting

[ 1Board approved at meeting?
[_IRequests waiver of 24 hour “think it over”

[]8oard approved at meeting?

[_]IRB pre-start up visit taken place, if Investigator is both sponsor and holder of IND/IDE
WRITE REVIEWER NOTES ON BACK OF THIS PAGE.

Memo Faxed Maitled

Appraval Form Mailed

A6 - Versdon March 23

[lirAP Approved

Foltow-Up Letter
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